

ISSN 1756-1841 VOLUME 24 NUMBER 5 2021

# International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Official journal of the Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology (APLAR)



WILEY

### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

### Editor-in-Chief Kevin Pile, Sydney, Australia Senior Editors Chi-Chiu Mok, Hong Kong, China Debashish Danda, Vellore, India Fereydoun Davatchi, Tehran, Iran Lars Klareskog, Stockholm, Sweden Ramnath Misra, Lucknow, India Zhanguo Li, Beijing, China Associate Editors Alberta Hoi, Melbourne, Australia Aman Sharma, Chandigarh, India Anand Kumthekar, New York, USA Andrew Harrison, Wellington, New Zealand Anselm Mak, Singapore Atsushi Kawakami, Nagasaki, Iatian Benny Samual Eathakkattu Antony, Hobart, Australia Chi-Chen Chang, Taiwan Chin Teck Ng, Singapore Christina Boros, Adelaide, Australia Cho Mar Lwin, Myanmar Dae Hyun Yoo, Seoul, Korea David S. Pisetsky, Durham, USA

Dawn Aitken, Hobart, Australia Enrico Tombetti, London, UK Evange Romas, Melbourne, Australia George D. Kitas, Birmingham, UK Gerard Espinosa, Barcelona, Spain Graeme Jones, Tasmania, Australia Haider Mannan, Sydney, Australia Haner Direskeneli, Istanbul, Turkey Ho Ying Chung, Hong Kong, China Ing Soo Lau, Malaysia Ingrid Lundberg, Stockholm, Sweden James Cheng Chung Wei, Taichung, Taiwan Johannes J. Rasker, Enschede, Netherlands Julian Thumboo, Singapore Kanta Kumar, Birmingham, UK Karina Torralba, Los Angeles, USA Katy Ying Ying Leung, Singapore Keith Lim, Melbourne, Australia Kok Yong Fong, Singapore Lai Shan Tam, Hong Kong, China Latika Gupta, Lucknow, India Lingyun Sun, Nanjing, China Liwei Lu, Hong Kong, China

Majda Khoury, Syria Manjari Lahiri, Singapore Marie Feletar, Melbourne, Australia Marwan Adwan, Jordan Maureen Rischmueller, Adelaide, Australia Michael Wiese, Adelaide, Australia Meiving Wang, China Nan Shen, Shanghai, China Nazrul Islam, Dhaka, Bangladesh Nigil Haroon, Toronto, Canada Nina Kello, New York, USA Padmanabha Shenoy, India Paul Bird, New South Wales, Australia Paul Kubler, Brisbane, Australia Paul Wordsworth, Oxford, UK Peter Wong, Sydney, Australia Philip Robinson, Brisbane, Australia Prasanta Padhan, India R Hal Scofield, Oklahoma, USA Ram Pyare Singh, Los Angeles, USA Ram Raj Singh, Los Angeles, USA Robert Lahita, New Jersey, USA Ronald Yip, Hong Kong, China Sam Whittle, Adelaide, Australia Sami Salman, Baghdad, Iraq

Sang-Heon Lee, Seoul, Korea

Sargunan Sockalingam, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Seong-Kyu Kim, Korea Shin-Seok Lee, Korea Sumaira Farman Raja, Pakistan Surjit Singh, Chandigarh, India Syed Atiqul Haq, Dhaka, Bangladesh Tamer Gheita, Cairo, Egypt Tatsuya Atsumi, Sapporo, Japan Temy Mok, Hong Kong, China Tsang Tommy Cheung, Hong Kong, China Tsutomu Takeuchi, Tokyo, Japan Vaidehi Chowdhary, Rochester, Minnesota, USA Vinod Scaria, New Delhi, India VS Negi, Pondicherry, India Wang-Dong Xu, Luzhou, P.R. China Wen-Chan Tsai, Taiwan Worawith Louthrenoo, Chiang Mai, Thailand Yehuda Shoenfeld, Tel Aviv, Israel Yoshiya Tanaka, Kitakyushu, Japan Yuho Kadono, Japan

Production Editor Aishwarya Radhakrishnan (APL@wiley.com)

Editorial Assistant Lalitha Pari (IJRD.EO@wiley.com)

### Past Editors-in-Chief

D Danda, Vellore, India (International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases, 2013–2018) CS Lau, Hong Kong, China (APLAR Journal of Rheumatology/ International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases, 2004–2012) PH Feng, Singapore (APLAR Journal of Rheumatology, 1998–2004) KD Muirden, Australia (APLAR Bulletin)

# WILEY

**Disclaimer:** The Publisher, Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher, Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and Editors, neither does the publication of advertisements constitute any endorsement by the Publisher, Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and Editors of the products advertised.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases @ 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

For submission instructions, subscription and all other information visit http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/ 10.1111/(ISSN)1756-185X

View this journal online at wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/apl

# **International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases**

Volume 24 | Number 5 | May 2021

## Contents

Editorial
Should we aim for personalized prevention in individuals at risk of rheumatoid arthritis?
Review Articles
Prevalence and risk factors for falls in patients with spondyloarthritis: A systematic review       623         G. R. S. Lim, C. H. Ng, Y. H. Kwan and W. Fong       Diagnostic value of anti-citrullinated α-enolase peptide 1 antibody in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic review
and meta-analysis
Original Articles
Performance of a pre-administration infection screening questionnaire in patients with rheumatoid arthritis administered biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs       647         S. Fukui, M. Suda, S. Furukawa, S. Tamaki, Y. Ikeda, Y. Suyama, H. Tamaki, M. Kishimoto, S. Ohde and M. Okada       647
Polymorphism of genes involved in methotrexate pathway: Predictors of response to methotrexate therapy in Indian
<i>rheumatoid arthritis patients</i>
Clinical characteristics of Vietnamese patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies and autoantibodies to
aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetases
High cost of illness in fibromyalgia patients in Iran, irrespective of disease severity: A prospective cost study
Association of F11R polymorphisms and gene expression with primary Sjögren's syndrome patients
TJ. Fang, RN. Li, YZ. Lin, CH. Lin, CC. Tseng, WY. Sung, TT. Ou, CC. Wu and JH. Yen
Joint hypermobility and its association with self-reported knee health: A cross-sectional study of healthy Australian adults 687 C. Chan, H. H. Qi, J. N. Baldwin, M. J. McKay, J. Burns and L. L. Nicholson
Frequency of Growth Differentiation Factor 5 rs143383 and asporin D-repeat polymorphisms in patients with hand and
<i>knee osteoarthritis in Kurdistan province, Iran</i>
Evaluating the strength of spinal and proximal girdle muscles in patients with axial spondyloarthritis: Correlation with
activity, disability, and functionality
Association of serum CCL20 levels with pulmonary vascular involvement and primary biliary cholangitis in patients with
<ul> <li>systemic sclerosis</li></ul>
APLAR Image in Medicine
Ballet foot in a boy.       719         T. Giani, M. Gattinara and R. Cimaz
Novel Hypothesis
Musculoskeletal ultrasound as a diagnostic tool for eosinophilic fasciitis and correlation with magnetic resonance imaging
<i>findings</i>
Cochrane Corner
What are the benefits and harms of anti-cytokine targeted therapies for adults with anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis? - A Cochrane Review summary with commentary
APLAR Matters

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14045

### EDITORIAL

**Rheumatic Diseases** 

🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Should we aim for personalized prevention in individuals at risk of rheumatoid arthritis?

Progress in our understanding of preclinical rheumatoid arthritis (RA) has been driven largely by clinical and laboratory data from prospective cohorts of at-risk individuals. These include large, well-characterized populations of relatives of RA patients and also auto-antibody-positive individuals with musculoskeletal symptoms.<sup>1,2</sup> More than a decade of observational data from these co-horts has identified risk factors and biomarkers which are associated with progression to clinical arthritis and RA. Consequently, risk stratification is now feasible, enabling case selection for preventative intervention.

How to approach RA prevention is a major contemporary challenge in rheumatology, with important implications for the other autoimmune diseases. A logical strategy in RA is to extend the "early arthritis model", where prompt immunotherapy can induce drug-free remission in patients with early clinical synovitis.<sup>3</sup> As such, use of immunotherapies in high risk individuals without clinical synovitis, are being tested. However, some individuals, especially those with a lower absolute risk of arthritis development may be reluctant to take immunosuppressive drugs, for fear of over-treatment or side-effects. An alternative and perhaps complementary paradigm would be to target specific risk factors with more conservative interventions, thus personalizing prevention according to the biological drivers of disease in any given at-risk individual.

One advantage of this more nuanced approach is that different reversible risk factors for anti-citrullinated protein antibodies (ACPA) and disease progression can already be identified and targeted. Such risk factors may be influenced by lifestyle modification, and non-pharmacological health intervention. For example, cigarette smoking is strongly associated with ACPA and the development of RA; it drives periodontal disease and may also influence the initiation of RA autoimmunity at the lung. Periodontal disease is itself more prevalent in at-risk individuals (both ACPA positive individuals without clinical synovitis and first-degree relatives of RA patients), independently of smoking status.<sup>4,5</sup> Periodontal bacteria such as Porphyromonas gingivalis are capable of citrullination and triggering ACPA production.<sup>6,7</sup> Furthermore, periodontal inflammation and lung inflammation are detectable in at-risk individuals who have not yet developed joint inflammation.<sup>4,8</sup> As such, focusing on smoking cessation and/or periodontal intervention in at-risk individuals who have these risk factors may have multiple benefits; both may directly prevent disease progression as well as being associated with broader health benefits to the individual, without the associated risks of pharmacotherapy. Similarly, elevated body mass index and dyslipidemia have been identified as independent risk factors for arthritis development in cohorts of at-risk individuals. Addressing these risk factors should also provide broader systemic health benefits. However, achieving behavioral change in the busy clinic environment is associated with its own set of challenges. Bespoke multidisciplinary clinical pathways for at-risk individuals are likely to be required.

Clinical trials will be required to test whether such personalized approaches to prevention will be acceptable to at-risk individuals and if so, whether they effectively modulate disease progression, either alone, or in combination with immunotherapy. The most relevant outcomes for such trials are also a matter for debate; trial end-points should not just be restricted to the development of clinical arthritis but could also include other important end-points such as absolute risk reduction or improvement in symptoms or quality of life.

A future strategy may be to comprehensively assess a panel of risk factors (including reversible ones) in all at-risk individuals, as well as the overall absolute risk of arthritis in the short and medium term. In those with low absolute risk of arthritis, targeted risk factor modification in the short and medium term alone, with close observation, may be the preferred strategy. Absolute risk reduction, the progression of disease (eg, development of joint involvement on imaging) and/or improvement of symptoms and quality of life may be the right outcomes. Conversely, in those at high risk (often subclinical joint involvement already present) risk factor modification with additional immunotherapy may be more appropriate, with the objective of short-term arthritis prevention. Advances in the treatment of RA have taught us that "one size does not fit all" and personalized treatment is now the agreed goal. This lesson should be applied to RA prevention.

> Kulveer Mankia Paul Emery OBE

Leeds Institute of Rheumatic and Musculoskeletal Medicine, University of Leeds and NIHR Leeds Biomedical Research Centre, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds, UK

```
© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd
```

**@** 🔇

### Correspondence

Kulveer Mankia, Leeds Institute of Rheumatic and

Musculoskeletal Medicine, University of Leeds and NIHR

Leeds Biomedical Research Centre, Leeds Teaching Hospitals

### NHS Trust, Leeds, UK.

Email: k.s.mankia@leeds.ac.uk

### REFERENCES

- 1. Rakieh C, Nam JL, Hunt L, et al. Predicting the development of clinical arthritis in anti-CCP positive individuals with non-specific musculoskeletal symptoms: a prospective observational cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2015;74(9):1659-1666.
- van de Stadt LA, Witte BI, Bos WH, van Schaardenburg D. A prediction rule for the development of arthritis in seropositive arthralgia patients. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(12):1920-1926.
- Burgers LE, Allaart CF, Huizinga TWJ, van der Helm-van Mil AHM. Brief Report: Clinical Trials aiming to prevent rheumatoid arthritis cannot detect prevention without adequate risk stratification: a trial of methotrexate versus placebo in undifferentiated arthritis as an example. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69(5):926-931.

- 4. Mankia K, Cheng Z, Do T, et al. Prevalence of periodontal disease and periodontopathic bacteria in anti-cyclic citrullinated protein antibody-positive at-risk adults without arthritis. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(6):e195394.
- Bello-Gualtero JM, Lafaurie GI, Hoyos LX, et al. Periodontal disease in individuals with a genetic risk of developing arthritis and early rheumatoid arthritis: a cross-sectional study. J Periodontol. 2016;87(4):346-356.
- 6. Wegner N, Wait R, Sroka A, et al. Peptidylarginine deiminase from Porphyromonas gingivalis citrullinates human fibrinogen and alpha-enolase: implications for autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2010;62(9):2662-2672.
- Harvey GP, Fitzsimmons TR, Dhamarpatni AA, Marchant C, Haynes DR, Bartold PM. Expression of peptidylarginine deiminase-2 and -4, citrullinated proteins and anti-citrullinated protein antibodies in human gingiva. J Periodontal Res. 2013;48(2):252-261.
- Demoruelle MK, Weisman MH, Simonian PL, et al. Brief report: airways abnormalities and rheumatoid arthritis-related autoantibodies in subjects without arthritis: early injury or initiating site of autoimmunity? Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(6):1756-1761.

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14092

### **REVIEW ARTICLE**



### 🐵 📎 Wiley

# Prevalence and risk factors for falls in patients with spondyloarthritis: A systematic review

Grace Rui Si Lim<sup>1,2</sup> Caitlin Hsuen Ng<sup>1,2</sup> Ku Heng Kwan<sup>3,4</sup> Kwan<sup>3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

<sup>2</sup>Department of Rheumatology and Immunology, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

<sup>3</sup>Program in Health Sciences and Systems Research, Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore

<sup>4</sup>Department of Pharmacy, Faculty of Science, National University of School, Singapore, Singapore

<sup>5</sup>Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore

<sup>6</sup>Department of Medicine, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

### Correspondence

Grace Rui Si Lim, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, 10 Medical Dr, Singapore 117597. Email: gracelimrs97@gmail.com

### Abstract

**Objective:** Patients with spondyloarthritis (SpA) may have a greater risk of falling due to poor postural balance and decreased mobility. To our best knowledge, there are no published reviews that study falls in patients with SpA. Therefore, we aim to systematically review the literature and identify the prevalence and risk factors of falls in patients with SpA.

Methods: We conducted a systematic review using 5 electronic databases: PubMed, EMBASE, Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar using controlled vocabulary terms (eg MeSH terms) in the search strategy for the concepts: falls, fall risk, SpA and its subtypes.

Results: We identified 7279 articles, of which 3 studies with a total of 441 patients were included. Prevalence of falls ranged from 13% to 25%. We identified 16 main factors across 5 categories. Under socio-demographic factors, functional limitation, decreased quality of life, advanced age and job loss were associated with an increased risk of falls. Poor balance and mobility and fear of falling were associated with increased risk of falls. Active disease and symptoms of SpA were medical factors that were associated with increased risk of falls. Medication factors including polypharmacy, myorelaxants and antidepressants were not associated with increased fall risk. Conclusion: We identified potentially modifiable risk factors associated with increased risk of falls in patients with SpA, including functional limitation, poor balance and mobility, fear of falling and active disease. Clinicians should recognize these factors and address them in the holistic management of patients with SpA, thereby reducing falls and their complications.

### **KEYWORDS**

ankylosing spondylitis, balance, fall, fall prevention, spondyloarthritis, systematic review

### **1** | INTRODUCTION

Falls are a significant public health issue and pose a huge burden for healthcare resources around the world.<sup>1</sup> The World Health Organization (WHO) reported that "falls are the second leading cause of accidental or unintentional injury deaths worldwide".<sup>2</sup>

Complications of falls include severe injuries such as hip fractures<sup>3</sup> which have been shown to be associated with significant functional decline and mortality.<sup>4</sup>

Spondyloarthritis (SpA) refers to a group of inflammatory rheumatic conditions, including ankylosing spondylitis, psoriatic arthritis, inflammatory bowel-related arthritis and reactive arthritis.<sup>5</sup> While these are

<sup>© 2021</sup> Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Rheumatic Diseases

closely related subtypes, they each have distinct clinical characteristics including spinal (axial) involvement, peripheral joint involvement, enthesopathies and extra-articular manifestations.<sup>5</sup> Prevalence of SpA ranges from 0.20% to 1.61% globally.<sup>6</sup> In a meta-regression analysis, it was found the mean age of SpA patients was 49.4 years, with a larger proportion of males.<sup>6</sup> Although falls are more common among the elderly,<sup>2</sup> the prevalence of falls in patients with SpA was found to be 32.9% and 34.7% in patients with ankylosing spondylitis,<sup>7</sup> despite patients with SpA being generally younger. This highlights the importance of studying falls in SpA patients, regardless of age.

Susceptibility to falls are multifactorial - involving the interaction of physiological, behavioral and environmental factors.<sup>8</sup> Patients with SpA may have a greater risk of falling than the non-SpA population.<sup>9-11</sup> Their increased fall risk could be attributed to various SpA disease-related factors, including poor postural balance<sup>9,10,12</sup> and reduced mobility.<sup>9-11</sup> Patient-related factors such as the fear of falling can also increase fall risk in SpA patients.<sup>11</sup> Falls and their associated complications can be debilitating, some of which include immobility, activity limitation and the fear of falling. These sequelae have been proven to result in a significant decline in one's quality of life.<sup>13</sup> Hence, awareness of falls and their risk factors are crucial in the management of SpA patients to prevent complications resulting from falls. Identification of reversible risk factors can allow for targeted falls prevention interventions.

Although there are other reviews that have looked at risk factors of falls, these mostly focused on the elderly,<sup>8,13,14</sup> and factors identified could be different in patients with SpA as patients tend to be younger.<sup>6</sup> Specific to falls in rheumatologic conditions, there has only been one review which addressed risk of falls in patients with rheumatoid arthritis,<sup>15</sup> and risk factors identified might not be applicable to patients with axial spondyloarthritis, who mainly have spinal involvement. To our best knowledge, there are no published reviews that study the prevalence and risk of falls in patients with SpA. Therefore, we aim to systematically review the literature and identify the prevalence and risk factors of falls in patients with SpA.

### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 2.1 | Search strategy

We conducted a systematic review on the available medical literature on falls in patients with SpA. We searched 5 electronic databases (PubMed, EMBASE, Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar) using the keywords (spondyloarthr\* OR ankylosing spondy\* OR psoriatic arthritis OR reactive arthritis OR Reiter's syndrome OR axial spondyloarthr\* OR Marie Strumpell spondylitis OR Bechterew syndrome OR inflammatory bowel disease\* OR ulcerative colitis OR Crohn\*) AND (fall\* OR slip\* OR trip\*). While other systematic reviews on falls restricted their search terms to "fall\*", we included the additional terms "trip\*" and "slip\*" in accordance with the UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) clinical guidelines on falls.<sup>16</sup> We applied the search terms to title and/or abstract and completed all searches on 6 April 2020 with no restriction of articles' start date. In addition, we conducted hand-searches of the references from the articles included. We conducted the study in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.<sup>17</sup>

# 2.2 | Study selection, inclusion and exclusion criteria

Two independent reviewers (GRSL, CHN) screened the search results for eligible articles based on the inclusion criteria and discussed when discrepancies occurred. When discrepancies could not be resolved, further discussion with a third independent reviewer (WF) was made. We obtained full manuscripts for the eligible articles and reviewed them again according to the inclusion criteria.

We included studies with full text, original articles published in English peer-reviewed journals with a primary or secondary outcome measure of falls in patients aged 16 years and above with diagnosed SpA. We excluded conference abstracts, case reports, case series, book chapters, notes, letters, errata and other systematic reviews.

### 2.3 | Data extraction

Two independent reviewers (GRSL, CHN) extracted details from the eligible articles and compared them to check for consistency. This included general information (year and location of study, year of publication), study design and aim, population characteristics (sample size, mean age, gender distribution), disease characteristics, diagnostic criteria and fall characteristics (fall definition, prevalence, risk factors). We extracted 95% confidence intervals (Cls), *P* values and correlation coefficients for the identified fall risk factors. Factors identified were then classified according to the fall risk factors classification proposed by Lord et al.<sup>18</sup> These categories are: socio-demographic factors, balance and mobility factors, sensory and neuromuscular factors, psychological factors, medication factors and environmental factors.<sup>18</sup>

### 2.4 | Study quality assessment

We assessed the quality of the studies included using the Kmet et al. (2004) standard quality assessment criteria for evaluating primary research papers,<sup>19</sup> specifically according to the checklist for assessing quality of quantitative studies. The checklist included 10 domains; namely, research question and objective, study design, study context, theoretical framework, sampling strategy, data collection, data analysis, verification procedure, conclusion and reflexivity. The scores for each domain ranged from 0 to 2, with a maximum total score of 28. We calculated the summary score for each study by dividing the total score by the total possible sum after excluding the non-applicable domains. Kmet et al. used 0.55 as the inclusion

threshold for studies in their systematic review.<sup>19</sup> For this review, we considered studies with a summary score of > 0.55 to be of adequate quality. Two independent reviewers (GRSL, CHN) critically assessed the quality of the included studies. Any discrepancies were resolved by consensus through discussion.

### 3 | RESULTS

### 3.1 | Results of search strategy

Through the electronic search, we identified 7279 articles, of which 3382 were excluded as duplicates using EndNote. We screened the remaining 3897 articles for eligibility based on their titles and abstracts. Of these, we included 7 articles and screened their full texts for eligibility. We excluded 4 articles as 3 did not record falls as an outcome measure, while 1 did not focus on falls as the aim of their study. This resulted in the remaining 3 studies that we included in this review (Figure 1).

### 3.2 | Key characteristics of included studies

Table 1 presents a summary of the key characteristics of the included studies. There were 3 cross-sectional studies. Studies were conducted in 2 countries – Turkey (n = 2)<sup>10,11</sup> and Brazil (n = 1).<sup>9</sup> The number of patients across the 3 studies was 441 and ranged from 55<sup>9</sup> to 306.<sup>11</sup> The mean age of patients ranged from 37.2<sup>10</sup> to 47.8 years.<sup>9</sup> All 3

studies included patients with a diagnosis of ankylosing spondylitis (AS), where it was the sole focus for 2 studies.<sup>10,11</sup> In addition to AS, Mewes et al. studied patients with axial SpA as well.

🐵 📎 – WILEY

### 3.3 | Quality assessment of studies

Table 2 presents the results of the quality assessment using the Kmet et al. (2004) standard quality assessment criteria for evaluating primary research papers.<sup>19</sup> According to the inclusion threshold score of > 0.55, all 3 studies were of an adequate quality. All studies had well-described research questions, appropriate study designs and systematically described data collection and analysis. All the studies fared poorly in the domain of sampling strategy, as they used convenience samples.

### 3.4 | Falls prevalence

All 3 studies collected the retrospective 12-month fall history of patients, through the use of verbal interviews.<sup>9-11</sup> One study clearly stated their definition of a fall to be "An unintentional coming to the ground or other lower level without sustaining a violent blow, loss of consciousness, or sudden onset of paralysis, as occurs with a stroke or epileptic seizure",<sup>10</sup> while the remaining 2 studies did not include a fall definition.<sup>9,11</sup>

Falls prevalence was calculated based on the number and percentage of patients who fell at least once<sup>9-11</sup> during the 12-month



**FIGURE 1** PRISMA flow chart of our systematic review

TABLE 1 S	Summary of	characteristics	of studies	included in our	review
-----------	------------	-----------------	------------	-----------------	--------

Characteristics	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>
Study design	Cross-sectional study	Cross-sectional study	Cross-sectional study
Country	Brazil	Turkey	Turkey
Patients (male : female)	55 (39:16)	Cases: 40 (28:12) Controls: 40 (28:12)	306 (217:89)
Age, y, mean (SD or 95% CI)	47.8 (11)	Cases: 37.2 (9.92) Controls: 37.5 (9.63)	40.1 (11.5)
Diagnosis	Ankylosing spondylitis	Ankylosing spondylitis	Axial spondyloarthritis
Criteria for diagnosis	Classification criteria for axial spondyloarthritis according to Assessment of Spondyloarthritis International Society (ASAS)	Modified New York Criteria	Modified New York Criteria
Method of falls data attainment	Falls in preceding 12 mo via interview	Falls in preceding 12 mo via interview	Verbal questioning, "How many falls did you have in the last year?"
Fall definition	None	An unintentional coming to the ground or other lower level without sustaining a violent blow, loss of consciousness, or sudden onset of paralysis, as occurs with a stroke or epileptic seizure."	None
Method of assessment of falls risk	Berg Balance Scale (BBS): Scores ≤ 45 indicate that individuals may have a greater fall risk and values of < 40 are associated with an almost 100% risk of falling	Tetrax Interactive Balance System: a fall index is obtained from the balance parameters established by this device. A score (from 0 to 100) is produced which estimates an individual's fall risk	
Fall prevalence	Fall history: 25.4% fell at least once in the past 12 mo	Fall history: 20% (cases) fell at least once in the past 12 mo	Fall history: 13% had at least 1 fall in the past 12 mo

duration prior to the individual study durations. Fall prevalence ranged from  $13\%^{11}$  to  $25.4\%^{9}$  across all 3 studies.

### 3.5 | Measurement of fall risk

The methods of assessing fall risk in patients varied across the studies. The study by Alkan et al. employed the use of the Tetrax Interactive Balance System (Sunlight Medical Ltd., Tel Aviv, Israel) on all patients to assess balance and posture control.<sup>10</sup> The balance parameters obtained by the system were used to generate a fall index, which involved a score from 0 to 100, where a higher score indicated greater fall risk. The study by Mewes et al. tested patients using the Berg Balance Scale (BBS) which consists of 14 tasks that assessed the participant's balance.<sup>9</sup> The score obtained from the BBS predicted the participant's fall risk, where scores  $\leq$  45 indicated an increased fall risk and scores < 40 were associated with a near 100% fall risk. Dursun et al. investigated the fall risk of patients based on number of falls.<sup>11</sup>

### 3.6 | Risk factors for falls

We identified the fall risk factors that were studied and classified them according to the classification proposed by Lord et al.<sup>18</sup> We

classified the risk factors into the following: socio-demographic factors, balance and mobility factors, psychological factors, medical factors and medication factors. We identified both statistically significant and non-significant associations between the factors and risk of falls with their respective results separated and categorized.

### 3.7 | Socio-demographic risk factors

Table 3 presents the socio-demographic risk factors and their association with risk of falls in patients with SpA. A total of 6 main factors were identified across 3 studies <sup>9-11</sup> under the category of sociodemographic factors. These risk factors included age, gender, body mass index, occupation-related factors, functional limitation and quality of life (QoL). Increased functional limitation, as measured by the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Impairment (BASFI),<sup>9-11</sup> was associated with increased risk of falls across all 3 studies. Decreased quality of life, as measured by the AS-QoL, was found to be associated with increased risk of falls.<sup>9.10</sup> Three studies assessed advanced age as a risk factor for falls,<sup>9.11</sup> where only 2 studies found significant associations with risk of falls.<sup>9.11</sup> Occupation-related factors included AS-related job loss and days of sick leave,<sup>11</sup> with only job loss due to AS being associated with an increased risk of falls.<sup>10</sup> Gender and body mass index were not significantly associated with risk of falls.<sup>10,11</sup>

TABLE 2         Quality assessment scores
from Kmet et al. 2004 standard quality
assessment criteria for evaluating primary
research papers

LIM ET AL.

Criteria		Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>
1	Question/objective sufficiently described?	2	2	2
2	Study design evident and appropriate?	2	2	2
3	Method of subject/comparison group selection or source of information/ input variables described and appropriate?	1	1	1
4	Subject (and comparison group, if applicable) characteristics sufficiently described?	2	2	2
5	If interventional and random allocation was possible, was it described?	N/A	N/A	N/A
6	If interventional and blinding of investigators was possible, was it reported?	N/A	N/A	N/A
7	If interventional and blinding of subjects was possible, was it possible?	N/A	N/A	N/A
8	Outcome and (if applicable) exposure measure(s) well defined and robust to measurement/misclassification bias? Means of assessment reported?	2	2	2
9	Sample size appropriate?	1	1	2
10	Analytic methods described/justified and appropriate?	2	2	1
11	Some estimate of variance is reported for the main results?	2	2	2
12	Controlled for confounding?	N/A	N/A	N/A
13	Results reported in sufficient detail?	2	2	2
14	Conclusions supported by the results?	1	2	1
Summary "N/A"*2	score = total sum/(28 – [number of ])	0.85	0.90	0.85

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Note: All items scored using the following scale: yes = 2, partial = 1, no = 0, unable to determine = N/A.

### 3.8 | Psychological risk factors

Table 3 presents a psychological risk factor and its association with risk of falls in patients with SpA. We identified only 1 main factor by 1 study<sup>11</sup> under the category of psychological factors. This risk factor of interest was fear of falling, which was significantly associated with increased risk of falls.<sup>11</sup>

### 3.9 | Balance and mobility risk factors

Table 3 presents the balance and mobility risk factors and their association with risk of falls in patients with SpA. We identified a total of 2 main factors across 3 studies.<sup>9-11</sup> These risk factors included spinal mobility and lower limb function and balance. Three studies assessed spinal mobility using the Bath AS Metrology Index (BASMI), where raised scores, indicating decreased spinal mobility, were associated with increased risk of falls.<sup>9-11</sup> Lower limb function and balance were measured using the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB), where decreased SPPB scores were associated with increased risk of falls.<sup>11</sup>

### 3.10 | Medical risk factors

Table 3 presents the medical risk factors and their association with risk of falls in patients with SpA. We identified a total of 4 main factors across 3 studies<sup>9-11</sup> under the category of medical or disease-related factors. These risk factors included disease status, disease duration, patterns and symptoms of disease and biochemical markers of disease activity. Disease status of SpA was measured using the Bath AS Disease Activity Index (BASDAI).<sup>9-11</sup> Raised scores indicated increased disease activity, which was found to be associated with increased risk of falls<sup>9,10</sup> in all studies except one.<sup>11</sup> One study found

### TABLE 3 Factors affecting risk of falls in patients with spondyloarthritis

	Studies which found that factor was positively associated with increased			Studies which found that factor had no significant association with		
Risk factor	risk of falls	Results	P value	increased risk of falls	Results	P value
Socio-demographic factors						
Advanced age	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	$r = -0.50^{a}$	<.0001	Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = -0.021	.898
	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.117	.041			
Gender				Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = -0.062	.706
				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Increasing body mass index				Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = 0.055	.736
Occupation:						
AS-related job lost	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.140	.014			
AS- related days of leave				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Functional limitation:						
Increasing BASFI	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	$r = -0.71^{a}$	<.0001			
	Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = 0.751	<.001			
	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.244	.000			
Quality of life:						
Increasing AS-QoL	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	$r = -0.56^{a}$	<.0001			
	Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = 0.627	<.0001			
Psychological factors						
Fear of falling	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.316	.000			
Balance and mobility factors						
Spinal mobility:						
Increasing BASMI	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	r=-0.80 <sup>a</sup>	<.0001			
	Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = 0.751	<.001			
	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.234	.000			
Lower limb function and bala	nce:					
Decreasing SPPB	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.183	.006			
Medical factors						
Disease status of spondyloar	thritis:					
Increasing BASDAI	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	$r = -0.28^{a}$	.03	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
	Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = 0.713	<.001			
Increasing ASDAS-CRP	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	$r = -0.33^{a}$	.01			
Increasing ASDAS-ESR	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	$r = -0.32^{a}$	.01			
Longer disease duration of	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.160	.005	Mewes et al. <sup>9</sup>	$r = -0.10^{a}$	.44
spondyloarthritis				Alkan et al. <sup>10</sup>	r = 0.276	.085
Disease pattern and sympton	ns of spondyloarthritis:					
Hip involvement	Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	r = 0.112	.05			
Knee involvement				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Ankle involvement				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Morning stiffness				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Biochemical markers of disease activity:						
Increasing CRP				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Increasing ESR				Dursun et al <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Increasing 25 (OH)				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Vitamin D						

(Continues)

### TABLE 3 (Continued)

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases 🐼 👰 – WILEY – 629

Risk factor	Studies which found that factor was positively associated with increased risk of falls	Results	P value	Studies which found that factor had no significant association with increased risk of falls	Results	P value
Medication factors						
Use of antidepressants				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Use of myorelaxants				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05
Polypharmacy				Dursun et al. <sup>11</sup>	NR	>.05

Abbreviation: AS, ankylosing spondylitis; ASDAS, Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score; AS-QoL, Ankylosing Spondylitis-Quality of Life; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; BASMI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Metrology Index; NR, not recorded; SPPB, Short Physical Performance Battery.

<sup>a</sup>Values are negative as Mewes et al. evaluated risk of falls with a flipped scale, the Berg Balance Scale (BBS), where lower scores indicate increased risk of falls.

a positive correlation between disease duration of SpA and risk of falls,<sup>11</sup> while 2 other studies did not find significant associations.<sup>9,10</sup> Hip involvement was positively correlated with risk of falls.<sup>11</sup> Knee involvement, ankle involvement and morning stiffness were not significantly associated with risk of falls.<sup>11</sup> Biochemical markers of disease activity including C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and 25-hydroxy-vitamin D were not significantly associated with risk of falls.<sup>11</sup>

### 3.11 | Medication risk factors

Table 3 presents the medication risk factors and their association with risk of falls in patients with SpA. The use of antidepressants, myorelaxants and polypharmacy was not associated with increased risk of falls.<sup>11</sup>

### 4 | DISCUSSION

To our best knowledge, this is the first systematic review on the risk factors of falls in SpA. Fall prevalence in patients with SpA ranged between 13%<sup>11</sup> to 25.4%<sup>9</sup> across the 3 studies, and appears to be largely similar to patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (range between 10% to 43%).<sup>15,20</sup> Patients with RA often have peripheral joint arthritis, and this can affect their mobility and impose postural instability,<sup>20</sup> which can similarly affect SpA patients with peripheral arthritis, which has been known to affect 30% of patients with SpA.<sup>10</sup> Despite patients with SpA being generally younger, prevalence of falls in patients with SpA was also largely similar to that in the older adult population which ranged from 17.2% in Singapore<sup>21</sup> to 42.4% in the UK.<sup>22</sup> This is an interesting finding as the age distribution of patients with SpA in our included studies was much younger. One possible reason for this is that despite being younger, patients with SpA have been shown to have poorer lower limb function and balance,<sup>11</sup> thus resulting in more falls than elderly in the general population.

The factors for fall risk were classified according to the classification system proposed by Lord et al.<sup>18</sup> Among the socio-demographic factors, our study found that increasing ages of patients with SpA increased their risk of falls, which was similar to other studies in older adults.<sup>23,24</sup> Aging brings about physiological declines in various systems, including the musculoskeletal, vestibular and cardiovascular systems,<sup>25</sup> and these could all lead to increased falls.

In addition, increasing functional limitation in daily activities such as dressing, standing up and reaching for items was also associated with an increased risk of falls. This was consistent with other studies on RA patients.<sup>26,27</sup> A possible explanation is that functional limitations reduced the ability of patients to engage in physical activity<sup>28</sup> which has been shown to improve muscle strengthening and result in better postural control thereby reducing risk of falls.<sup>29</sup> Hence, physicians should aim to minimize the degree of functional limitation in patients. Recommended interventions would include elastic resistance exercise to improve muscle strength<sup>30</sup> and supervised aerobic exercise<sup>31</sup> as they have both been shown to reduce the risk of functional limitations.

Reduced spinal mobility was associated with increased risk of falls, and this was similar to patients with Parkinson's disease.<sup>32</sup> Hence, physicians could encourage exercises targeted at preserving axial mobility and spinal flexibility to reduce risk of falls.<sup>33</sup> Poor balance was also identified as a risk factor for falls, and patients with SpA should be referred to the physiotherapist for gait and balance rehabilitation.<sup>34</sup> Physicians could consider adopting interventions similar to those in the "Flexibility/Balance/Function" (FBF) exercise program for patients with Parkinson's disease, as these exercises have a similar aim of improving spinal mobility and balance.<sup>35</sup>

Fear of falling was found to have a positive correlation with increased risk of falls. This is important, as fear of falling is not only an outcome of falls, but also a risk factor for future falls.<sup>23,36</sup> Although fear of falling is more common in patients of an older age group,<sup>36</sup> Dursun et al. found that a large proportion of the patients had fear of falling, even though the patients were relatively young. Dursun et al. postulate that progression of the disease, chronic inflammation and functional limitation likely contributed to fear of falling. Teaching patients methods of fall prevention and how to "break" their fall by occupational therapists might help to alleviate their fear of falling.<sup>37</sup>

WILEY Rheumatic Diseases

630



**FIGURE 2** Illustration presenting an overview of the risk factors for falls in patients with spa according to the classification recommended by Lord et al.<sup>18</sup>

Among the medical factors, increasing BASDAI or ASDAS scores were positively correlated with increased risk of falls. This could be attributed to the relationship between disease activity and structural bone damage in the spine, which was highlighted in a 12-year longitudinal study by Ramiro et al. The study by Ramiro et al. showed that disease activity of AS contributed longitudinally to the radiographic progression of structural bone damage in the spine.<sup>38</sup> Hence, as Mewes et al. propose, treating inflammation aggressively to reduce disease activity may be a useful falls prevention measure.<sup>9</sup> Interestingly, Dursun et al. found that hip involvement was significantly associated with an increased risk of falls in SpA patients.<sup>11</sup> Hip involvement is a frequent clinical manifestation in SpA and was found to have a prevalence of 18% in 275 SpA patients in a single-center observational study.<sup>39</sup> Hip replacement in this group of patients might be important to reduce their risk of falls.

Among the medication factors, Dursun et al. found that use of antidepressants was not associated with risk of falls. This finding is different from several studies in the literature that have reported antidepressants as a risk factor for falls in older adults due to their medication side effects.<sup>40,41</sup> This difference could be attributed to the younger age distribution of the patients in the study by Dursun et al., as younger patients are less prone to the side effects of antidepressant medications,<sup>42</sup> and hence may not have an increased risk of falls.

In comparison to studies on falls in older adults,<sup>22,23</sup> our included studies did not identify poor vision, impaired cognition or postural hypotension as risk factors for falls in patients with SpA. A possible reason for this difference may be because these factors are a result of physiological declines due to aging, which will be seen more commonly in the older adults as compared to the younger population of SpA patients.

In this review, we included the 5 broad categories of risk factors for falls in SpA patients in an illustration (Figure 2). This illustration can be used by clinicians as a quick overview of the risk factors that should be considered when managing patients with SpA. Several of these factors, such as poor physical function, mobility and balance and active disease, are potentially modifiable, and measures should be taken to reduce these risk factors for falls in patients with SpA, thereby reducing complications resulting from falls.

There are a few limitations to our study. First, there were only 3 studies included in our review. This also highlights the gap in existing medical literature on falls in SpA patients. Second, the studies included were all cross-sectional in nature, and retrospective fall history was used. This could result in underestimation or underreporting of falls when using retrospective fall history, as it has been found that patients tend to forget their falls.<sup>43</sup> Future studies can consider conducting prospective studies instead, to minimize recall bias. However, all studies collected a retrospective fall history of the patients in the preceding 12 months, which has been found to be the most reliable timeframe for obtaining self-reported falls.<sup>44</sup> Third, since this was a systematic review and not a meta-analysis of the factors that influence risk of falls in patients, the aggregate magnitude of each factor was not assessed.

### 5 | CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the prevalence of falls ranged from 13% to 35%, and 16 factors were found to be associated with an increased risk of falls in patients with SpA. Clinicians should recognize modifiable risk factors, such as functional limitation, poor balance and mobility, fear of falling, active disease and symptoms of SpA, and address them in the holistic management of patients with SpA, thereby reducing falls and their complications.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Ms Wong Suei Nee and Ms Winnifred Wong from the Medical Library of the National University of Singapore for their advice and guidance on our search strategy, without which this study would not have been possible.

### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors have no conflicts of interest.

### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

All listed authors have contributed significantly in all of the following: (1) substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work, or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; (2) drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; (3) final approval of the version to be published; (4) agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring

ional Journal o **Rheumatic Diseases** 

that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

### ORCID

Grace Rui Si Lim ២ https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9362-2129 Caitlin Hsuen Ng D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6445-2637 Yu Heng Kwan 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7802-9696 Warren Fong (D) https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1891-1892

### REFERENCES

- 1. Lamb SE, Jørstad-Stein EC, Hauer K, Becker C. Development of a common outcome data set for fall injury prevention trials: the prevention of falls network Europe consensus. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005:53(9):1618-1622.
- 2. World Health Organisation Falls Fact Sheet World Health Organisation. 2018 https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/falls
- 3. Ravindran RM, Kutty VR. Risk factors for fall-related injuries leading to hospitalization among community-dwelling older persons: a hospital-based case-control study in Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala. India. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2016;28(1 Suppl):70s-s76.
- 4. da Costa JA, Ribeiro A, Bogas M, et al. Mortality and functional impairment after hip fracture - a prospective study in a Portuguese population. Acta Reumatol Port. 2009;34(4):618-626.
- 5. Harper BE, Reveille JD. Spondyloarthritis: clinical suspicion, diagnosis, and sports. Curr Sports Med Rep. 2009;8(1):29-34.
- 6. Stolwijk C, van Onna M, Boonen A, van Tubergen A. Global prevalence of Spondyloarthritis: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2016;68(9):1320-1331.
- 7. El Miedany Y, El Gaafary M, Youssef S, Palmer D. Towards a multidimensional patient reported outcome measures assessment: development and validation of a questionnaire for patients with ankylosing spondylitis/spondyloarthritis. Joint Bone Spine. 2010;77(6):575-581.
- 8. Lusardi MM, Fritz S, Middleton A, et al. Determining risk of falls in community dwelling older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis using posttest probability. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2017;40(1):1-36.
- 9. Mewes KB, Longo B, Campos APB, Simioni J, Skare TL. Balance and falls in axial Spondyloarthritis: a cross sectional study. Acta Reumatol Port. 2019;44(4):248-253.
- 10. Alkan H, Yildiz N, Sarsan A, et al. Fall risk in patients with Ankylosing Spondylitis. Turkish J Rheumatol. 2013;28:109-116.
- 11. Dursun N, Sarkaya S, Ozdolap S, et al. Risk of falls in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J Clin Rheumatol. 2015;21(2):76-80.
- 12. Batur EB, Karatas GK. Do postural changes affect balance in patients with ankylosing spondylitis? J Rehabil Med. 2017;49(5):437-440.
- 13. Scheffer AC, Schuurmans MJ, van Dijk N, van der Hooft T, de Rooij SE. Fear of falling: measurement strategy, prevalence, risk factors and consequences among older persons. Age Ageing. 2008;37(1):19-24.
- 14. Pfortmueller CA, Lindner G, Exadaktylos AK. Reducing fall risk in the elderly: risk factors and fall prevention, a systematic review. Minerva Med. 2014;105(4):275-281.
- 15. Brenton-Rule A, Dalbeth N, Bassett S, Menz HB, Rome K. The incidence and risk factors for falls in adults with rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2015;44(4):389-398.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [Internet] 16. 2013Falls in older people: assessing risk and prevention England: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2013 June 12 [cited 2020 Nov 12] Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guida nce/cg161.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting 17. items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Medicine. 2009;6(7):e1000097.

Lord S, Sherrington C. Falls in Older People: Risk Factors and Strategies for Prevention. Inj Prev. 2001;9.161

🗠 📎 – Wiley

- Leanne Kmet RL, Cook L. Standard quality assessment criteria for 19. evaluating primary research papers from a variety of fields Institute of Health Economics Alberta, Canada 2004. 2004. https://www. ihe.ca/publications/standard-quality-assessment-criteria-for-evalu ating-primary-research-papers-from-a-variety-of-fields
- 20. Lourenço MA, Carli F, de Assis MR. Characterization of falls in adults with established rheumatoid arthritis and associated factors. Adv Rheumatol. 2018;58(1):16.
- 21. Chan KM, Pang WS, Ee CH, Ding YY, Choo P. Epidemiology of falls among the elderly community dwellers in Singapore. Singapore Med J. 1997:38(10):427-431.
- 22. Downton JH. Andrews K. Prevalence, characteristics and factors associated with falls among the elderly living at home. Aging (Milano). 1991;3(3):219-228.
- Ambrose AF, Paul G, Hausdorff JM. Risk factors for falls among 23. older adults: a review of the literature. Maturitas. 2013;75(1):51-61.
- Campbell AJ, Borrie MJ, Spears GF, Jackson SL, Brown JS, Fitzgerald 24. JL. Circumstances and consequences of falls experienced by a community population 70 years and over during a prospective study. Age Ageing. 1990;19(2):136-141.
- 25. Young A. Ageing and physiological functions. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1997;352(1363):1837-1843.
- 26. Mikos M, Kucharska E, Lulek AM, Kłosiński M, Batko B. Evaluation of risk factors for falls in patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. Med Sci Monit. 2020;26:e921862.
- 27. Stanmore EK, Oldham J, Skelton DA, et al. Risk factors for falls in adults with rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2013;65(8):1251-1258.
- 28. Brach JS, VanSwearingen JM. Physical impairment and disability: relationship to performance of activities of daily living in communitydwelling older men. Phys Ther. 2002;82(8):752-761.
- 29. Sherrington C, Whitney JC, Lord SR, Herbert RD, Cumming RG, Close JC. Effective exercise for the prevention of falls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAm Geriatr Soc. 2008;56(12):2234-2243.
- 30. Füzéki E, Banzer W. Physical activity recommendations for health and beyond in currently inactive populations. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(5):1042.
- 31. Carvalho MR, Sato EI, Tebexreni AS, Heidecher RT, Schenkman S, Neto TL. Effects of supervised cardiovascular training program on exercise tolerance, aerobic capacity, and quality of life in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;53(6):838-844.
- 32. Cano-de-la-Cuerda R, Vela-Desojo L, Miangolarra-Page JC, Macías-Macías Y. Axial rigidity is related to the risk of falls in patients with Parkinson's disease. NeuroRehabilitation. 2017;40(4):569-577.
- 33. Schenkman M, Cutson TM, Kuchibhatla M, et al. Exercise to improve spinal flexibility and function for people with Parkinson's disease: a randomized, controlled trial. JAm Geriatr Soc. 1998;46(10):1207-1216.
- 34. Demontis A, Trainito S, Del Felice A, Masiero S. Favorable effect of rehabilitation on balance in ankylosing spondylitis: a quasi-randomized controlled clinical trial. Rheumatol Int. 2016;36(3):333-339.
- 35. Schenkman M, Hall DA, Barón AE, Schwartz RS, Mettler P, Kohrt WM, Exercise for people in early- or mid-stage Parkinson disease: a 16month randomized controlled trial. Phys Ther. 2012;92(11):1395-1410.
- 36. Yamagiwa K, lijima S, Furuya T, et al. Incidence of falls and fear of falling in Japanese patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Mod Rheumatol. 2011;21(1):51-56.
- 37. Elliott S, Leland NE. Occupational therapy fall prevention interventions for community-dwelling older adults: a systematic review. Am J Occup Ther. 2018;72(4):7204190040p1-p11.
- 38. Ramiro S, van der Heijde D, van Tubergen A, et al. Higher disease activity leads to more structural damage in the spine in ankylosing

spondylitis: 12-year longitudinal data from the OASIS cohort. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(8):1455-1461.

- Burki V, Gossec L, Payet J, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of hip involvement in spondyloarthritis: a single-centre observational study of 275 patients. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 2012;30(4):481-486.
- 40. Parikh C. Antidepressants in the elderly: challenges for study design and their interpretation. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2000;49(6):539-547.
- 41. Marcum ZA, Perera S, Thorpe JM, et al. Antidepressant use and recurrent falls in community-dwelling older adults: findings from the health ABC study. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2016;50(7):525-533.
- 42. Diagnosis and treatment of depression in late life. *Results of the NIH Consensus Development Conference [press release]*. Arlington, VA, US: American Psychiatric Association; 1994.

- Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Kidd S. Forgetting falls, the limited accuracy of recall of falls in the elderly. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1988;36(7):613-616.
- 44. Freiberger E, de Vreede P. Falls recall—limitations of the most used inclusion criteria. *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*. 2011;8(2):105-108.

How to cite this article: Lim GRS, Ng CH, Kwan YH, Fong W. Prevalence and risk factors for falls in patients with spondyloarthritis: A systematic review. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2021;24:623–632. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14092 DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14093

### **REVIEW ARTICLE**

### WILEY

**@** 📎

# Diagnostic value of anti-citrullinated $\alpha$ -enolase peptide 1 antibody in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Laboratory, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Peking Union Medical College, Chinese Academy of Medical Science, Beijing, China

<sup>2</sup>Department of Clinical Laboratory, The First Hospital of Jilin University, Jilin, China

### Correspondence

Yongzhe Li, Department of Clinical Laboratory, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Peking Union Medical College, Chinese Academy of Medical Science, 1 Shuaifuyuan, Dongcheng District, Beijing 100730, China.

Email: yongzhelipumch@126.com

### **Funding information**

the Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (CAMS) Initiative for Innovative Medicine, Grant/Award Number: 2017-I2M-B&R-01; Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (CAMS) Initiative for Innovative Medicine, Grant/Award Number: 2017-I2M-3-001; National Natural Science Foundation of China, Grant/Award Number: 81671618 and 81871302; Beijing Key Clinical Specialty for Laboratory Medicine - Excellent Project, Grant/Award Number: ZK201000

### Abstract

Revised: 18 January 2021

Aim: To evaluate the diagnostic value of anti-citrullinated  $\alpha$ -enolase peptide 1 (anti-CEP 1) antibody in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) by conducting a systematic review and meta-analysis.

**Methods:** The PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, Scopus, and Cochrane Library databases were searched for relevant studies published until September 23, 2020. A bivariate mixed-effects model was used to calculate the diagnostic indices from primary data of eligible studies. We performed meta-regression and subgroup analysis to explore the sources of heterogeneity.

**Results:** Twenty-four articles, with a total of 17 380 patients with RA and 7505 control participants, met the criteria for inclusion in the meta-analysis. The pooled sensitivity, specificity, and positive and negative likelihood ratios for the anti-CEP 1 antibody were 44% (95% CI: 38%-51%), 97% (95% CI: 96%-98%), and 14.81 (95% CI: 10.66-20.57) and 0.57 (95% CI: 0.52-0.64), respectively. The pooled positive and negative predictive values were 0.96 (95% CI: 0.95-0.97) and 0.53 (95% CI: 0.43-0.63), respectively. The area under the summary receiver operating characteristic curve was 0.86. Meta-regression indicated that the anti-CEP 1 antibody detection method may be a source of heterogeneity. The subgroup analysis of the group in which the anti-CEP 1 antibody was detected by using a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit had a sensitivity of 59% (95% CI: 50%-68%) and a specificity of 93% (95% CI: 85%-97%).

**Conclusions:** The anti-CEP 1 antibody had moderate RA diagnostic value with relatively low sensitivity and high specificity. An ELISA may increase the RA diagnostic sensitivity.

### KEYWORDS

anti-citrullinated protein antibodies, anti-citrullinated  $\alpha$ -enolase peptide 1 antibody, autoantibody, diagnosis, meta-analysis, rheumatoid arthritis

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

<sup>© 2021</sup> The Authors. International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases published by Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd.

LEY-

### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic systemic autoimmune disorder characterized by irreversible joint erosion, articular cartilage destruction, and synovial inflammation.<sup>1</sup> Additionally, patients with RA may have coexisting extra-articular manifestations, such as cardiovascular events, lung disease, and neurological involvement,<sup>2,3</sup> which could seriously affect the quality of life in RA patients. However, early diagnosis of RA and intervention can help achieve remission and reduce the possibility of RA-related disabilities.<sup>4</sup>

Autoantibodies are the hallmark of RA, of which anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide (anti-CCP) antibody and rheumatoid factor (RF) are routinely used to diagnose RA.<sup>5</sup> They are also recommended by the American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism (ACR/EULAR) the criteria of which are used to diagnose RA. Nevertheless, using only anti-CCP antibody and RF is insufficient to identify some potential patients with early stage RA who are negative for anti-CCP antibody and RF.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, more novel autoantibodies are needed to allow identification of seronegative RA patients. Anti-citrullinated protein antibodies (ACPAs) have an important role in diagnosing RA. ACPAs interact with different citrullinated proteins as target antigens, including fibrinogen, type II collagen, vimentin, and  $\alpha$ -enolase.<sup>7</sup> In particular,  $\alpha$ -enolase, one of the key enzymes for glycolysis, is involved in the pathogenesis of RA.<sup>8</sup> In 2005, Kinloch et al.<sup>9</sup> first reported that citrullinated  $\alpha$ -enolase peptide (CEP) was specific for RA, and they observed that CEP can be detected in the synovial fluid of patients with RA and that the anti-CEP 1 antibody had a higher level in synovial fluid than in serum.<sup>10</sup> These findings suggest that the anti-CEP 1 antibody may be produced from joint tissue, and it may better reflect the pathological changes involved in RA than the anti-CCP antibody that targets synthetic antigen but not physiological proteins. Additionally, anti-CEP 1 antibody can be detected in patients with seronegative RA,<sup>11,12</sup> suggesting that it helps with early diagnosis of RA.

Several studies have investigated the diagnostic value of anti-CEP 1 antibody for RA. However, the results from different studies have been inconsistent, and no published systematic review or meta-analysis has evaluated the diagnostic value of anti-CEP 1 antibody for RA. Therefore, we conducted this systematic review and meta-analysis to assess the RA diagnostic performance of the anti-CEP 1 antibody and identify factors that may affect its performance.

### 2 | METHODS

This meta-analysis was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.<sup>13</sup> The PRISMA checklist is shown in the supplementary files (see Appendix S1).

### 2.1 | Search strategy

The following 5 electronic databases were searched to retrieve relevant studies: PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, Scopus, and Cochrane Library. All studies were published prior to September 23, 2020, and we applied no language restriction. To construct the search strategy, the index terms were used as follows: autoantibody to citrullinated alpha enolase peptides 1, autoantibody to citrullinated  $\alpha$ -enolase peptide 1, autoantibody to CEP-1, anti-CEP-1 antibody, rheumatoid arthritis, and RA. The detailed search strategy is presented in the supplementary files (see Appendix S2B).

### 2.2 | Study inclusion and exclusion criteria

Two investigators independently screened all the articles searched in the electronic databases. We included studies fulfilling the following inclusion criteria: (a) the diagnostic accuracy of anti-CEP 1 antibodies in RA was evaluated; (b) necessary data including sensitivity, specificity, false positives, and false negatives could be obtained or calculated from the study; (c) healthy donors or non-RA disease patients were enrolled in the study; (d) the diagnostis of patients with RA was based on the ACR or EULAR diagnostic criteria.

The following exclusion criteria were adopted: (a) studies without enough data to construct  $2 \times 2$  contingency tables; (b) studies examining the diagnostic accuracy of the anti-CEP 1 antibody for future RA; (c) patient numbers with RA < 50; (d) tested samples were not in serum or plasma. (e) the study included duplicate data; (f) animal experiments.

### 2.3 | Data extraction

The process of data extraction was independently conducted by 2 investigators, and we extracted the essential information presented in the eligible articles, including the first author, published year, age, country where the study was performed, type of article, study design, method, plate and antibody used in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), CEP-1 peptide sequence, diagnostic standard for RA, age, RA number, non-RA number, a cut-off of the method, diagnostic index, and anti-CEP 1 positive rate in patients with RA who were anti-CCP negative or positive. Any disagreements were resolved by reaching a consensus.

### 2.4 | Quality assessment

According to the Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies-2 (QUADAS-2) tool,<sup>14</sup> 2 investigators independently assessed the quality of all eligible literature. QUADAS-2 evaluates 2 sections: risk of bias and concerns regarding applicability. Evaluation of the risk of bias comprised patient selection, index



FIGURE 1 Flow diagram for screening studies and results

test, reference standard, flow and timing. The evaluation of the concerns regarding applicability included patient selection, index test, and reference standards. The risk was scored as high, low, or unclear according to the evaluating results of each section. Two investigators performed the quality assessment, and when there were inconsistent evaluation results, we resolved the disagreement through discussion.

### 2.5 | Statistical analysis

We used STATA 15 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA), Meta-DiSc V.1.4 (Unit of Clinical Biostatistics team of the Ramony Cajal Hospital), and RevMan 5.3 (the Nordic Cochrane Center) software to perform the meta-analysis. A bivariate mixed-effects model was used to calculate the pooled sensitivity, specificity, positive likelihood ratio (PLR), negative likelihood ratio (NLR), positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), and diagnostic odds ratio (DOR). We established a summary receiver operator characteristic (SROC) curve and calculated the area under the SROC curve (AUC) to evaluate the overall performance of the anti-CEP 1 antibody in patients with RA. The  $l^2$  statistical test, which is an index for assessing heterogeneity, was used to detect heterogeneity within studies; a value of  $l^2 >$ 50% indicates substantial heterogeneity. We tested for threshold effects, which could lead to heterogeneity of results due to inconsistent cut-off values applied in various studies,

	~~~	ILC	R	neu	imatic	Dise	eases			Ŷ									
	Diagnostic standard for RA	2010 ACR/EULAR criteria	2010 ACR/EULAR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	2010 ACR/EULAR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	2010 ACR/EULAR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	2010 ACR/EULAR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria	1987 ACR criteria
	CEP-1 peptide sequence	NR	NR	NR	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	NR	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	NR	NR	NR	KIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit)GNPTVE	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	NR	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	KIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit)GNPTVE	KIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit)GNPTVE	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	KIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit)GNPTVE
	Plate and antibody brands of ELISA/ Microarray brand	Commercial ELISA kit: Euroimmun	Commercial ELISA kit: Euroimmun	Commercial ELISA kit: Euroimmun	Phadia AB	Commercial ELISA kit: Euroimmun	Phadia AB	Commercial ELISA kit: Euroimmun	Commercial ELISA kit: Euroimmun	Phadia AB	Plate: NR Antibody: Stratech	Plate: NR Antibody: Jackson Immunoresearch	Phadia AB	Phadia AB	Plate: MaxiSorp antibody: Millipore	Plate: NR Antibody: Hybridoma Reagent Laboratory	Phadia AB	Plate: MaxiSorp Antibody: American Qualex International	Plate: Costar Antibody: Jackson Immunoresearch
	Method	ELISA	ELISA	ELISA	Microarray	ELISA	Microarray	ELISA	ELISA	Microarray	ELISA	ELISA	Microarray	Microarray	ELISA	ELISA	Microarray	ELISA	ELISA
alysis	Study design	Case-control	Case-control	Case-control	Case-control	Case-control	Cross-sectional	Case-control	Cross-sectional	Case-control	Cross-sectional	Cross-sectional	Prospective study	Cross-sectional	Cross-sectional	Cross-sectional	Case-control	Case-control	Case-control
Some characteristics of 24 eligible studies in this meta-analysis	Type of article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Meeting abstract	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article	Journal article
cs of 24 eligible stu	Country	China	Poland	China	Sweden	South Africa	Norway	Italy	Italy	Malaysia/ Sweden	United states	Spain	Sweden	Sweden	Korea	United Kingdom	Sweden	Japan	Greece
haracteristi	Published Y	2019	2019	2019	2018	2018	2018	2018	2018	2017	2017	2017	2017	2016	2016	2015	2015	2013	2013
TABLE 1 Some c	Author	Zhou et al <sup>15</sup>	Ponikowska et al <sup>16</sup>	Liu et al <sup>17</sup>	Rönnelid et al <sup>18</sup>	Meyer et al <sup>19</sup>	Jonsson et al <sup>20</sup>	Alunno et al <sup>21</sup>	Alunno et al <sup>22</sup>	Too et al <sup>23</sup>	Schwenzer et al <sup>24</sup>	Cabrera-Villalba et al <sup>25</sup>	Brink et al <sup>26</sup>	Reed et al <sup>27</sup>	Choi et al <sup>28</sup>	Quirke et al <sup>29</sup>	Kokkonen et al <sup>30</sup>	Umeda et al <sup>31</sup>	Goules et al <sup>32</sup>

🕳 📎

 TABLE 1
 Some characteristics of 24 eligible studies in this meta-analysis

LI ET AL.

·=
()
_
÷
-
7
• •
• •
Е 1
• •
• •
• •
• •
• •
• •
• •
• •
BLE
ABLE
BLE

Author	Published Y	Country	Type of article	Study design	Method	Plate and antibody brands of ELISA/ Microarray brand	CEP-1 peptide sequence	Diagnostic standard for RA
Montes et al <sup>33</sup>	2012	Spain	Journal article	Case-control	ELISA	Plate: Pierce Antibody: NR	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	1987 ACR criteria
Hansson et al <sup>34</sup>	2012	Sweden	Journal article	Case-control	Microarray	Phadia Multiplexing Diagnostics GmbH	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	1987 ACR criteria
Montes et al <sup>35</sup>	2011	Spain	Journal article	Case-control	ELISA	Plate: NR Antibody: NR	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	1987 ACR criteria
Lundberg et al <sup>36</sup>	2011	Sweden	Meeting abstract	Case-control	ELISA	Plate: NR Antibody: NR	NR	1987 ACR criteria
Snir et al <sup>37</sup>	2009	Sweden	Journal article	Case-control	ELISA	Plate: Nunc, Antibody: Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	1987 ACR criteria
Lundberg <sup>38</sup>	2008	United Kingdom	Journal article	Case-control	ELISA	Plate: MaxiSorp Antibody: Hybridoma Reagent Laboratory	CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVEC (cyclic)	1987 ACR criteria
Abbreviations: CEP-	1. citrullinated o	r-enolase peptide	Abbreviations: CEP-1. citrullinated <i>w</i> -enolase peptide 1: cit. citrulline: NR. not reported.	ot reported.				

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases 637

and *P* values <.05 were considered to be indicative of the presence of a threshold effect. Meta-regression and subgroup analysis were performed to detect the potential source of heterogeneity, and *P* values <.05 were taken to be indicative of statistical significance. To detect publication bias, a Deek's funnel plot was employed, and *P* values <.10 were considered to be indicative of existing publication bias.

 $(\mathfrak{D})$ 

### 3 | RESULTS

### 3.1 | Search results

A total of 423 articles were searched in PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, Scopus, and Cochrane Library databases, of which 184 studies were duplicates and 145 were excluded after the title and abstract screening (Figure 1). Then, 94 studies underwent full-text review, of which 18 did not provide enough data to construct 2 × 2 contingency tables, 18 did not set up a control group, 12 reported that they included pre-RA patients who developed RA in the future, 8 did not detect anti-CEP 1 antibody in patients with RA, 6 were reported as meeting abstracts that had been officially published as papers, 3 reported that the patients with RA were not diagnosed according to the ACR or EULAR criteria, 3 were reviews, 1 reported that the number of included RA patients was <50, and 1 was an animal study. Therefore, 70 studies were excluded after fulltext review. Finally, 24 articles met the criteria for inclusion in the meta-analysis.<sup>15-38</sup>

# 3.2 | Study characteristics and literature quality assessment

Tables 1 and 2 present the main characteristics of the 24 eligible studies. There were 17 380 RA patients, 1231 non-RA patients as the disease control group, and 6274 participants as the health control group. Among the 24 studies, 14 only used health donors as a control group,<sup>15,18,20,21,23,26-28,30,33-37</sup> 1 study only used non-RA patients as a control group,<sup>24</sup> and the other studies mixed health donors and non-RA patients as the control group.<sup>16,17,19,22</sup> <sup>,25,29,31,32,38</sup> Two studies reported as meeting abstracts,<sup>26,36</sup> and the other studies were reported as journal articles.<sup>15-25,27-35,37,38</sup> Most of the studies used ELISAs to detect the anti-CEP 1 antibody by commercial ELISA kits or a self-established ELISA method.<sup>15-</sup> 17,19,22,24,25,28,29,31-33,35-38 Two types of CEP-1 peptide sequences were used as coating antigens in the self-established ELISA methods: one was a CKIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit)GNPTVEC (cyclic) with C-terminal and N-terminal cysteines to facilitate cyclization in 6 included studies, <sup>25,31,33,35,37,38</sup> and another was a KIHA(cit)EIFDS(cit) GNPTVE without cysteine in 4 of the studies.<sup>24,28,29,32</sup> Detailed information about the self-established ELISA methods used in the included studies is presented in the supplementary files (see Table S1. [Appendix S2C]).

	WH	_EY- <mark>F</mark>	Rheumati	ic Disease	s		Ø								
	Anti-CEP <sup>+</sup> /anti- CCP <sup>-a</sup> /anti-CEP <sup>+</sup> / anti-CCP+ <sup>b</sup>	20.8% (10/48)/74.4% (174/234)	41.2% (7/17)/85.3% (29/34)	20.8% (5/24)/74.0% (57/77)	NR	R	7.7% (3/39)/77.0% (137/178)	20.0% (7/35)/58.5% (38/65)	17.6% (15/85)/58.1% (97/167)	NR	RN	NR	R	NR	R
	RA duration	х Х	5.7 ± 3.5 mo	MT:7 y (2, 16)	<1 y	MT:9 mo (12)	<2 y	$12 \pm 3$ y	$12.6 \pm 0.6$ y	$1.1 \pm 1.8$ y	<1 y	>10 y	3 years	<1 y	х х
	SPE	86.7%	95.3%	91.2%	98.0%	76.0%	98.9%	98.0%	98.0%	98.0%	98.0%	97.9%	84.7%	97.9%	98.1%
	SEN	65.2%	70.6%	61.4%	47.2%	72.0%	64.5%	45.0%	44.4%	23.0%	50.0%	33.1%	40.7%	53.7%	41.3%
	Z	98	15	39	1493	21	77	55	140	948	1429	192	32	473	1665
	Ę	104	41	114	540	57	93	49	144	1592	566	323	100	467	366
	Ę	16	0	11	11	18	1	7	ო	33	12	~	18	10	~
	đ	184	36	62	1332	54	140	45	112	283	1429	95	22	549	1171
sis	Cut-off	20 U/mL	20 RU/mL	20 RU/mL	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	46 RU/mL	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	NR	20 U/mL	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	A specificity of 98.0% of disease control	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control
his meta-analy	NRA (F/M)	HC: 61/59	DC:19/4 HC: 20	DC: 27/19 HC: 51/28	HC:551	DC: 46 HC: 19/10	HC: 57/37	HC: 50	DC: 97 HC: 50	HC: 1625	HC: 578	DC: 330	DC: 34/20 HC: 64	HC: 477	HC: 373
studies in t	RA number (F/M)	219/63	35/16	75/26	2825	61/14	131/86	100	196/56	1231	2858	287	34/20	692/330	2836
The other characteristics of 24 eligible studies in this meta-analysis	l Age, y	RA: 16-89 HC: 25-40	RA: 49.0 ± 16.4 DC: 46.0 ± 19.3 HC: NR	RA: 45-62 DC: 36-64 HC: 40-57	RA: 18-70 HC: NR	RA: 48 DC: 43-45 HC: 46	RA: 51.5 $\pm$ 13.6 HC: 52.1 $\pm$ 9.2	RA: 62 ± 2 HC: NR	RA: 61.7 ± 0.8 DC: NR HC: NR	RA: 18-70 HC: NR	RA:18-70 HC:NR	RA: NR DC: NR	RA: 54.7 ± 11.8 DC: 51.2 ± 11.3 HC: NR	RA: 56.7 ± 14.0 HC: NR	RA:NR HC: NR
er characte.	Published Y	2019	2019	2019	2018	2018	2018	2018	2018	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	2016
TABLE 2 The othe	Author	Zhou et al <sup>15</sup>	Ponikowska et al <sup>16</sup>	Liu et al <sup>17</sup>	Rönnelid et al <sup>18</sup>	Meyer et al <sup>19</sup>	Jonsson et al <sup>20</sup>	Alunno et al <sup>21</sup>	Alunno et al <sup>22</sup>	Too et al (Malaysia) <sup>23</sup>	Too et al (Sweden) <sup>23</sup>	Schwenzer et al <sup>24</sup>	Cabrera-Villalba et al <sup>25</sup>	Brink et al <sup>26</sup>	Reed et al <sup>27</sup>

 TABLE 2
 The other characteristics of 24 eligible studies in this meta-analysis

LI ET AL.

-WILEY- International Journal of Rhoumatic Di

638

Author	Published Y	Age, y	RA number (F/M)	NRA (F/M)	Cut-off	Ę	н Н	TN FI	FN	SEN	SPE	RA duration	Anti-CEP <sup>+</sup> /anti- CCP <sup>-a</sup> /anti-CEP <sup>+</sup> / anti-CCP+ <sup>b</sup>
Choi et al <sup>28</sup>	2016	RA:58.2 ± 12.0 HC: 58.2 ± 11.6	231/33	HC: 77/11	A specificity of 95.0% of healthy control	46	8	84 21	218 17	17.4%	95.5%	$13.8 \pm 9.8$ y	NR
Quirke et al <sup>29</sup>	2015	RA: NR DC: NR HC: NR	72/28	DC: 148/61 HC: 58/21	A specificity of 95.0% of healthy control	42	10 2	278 58		42.0%	96.5%	ĸ	NR
Kokkonen et al <sup>30</sup>	2015	RA: 56.5 HC: 50.3	199	HC: 574	A specificity of 97.0% of healthy control	134	35 5	539 65		67.3%	93.9%	MT:7.2 mo (4.7, 10.6)	NR
Umeda et al <sup>31</sup>	2013	RA: 16-84 DC: 15-84 HC: 18-55	158/50	DC:187/15 HC: 84/90	Mean + 3SD	92	4	372 11	116 44	44.2%	98.9%	ĸ	10.3% (3/29)/49.7% (89/179)
Goules et al <sup>32</sup>	2013	RA: NR DC: NR HC: NR	141	DC: 114 HC: 100	Mean + 2SD	23	9	205 88		37.6%	95.8%	R	NR
Montes et al <sup>33</sup>	2012	RA: >55 HC: >55	404/117	HC: 173	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	117	3	170 4(	404 22	22.5%	98.2%	MT: 18 y (10, 25)	NR
Hansson et al <sup>34</sup>	2012	RA: 18-70 HC: NR	927	HC: 461	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	365	10 4	451 50	562 39	39.4%	97.8%	<1 y	0% (0/526)/91.0% (365/401)
Montes et al <sup>35</sup>	2011	RA: ≥55 HC: ≥55	451	HC: 173	Mean + 3 SD	121 (	0	173 33	330 26	26.8%	100.0%	ĸ	12.5% (16/128)/32.6% (103/316)
Lundberg et al <sup>36</sup>	2011	RA: NR HC: NR	1985	HC: 150	A specificity of 98.0% of healthy control	714	а 1	147 12	1271 36	36.0%	98.0%	<1 y	NR
Snir et al <sup>37</sup>	2009	RA: 21-86 HC: 24-82	238/53	HC: 81/19	A specificity of 99.0% of healthy control	120	1 9	99 17	171 41	41.2%	99.0%	NR	1.2% (1/81)/56.7% (119/210)
Lundberg et al <sup>38</sup>	2008	RA: NR DC:NR HC:NR	102	DC: 110 HC: 92	OD values above 0.1	37	5 1	197 65		36.3%	97.5%	NR	23.3% (7/30)/41.7% (30/72)
Abbreviations: 2SD/3SD, the cut-off for a positive response as the mean Anti-CEP 1. anti-citrullinated a-enplace pentide 1: DC. disease control: E	), the cut-off	for a positive respo	nse as the m sease contr	iean plus 2/3 t ol: F. female: F	Abbreviations: 2SD/3SD, the cut-off for a positive response as the mean plus 2/3 times the SD of the specificity anti-CEP 1 reactivity of the healthy control; Anti-CCP, anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide; Anti-CFP 1. anti-citrullinated <i>m</i> -enolase neutide 1: DC. disease control: E. female: EN. false nestive: ED. false nositive: HC. healthy control: M. male: MT. median time: NR. not renorted: NRA. non-RA	icity anti-	CEP 1 re HC he	activity of althor contr	f the heal of M ma	thy contr le: MT n	ol; Anti-CC	CP, anti-cyclic cit	ullinated peptide; صرا NRA, non-RA

Anti-CEP 1, anti-our uninated & endoase peptide 1, DC, disease control, r, remate, FN, labe negative; FF, labe positive; FC, ne patients; OD, optical density; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; SEN, sensitivity; SPE, specificity; TN, true negative; TP, true positive.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

<sup>a</sup>The prevalence of anti-CEP 1 antibody in anti-CCP antibody negative RA patients.

 $^{\mathrm{b}\mathsf{T}}\mathsf{he}$  prevalence of anti-CEP 1 antibody in anti-CCP antibody-positive RA patients.

TABLE 2 (Continued)

640

High

-WILEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases



(M)  $\mathbf{i}$ 

FIGURE 2 Literature quality assessment by using the Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies-2 (QUADAS-2) tool for eligible studies

Unclear

100%

75%

Low

The results of the included literature quality assessment are shown in Figure 2. We found a relatively high risk of bias or unclear risk of bias for patient selection because most of the articles did not specifically explain the sampling method of the included patients and it was difficult to achieve a consecutive or random sample of patients. A few studies indicated a high risk bias in flow and timing, because not all of the included patients in these studies underwent the anti-CEP 1 antibody test. However, regarding applicability, all studies had a low risk of bias.

### 3.3 | Diagnostic value of anti-CEP 1 antibody to RA

Among the 24 studies included in the meta-analysis, the sensitivity of the anti-CEP 1 antibody to RA ranged 17.4%-72.0%, and the specificity of the anti-CEP 1 antibody to RA ranged 76%-100%. Eleven studies out of 24 included studies showed the prevalence of the anti-CEP 1 antibody in the anti-CCP antibody negative RA patients or anti-CCP antibody-positive RA patients,<sup>15-17,20-22,31,34,35,37,38</sup> and the prevalences of the anti-CEP 1 antibody in the 2 groups of RA patients were 0%-41.2% and 32.6%-91.0%, respectively. The pooled sensitivity and specificity were 44% (95% CI: 38%-51%, P < .0001,  $l^2 = 97.02\%$ ) and 97% (95% CI: 96%-98%, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 92.77\%$ ), respectively (Figure 3A,B). Therefore, there was a significant heterogeneity among the studies. The pooled PLR was 14.81 (95% CI: 10.66-20.57, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 81.29\%$ ), and the pooled NLR was 0.57 (95% CI: 0.52-0.64, P < .0001,  $l^2 = 97.15\%$ ). The pooled PPV and NPV of the anti-CEP 1 antibody were 0.96 (95% CI: 0.95-0.97, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 88.70\%$ ) and 0.53 (95% CI: 0.43-0.63, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 99.60\%$ ), respectively. The pooled DOR was 25.83 (95% CI: 18.43-36.20), and the SROC showed that the AUC was 0.86 (95% CI: 0.82-0.88) (Figure 3C).

### 3.4 | Meta-regression and subgroup analysis

First, we evaluated the included studies to determine if there was an existing threshold effect. The Spearman's correlation coefficient for the anti-CEP 1 antibody was 0.342 (P = .094), indicating that there was no threshold effect.

However, there was substantial heterogeneity among the included studies, so we performed a meta-regression to explore the sources of heterogeneity. The following covariates were tested: the control group (healthy control and included disease control), diagnostic criteria for RA (the 1987 ACR criteria and 2010 ACR/EULAR criteria), and detection method for anti-CEP 1 antibody (commercial ELISA kit and non-commercial ELISA kit). Consequently, the control group and diagnostic criteria for RA were identified as significant contributors to the heterogeneity for specificity (both P < .001), whereas the detection method for RA contributed to the heterogeneity for sensitivity and specificity (P < .05 and P < .001, respectively) (Figure 4).

Furthermore, all covariates were subjected to subgroup analysis. In the controls subgroup, the group with healthy controls had International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases 🐵 🕥 – Willey

a sensitivity of 42% (95% CI: 34%-50%, P < .0001,  $l^2 = 98.12\%$ ), a specificity of 98% (95% CI: 97%-98%, P < .0001, I<sup>2</sup> = 88.57%), and an AUC of 0.92 (95% CI: 0.89-0.94); the group including the disease controls had a sensitivity of 48% (95% CI: 40%-56%, P < .0001,  $l^2 = 87.15\%$ , a specificity of 95% (95% CI: 91%-98%, P < .0001,  $l^2 = 93.24\%$ ), and an AUC of 0.78 (95% CI: 0.74-0.82). In the diagnostic criteria for the RA subgroup, the group diagnosed with RA according to the 1987 ACR criteria had a sensitivity of 41% (95% Cl: 35%-48%, P < .0001,  $l^2 = 97.51\%$ ), a specificity of 97% (95%) CI: 96%-98%, P < .0001,  $l^2 = 92.80\%$ ), and an AUC of 0.84 (95%) CI: 0.80-0.87); and the group diagnosed with RA according to the 2010 ACR/EULAR criteria had a sensitivity of 57% (95% CI: 47%-67%, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 90.55\%$ ), a specificity of 96% (95% CI: 91%-98%). P < .0001,  $I^2 = 87.35\%$ ), and an AUC of 0.86 (95% CI: 0.83-0.89). In the detection method for RA subgroup, the group that detected the anti-CEP 1 antibody by using a commercial ELISA kit had a sensitivity of 59% (95% CI: 50%-68%, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 88.04\%$ ), a specificity of 93% (95% CI: 85%-97%, P < .0001, I<sup>2</sup> = 86.42%), and an AUC of 0.79 (95% CI: 0.76-0.83); the group that detected the anti-CEP 1 antibody by using a home-made ELISA kit had a sensitivity of 33% (95% CI: 28%-39%, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 90.35\%$ ), a specificity of 98% (95% CI: 96%-99%, P < .0001, I<sup>2</sup> = 87.07%), and an AUC of 0.70 (95% CI: 0.66-0.74); and the group that detected the anti-CEP 1 antibody by using microarray had a sensitivity of 48% (95% CI: 38%-58%, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 98.34\%$ ), a specificity was 97% (95% CI: 96%-98%, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 89.46\%$ ), and an AUC of 0.95 (95% CI: 0.93-0.97). To explore the different antigen sources and to determine if they affected the diagnostic performance of the home-made ELISA kit, we performed an additional subgroup analysis. The group using a CEP-1 sequence with C-terminal and N-terminal cysteines had a sensitivity of 35% (95% CI: 28%-42%, P < .0001, I<sup>2</sup> = 91.04%), a specificity of 98% (95% CI: 95%-100%, P < .0001,  $I^2 = 93.73\%$ ), and an AUC of 0.62 (95% CI: 0.57-0.66). The group using a CEP-1 sequence without cysteines had a sensitivity of 31% (95% CI: 22%-42%, P < .0001, I<sup>2</sup> = 90.57%), a specificity of 97% (95% CI: 95%-100%, P = .48,  $I^2 = 0$ %), and an AUC of 0.96 (95% CI: 0.94-0.98). Other details of the summary diagnostic index are shown in the supplementary files (see Table S2. [Appendix S2D]).

### 3.5 | Publication bias and sensitivity analysis

The Deeks' funnel plot asymmetry test showed that no publication bias was observed (P = .65) (see Figure S1 [Appendix S2E]). The sensitivity analysis, excluding each article to perform the meta-analysis again, indicated that the meta-analysis results were stable (See Figure S2 [Appendix S2F]).

### 4 | DISCUSSION

Patients with RA who receive early successful treatment can achieve effective remission and possibly prevent onset of extra-articular



**FIGURE 3** Forest plots and summary receiver operating characteristic curves of the anti-citrullinated  $\alpha$ -enolase peptide 1 (anti-CEP 1) for rheumatoid arthritis (RA). (A) Sensitivity forest plot; (B) specificity forest plot; (C) summary receiver operating characteristic curve

manifestations. Therefore, it is necessary to identify RA as soon as possible. Many ACPAs have shown good performance for early diagnosis of RA.<sup>39</sup> The anti-CEP 1 antibody is one of the ACPAs that can be detected even before the onset of RA and may be involved at the beginning of RA.<sup>40</sup> Thus, detection of the anti-CEP 1 antibody may contribute to recognition of patients in early phase RA.

To our knowledge, this meta-analysis is the first to investigate the diagnostic value of anti-CEP 1 antibody for RA, with a total of 24 studies included. The potential diagnostic value of the anti-CEP 1 antibody for RA was mainly reflected by its predominant specificity (97%) and PLR (14.81), indicating that the subjects who tested positive for the anti-CEP 1 antibody had a 14.81-fold chance of developing RA relative to the chance for the subjects who tested negative. Therefore, the high PLR of the anti-CEP 1 antibody shows that a positive anti-CEP 1 antibody result has good accuracy for identifying subjects who have RA. However, the diagnostic value of the anti-CEP 1 antibody for RA was limited by its lower sensitivity (44%) and insufficiently low NLR (0.57), which suggests that the subjects who were suspected to have RA but tested negative for the anti-CEP 1 antibody could not be excluded from having RA. The higher pooled PPV (0.96) and lower pooled NPV (0.53) also indicated that subjects with the anti-CEP 1 antibody had a higher probability of RA and those without the anti-CEP 1 antibody could not be ruled out as having RA and that the predicted values could be affected by disease prevalence.<sup>41</sup> Therefore, more studies are needed to confirm this result by adjusting for the prevalence of RA. The DOR (25.83) revealed that the anti-CEP 1 antibody was very helpful for diagnosing RA, and the AUC of 0.86 indicated moderate performance of the anti-CEP 1 antibody for diagnosing RA.

We observed high heterogeneity among the included studies. Therefore, we tested several factors that may influence heterogeneity by performing meta-regression and subgroup analysis. The meta-regression analysis indicated that the control group, diagnostic criteria for RA, and detection method for the anti-CEP 1 antibody were significant contributors to the heterogeneity for specificity, whereas the subgroup analysis suggested that the heterogeneity values for each of the specificity of 3 factors were not significantly different (range of  $l^2$ : 86.42%-93.24%) and the specificity was higher than 93%. Additionally, the subgroup analysis indicated that the group diagnosed with RA according to the 2010 ACR/EULAR criteria had a sensitivity (57%) that was about 16% higher than that of the group diagnosed with RA according to the

👁 📎 – Wiley-

643



**FIGURE 4** Univariable meta-regression and subgroup analysis of 3 covariates (control group, diagnostic criteria for rheumatoid arthritis (RA), method for detection of the anti-citrullinated α-enolase peptide 1 [anti-CEP 1] antibody)

1987 ACR criteria (41%). Clinically, there are 2 sets of criteria for diagnosing RA, and some studies have reported that the 2010 ACR/ EULAR criteria have a higher sensitivity for identifying patients with RA but a lower specificity than that of the 1987 ACR criteria.<sup>42-44</sup> The results of the subgroup analysis were consistent with those of these published studies. The method for detecting the anti-CEP 1 antibody is a potential source of heterogeneity for sensitivity and specificity, which was tested by meta-regression and subgroup analysis. The group in which the anti-CEP 1 antibody was detected by using a commercial ELISA kit had the highest sensitivity (59%) of all subgroups, whereas the group in which the anti-CEP 1 antibody was detected by using a home-made ELISA kit had the lowest sensitivity (33%) among all subgroups, which indicated that the standardized commercial ELISA kit may improve the sensitivity for diagnosis of RA relative to that of the home-made ELISA kits that use a variety of materials and testing procedures. Additionally, the AUC of the commercial ELISA kit (0.79) was higher than that of the home-made ELISA kit (0.70), which indicated that detecting the anti-CEP 1 antibody by using the commercial ELISA kit had moderate diagnostic performance and was superior to that of the home-made ELISA kit. The group in which the anti-CEP 1 antibody was detected by using microarray had the highest AUC (0.95), which may be because only healthy donors were included in the control group. Therefore, the value of the microarray for detecting the anti-CEP 1 antibody should be investigated by additional studies that include a diseased-patient control. For the home-made ELISA kit, our data show that the sensitivity and specificity in the group using the CEP-1 peptide with Cterminal and N-terminal cysteines as coated antigens were slightly higher than the CEP-1 peptide without cysteines, but the AUC was lower. Therefore, an inconsistent antigen source may adversely affect the capability for detection of the anti-CEP 1 antibody and the diagnostic performance of home-made ELISA kits. Of note, although the meta-regression showed that 3 factors may contribute to the heterogeneity, the subgroup analysis did not explore the notable decrease in the  $l^2$  value ( $l^2 < 50\%$ ), which demonstrated that the combined effect of multiple factors may influence heterogeneity. However, some of our included studies had missing data, which prevented analysis of this issue.

To date, RA remains a clinical diagnosis and autoantibody tests only serve as an aid to clinical assessment because of the existence of patients with seronegative RA who are negative for both anti-CCP antibody and RF,<sup>45</sup> although anti-CCP antibody and RF are routinely detected as indicators for diagnosing RA. However, our meta-analysis indicated that due to the lower sensitivity of diagnosing RA and similar specificity relative to that of the anti-CCP antibody,<sup>46</sup> this demonstrated that anti-CEP 1 antibody detection is not superior to anti-CCP antibody detection for diagnosing RA. Nevertheless, some studies have indicated that detection of anti-CEP 1 antibody could identify patients with RA who had negative anti-CCP antibody tests. The available evidence shows that detection of the anti-CEP 1 antibody ranges 0%-41.2% in patients with RA who have negative anti-CCP antibody tests and from 32.6%-91.0% in patients with RA who have positive anti-CCP antibody

tests.<sup>15-17,20-22,31,34,35,37,38</sup> The results were significantly different due to variations in sample size, study design or patient ethnicity, so further study is needed to investigate the reasons for these variations. Additionally, the first presentation of the anti-CEP antibody can be earlier than the increase in the anti-CCP antibody.<sup>47</sup> Thus, the anti-CEP 1 antibody may have supplementary diagnostic value in patients with RA by combining analysis of the anti-CCP and anti-CEP 1 antibodies. Presumably, they may benefit from early and aggressive interventions. Some studies have indicated that patients with anti-CEP 1 antibody-positive RA are more likely to develop bone erosions or interstitial lung disease (ILD) than patients with anti-CCP antibody-positive RA,<sup>17,22,35</sup> although the anti-CCP antibody is also associated with an increased risk of developing bone erosion or ILD,<sup>22</sup> which suggests that the anti-CEP 1 antibody is a better ACPA than the anti-CCP antibody to predict the prognosis of RA. The anti-CEP 1 antibody, one of the ACPA that targets a true physiological protein, may participate in the pathogen of RAassociated clinical manifestations.<sup>48</sup> High levels of ACPAs are associated with the development of bone erosion in patients with RA.<sup>7,49</sup> ACPAs may contribute to activating osteoclasts through their Fc glycan interactions with Fc receptors on osteoclasts to promote osteoclast activation and subsequent development of bone erosion, which is dependent on antibody-mediated effect.<sup>50</sup> RA-associated ILD frequently appears in patients with positive ACPA and cigarette smoking, but the specific mechanism of the underlying association between lung injury and ACPA generation remains unclear.

There were several limitations in our meta-analysis. First, some published articles in other databases were not evaluated. Second, we used the QUADAS-2 tool to assess the quality of the included studies, and a high risk of bias and an unclear risk of bias for patient selection were observed because most of the included studies did not explain the sampling method used to select the included patients. Third, ACPAs are related to genetic factors and may be one of the sources of heterogeneity, but the included studies were missing a lot of data, so we did not consider this relationship when we performed the meta-regression and subgroup analysis. Fourth, the stage of RA in patients may affect the overall diagnostic value of the anti-CEP 1 antibody for RA, so more studies are needed to investigate the diagnostic value of the anti-CEP 1 antibody for RA in different disease stages. Fifth, some studies have detected the anti-CEP 1 antibody by performing in-house assays, which vary in performance because of varying factors, such as antigen source, plates, conditions of coating, and detection reagents, so the diagnostic value of the anti-CEP 1 antibody detected by in-house assays should be validated.

### 5 | CONCLUSIONS

In summary, this review shows that the anti-CEP 1 antibody has moderate RA diagnostic value with relatively low sensitivity and high specificity. Moreover, the use of commercial ELISA kits for detecting the anti-CEP 1 antibody increases the RA diagnostic sensitivity.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank enago (http://www.enago.cn) for editing this manuscript.

### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare they have no conflicts of interest.

### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HL and YZ conceived and designed the study. HL and LB searched the literature, screened, and selected the eligible studies. HL and LB extracted data acquisition and conducted quality assessment. HL, CX, LL, SX, and HZ analyzed the data and made an interpretation. HL made a draft. All other authors reviewed it critically. All authors agree to be accountable for all aspects of the study in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the study are appropriately investigated and resolved. All authors take full responsibility for the integrity of the study and approved the final manuscript as submitted.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All data relevant to the study are included in the article or uploaded as Supplementary Information.

### ORCID

Haolong Li D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7865-3306 Chenxi Liu D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7154-1021

### REFERENCES

- 1. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Barton A, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. 2018;4:18001. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2018.1
- Lee YH, Song GG. Impact of Janus kinase inhibitors on the risk of cardiovascular events in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2020;79(10):e122. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdi s-2019-215815
- Johnson C. Recent advances in the pathogenesis, prediction, and management of rheumatoid arthritis-associated interstitial lung disease. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* 2017;29(3):254-259. https://doi. org/10.1097/bor.00000000000380
- Aletaha D, Smolen JS. Diagnosis and management of rheumatoid arthritis: a review. JAMA. 2018;320(13):1360-1372. https://doi. org/10.1001/jama.2018.13103
- Bugatti S, Manzo A, Montecucco C, Caporali R. The clinical value of autoantibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. *Front Med.* 2018;5:339. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2018.00339
- Li R, Sun X, Ye H, et al. Validation of new classification criteria of rheumatoid arthritis in an international multicentre study. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2019;38(5):841-847.
- Derksen V, Huizinga TWJ, van der Woude D. The role of autoantibodies in the pathophysiology of rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Immunopathol. 2017;39(4):437-446. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00281-017-0627-z
- Titcombe PJ, Wigerblad G, Sippl N, et al. Pathogenic citrullinemultispecific B cell receptor clades in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (*Hoboken*, *NJ*). 2018;70(12):1933-1945. https://doi. org/10.1002/art.40590
- 9. Kinloch A, Tatzer V, Wait R, et al. Identification of citrullinated alpha-enolase as a candidate autoantigen in rheumatoid arthritis.

Arthritis Res Ther. 2005;7(6):R1421-R1429. https://doi.org/10.1186/ ar1845

🐵 📎 – WILEY

- Snir O, Widhe M, Hermansson M, et al. Antibodies to several citrullinated antigens are enriched in the joints of rheumatoid arthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(1):44-52. https://doi.org/10.1002/ art.25036
- 11. Bonifacio AF, Alunno A, La Paglia GMC, et al. Novel autoantibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. *Reumatismo*. 2019;71(1):1-12. https://doi. org/10.4081/reumatismo.2019.1102
- 12. Karayev D, Shen GQ, Lam Y, et al. Sensitivity and specificity of 14-3-3 eta, anti-CEP-1 and anti-Sa antibodies in a cohort of seronegative and suspected rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients from a community rheumatology practice. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2016;68:3.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med.* 2009;6(7):e1000097. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pmed.1000097
- Whiting PF, Rutjes AW, Westwood ME, et al. QUADAS-2: a revised tool for the quality assessment of diagnostic accuracy studies. Ann Intern Med. 2011;155(8):529-536. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-155-8-201110180-00009
- Zhou J, Feng L, Zhang H, Wang T, Cui L. Evaluation of the value of anti-citrullinated α-enolase peptide 1 antibody in the diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Clin Lab Sci.* 2019;49(4):503-506.
- Ponikowska M, Świerkot J, Nowak B, Korman L, Wiland P. Autoantibody and metalloproteinase activity in early arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2019;38(3):827-834. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1006 7-018-4326-5
- Liu Y, Liu C, Li L, Zhang F, Li Y, Zhang S. High levels of antibodies to citrullinated α-enolase peptide-1 (CEP-1) identify erosions and interstitial lung disease (ILD) in a Chinese rheumatoid arthritis cohort. *Clin Immunol (Orlando, Fla*). 2019;200:10-15. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.clim.2019.01.001
- Rönnelid J, Hansson M, Mathsson-Alm L, et al. Anticitrullinated protein/peptide antibody multiplexing defines an extended group of ACPA-positive rheumatoid arthritis patients with distinct genetic and environmental determinants. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77(2):203-211. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211782
- Meyer PWA, Ally MTM, Hodkinson B, Anderson R, Tikly M. Comparison of the diagnostic potential of three anti-citrullinated protein antibodies as adjuncts to rheumatoid factor and CCP in a cohort of South African rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Rheumatol Int.* 2018;38(6):993-1001. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-018-4036-y
- Jonsson MK, Hensvold AH, Hansson M, et al. The role of anticitrullinated protein antibody reactivities in an inception cohort of patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving treat-to-target therapy. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2018;20(1):146. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1307 5-018-1635-7
- Alunno A, Bistoni O, Pratesi F, et al. Association between anticitrullinated alpha enolase antibodies and clinical features in a cohort of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a pilot study. *Reumatismo*. 2018;70(2):67-71. https://doi.org/10.4081/reumatismo.2018.1028
- 22. Alunno A, Bistoni O, Pratesi F, et al. Anti-citrullinated alpha enolase antibodies, interstitial lung disease and bone erosion in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. 2018;57(5):850-855. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kex520
- Too CL, Murad S, Hansson M, et al. Differences in the spectrum of anti-citrullinated protein antibody fine specificities between Malaysian and Swedish patients with rheumatoid arthritis: implications for disease pathogenesis. Arthritis Rheumatol (Hoboken, NJ). 2017;69(1):58-69. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.39827
- 24. Schwenzer A, Quirke AM, Marzeda AM, et al. Association of distinct fine specificities of anti-citrullinated peptide antibodies with elevated immune responses to Prevotella intermedia in a subgroup of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and periodontitis. Arthritis

Rheumatol (Hoboken, NJ). 2017;69(12):2303-2313. https://doi. org/10.1002/art.40227

- Cabrera-Villalba S, Gomara MJ, Cañete JD, et al. Differing specificities and isotypes of anti-citrullinated peptide/protein antibodies in palindromic rheumatism and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2017;19(1):141. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-017-1329-6
- Brink M, Hansson M, Mathson-Alm L, et al. Acpa against different citrullinated peptides identify specific phenotypes of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:792. https://doi.org/10.1136/ annrheumdis-2017-eular.5085
- 27. Reed E, Jiang X, Kharlamova N, et al. Antibodies to carbamylated  $\alpha$ -enolase epitopes in rheumatoid arthritis also bind citrullinated epitopes and are largely indistinct from anti-citrullinated protein antibodies. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2016;18(1):96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-1001-6
- Choi IA, Kim JH, Kim YM, et al. Periodontitis is associated with rheumatoid arthritis: a study with longstanding rheumatoid arthritis patients in Korea. *Korean J Intern Med*. 2016;31(5):977-986. https:// doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2015.202
- Quirke AM, Perry E, Cartwright A, et al. Bronchiectasis is a model for chronic bacterial infection inducing autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol (Hoboken, NJ). 2015;67(9):2335-2342. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.39226
- Kokkonen H, Brink M, Hansson M, et al. Associations of antibodies against citrullinated peptides with human leukocyte antigen-shared epitope and smoking prior to the development of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2015;17(1):125. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13075-015-0638-x
- Umeda N, Matsumoto I, Ito I, et al. Anti-citrullinated glucose-6phosphate isomerase peptide antibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis are associated with HLA-DRB1 shared epitope alleles and disease activity. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 2013;172(1):44-53. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cei.12033
- Goules JD, Goules AV, Tzioufas AG. Fine specificity of anticitrullinated peptide antibodies discloses a heterogeneous antibody population in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 2013;174(1):10-17. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.12145
- Montes A, Perez-Pampin E, Calaza M, Gomez-Reino JJ, Gonzalez A. Association of anti-citrullinated vimentin and anti-citrullinated α-enolase antibodies with subsets of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(10):3102-3110. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.34569
- Hansson M, Mathsson L, Schlederer T, et al. Validation of a multiplex chip-based assay for the detection of autoantibodies against citrullinated peptides. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012;14(5):R201. https:// doi.org/10.1186/ar4039
- Montes A, Dieguez-Gonzalez R, Perez-Pampin E, et al. Particular association of clinical and genetic features with autoimmunity to citrullinated α-enolase in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(3):654-661. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.30186
- Lundberg K, Bengtsson C, Israelsson L, et al. The complexity of anti-CCP positive rheumatoid arthritis, in the context of geneenvironment associations. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2011;63(10).
- Snir O, Widhe M, von Spee C, et al. Multiple antibody reactivities to citrullinated antigens in sera from patients with rheumatoid arthritis: association with HLA-DRB1 alleles. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(5):736-743. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2008.091355
- Lundberg K, Kinloch A, Fisher BA, et al. Antibodies to citrullinated alpha-enolase peptide 1 are specific for rheumatoid arthritis and cross-react with bacterial enolase. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2008;58(10):3009-3019. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23936
- van Delft MAM, Huizinga TWJ. An overview of autoantibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. J Autoimmun. 2020;110:e102392. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaut.2019.102392

- Brink M, Hansson M, Mathsson L, et al. Multiplex analyses of antibodies against citrullinated peptides in individuals prior to development of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2013;65(4):899-910. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.37835
- Kim KW, Lee J, Choi SH, Huh J, Park SH. Systematic review and meta-analysis of studies evaluating diagnostic test accuracy: a practical review for clinical researchers-part I. General guidance and tips. *Korean J Radiol*. 2015;16(6):1175-1187. https://doi. org/10.3348/kjr.2015.16.6.1175
- 42. Berglin E, Dahlqvist SR. Comparison of the 1987 ACR and 2010 ACR/ EULAR classification criteria for rheumatoid arthritis in clinical practice: a prospective cohort study. *Scand J Rheumatol*. 2013;42(5):362-368. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009742.2013.776103
- 43. Kedar MP, Acharya RV, Prakashini K. Performance of the 2010 American College of Rheumatology/European League against Rheumatism (ACR/EULAR) criteria for classification of rheumatoid arthritis in an Indian population: an observational study in a single centre. *Indian J Med Res.* 2016;144(2):288-292. https://doi.org/10.4 103/0971-5916.195052
- 44. Le Loët X, Nicolau J, Boumier P, et al. Validation of the 2010-ACR/ EULAR -classification criteria using newly EULAR-defined erosion for rheumatoid arthritis on the very early arthritis communitybased (VErA) cohort. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2015;82(1):38-41. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jbspin.2014.03.008
- 45. Sparks JA. Rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Intern Med. 2019;170(1):ITC1. https://doi.org/10.7326/AITC201901010
- 46. Huang J, Zeng T, Zhang X, et al. Clinical diagnostic significance of 14–3-3η protein, high-mobility group box-1, anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibodies, anti-mutated citrullinated vimentin antibodies and rheumatoid factor in rheumatoid arthritis. Br J Biomed Sci. 2020;77(1):19-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/09674 845.2019.1658425
- Brink M, Hansson M, Mathsson-Alm L, et al. Rheumatoid factor isotypes in relation to antibodies against citrullinated peptides and carbamylated proteins before the onset of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2016;18:43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1307 5-016-0940-2
- Wegner N, Wait R, Venables PJ. Evolutionarily conserved antigens in autoimmune disease: implications for an infective aetiology. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* 2009;41(2):390-397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocel.2008.09.012
- Grosse J, Allado E, Roux C, et al. ACPA-positive versus ACPAnegative rheumatoid arthritis: two distinct erosive disease entities on radiography and ultrasonography. *Rheumatol Int.* 2020;40(4):615-624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-019-04492-5
- Ge C, Holmdahl R. The structure, specificity and function of anticitrullinated protein antibodies. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2019;15(8):503-508. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-019-0244-4

### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Li H, Li L, Liu C, et al. Diagnostic value of anti-citrullinated  $\alpha$ -enolase peptide 1 antibody in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:633–646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14093</u>

LI ET AL.

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14108

### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

### 🗠 👰 🛛 Wiley

# Performance of a pre-administration infection screening questionnaire in patients with rheumatoid arthritis administered biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs

Sho Fukui<sup>1,2</sup> | Masei Suda<sup>1,3</sup> | Sayaka Furukawa<sup>4</sup> | Sakura Tamaki<sup>4</sup> | Yukihiko Ikeda<sup>1</sup> | Yasuhiro Suyama<sup>1,5</sup> | Hiromichi Tamaki<sup>1</sup> | Mitsumasa Kishimoto<sup>1,6</sup> | Sachiko Ohde<sup>2</sup> | Masato Okada<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Immuno-Rheumatology Center, St. Luke's International Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>2</sup>Center for Clinical Epidemiology, St. Luke's International Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>3</sup>Department of Rheumatology, Suwa Central Hospital, Nagano, Japan

<sup>4</sup>Department of Nursing, St. Luke's International Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>5</sup>Department of Rheumatology, JR Tokyo General Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>6</sup>Department of Nephrology and Rheumatology, Kyorin University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

### Correspondence

Sho Fukui, Immuno-Rheumatology Center, St. Luke's International Hospital, 9-1, Akashicho, Chuo-ku, Tokyo, Japan. Email: fukusho@luke.ac.jp

### Abstract

**Aim:** Pre-administration screening of active infections is imperative for the safe use of biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (bDMARDs) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA). However, a standardized screening method is lacking. We therefore implemented a novel systematic screening method with a simple predetermined questionnaire on infections and assessed its effectiveness.

**Methods:** We retrospectively reviewed medical records of individuals for whom intravenous bDMARDs were administered for RA from January 2016 to April 2019. We evaluated the performance of the new screening method based on physicians' assessments. In addition, a survey was administered to nurses, regarding their assessment of the usefulness of this new screening. The incidence of infections was also assessed.

**Results:** A total of 1636 cases underwent this new screening. The new screening method showed high sensitivity (0.97) and specificity (0.89) with a negative predictive value of 99.9%, as determined based on the physician's decision. Administration of bDMARDs was postponed in 37 (2.5%) patients, and there was only one case in which the screening failed to note an active infection. The nurses' survey demonstrated high agreement (87.5%) about the usefulness of this screening on the grounds of clarity, simplicity, ease, and time-saving effects. There was no significant increase in infections after implementation of this method.

**Conclusions:** Systematic screening with a predetermined simple questionnaire is effective as an infection screening method, with a high negative predictive value. This approach contributes to high satisfaction of nurses and a time-efficient practice by focusing on screen-positive cases without increasing infections.

### KEYWORDS

bacterial infections, diagnostic screening programs, disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs, rheumatoid arthritis

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

### 1 | INTRODUCTION

WILEY-Rheumatic Diseases

Biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (bDMARDs) are widely used to treat rheumatoid arthritis (RA); they often engender dramatic improvements in disease outcome.<sup>1</sup> Although the overall safety of bDMARDs has been established for long-term use, previous studies have demonstrated an increased incidence of infections when using bDMARDs.<sup>2-4</sup> Infections in patients with RA are related to increased mortality<sup>5,6</sup> and the interruption of immunosuppressive treatments with subsequent joint destruction and decreased quality of life.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, the immunosuppressive effects of bDMARDs, particularly the interleukin-6 blockade, can modify the presentation of an infection, such as fever, tiredness, and elevated C-reactive protein.<sup>8,9</sup> This renders it difficult to detect an active infection in patients treated with bDMARDs.<sup>9</sup> Therefore, a continuous and careful pre-administration screening for active infections is imperative for the safe use of bDMARDs.

Guidelines and previous studies have recommended screening, continuous monitoring, and preventive intervention for infections such as tuberculosis and viral hepatitis B and C before initiating bD-MARDs.<sup>10-12</sup> Additionally, to decrease adverse infectious events, vaccinations and a reduced use of steroids have also been recommended.<sup>10,11</sup> Moreover, risk scores to assess the risk of infections are made and used in clinical practice.<sup>13</sup> However, a systematic preventive approach after initiating bDMARDs, such as a standardized way of detecting infection, is lacking.

In our hospital, patient conditions and vital signs were conventionally assessed with history-taking and physical examinations, on the day of intravenous bDMARD administration. However, there was no standardized, rigorously evaluated method for screening active infections. Therefore, in September 2017, we implemented a new screening method, in which infections were systematically screened according to a simple predetermined questionnaire before the patient was examined. It was expected that this new simple screening would detect infections successfully and would result in a more time-efficient practice.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness and usefulness of the new screening method by comparing its results with the subsequent assessment regarding infections and by evaluating practitioners' assessments about the usability of the questionnaire. Additionally, we compared the incidence of infections before and after the implementation of this method.

### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 2.1 | Study participants and data collection

We retrospectively reviewed cases of intravenous bDMARD administration for RA at St. Luke's International Hospital, a tertiary center in Tokyo, Japan from January 2016 to April 2019. Diagnosis of RA was based on the physician's assessment. Individuals given intravenous bDMARDs from January 2016 to August 2017 were classified into the conventional screening group, and those who underwent the new screening method from September 2017 to April 2019 were classified into the new screening group. We collected data regarding basic demographics, types of bDMARDs and other treatments, underlying diseases, the result of the screening with a predetermined questionnaire, the subsequent physician's decision, and infections.

# 2.2 | Predetermined questionnaire for infection screening

The predetermined questionnaire sheet is shown in Figure 1. The questionnaire items were selected based on a previous study regarding infections in patients treated with bDMARDS,<sup>14</sup> and the consensus of the physicians and nurses in our department. We selected three major questions on respiratory, urological, and skin symptoms. These reflect common sites of infections in patients treated with bDMARDs.<sup>14</sup> Abnormal vital signs were also included. Nurses were requested to report other symptoms or conditions not included in the questionnaire that they considered to be important. To increase the sensitivity of the screening tool, there were no limitations on the duration or timing of the reported symptoms. Furthermore, in November 2018, we updated the skin and soft-tissue section by adding "blisters" for specific detection of varicella zoster and oral herpes infections, because we experienced a screen-negative case with varicella zoster that resulted in the postponement of bDMARD

### Predetermined questionnaire on infections

- 1: Does the patient have respiratory symptoms below? (Cough, Sputum, Rhinorrhea, Sore throat, Shortness of breath)
- 2: Does the patient have urinary symptoms below?

(Pain on micturition, Frequent urination, Feeling of residual urine)

- 3: Does the patient have skin and soft tissue symptoms below?
- (Injury, Skin redness and rash, Blisters)
- 4: Does the patient have abnormal vital signs?
- •Body temperature  $\geq$  37.5°C
- ·Systemic blood pressure ≥180 or <90 mmHg
- ·Heart rate ≥100 /min or ≤50/min
- ·Respiratory rate ≥24/min

• SpO2 ≤94%

**FIGURE 1** Predetermined questionnaire on infections. SpO2, pulse oximetry

administration after the physician's assessment. We regarded the result of this screening as positive if the patient had at least one symptom or condition.

### 2.3 | Definition of infections

Serious bacterial infection was defined as a bacterial infection requiring intravenous antibiotics or hospitalization, or resulting in death. Additionally, bDMARD-related and non-bDMARD-related infections were defined as infections that occurred within 2 weeks of or more than 2 weeks after the administration of bDMARDs, respectively. Data on viral infections that included varicella zoster virus and cytomegalovirus infections, as well as fungal infections, such as *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia and candidiasis, were also collected. The incidence of infection was presented as the number of cases per 100 person-years.

# 2.4 | Feedback on the screening questionnaire from nurses

Because this questionnaire was administered by nurses, and nurses conventionally reported the symptoms of infection before the implementation of this new screening, 16 nurses in our department were asked to complete a survey regarding their satisfaction with this new screening method. The survey questionnaire included a statement regarding the usefulness of the new screening method (strongly agree, agree, neutral, disagree, strongly disagree) and the reasons for their response.

### 2.5 | Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics of the baseline characteristics of the conventional and new screening groups were calculated. Categorical data are presented as counts with percentages. Continuous data are presented as the mean (standard deviation [SD]) and median (interquartile range [IQR]) for continuous variables with normal and non-normal distributions, respectively. Each variable was compared between the groups in univariate analyses using the *t* test, nonparametric test, or  $\chi^2$  test, as appropriate.

In the new screening group, the number of scheduled administrations of intravenous bDMARDs was determined. The results of the screening with the questionnaire were compared with the subsequent physician's infection assessment of whether to administer bDMARDs or postpone bDMARDs. The sensitivity and specificity of the screening method for the physician's decision were calculated. The incidence of serious and opportunistic infections was compared between the conventional and new screening groups using Poisson regression analysis.

For all analyses, a P value less than 0.05 was considered significant. All analyses were performed using R version 3.3.2 (Vienna, Austria) and EZR, which is a graphical user interface for R.<sup>15</sup>

### 2.6 | Ethical approval

This study was approved by the institutional review board at St. Luke's International Hospital in Tokyo, Japan (Number: 19-R185). The need to obtain informed consent was waived owing to the retrospective design of the study. The study protocol complies with the guidelines of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments.

### 3 | RESULTS

### 3.1 | Baseline characteristics

Among 3120 cases of bDMARD administration, 1636 cases underwent conventional assessment (total follow-up duration, 55 258 days) and 1484 underwent assessment with the novel screening method (total follow-up duration, 52 239 days). Although the conventional and new screening groups had significant differences in age (mean  $\pm$  SD: 65.9  $\pm$  12.9 vs 67.4  $\pm$  12.5 years; *P* = 0.001) and use of infliximab as the bDMARD (301  $\pm$  18.4 vs 205  $\pm$  13.8; *P* = 0.001), there were no statistical differences between the groups with respect to other patient demographics, including sex, positive rheumatoid factor, and positive anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibody. In addition, there was significantly more concomitant use of tacrolimus, mizoribine, and salazosulfapyridine, and significantly less concomitant use of methotrexate and glucocorticoids in the new screening group than in the conventional screening group, as shown in Table 1.

# 3.2 | Evaluation of the new screening method in terms of the physician's assessment

Among the 1484 cases in the new screening group, 203 screened positive and 1281 screened negative. The reasons for a positive result were as follows: respiratory symptoms, 114 cases; skin and soft-tissue symptoms, 54 cases; urinary symptoms, 13 cases; other symptoms, 24 cases; and abnormal vital signs, eight cases. Among the screen-positive cases, physicians decided to administer bD-MARDs in 167 cases and to postpone administration in 36 cases. Among the 1281 screen-negative cases, only one case actually had an infection (varicella zoster virus), as determined by the physician's assessment. The screening method using the predetermined questionnaire had high sensitivity (0.97, 95% confidence interval: 95% CI 0.86-1.00) and specificity (0.89, 95% CI 0.87-0.90) to the subsequent physician's decision of whether to administer bDMARDs or not (Figure 2). Physicians postponed bDMARDs in 37 (2.5%) cases in total, and positive and negative predictive values after this screening were 17.8% and 99.9%, respectively.

Nurses also reported other symptoms or conditions (beyond the screening questionnaire items) that they considered important in 24 cases. This included four cases without premedication; three -WILEY-Rheumatic Diseases



	Conventional screening cases $(n = 1636)$	New screening cases (n = 1484)	P value
Total follow up (days)	55 258	52 239	_
Age (y), mean $\pm$ SD	65.9 ± 12.9	67.4 ± 12.5	0.001
Female, n (%)	1389 (84.9)	1221 (82.3)	0.052
RF positive, n (%)	1459 (89.2)	1332 (89.8)	0.641
CCP positive, n (%)	1159 (70.8)	1073 (72.3)	0.382
Intravenous bDMARDs			
Infliximab, n (%)	301 (18.4)	205 (13.8)	0.001
Abatacept, n (%)	795 (48.6)	735 (49.5)	0.616
Tocilizumab, n (%)	631 (38.6)	611 (41.2)	0.143
csDMARDs			
Methotrexate, n (%)	835 (51.0)	694 (46.8)	0.018
Salazosulfapyridine, n (%)	524 (32.0)	541 (36.5)	0.010
Tacrolimus, n (%)	97 (5.9)	153 (10.3)	< 0.001
Iguratimod, n (%)	243 (14.9)	202 (13.6)	0.330
Bucillamine, n (%)	321 (19.6)	264 (17.8)	0.199
Mizoribine, n (%)	53 (3.2)	166 (11.2)	<0.001
Glucocorticoid, n (%)	699 (42.7)	566 (38.1)	0.010

FUKUI ET AL.

### TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics

Abbreviations: bDMARDs, biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs; CCP, cyclic citrullinated peptide; csDMARDs, conventional synthetic disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs; RF, rheumatoid factor.



**FIGURE 2** Results of screening by the nurse and subsequent decision of the physician. The sensitivity and specificity for the process of screening to the subsequent physician's decision are 0.97 [95% confidence interval 0.86-1.00] and 0.89 [95% confidence interval 0.87-0.90], respectively. bDMARDs, biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs

cases of oral ulcers and stomatitis; three cases of blisters (before November 2018, at which time "blisters" was added to the questionnaire); two cases of diarrhea; two cases of abnormal sensation in the oral mucosa; two cases of eye infection and hordeolum; one case of ear pain, black stool, history of allergy after last bDMARDs; and one case each for patient preference, hand tremor, gingival swelling, and dizziness. Of these cases, the physician decided to postpone bD-MARD administration in three because of blisters, black stool, and hordeolum. Even when these cases were included as screen negatives, the screening tool still showed high sensitivity (0.89, 95% confidence interval 0.75-0.97) and specificity (0.90, 95% confidence interval 0.88-0.91).

# 3.3 | Results of the survey questionnaire completed by nurses

All 16 nurses in our department completed the survey questionnaire. A total of 14 (87.5%) nurses indicated that the predetermined screening questionnaire was useful. The distribution of responses regarding

FUKUI ET AL.		nternational Journal of Rheumatic Diseases	-Will	EY 651
<b>TABLE 2</b> Comparison of the incidence of infection between the conventional and new screening groups	Incidence (/100 person-years)	Conventional screening cases (n = 1636)	New screening cases (n = 1484)	P value
	Serious bacterial infection	3.96 (0.50-7.42)	5.59 (1.53-9.65)	0.599
	bDMARD-related	0.66 (0.0-2.80)	0.70 (0.0-2.96)	>0.99
	Non-bDMARD-related	3.30 (0.06-6.55)	4.89 (1.03-8.75)	0.572
	Varicella zoster virus infection	1.98 (0.0-4.74)	3.49 (0.07-6.92)	0.497
	bDMARD-related	0.66 (0.0-2.80)	0.70 (0.0-2.96)	>0.99
	Non-bDMARD-related	1.32 (0.0-3.79)	2.79 (0.0-5.97)	0.441
	Requiring hospitalization or IV antivirals	0	0.70 (0.0-2.96)	0.486
	Cytomegalovirus infection	0.66 (0.0-2.80)	0.70 (0.0-2.96)	>0.99
	Pneumocystis pneumonia	0	0	>0.99
	Superficial candidiasis	6.61 (2.42-10.79)	7.69 (3.11-12.26)	0.828
	Invasive candidiasis	0	0	>0.99

*Note*: All incidences are presented as the number (95% confidence interval) per 100 person-years. Abbreviations: bDMARD, biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs; IV, intravenous.

the usefulness of this new screening method were as follows: strongly agree, nine (57%); agree, five (31%); neutral, one (6%); and strongly disagree, one (6%). The reasons for the positive responses were as follows: it made the assessment simple, clear, and easy, ten (63%); it was time-saving, eight (50%); it eliminated the necessity of reporting to the physician for negative cases, five (31%); and it was easy to write the patient charts, three (18%). The neutral and negative responses were due to confusion regarding whether to report cases with very mild symptoms or symptoms that had almost subsided.

# 3.4 | Differences in the incidence of infections between the conventional and new screening groups

There was no significant difference in the incidence of serious bacterial infection between the conventional and new screening groups on Poisson regression analysis (3.96, 95% CI 0.50-7.42 vs 5.59, 95% CI 1.53-9.65; P = 0.599). This result was maintained after further classification of serious bacterial infection into bDMARD-related and non-bDMARD-related serious bacterial infection, with just one case of bDMARD-related infection in each group. The incidence of varicella zoster virus infection did not significantly differ between the two groups (1.98, 95% CI 0.0-4.74 vs 3.49, 95% CI 0.07-6.92; P = 0.497), with just one case occurring within 2 weeks after bD-MARD administration. There were no cases of active tuberculosis or *Pneumocystis* pneumonia. Several cases of candidiasis were observed in both groups, which were all superficial and not invasive (Table 2).

### 4 | DISCUSSION

The present study revealed that our predetermined questionnaire along with vital sign check was effective at screening for infection, with high sensitivity and specificity. Hence, infections can be screened appropriately based on this questionnaire and abnormal vital signs. Previously, there was no standardized, rigorously evaluated method for screening infections in patients treated with bDMARDs. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report that evaluated a standardized pre-administration assessment of infections in patients with RA after the initiation of bDMARDs.

Our novel screening tool comprised ordinary questions regarding just three systems: (a) respiratory, (b) urological, and (c) skin or soft-tissue, along with abnormal vital signs. This is because a previous study showed that respiratory, urinary tract, cutaneous, and bloodstream infections accounted for approximately 90% of serious infections in patients with RA treated with bDMARDs.<sup>14</sup> It was also reported that vital signs are useful in detecting bloodstream infections.<sup>16</sup> The screening tool showed high sensitivity and specificity (0.97, IQR 0.86-1.00 and 0.89, IQR 0.87-0.90, respectively) with a negative predictive value of 99%. These results are favorable, considering that infection screening requires a higher sensitivity than specificity for the safe use of bDMARDs.

This screening can be generally effective to detect the patient who should be carefully checked for infections in low-risk patients, including young patients without comorbidities. Moreover, these specific questions might be potentially more useful in those in whom it is less easy to recognize symptoms of infections, such as elderly patients. Although there was one screen-negative case in which the physician subsequently detected varicella zoster, after adding blisters to the skin section of the questionnaire, there were no cases in which screening failed to detect infection resulting in postponement of bDMARDs.

We believe that these results support a time-efficient practice. It should be emphasized that history taking and physical examination are imperative for the diagnosis of infection. Moreover, practitioners can examine patients more specifically and carefully if their screenings are positive. On the other hand, screennegative patients could be examined in a time-efficient manner by confirming that the patients correctly understood and answered the questionnaire. Our screening approach is simple, and patients may be able to easily complete the screening questionnaire themselves. We may further adapt this method to allow self-screening before receiving intravenous or subcutaneous bDMARDs, which may improve the safety of bDMARD use in a time-efficient manner. We received favorable feedback from the nurses regarding the usefulness of the screening questionnaire, which we believe was due to its simplicity.

The present study also demonstrated that the incidence of serious infections did not significantly decrease or increase with the adoption of this new screening method in comparison to conventional examination. bDMARD-related infections (defined as infections occurring within 2 weeks after bDMARD administration) were notably very rare in both groups.

We designed and conducted this study in cooperation with nurses specializing in rheumatic diseases. The European League Against Rheumatism recommendations for the role of the nurse include providing encouragement to undertake extended roles after specialized training.<sup>17</sup> Clinical research might be included in this role, and it may be of great importance to conduct research with nurses in terms of advancing their careers. Moreover, we believe this kind of academic activity can contribute to advancing team medicine and improving the care of patients with rheumatic diseases through more active involvement of nurses in the practice.

The present study had several limitations. This was a retrospective single-center study, and only patients treated with intravenous bDMARDs were included. Second, we did not collect data regarding the actual time used to complete the screening and assessment by physicians, although the nurses agreed on the usefulness of this questionnaire as a time-efficient practice.

In conclusion, we demonstrated excellent sensitivity and specificity of a novel infection screening method with a simple predetermined questionnaire before the administration of bDMARDs in patients with RA. This method can support a time-efficient practice because screen-positive patients can be more carefully examined. Moreover, nurses are generally satisfied with the usefulness and simplicity of the questionnaire. Hence, this screening method may improve the safe use of bDMARDs and outcomes in RA by preventing infections. Furthermore, it may be possible to adapt this questionnaire to allow patients who receive subcutaneous bDMARDs to self-screen for infections.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all of the physicians, nurses, and other staff caring for the enrolled patients. We wish to thank Mr. Nakashima, Ms. Horikawa, and the Information System Unit at St. Luke's International Hospital for data collection support.

### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

HT reports personal fees from Chugai Pharmaceutical, AbbVie, Ono Pharmaceutical, Kyowa-Kirin, Takeda Pharmaceutical, Astellas Pharma, Tanabe-Mitsubishi, and Ayumi, outside the submitted work; MK received an advisory fee/honoraria from AbbVie, Eisai, Tanabe-Mitsubishi, Novartis, Eli Lilly, Janssen, Ono, BMS, Ayumi, and Pfizer; MO received speaking fees and/or honoraria from Eli Lilly, Santen Pharmaceutical, Tanabe-Mitsubishi Pharma, Pfizer, and Abbott Japan.

### ORCID

### Sho Fukui Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-3082-1374 Masei Suda https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2036-6216

### REFERENCES

- Kerschbaumer A, Sepriano A, Smolen JS, et al. Efficacy of pharmacological treatment in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature research informing the 2019 update of the EULAR recommendations for management of rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2020;79:744-759.
- Ranza R, de la Vega MC, Laurindo IMM, et al. Changing rate of serious infections in biologic-exposed rheumatoid arthritis patients. Data from South American registries BIOBADABRASIL and BIOBADASAR. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2019;38:2129-2139.
- Kim H, Cho S-K, Lee J, Bae S-C, Sung Y-K. Increased risk of opportunistic infection in early rheumatoid arthritis. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2019;22:1239-1246.
- 4. Curtis JR, Patkar N, Xie A, et al. Risk of serious bacterial infections among rheumatoid arthritis patients exposed to tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonists. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2007;56:1125-1133.
- Haviv-Yadid Y, Segal Y, Dagan A, et al. Mortality of patients with rheumatoid arthritis requiring intensive care: a single-center retrospective study. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2019;38:3015-3023.
- van den Hoek J, Boshuizen HC, Roorda LD, et al. Mortality in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a 15-year prospective cohort study. *Rheumatol Int.* 2017;37:487-493.
- Iguchi-Hashimoto M, Hashimoto M, Fujii T, et al. The association between serious infection and disease outcome in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2016;35:213-218.
- Nanki T, Onoue I, Nagasaka K, et al. Suppression of elevations in serum C reactive protein levels by anti-IL-6 autoantibodies in two patients with severe bacterial infections. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2013;72:1100-1102.
- Fujiwara H, Nishimoto N, Hamano Y, et al. Masked early symptoms of pneumonia in patients with rheumatoid arthritis during tocilizumab treatment: a report of two cases. *Mod Rheumatol.* 2009;19:64-68.
- 10. Smolen JS, Landewe RBM, Bijlsma JWJ, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2019 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;79:685-699.
- 11. Holroyd CR, Seth R, Bukhari M, et al. The British Society for Rheumatology biologic DMARD safety guidelines in inflammatory arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2019;58:e3-e42.
- 12. Lau CS, Chia F, Dans L, et al. 2018 update of the APLAR recommendations for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2019;22:357-375.
- 13. Zink A, Manger B, Kaufmann J, et al. Evaluation of the RABBIT risk score for serious infections. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2014;73:1673-1676.
- 14. Yun H, Xie F, Delzell E, et al. Comparative risk of hospitalized infection associated with biologic agents in rheumatoid arthritis patients enrolled in medicare. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2016;68:56-66.
- Kanda Y. Investigation of the freely available easy-to-use software 'EZR' for medical statistics. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2012;48:452-458.
- 16. Kenzaka T, Okayama M, Kuroki S, et al. Importance of vital signs to the early diagnosis and severity of sepsis: association between vital signs and sequential organ failure assessment score in patients with sepsis. *Intern Med.* 2012;51:871-876.
- 17. Bech B, Primdahl J, van Tubergen A, et al. 2018 update of the EULAR recommendations for the role of the nurse in the management of chronic inflammatory arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2020;79:61-68.

How to cite this article: Fukui S, Suda M, Furukawa S, et al. Performance of a pre-administration infection screening questionnaire in patients with rheumatoid arthritis administered biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:647–653. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1111/1756-185X.14108

**@** 📎

#### DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14100

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

```
Rheumatic Diseases
```

# 🛥 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Polymorphism of genes involved in methotrexate pathway: Predictors of response to methotrexate therapy in Indian rheumatoid arthritis patients

Ankita Singh | Harikrishnan Gangadharan | Vikas Gupta Pradeepta S. Patro | Ramnath Misra Amita Aggarwal

Department of Clinical Immunology & Rheumatology, Sanjay Gandhi Postgraduate Institute of Medical Sciences, Lucknow, India

#### Correspondence

Amita Aggarwal, Department of Clinical Immunology & Rheumatology, Sanjay Gandhi Postgraduate Institute of Medical Sciences, Lucknow, India. Email: aa.amita@gmail.com

#### **Funding information**

The work was supported by an intramural grant from the Institute to AA. AS was supported by Senior Research Fellowship of the Indian Council of Medical Research.

#### Abstract

**Introduction:** The adenosine pathway is one of the ways through which methotrexate (MTX) ameliorates inflammation. We therefore explored an association of polymorphism of genes involved in adenosine and MTX metabolic pathways with response to MTX.

**Methods:** Association of polymorphism in 7 genes (rs2236225 [MTHFD1 1958G>A], rs17602729 [AMPD1 G>A], rs1127354 [ITPA C>A], rs1431131 [TGFBR2 A>T], rs2372536 [ATIC C>G], rs11188513 [ENTPD1 C>T] and rs5751876 [ADORA2A T>C]) with efficacy of MTX was studied in Indian rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients. The patients, classified by European League Against Rheumatology (EULAR)/American College of Rheumatology (ACR) 2010 criteria, were DMARD (disease-modifying antirheumatic drug)-naïve, with Disease Activity Score (DAS28) >3.2. After 4 months of MTX monotherapy, patients were classified as responders (R) or non-responders (NR) based on EULAR response criteria. Genotyping was done by TaqMan 5' nuclease assay and association of gene polymorphisms with response to MTX was determined by Chi-squared test.

**Results:** Two hundred and twenty-six patients (86% female, median age 40 [interquartile range, IQR = 17.25] years), with disease duration of 24 (IQR = 38.25) months and DAS28-C-reactive protein score of 4.61 (IQR = 1.34) were enrolled. After therapy, 186 patients were classified as R and 40 as NR. GG genotype of *ATIC* (P = .01, odds ratio [OR] 2.56, 95% CI, 1.04-6.30) and CC genotype of *ITPA* (P = .009, OR 1.34, 95% CI 1.02-1.76) genes were found to be associated with the response. On binary logistic regression analysis, GG genotype of *ATIC* and CC of *ITPA* genes were independent predictors of the response.

**Conclusion:** Polymorphisms of *ATIC* and *ITPA* genes alone or with clinical variables were associated with response to MTX therapy in Indian RA patients.

#### KEYWORDS

biomarker, gene polymorphism, methotrexate, rheumatoid arthritis

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

# 1 | INTRODUCTION

treatment in RA patients.<sup>3</sup> Methotrexate (MTX) is the recommended first-line disease-modifying antirheumatic drug (DMARD) for newly diagnosed RA patients.<sup>4</sup> However, about 40% of patients do not respond to MTX.<sup>5</sup> Thus, markers that can identify patients who are likely to respond may be useful in clinical practice.

Genetic biomarkers are most robust as they do not change with disease activity, they are not influenced by drugs and with progress in genomics the cost has also considerably reduced. One of the major mechanisms of action of MTX is release of adenosine. MTX efficacy has been associated with the release of adenosine.<sup>6,7</sup> Hence, polymorphism of genes involved in adenosine production and signaling could be associated with response to MTX.

These genes include ATIC, ITPA, AMPD1, ADORA2A, ENTPD1, and TGFBR2. The enzyme encoded by ATIC is inhibited by MTX, resulting in accumulation of 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-β-D-ribofura noside and adenosine in an extracellular milieu.<sup>8</sup> ITPA encodes for an enzyme which hydrolyzes inosine triphosphate (ITP) to inosine monophosphate (IMP). IMP is also formed by deamination of adenosine monophosphate (AMP). Hence, deficiency of ITPA will affect AMP and adenosine balance. Polymorphism in ITPA (rs1127354) 94C>A gene causes ITPA deficiency.<sup>9</sup> AMPD1 encodes an enzyme which deaminates AMP to IMP. Polymorphism of AMPD1 (rs17602729) 34C>T gene in exon 2 results in production of truncated AMPD peptide<sup>10</sup> thereby increasing adenosine levels. The ENTPD1 gene encodes for CD39 protein which hydrolyzes ATP to AMP, thereby facilitating adenosine production. The C allele of ENTPD1 (rs11188513) C>T gene polymorphism is associated with low CD39 expression.<sup>11</sup> Signaling by transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$  via TGF $\beta$ R2 receptor increases the expression of CD39. Defect in TGF- $\beta$  signaling is caused by presence of A allele which eventually reduces CD39 expression.<sup>12</sup> Most of the anti-inflammatory response of adenosine is mediated via ADORA2A. The ADORA2A (rs5751876) 1976T>C gene polymorphism in exon 2 results in variable expression of the receptor.<sup>13</sup>

Another enzyme associated with purine pathway is encoded by *MTHFD1* gene. It catalyzes the interconversion of 1-carbon derivatives of tetrahydrofolate which are substrates for methionine, thymidylate, and de novo purine syntheses. Minor allele (A) of *MTHFD1* (rs2236225) 1958G>A gene is associated with reduced de novo purine synthesis.<sup>14</sup>

In the light of above observations, in this study, we have explored the association of polymorphisms in 7 genes associated mainly with adenosine pathway, ATIC, MTHFD1, ITPA, AMPD1, ENTPD1, TGFBR2 and ADORA2A with response to MTX therapy in Indian RA patients. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were chosen based on the review of literature and those that have been studied earlier were chosen.

# 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Patients

Two hundred and twenty-six RA patients fulfilling the American College of Rheumatology (ACR)/European League against Rheumatism (EULAR) 2010 classification criteria for RA<sup>15</sup> were enrolled. The Disease Activity Score at 28 joints (DAS28) in all patients was >3.2.<sup>16</sup> All patients were DMARD (MTX or any other DMARD)-naïve at inclusion. Exclusion criteria comprised any contraindications to MTX therapy, pregnancy, lactation or refusal to provide consent for participation in the study. The Institutional Ethics Committee approved the study and a written informed consent was provided by all patients. All patients were not examined by the same clinician.

Baseline clinical details, physician and patient global assessment, Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ), and DAS28 were collected from all patients. A blood sample was collected for genotyping (n = 226). Initially the patients were treated with 10 mg/wk MTX and then the dose was escalated by 2.5 mg after every 2 weeks until DAS28 < 2.6 or a maximum tolerated dose of 25 mg/wk was achieved. After 4 months of MTX therapy, clinical parameters were assessed again and based on EULAR response criteria, patients were classified into responder (R) and non-responder (NR) groups.<sup>17</sup> A priori sample size calculation was not done in the study.

### 2.2 | Isolation of DNA from blood

Whole blood DNA was isolated using the 'salting out' method.<sup>18</sup> In brief, 300 µL lysis buffer was mixed with 1 mL ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid blood for 15 minutes and centrifuged (5800 g, 10 minutes, 4°C). After discarding supernatant, the pellet was re-suspended (by intense tapping) in 300 µL lysis buffer and centrifuged as above. The 'tapping and washing' step was repeated once and 200  $\mu$ L deionized water was added to the pellet. Further, 100  $\mu$ L proteinase K buffer and 20 µL 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate was added and mixed. Later, 100  $\mu L$  deionized water and 100  $\mu L$  of 5 mol/L NaCl was added and mixed. Finally, 5:1 ratio of phenol/chloroform (400 µL) was added and mixed by swirling the tube for 10 minutes. The mixture was centrifuged (15500 g, 30 minutes, 4°C), aqueous layer was separated and mixed with 1 mL chilled absolute alcohol, and centrifuged again (15500 g, 20 minutes, 4°C). The pellet was washed with 70% alcohol (500 µL) by centrifuging the tube. Later, the pellet was dried in a dry bath (56°C, 5 minutes). Deionized water (100 µL) was used to resuspend the pellet. Concentration and purity of DNA was determined by using Nano-Drop spectrophotometer (Nanodrop Inc).

## 2.3 | Genotyping assay

Seven SNPs were genotyped using dual color TaqMan hydrolysis probe (Thermo Fischer Scientific; Table 1). Real-time polymerase chain reaction was setup in a LC480 Real-Time system (Roche) and

🐵 📎 – Wiley-

-WILEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Gene	SNP ID	Context sequence [VIC/FAM]	MAF (1000 genomes)
ATIC	rs2372536	TGTAA[ <b>C/G</b> ]TGTTGAGGAGG CTGTGGAGCAAATT	G = 0.28
AMPD1	rs17602729	GCAGCAAAAGTAATGCAATACTCAC[ <b>T/C</b> ] TTTCTCTTCAGCTGTATGAAGTAAA	T = 0.04
ITPA	rs1127354	CGTTCAGATTCTAGGAGATAAGTTT[ <b>A</b> / <b>C</b> ]CATGCACTTTGGTGGCACAGAAAAT	A = 0.09
TGFBR2	rs1431131	TAAAAAGCACATCTTCATTTAGACC[A/T] TCCTTATTTCCAAAGCTCTTTTGAT	T = 0.38
ENTPD1 (CD39)	rs11188513	TCCACTACCTGACTACTGTCATTCA[ <b>C/T</b> ] AGGCATTCTGTTCCACAGCAGGCCA	C = 0.42
ADORA2A	rs5751876	ACCCTGAGCGGAGGCCCAATGGCTA <b>[T/</b> <b>C]</b> GCCCTGGGGCTGGTGAGTGGAGGGA	C = 0.44
MTHFD1	rs2236225	GGCAATTCCTCCATCATTGCAGACC[A/ G]GATCGCACTCAAGCTTGTTGGCCCA	A = 0.34

**TABLE 1** Details of polymorphisms analyzed in the study

Abbreviations: ADORA2A, adenosine receptor 2A; AMPD1, adenosine monophosphate deaminase 1; ATIC, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide formyltransferase; ENTPD1, ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1; ITPA, inosine triphosphatase; MAF, minor allele frequency; MTHFD1, methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase 1; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; TGFBR2, transforming growth factor beta receptor 2; VIC & FAM, fluorescent dyes. Bold value indicates statistically significant results.

TABLE 2 Comparative baseline data of rheumatoid arthritis patients (N = 226)

Characteristics	Values	Responders (n = 186)	Non-responders (n = 40)	P values
Female/male, number (%)	194 (86)/32 (14)	160 (86)/26 (14)	34 (85)/6 (15)	.87
Age, y	40 (17.25)	40 (17)	43 (21.75)	.43
Duration of disease, mo	24 (38.25)	24 (37.25)	24 (60.75)	.39
Tender joint count	10 (9)	10 (9)	7 (5.75)	.02
Swollen joint count	7 (8)	8 (7.25)	5 (6)	.01
HAQ score	1.75 (1.5)	1.75 (1.13)	1.88 (5.16)	.34
CRP, mg/dL	1.85 (2.89)	1.9 (2.92)	1.56 (2.61)	.41
Disease Activity Score of 28 joints (DAS28-CRP)	4.61 (1.34)	4.65 (1.26)	4.16 (1.62)	.048
DAS28-ESR	6 (1.31)	6.08 (1.29)	5.65 (1.4)	.004
Number of patients positive for IgM-RF (%)	189 (84)	154 (83)	35 (87.5)	.47
Number of patients positive for ACPA (%)	211 (93)	174 (93.5)	37 (92.5)	.81

Note: All values are given as median (interquartile range). Gender, RF and ACPA positivity are given as numbers (%).

Abbreviations: ACPA, anti-citrullinated protein antibody; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; HAQ, Health Assessment Questionnaire; RF, rheumatoid factor. Bold value indicates statistically significant results.

data were analyzed using Light Cycler 480 software. Two color hydrolysis allele specific probes were labeled with fluorescent reporter dyes VIC (allele 1, 2-chloro-7-phenyl-1, 4-dichloro-6-carbox yfluorescein) and FAM (allele 2, carboxyfluorescein). The reaction mixture (10 µL) comprised genotyping master mix (Thermo Fischer

Scientific), TaqMan probe (1×) and 20 ng of DNA. As negative control, a reaction without any genomic DNA was setup with every assay. Amplification protocol was as follows: 10 minutes at 95°C, 40 cycles of 15 seconds at 95°C for denaturation, and 1 minute at 60°C for annealing and extension.

**TABLE 3**Allelic association of 7 SNPswith response to methotrexate

	Rh	eases			
		Allele frequency			Allele association,
Gene	SNP	(R = 186)	(NR = 40)	HWE, P value	P value* OR (95% CI)
ATIC	rs2372536 C>G	C = 0.50 G = 0.50	C = 0.65 G = 0.35	.27	. <b>01;</b> 1.90 (1.15-3.14) for allele G
AMPD1	rs17602729 C>T	C = 0.95 T = 0.05	C = 0.98 T = 0.02	.49	.40
ITPA	rs1127354 C>A	C = 0.89 A = 0.11	C = 0.78 A = 0.22	.19	<b>.006;</b> 2.34 (1.36-4.34) for allele C
TGFBR2	rs1431131 A>T	A = 0.64 T = 0.36	A = 0.58 T = 0.42	.80	.30
ENTPD1	rs11188513 C>T	C = 0.38 T = 0.62	C = 0.30 T = 0.70	.95	.20
ADORA2A	rs5751876 T>C	T = 0.71 C = 0.29	T = 0.7 C = 0.3	.20	.82
MTHFD1	rs2236225 G>A	G = 0.46 A = 0.54	G = 0.5 A = 0.5	.56	.51

657

Abbreviations: ADORA2A, adenosine 2a receptor; AMPD1, adenosine monophosphate dehydrogenase 1;ITPA, inosine triphosphate pyrophosphatase; ATIC, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide transformylase; ENTPD1, ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1; MTHFD1, methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase, cyclohydrolase and formyltetrahydrofolate synthetase 1; NR, non-responder; R, responder; SNPs, single nucleotide polymorphisms; TGFBR2, transforming growth factor beta receptor 2. Bold value indicates statistically significant results.

#### 2.4 | Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences 16.0 (SPSS Inc). Comparisons of age, disease duration, tender joint count (TJC), swollen joint count (SJC), C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), HAQ score and baseline DAS28 were analyzed using Mann-Whitney *U* test. Comparison of baseline mean DAS28 in R and NR between allelic and genotypic groups of 7 genes polymorphism was done by *t* test and one-way analysis of variance.

Associations of 7 SNPs, gender, rheumatoid factor (RF) and anti-citrullinated protein antibody (ACPA) with response to MTX were analyzed using Chi-squared test. Multiple logistic regression analysis of age, DAS28-ESR, TJC, SJC and, ATIC and ITPA gene polymorphisms were done to identify an independent marker to predict response to MTX therapy. Both clinical and genetic variables with P value  $\leq$ .3 were taken as independent variables and response status was selected as dependent variable. For additive model, genotypic groups were assigned as follows: non-associated allele, 0; heterozygous, 1 and associated allele homozygous variant, 2. For dominant model, associated allele homozygous and heterozygous were assigned as 1; and non-associated allele homozygous variant as 0. In recessive model, associated allele homozygous was assigned as 1; and heterozygous + non-associated allele homozygous variant as 0. P value <.05 was considered statistically significant. All data are represented as median and interquartile range (IQR).

### 3 | RESULTS

#### 3.1 | Patient characteristics

Two hundred and twenty-six patients (86% female), with median age of 40 (IQR, 17.25) years, disease duration of 24 (IQR, 38.25) months and DAS28 of 4.61 (IQR 1.34) were enrolled (Table 2).

Based on EULAR response criteria, 186 patients were classified as responders (R) and 40 as non-responders (NR) to MTX therapy. Significant difference was observed in the baseline DAS28-ESR (P = .004), DAS28-CRP (P = .048), TJC (P = .02) and SJC (P = .01) between R and NR groups of patients. No difference was observed between R and NR patients in other clinical characteristics such as gender, age, disease duration, HAQ score, and positivity for CRP, RF and ACPA (Table 2).

# 3.2 | Association of genes polymorphism with response to MTX

Allelic distribution of all gene polymorphisms was in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE; Table 3). In allelic associations, G allele of ATIC gene (rs2372536) 347 C>G was associated with response to MTX (odds ratio [OR] 1.90; 95% CI 1.15-3.14; P = .01). In addition, C allele of *ITPA* gene (rs1127354) 94C>A was also associated with the response (OR 2.34; 95% CI 1.36-4.34; P = .006; Table 3).

-WILEY- Rheumatic Diseases



		Genotype fre	quency	Genotypic association
Gene	SNP	(R = 186)	(NR = 40)	P value <sup>*</sup> OR (95% Cl)
ATIC	rs2372536 C>G	CC = 41 CG = 102 GG = 43	CC = 16 CG = 20 GG = 4	<b>.01;</b> 2.56 (1.04-6.30)
AMPD1	rs17602729 C>T	CC = 169 CT = 17 TT = 0	CC = 38 CT = 2 TT = 0	.39
ΙΤΡΑ	rs1127354 C>A	CC = 146 CA = 39 AA = 1	CC = 23 CA = 16 AA = 1	<b>.009;</b> 1.34 (1.02-1.76)
TGFBR2	rs1431131 A>T	AA = 77 AT = 83 TT = 26	AA = 13 AT = 20 TT = 7	.57
ENTPD1	rs11188513 C>T	CC = 26 CT = 88 TT = 72	CC = 3 CT = 18 TT = 19	.42
ADORA2A	rs5751876 T>C	TT = 98 TC = 69 CC = 19	TT = 20 TC = 16 CC = 4	.94
MTHFD1	rs2236225 G>A	GG = 43 GA = 85 AA = 58	GG = 9 GA = 22 AA = 9	.49

**TABLE 4** Genotypic association of 7 SNPs with response to methotrexate

Abbreviations: ADORA2A, adenosine 2a receptor; AMPD1, adenosine monophosphate dehydrogenase 1;ITPA, inosine triphosphate pyrophosphatase; ATIC, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide transformylase; ENTPD1, ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1; MTHFD1, methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase, cyclohydrolase and formyltetrahydrofolate synthetase 1; NR, non-responder; R, responder; SNPs, single nucleotide polymorphisms; TGFBR2, transforming growth factor beta receptor 2. Bold value indicates statistically significant results.

Among genotypic associations, GG genotype of ATIC gene (OR 2.56; 95% CI 1.04-6.30; P = .01) was associated with response to MTX. Also, CC genotype of *ITPA* gene (OR 1.34; 95% CI 1.02-1.76; P = .009) was associated with the response (Table 4). In R and NR, no significant difference was observed in baseline mean DAS28 within allele and genotypes of 7 genes (Table 5).

Binary logistic regression analysis of 3 genetic models to predict response to MTX therapy included 6 parameters: DAS28-ESR, TJC, SJC, age; and ATIC and ITPA gene polymorphisms. The GG genotype of ATIC (rs2372536; OR 6.09; 95% CI 1.65-22.46; P = .007) and CA genotype of ITPA (rs1127354; OR 3.35; 95% CI 1.48-7.58; P = .004) genes were identified as independent predictors of response in the 'additive' model. The association with response was significant even after Bonferroni correction (GG genotype of ATIC gene [P = .04] and CC genotype of ITPA gene [P = .02]).

The GG genotype of ATIC gene (OR 2.21; 95% CI 1.02-4.76; P = .04) predicted response in the 'dominant' model; however, this was not significant after Bonferroni correction. GG genotype of ATIC (OR 3.41; 95% CI 1.08-10.82; P = .04) and CC genotype of ITPA (OR 2.99; 95% CI 1.38-6.44; P = .005) genes served as independent markers in the 'recessive' model (Table 6). However, only CC genotype of ITPA gene remained significant (P = .03) after Bonferroni correction.

## 4 | DISCUSSION

Nearly one-third of RA patients do not respond to MTX monotherapy. Hence, attempts are underway to identify the biomarker(s) which could predict the response. With respect to baseline clinical parameters, we observed significantly higher SJC and TJC and higher DAS28-ESR and DAS28-CRP in R as compared to NR patients, suggesting an association of enhanced inflammatory burden with response to MTX. Corroborative findings have been reported in a study where low disease activity (measured as DAS28) was associated with poor response to MTX.<sup>19</sup> However, contradictory results were reported in another study demonstrating high baseline DAS28 as a strong predictor of unresponsiveness to MTX.<sup>20</sup> Also, the association of high TJC and SJC with MTX response in our study is contrary to some other studies reporting an association of high TJC and SJC with unresponsiveness to MTX.<sup>19,20</sup>

Of the 7 genes studied, only ATIC and ITPA polymorphisms were found associated with the response to MTX. We observed an association of G allele and GG genotype in ATIC (rs2372536) 347C>G gene polymorphism with response to MTX therapy. This polymorphism reflects change of threonine to serine in exon 5, although it is not yet known whether this change affects the function of enzyme. Some other studies have also analyzed an association of ATIC (rs2372536) **TABLE 5**Baseline DAS28 scorein rheumatoid arthritis patients inresponders and non-responders tomethotrexate therapy by genotype

		ational Journal of		∭—Wı	LEY 659
	Rne	umatic Disea	ses	<u> </u>	
Gene	Single nucleotide polymorphism	R (n)	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	NR (n)	$Mean \pm SD$
ATIC	rs2372536 C>G	CC = 41 GC = 102 GG = 43	$\begin{array}{c} 4.57 \pm 1.07 \\ 4.86 \pm 0.98 \\ 4.62 \pm 0.98 \end{array}$	CC = 16 GC = 20 GG = 4	$4.22 \pm 1.16$ $4.63 \pm 1.32$ $4.50 \pm 1.74$
AMPD1	rs17602729 C>T	GG = 169 AG = 17	4.73 ± 0.99 4.88 ± 1.21	GG = 38 AG = 2	4.44 ± 1.27 4.69 ± 2.07
ΙΤΡΑ	rs1127354 C>A	CC = 146 CA = 39 AA = 1	$\begin{array}{c} 4.76 \pm 0.98 \\ 4.67 \pm 1.11 \\ 4.85 \end{array}$	CC = 23 CA = 16 AA = 1	$4.09 \pm 1.04$ $4.93 \pm 1.48$ 5.22
TGFBR2	rs1431131 A>T	TT = 25 AT = 83 AA = 78	$\begin{array}{c} 4.86 \pm 1.27 \\ 4.64 \pm 0.95 \\ 4.81 \pm 0.98 \end{array}$	TT = 7 AT = 20 AA = 13	$\begin{array}{c} 4.95 \pm 1.17 \\ 4.53 \pm 1.29 \\ 4.07 \pm 1.28 \end{array}$
ENTPD1	rs11188513 C>T	TT = 72 CT = 88 CC = 26	$\begin{array}{c} 4.71 \pm 0.99 \\ 4.78 \pm 1.09 \\ 4.71 \pm 0.79 \end{array}$	TT = 19 CT = 18 CC = 3	$\begin{array}{c} 4.45 \pm 1.13 \\ 4.55 \pm 1.52 \\ 3.95 \pm 0.5 \end{array}$
ADORA2A	rs5751876 T>C	TT = 98 TC = 69 CC = 19	$\begin{array}{c} 4.81 \pm 0.99 \\ 4.69 \pm 0.99 \\ 4.62 \pm 1.18 \end{array}$	TT = 19 TC = 17 CC = 4	$4.29 \pm 1.09$ $4.67 \pm 1.56$ $4.27 \pm 0.85$
MTHFD1	rs2236225 G>A	AA = 58 AG = 85 GG = 43	$\begin{array}{c} 4.85 \pm 0.99 \\ 4.72 \pm 1.02 \\ 4.64 \pm 1.02 \end{array}$	AA = 9 AG = 22 GG = 9	$\begin{array}{c} 4.37 \pm 0.64 \\ 4.25 \pm 1.33 \\ 5.03 \pm 1.56 \end{array}$

Note: None of the comparisons showed any significant difference.

Abbreviations: ADORA2A, adenosine receptor 2A; AMPD1, adenosine monophosphate deaminase 1; ATIC, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide formyltransferase; DAS28, Disease Activity Score of 28 joints; ENTPD1, ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1; ITPA, inosine triphosphatase; MTHFD1, methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase 1; NR, non-responder; R, responder. P < .05 \*SD, standard deviation; TGFBR2, transforming growth factor beta receptor 2.

347C>G gene polymorphism with efficacy of MTX. Similar findings were reported in a Caucasian cohort where GG genotype was associated with response to MTX<sup>21</sup> whereas in a Dutch cohort, CC genotype was associated with good response.<sup>22</sup> Discrepant results were recorded in a meta-analysis comprising of 5 studies with 1056 RA patients, which reported an association of GG + GC genotype with unresponsiveness to MTX. However, upon ethnicity-based stratification of patients, the association was evident in Caucasians but not in Asian populations.<sup>23</sup> Among 3 studies available on Indian populations, no association was seen between response to MTX and *ATIC* gene polymorphism.<sup>24-26</sup>

The polymorphism in *ITPA* (rs1127354) 94C>A gene results in *ITPA* deficiency.<sup>27</sup> We observed an association of C allele and CC genotype in *ITPA* gene polymorphism with response to MTX. A study in a Dutch population has reported similar association,<sup>22</sup> whereas no association was observed in American <sup>28</sup> and British <sup>29</sup> cohorts. Differences in association can be attributed to variation in study design and population. For instance, the outcome was measured as disease activity (American cohort) rather than response at the end of 6 months (British cohort) or at 4 months in our study. The present study comprised an early RA patient population as compared to the other 2 studies.

We did not observe any association of MTHFD1, AMPD1, ENTPD1 and TGFBR2 gene polymorphisms with response to MTX. With respect to MTHFD1, 3 other studies, in British, New Zealander and Serbian populations, have reported similar findings.<sup>29-31</sup> Two studies in Indian and British populations have also reported no association between AMPD1 and MTX response.<sup>26,29</sup> However, a study in a Dutch population observed an association of T allele of AMPD1 (rs17602729) 34C>T gene with good clinical response to MTX.<sup>22</sup> No prior study is available on association of ENTPD1 gene polymorphism with MTX efficacy. An allele of TGFBR2 (rs1431131) A>T gene was associated with poor response to MTX therapy in a Brazilian population.<sup>12</sup> No other study has examined this association. We also did not find an association of ADORA2A gene polymorphism with response to MTX. Similar findings were reported in a British population.<sup>32</sup> However, in a north Indian population, T allele of ADORA2A (rs5751876) gene polymorphism was associated with poor response to therapy.<sup>26</sup> Contradictory results between various studies can be related to variability in MTX dosage, sample size, duration of disease, response criteria and ethnicity.

In binary logistic regression analysis, we observed an association of good response to MTX in a model that included age, DAS28-ESR, TJC, SJC and polymorphism of ATIC and ITPA genes. Another prediction model comprising of ATIC and ITPA genes polymorphism along with gender, RF status, smoking status, disease activity, AMPD1 (rs17602729) C>T, and MTHFD1 (rs17850560) A>G gene polymorphisms has been proposed.<sup>33</sup> However, a prediction model developed in one ethnic group may not be applicable to other groups. For instance, a prediction

#### TABLE 6 Binary logistic regression analysis of 6 variables in different models

Model	Variables	B (SE)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value (Bonferroni correction)
Additive	Age	0.02 (0.02)	.25	1.02 (0.99-1.05)	1.50
	BL-DAS28-ESR	-0.67 (0.37)	.06	0.51 (0.25-1.05)	0.36
	JLC	0.01 (0.06)	.90	1.01 (0.89-1.14)	5.46
	SJC	0.03 (0.06)	.7	1.03 (0.90-1.16)	3.84
	ATIC (rs2372536)	1.81 (0.67)	.007	6.09 (1.65-22.46)	0.04
	ITPA (rs1127354)	1.21 (0.42)	.004	3.35 (1.48-7.58)	0.02
	Constant	-0.10 (1.86)	.96	0.90	5.76
Dominant	Age	0.02 (0.02)	.26	1.02 (0.99-1.05)	1.56
	BL-DAS28-ESR	-0.80 (0.35)	.02	0.45 (0.23-0.9)	0.12
	JL	0.02 (0.06)	.73	1.02 (0.91-1.14)	4.38
	SJC	0.03 (0.06)	.59	1.03 (0.92-1.17)	3.54
	ATIC	0.79 (0.39)	.04	2.21 (1.02-4.76)	0.24
	ITPA	1.24 (1.47)	.40	3.45 (0.19-61.65)	2.4
	Constant	1.68 (1.66)	.31	5.34	1.86
Recessive	Age	0.02 (0.02)	.25	1.02 (0.99-1.05)	1.5
	BL-DAS28-ESR	-0.66 (0.36)	.06	0.52 (0.26-1.04)	0.36
	JC	0.02 (0.06)	.79	1.02 (0.90-1.15)	4.74
	SJC	0.01 (0.06)	.93	1.01 (0.89-1.14)	5.58
	ATIC	1.23 (0.59)	.04	3.14 (1.08-10.82)	0.24
	ITPA	1.10 (0.39)	.005	3 (1.38-6.44)	0.03
	Constant	-0.04 (1.8)	.98	0.96	5.88

*Note:* Odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI (confidence interval) by logistic regression analysis of 7 variables with (P value  $\leq$ .3) to predict response to methotrexate therapy.

Abbreviations: ATIC, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide transformylase; BL, baseline; DAS, Disease Activity Score of 28 joints; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; ITPA, inosine triphosphate pyrophosphatase; SJC, swollen joint count; TJC, tender joint count. Bold value indicates statistically significant results.

model developed in an American population, comprising 3 gene polymorphisms (ATIC, SLC191A1 and thymidylate synthase [TSER\*2/\*3]) could not predict MTX efficacy when tested on a British population.<sup>34,35</sup> Similarly, a model developed in a Slovenian population comprising MTX dose, presence of erosions, baseline DAS28 and 4 gene (AMPD1, TYMS, SLC19A1 and SLCO1B1) polymorphisms did not perform well in a Serbian population of RA patients.<sup>36</sup> Therefore, all polymorphism data available on Indian populations need to be collated and analyzed to generate a robust model to predict the response to MTX in Indian RA patients.

The strength of our study is inclusion of RA patients newly started on MTX monotherapy. Patients were followed up at 4 months to predict the disease outcome, which shall help in tailoring the therapy within a short period of disease onset. One of the major limitations of this study is the skewness in the sample, with fewer numbers of NRs compared to responders. Also, more composite score models are presently being analyzed for predicting the association of gene polymorphisms with drug response. Since multiple factors affect pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of a drug, sensitivity and specificity of a single gene or marker is low. Hence, composite score analysis comprising clinical and genetic parameters should be considered in search for a robust marker for drug efficacy.

In summary, we have explored an association of polymorphism in 7 genes with MTX response, which previously was not investigated extensively. Our study suggests an association of G allele and GG genotype in *ATIC* and C allele and CC genotype in *ITPA* gene polymorphisms with MTX response. However, these findings must be replicated in larger and independent cohorts of RA patients.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank Dr Sudhir Sinha for the critical review of the manuscript.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

#### 661

-WILEY

#### ORCID

Vikas Gupta D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2089-027X Ramnath Misra D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7921-4199 Amita Aggarwal D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2187-5186

#### REFERENCES

- Welsing PM, Landewé RB, Van Riel PL, et al. The relationship between disease activity and radiologic progression in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a longitudinal analysis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50:2082-2093.
- Möttönen T, Hannonen P, Korpela M, et al. Delay to institution of therapy and induction of remission using single-drug or combination-disease-modifying antirheumatic drug therapy in early rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46:894-898.
- Anderson JJ, Wells G, Verhoeven AC, Felson DT. Factors predicting response to treatment in rheumatoid arthritis: the importance of disease duration. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2000;43:22-29.
- Smolen JS, Landewé RBM, Bijlsma JWJ, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2019 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;79:685-699.
- Lopez-Olivo MA, Siddhanamatha HR, Shea B, Tugwell P, Wells GA, Suarez-Almazor ME. Methotrexate for treating rheumatoid arthritis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2014;6:CD000957.
- Riksen NP, Barrera P, van den Broek PH, Van Riel P, Smits P, Rongen G. Methotrexate modulates the kinetics of adenosine in humans in vivo. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65:465-470.
- 7. Cronstein BN. Low-dose methotrexate: a mainstay in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2005;57:163-172.
- Baggott JE, Vaughn WH, Hudson BB. Inhibition of 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribotide transformylase, adenosine deaminase and 5'-adenylate deaminase by polyglutamates of methotrexate and oxidized folates and by 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide riboside and ribotide. *Biochem J.* 1986;236:193-200.
- Cao H, Hegele RA. DNA polymorphisms in ITPA including basis of inosine triphosphatase deficiency. J Hum Genet. 2002;47:620-622.
- Morisaki T, Gross M, Morisaki H, Pongratz D, Zöllner N, Holmes EW. Molecular basis of AMP deaminase deficiency in skeletal muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1992;89:6457-6461.
- Nikolova M, Carriere M, Jenabian M-A, et al. CD39/adenosine pathway is involved in AIDS progression. PLoS Pathog. 2011;7:e1002110.
- Peres RS, Donate PB, Talbot J, et al. TGF-β signalling defect is linked to low CD39 expression on regulatory T cells and methotrexate resistance in rheumatoid arthritis. J Autoimmun. 2018;90:49-58.
- Mitro P, Habalova V, Evin L, et al. Gene polymorphism of the adenosine A2a receptor in patients with vasovagal syncope. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* 2016;39:330-337.
- Christensen KE, Rohlicek CV, Andelfinger GU, et al. The MTHFD1 p. Arg653Gln variant alters enzyme function and increases risk for congenital heart defects. *Hum Mutat*. 2009;30:212-220.
- Aletaha D, Neogi T, Silman AJ, et al. 2010 rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62:2569-2581.
- Prevoo M, Van'T Hof MA, Kuper H, Van Leeuwen M, Van De Putte L, Van Riel P. Modified disease activity scores that include twentyeight-joint counts development and validation in a prospective longitudinal study of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1995;38:44-48.
- 17. Fransen J, Van Riel PL. The disease activity score and the EULAR response criteria. *Rheum Dis Clin.* 2009;35:745-757.
- Miller S, Dykes D, Polesky H. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1988;16:1215.

 Sergeant JC, Hyrich KL, Anderson J, et al. Prediction of primary non-response to methotrexate therapy using demographic, clinical and psychosocial variables: results from the UK Rheumatoid Arthritis Medication Study (RAMS). *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2018;20:147.

۲

- Smolen JS, van Vollenhoven RF, Florentinus S, Chen S, Suboticki JL, Kavanaugh A. Predictors of disease activity and structural progression after treatment with adalimumab plus methotrexate or continued methotrexate monotherapy in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis and suboptimal response to methotrexate. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77:1566-1572.
- Kurzawski M, Malinowski D, Szarmach N, et al. ATIC missense variant affects response to methotrexate treatment in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2016;17:1971-1978.
- Wessels JA, Kooloos WM, Jonge RD, et al. Relationship between genetic variants in the adenosine pathway and outcome of methotrexate treatment in patients with recent-onset rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54:2830-2839.
- 23. Lee YH, Bae S-C. Association of the ATIC 347 C/G polymorphism with responsiveness to and toxicity of methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis: a meta-analysis. *Rheumatol Int.* 2016;36:1591-1599.
- Ghodke-Puranik Y, Puranik AS, Shintre P, et al. Folate metabolic pathway single nucleotide polymorphisms: a predictive pharmacogenetic marker of methotrexate response in Indian (Asian) patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2015;16:2019-2034.
- Muralidharan N, Mariaselvam CM, Jain VK, Gulati R, Negi VS. ATIC 347C> G gene polymorphism may be associated with methotrexateinduced adverse events in south Indian Tamil rheumatoid arthritis. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2016;17:241-248.
- Sharma S, Das M, Kumar A, et al. Purine biosynthetic pathway genes and methotrexate response in rheumatoid arthritis patients among north Indians. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* 2009;19:823-828.
- Stocco G, Crews KR, Evans WE. Genetic polymorphism of inosinetriphosphate-pyrophosphatase influences mercaptopurine metabolism and toxicity during treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia individualized for thiopurine-S-methyl-transferase status. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2010;9:23-37.
- Lee YC, Cui J, Costenbader KH, Shadick NA, Weinblatt ME, Karlson EW. Investigation of candidate polymorphisms and disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis patients on methotrexate. *Rheumatol*. 2009;48:613-617.
- Owen S, Hider S, Martin P, Bruce I, Barton A, Thomson W. Genetic polymorphisms in key methotrexate pathway genes are associated with response to treatment in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2013;13:227.
- Stamp LK, Chapman PT, O'Donnell JL, et al. Polymorphisms within the folate pathway predict folate concentrations but are not associated with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis patients on methotrexate. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* 2010;20:367-376.
- Vejnovic D, Milic V, Damnjanovic T, et al. Analysis of association between polymorphisms of MTHFR, MTHFD1 and RFC1 genes and efficacy and toxicity of methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Genetika*. 2016;48:395-408.
- Hider S, Thomson W, Mack L, Armstrong D, Shadforth M, Bruce I. Polymorphisms within the adenosine receptor 2a gene are associated with adverse events in RA patients treated with MTX. *Rheumatol.* 2008;47:1156-1159.
- Wessels JA, van der Kooij SM, le Cessie S, et al. A clinical pharmacogenetic model to predict the efficacy of methotrexate monotherapy in recent-onset rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:1765-1775.
- 34. Dervieux T, Furst D, Lein DO, et al. Polyglutamation of methotrexate with common polymorphisms in reduced folate carrier, aminoimidazole carboxamide ribonucleotide transformylase, and thymidylate synthase are associated with methotrexate effects in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50:2766-2774.

ILEY-

- 35. Owen S, Lunt M, Hider S, Bruce I, Barton A, Thomson W. Testing pharmacogenetic indices to predict efficacy and toxicity of methotrexate monotherapy in a rheumatoid arthritis patient cohort. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2010;62:3827-3829.
- 36. Jenko B, Tomšič M, Jekić B, Milić V, Dolžan V, Praprotnik S. Clinical pharmacogenetic models of treatment response to methotrexate monotherapy in slovenian and serbian rheumatoid arthritis patients: differences in patient's management may preclude generalization of the models. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:20.

How to cite this article: Singh A, Gangadharan H, Gupta V, Patro PS, Misra R, Aggarwal A. Polymorphism of genes involved in methotrexate pathway: Predictors of response to methotrexate therapy in Indian rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2021;24:654–662. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1111/1756-185X.14100 Revised: 2 March 2021

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14105

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### Rheumatic Diseases

# WILEY

🐵 🕥

# Clinical characteristics of Vietnamese patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies and autoantibodies to aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetases

Thuy Nguyen Thi Phuong<sup>1,2</sup> | Lan Nguyen Thi Ngoc<sup>2</sup> | Johan Rönnelid<sup>3</sup> | Leonid Padyukov<sup>4,5</sup> | Ingrid E. Lundberg<sup>4,5,6</sup>  $\bigcirc$ 

<sup>1</sup>Rheumatology Department, Bach Mai Hospital, Hanoi, Vietnam

<sup>2</sup>Internal Medicine Department, Hanoi Medical University, Hanoi, Vietnam

<sup>3</sup>Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

<sup>4</sup>Division of Rheumatology, Department of Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

<sup>5</sup>Center for Molecular Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

<sup>6</sup>Rheumatology clinic, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

#### Correspondence

Ingrid E. Lundberg, Division of Rheumatology, Karolinska University Hospital, SE- 171 76 Stockholm, Sweden. Email: ingrid.lundberg@ki.se

#### **Funding information**

The Swedish Research council; Grants provided by Region Stockholm (ALF project); Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To assess clinical phenotypes of anti-aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetases (aaRS) autoantibodies in Vietnamese patients of Kinh ethnicity with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies (IIM).

**Methods:** In a cross-sectional study 23 patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies were compared to 36 patients with other myositis-specific antibodies and to 69 seronegative patients with IIM. Assessments included muscle performance, extra-muscular involvement, and disease activity according to the International Myositis Assessment and Clinical Studies (IMACS). Sera were tested by a line immunoassay (Euroline Myositis Profile 4).

**Results:** The frequency of anti-Jo-1 antibodies was 56.5%, anti-EJ antibodies 26.1%, and anti-PL-7 antibodies 17.4%, while anti-PL-12 and anti-OJ antibodies were not present in any case. All patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies had signs of myositis. At time of investigation 22/23 patients had muscle weakness, 52.2% arthritis, 34.8% Raynaud's phenomenon, 73.9% fever, 14.3% mechanic's hands and 56.5% dysphagia. Interstitial lung disease was present in 52.2%, and pulmonary hypertension in 56.5%. The anti-aaRS autoantibody positive group had higher disease activity in the domains of skin and pulmonary disease compared to the seronegative group and had lower disease activity in skeletal disease compared to the anti-melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5-positive patients. The clinical presentation of antisynthetase syndrome was similar between the aaRS autoantibody specificities with the exception of more frequent pulmonary hypertension in anti-Jo-1 positive patients.

**Conclusions:** Different aaRS autoantibody specificities may vary between different ethnic populations for reasons that still need to be clarified. Furthermore, the high frequency of pulmonary hypertension is noteworthy but otherwise clinical manifestations associated with aaRS autoantibodies did not differ from other ethnic populations.

#### KEYWORDS

antisynthetase autoantibodies, dermatomyositis, Kinh ethnicity, myositis, polymyositis

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2021 The Authors. International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases published by Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd.

### 1 | INTRODUCTION

WILEY Rheumatic Diseases

Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies (IIM) collectively named myositis, represent a group of rare disorders characterized by dysfunction of skeletal muscle and inflammatory infiltrates in muscle tissue and frequent involvement of extra-muscular organs such as skin, joints, lung, heart and the gastrointestinal tract. Based on different clinical and histopathologic manifestations, patients with myositis are often subclassified into dermatomyositis (DM), polymyositis (PM), inclusion body myositis (IBM) and more recently also into the subset named immune-mediated necrotizing myopathy (IMNM).<sup>1-4</sup>

Autoantibodies are common in IIM, present in up to 80% of patients with PM and DM, and less frequently in IBM.<sup>5,6</sup> Recently a number of new autoantibody specificities have been identified in patients with IIM. They can be classified as myositis associated autoantibodies (MAAs) including anti-Ro52, anti-La, anti-Ku, anti-PM-Scl and anti-U1RNP that can also be found in other autoimmune diseases, and in myositis-specific autoantibodies (MSAs).<sup>7</sup> The MSAs are not only specific for myositis but are also strongly associated with distinct clinical phenotypes. The most frequent MSA, the anti-Jo1 autoantibody, present in up to 30% of Caucasian patients with IIM, is associated with a clinical entity known as antisynthetase syndrome (myositis, interstitial lung disease [ILD], non-erosive arthropathy, mechanic's hands, fever, and Raynaud's phenomenon).<sup>8</sup> ILD is especially prevalent in antisynthetase syndrome, occurring in about 75% of patients with anti-Jo1 autoantibodies compared to about 30% of patients with IIM in the absence of antisynthetase autoantibodies.<sup>8</sup> There are 7 other less frequently occurring aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetase (aaRS) autoantibodies (anti-EJ, anti-OJ, anti-PL-12, anti-PL-7, anti-Ha, anti-Zo and anti-KS) all associated with features of antisynthetase syndrome.<sup>9</sup>

The different anti-aaRS autoantibodies have been reported with different clinical phenotypes in patients with different ethnicities. Thus in Caucasian patients myositis is more frequent in anti-Jo1 positive compared to anti-PL-7 or anti-PL-12 positive patients who have a higher frequency of ILD, whereas in Japanese patients anti-PL-7 was more often associated with myositis compared to anti-PL-12. Patient survival was also conditioned by the anti-aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetases (anti-ARS) specificity, and was significantly lower in patients with anti-PL-7/12 autoantibodies than in anti-Jo1 positive patients.<sup>10-12</sup> Thus different anti-aaRS autoantibodies may be associated with different clinical phenotypes in different ethnic populations. In this study we aimed to assess the clinical phenotype of anti-aaRS autoantibodies in Vietnamese patients of Kinh ethnicity with IIM.

# 2 | PATIENTS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Patients

This is a descriptive study including all patients who were seen at the Rheumatology Department at Bach Mai Hospital, Hanoi,

Vietnam, between March 2011 and December 2013. From a cohort of 151 patients of Kinh ethnicity with IIM who were subject to a cross-sectional study previously published, we selected the aaRS autoantibody positive (n = 23) patients for a thorough review regarding clinical and laboratory data.<sup>13</sup> The aaRS antibody positive patients were compared to 69 patients seronegative for MSAs and MAAs and to patients from the 3 largest groups with other MSAs namely anti-signal recognition particle (anti-SRP) (n = 17), antimelanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (anti-MDA5) (n = 11) or anti-Mi-2 (n = 8) autoantibodies. IIM was defined by experienced rheumatologists as probable or definite PM/DM according to the Bohan and Peter criteria.<sup>14,15</sup> In the cohort of 151 patients with IIM, 74 patients fulfilled the criteria for definite and 14 for probable PM and 55 for definite DM and 8 probable DM; information for the respective subgroups is presented in Table 1. The patients who did not have classical skin manifestations of DM according to the Bohan and Peter criteria were excluded from the analysis. Patients with clinical overlap syndromes were also excluded. Information on age, gender, disease duration, initial symptoms, accumulated clinical manifestations and treatment was recorded. At time of study all patients had detailed clinical and laboratory examination including computed tomography (CT) scan of thorax, abdomen and pelvis, and echocardiogram. Gastroscopy was performed when clinically indicated. Women had a gynecological examination. The assessment also included disease activity using the myositis disease activity assessment tool (MDAAT) proposed by the International Myositis Assessment and Clinical Studies group (IMACS).<sup>16</sup>

Patients were treated with immunosuppressive agents according to the treating physician's choice. All patients were treated with glucocorticoids. Methotrexate and azathioprine were the most often used immunosuppressive drugs. Patients with steroid refractory disease received intravenous pulse cyclophosphamide. All patients with ILD received combination therapy including methylprednisolone pulse therapy, plus methotrexate, azathioprine or cyclophosphamide.

Antisynthetase syndrome (ASS) was defined as a positive aaRS autoantibody together with at least 1 of the following clinical manifestations: myositis, ILD, fever, Raynaud's phenomenon, arthritis, or mechanic's hands.<sup>17</sup> Pulmonary involvement was systematically investigated at time of study and in some cases at time of diagnosis. Pulmonary function was tested according to the American Thoracic Society guidelines, using standard equipment.<sup>18</sup> High resolution computed tomography (HRCT) of the lungs without intravenous contrast during end inspiration was performed in all patients. A radiologist who is a specialist of respiratory disease evaluated the HRCT findings in a blinded fashion. ILD was defined as presence of either: (a) chest radiograph abnormalities indicative of fibrosis, and pulmonary function tests; forced expiratory volume in 1 second  $(FEV_1) < 80\%$ , and forced vital capacity (FVC) < 80% (predicted), and total lung capacity (TLC) < 80% and/or >80% predicted FEV<sub>1</sub>/ FVC; or (b) abnormal findings on HRCT scan, showing at least 1 of the following features: reticulation and fibrosis, traction bronchiectasis, honeycombing, ground-glass opacification.<sup>19</sup>

**TABLE 1** Clinical features and laboratory characteristics at time of investigation of 23 patients with anti-aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetase (aaRS) autoantibodies compared to patients with anti-SRP, anti-Mi2 or anti-MDA5 autoantibodies and to autoantibody negative patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathy (IIM)

	( ,				
Feature	Antisynthetase $n = 23$	Anti-SRP n = 17	Anti-Mi-2 n = 8	Anti-MDA5 n = 11	No antibody n = 69
Age, mean $\pm$ SD, y	45.8 ± 13.9	42.2 ± 13.8	48 ± 16.5	39.1 ± 10.8	43.3 ± 16.6
Disease duration, mean, mo $\pm$ SD	$16.0 \pm 22.3$	31.7 ± 37.2	19 ± 28.7	18.1 ± 9.9	21.9 ± 30.3
Female, n (%)	16 (70)	15 (88)	7 (88)	9 (82)	49 (71)
Diagnosis, PM/DM	9/14	9/8	5/3	5/6	44/25
Definite PM/DM	7/12	8/8	5/2	3/4	36/22
Probable PM/DM	2/2	1/0	0/1	2/2	8/3
Constitutional manifestations, n (%	)				
Fever	17 (74) <sup>§</sup>	9 (53)	6 (75)	11 (100)	36 (52)
Cutaneous involvement, n (%)					
Heliotrope rash	10 (71)	7 (87.5)	3 (100)	5 (83)	17 (68)
Gottron's papules	9 (64.3)	4 (50)	3 (100)	5 (83)	15 (60)
Mechanic's hands	2 (14.3)	1 (5.9)	1 (12.5)	1 (9.1)	2 (8.0)
Skeletal manifestations, n (%)					
Myositis	23 (100)	17 (100)	8 (100)	11 (100)	69 (100)
Severe proximal muscle weakness, n (%)	7 (30)	5 (29)	4 (50)	4 (36)	18 (26)
Arthritis, n (%)	12 (52) <sup>§</sup>	2 (12) <sup>‡</sup>	3 (38)	9 (82) <sup>δ</sup>	21 (30)
Cardiovascular manifestations, n (%	6)				
Raynaud's phenomenon	8 (35)	3 (18)	4 (50)	6 (55)	22 (32)
Pericarditis	7 (30) <sup>§</sup>	3 (17.6)	2 (25)	2 (18.2)	7 (10)
Pulmonary involvement, n (%)					
Interstitial lung disease	12 (52) <sup>§</sup>	4 (24)	1 (13) <sup>*</sup>	2 (18)	22 (32)
Pulmonary hypertension	13 (56.5)	7 (41.2)	4 (50)	4 (36.4)	28 (40.6)
Gastrointestinal involvement, n (%)					
Dysphagia	13 (56.5)	11 (64.7)	3 (37.5)	7 (63.6)	34 (49.3)
Laboratory investigations					
Raised CRP, n (%)	17 (74) <sup>†</sup>	10 (59)	6 (75)	5 (46)	29 (42)
CK, IU/L, mean $\pm$ SD	3019 ± 5716.2	$\textbf{5205.8} \pm \textbf{9812.1}^{\delta}$	5889.4 <u>+</u> 7527.9 <sup>§</sup>	926.8 ± 1791.6	1565 <u>+</u> 2890.1
Treatment					
Prednisolone mean daily dosage, mg $\pm$ SD	$27.2 \pm 12.2$ (min = 5, max = 40)	$26.5 \pm 14.6$ (min = 0, max = 40)	$37.5 \pm 7.1 \text{ (min} = 20, max = 40)$	26.8 ± 15.6 (min = 5, max = 40)	$27.1 \pm 15.5$ (min = 0, max = 40)
Number of patients with methotrexate/azathioprine/ cyclophosphamide/ mycophenolate mofetil	4/4/9/0	6/1/6/1	5/2/1/0	4/1/4/0	16/13/14/0

Abbreviations: CK, creatine kinase; CRP, C-reactive protein; DM, dermatomyositis; IIM, idiopathic inflammatory myopathy; NS, not significant; Reference values for CK: 26-140 IU/L; PM, polymyositis; SD, standard deviation.

 ${}^{\$}P < .05$  compared to antibody negative group (negative against all investigated antibodies).  ${}^{\dagger}P < .01$  compared to antibody negative group.  ${}^{\ddagger}P < .01$  compared to anti-aaRS antibody positive group.  ${}^{\$}P < .05$  compared to anti-aaRS antibody positive group.  ${}^{\$}P < .01$  compared to antibody negative group.  ${}^{\$}P < .05$  compared to anti-aaRS antibody positive group.  ${}^{\$}P < .01$  compared to antibody negative group.

In patients with symptoms indicating an infection, bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage was performed to rule out tuberculosis or other infections. In addition, skin test of tuberculosis and extended history for exposure to tuberculosis was performed. *Cardiac involvement* was defined by abnormalities on electrocardiogram or echocardiogram, performed in all patients at time of this study.

665

Pulmonary hypertension was defined as a systolic pulmonary arterial pressure >30 mm Hg as estimated by Doppler echocardiography. International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Muscle involvement was defined as abnormalities on electromyography, or in muscle biopsy. Muscle strength was tested by manual muscle test (MMT)-8, with a maximal score of  $80.^{20}$  Muscle weakness was defined as MMT-8 score below 80. Active muscle inflammation was defined as creatine kinase (CK) level above at least twice the upper limit of normal level (>280 IU/L) and muscle disease activity on visual analog scale (VAS)  $\geq$  5 in the MDAAT.

Laboratory tests at the time of clinical examination included blood tests for erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), hemoglobin, leukocytes, platelets, C-reactive protein (CRP), CK, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), creatinine, protein and albumin.

Sera from all individuals who gave consent were stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until analyses were performed.

#### 2.2 | Autoantibodies

Sera were tested by a myositis antibody line immunoassay (LIA) in the Department of Clinical Immunology, Uppsala University Hospital, Sweden, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Myositis Profile 4 Euroimmun) including: anti-Jo1 (histidyl), anti-PL-7 (threonyl), anti-PL-12 (alanyl), anti-EJ (glycyl), anti-OJ (isoleucyl-tRNA synthetase), anti-SRP, anti-Mi-2 (alpha and beta chains investigated separately), anti-MDA5, anti-transcriptional intermediary factor-1 gamma, anti-nuclear matrix protein 2 (anti-NXP2), anti-small activating enzyme, anti-PM-Scl (100 kD and 75 kD units tested separately) and anti-Ku. Scanned densitometry data were calculated using the Euroline Scan software (Euroimmun). The autoantibody profile of this group has previously been reported.<sup>13</sup> A validation of the used LIA was recently published.<sup>21</sup> The cut off for each autoantibody was ≥11 densitometry units for all autoantibodies. When investigating 60 healthy Swedish blood donors with the myositis LIA, 2 individuals showed weak reactivity for anti-NXP2 and anti-Mi-2 alpha, respectively, whereas all other reactions were negative.

# 2.3 | Human leukocyte antigen cell surface receptor (HLA-DR) typing

HLA-DR typing was performed by sequence-specific primer polymerase chain reaction assay (SSP-PCR; DR low-resolution kit; Olerup SSP AB).

#### 2.4 | Ethics

This study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki, (as revised in Brazil 2013), and was approved by the local ethics committee at Hanoi Medical University (1720/IRB-HMU) and informed consent has been obtained from the subjects in this study.

#### 2.5 | Statistical analyses

Data analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 10.0. Student's *t* test and the Mann-Whitney *U* test were used for comparison of continuous variables (age). We used either the Chi-square test (for sample sizes of >5) or Fisher's exact test (for sample sizes of  $\leq$ 5) for discrete variables (gender, prevalence of laboratory tests and symptoms). *P* values <.05 were considered to be statistically significant. The antisynthetase group was compared to the anti-Mi-2, the anti-SRP, the anti-MDA5 autoantibody positive groups and the seronegative groups respectively. Although correction for multiple testing would be appropriate for our study, we present raw *P* values, but consider possible type I errors when making the conclusions.

### 3 | RESULTS

Twenty-two of the 23 aaRS autoantibody positive patients had 1 single MSA and one patient had 2 MSAs, anti-EJ and anti-Mi-2. The most commonly detected anti-aaRS antibody was anti-Jo-1 (n = 13), followed by anti-EJ (n = 6) and anti-PL-7 (n = 4). Anti-PL-12 and anti-OJ were not present in any case. Demographic and clinical data are summarized in Table 1. A higher prevalence of anti-aaRS autoantibodies was observed in patients with DM (n = 14) than in PM (n = 9) whereas in the seronegative group PM (n = 44) was more common than DM (n = 25). Clinical features and laboratory characteristics in patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies (Jo1, PL-7 and EJ) are presented in Table 1. All 23 anti-aaRS autoantibody positive patients fulfilled the criteria for ASS.

The anti-aaRS positive group did not differ from the seronegative patients with IIM or from the patients with 1 of the other myositisspecific antibodies concerning age, gender or mean disease duration at time of investigation. At time of investigation anti-aaRS-positive patients had higher frequencies of fever, arthritis, ILD, pericarditis and raised CRP compared to the seronegative patients. The antiaaRS-positive patients also had higher frequency of arthritis compared to the anti-SRP-positive patients and higher frequency of ILD compared to the anti-Mi-2 positive patients (Table 1). A higher frequency of arthritis compared to the seronegative group was also recorded in the anti-MDA5 positive patients (Table 1).

Next, we compared disease activity applying the MDAAT score of patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies to the seronegative comparator group and to the patients with each of the other myositisspecific antibodies. The anti-aaRS autoantibody positive group had a higher disease activity in the domains skin and pulmonary disease compared to the seronegative group but had lower disease activity in skeletal disease compared to the anti-MDA5-positive patients (Table 2). The anti-MDA5-positive patients also had a higher disease activity in the cutaneous disease compared to the seronegative group (Table 2). At time of investigation the mean CK level of patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies was 3019 U/L and for the seronegative group 1565 U/L, but the difference was not statistically significant. Additionally the patients with anti-SRP autoantibodies **TABLE 2** Disease activity assessment at time of investigation of 23 patients with anti-aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetase (aaRS) autoantibodies compared to patients with anti-SRP, anti-Mi2 or anti-MDA5 autoantibodies and autoantibody negative patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies (IIM)

Feature, mean $\pm$ SD	Antisynthetase n = 23	Anti-SRP n = 17	Anti-Mi-2 n = 8	Anti-MDA5 n = 11	No antibody n = 69
Constitutional disease activity, VAS (max score = 10)	5.6 ± 2.6	5 ± 2.4	5.9 ± 2.9	5.6 ± 2.5	4.8 ± 2.8
Cutaneous disease activity, VAS, mean $\pm$ SD (max score = 10)	$4.0 \pm 3.5^{\dagger}$	2.9 ± 3.2	4 ± 4.0	5.8 <u>+</u> 3.2 <sup>#</sup>	2.3 ± 2.9
Muscle disease activity, VAS, mean $\pm$ SD (max score = 10)	5.5 ± 2.6	5.5 ± 2.5	6.9 ± 3.0	5.6 ± 2.5	5.1 ± 2.6
Skeletal disease activity, VAS (max score = 10)	1.9 ± 2.9	$1 \pm 2.2$	$1.9 \pm 2.3$	4.4 <u>+</u> 3.9*	$1.8 \pm 3.1$
Gastrointestinal disease activity, VAS (max score = 10)	$2.6 \pm 3.0$	$2.3\pm2.7$	$2.9\pm3.9$	2.9 ± 2.4	$2.3\pm2.8$
Pulmonary disease activity, VAS, mean $\pm$ SD (max score = 10)	3.7 <u>±</u> 3.5 <sup>§</sup>	2.0 ± 1.8	3.5 ± 3.2	$2.5\pm1.8$	2.4 ± 2.7
Cardiovascular disease activity, VAS (max score = 10)	$1.3\pm2.2$	$0.5 \pm 1.1$	$1.4 \pm 1.6$	0.9 ± 1.6	$0.48 \pm 1.2$

Abbreviations: IIM, idiopathic inflammatory myopathy; NS, not significant; SD, standard deviation; VAS, visual analog scale.

 $^{\$}P < .05$  compared to antibody negative group (negative against all investigated antibodies).  $^{\dagger}P < .01$  compared to antibody negative group.  $^{*}P < .05$  compared to anti-aaRS antibody positive group.  $^{#}P < .005$  compared to antibody negative group.

or anti-Mi-2 had significantly higher serum levels of muscle enzymes compared to the seronegative patients (Table 1). Seventy-four percent of patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies had raised CRP compared to 42% in the seronegative group.

Finally, we compared the cumulative presence of clinical manifestations between the 3 aaRS autoantibody positive groups, anti-Jo1, anti-EJ and anti-PL7 (Table 3). Pulmonary hypertension was present in 69%, 25% and 50% of the anti-Jo1, anti-PL7 and anti-EJ positive patients respectively and ILD in 46%. 75%, and 50% of the anti-Jo1, anti-PL7, and anti-EJ positive patients respectively. These differences were not statistically significant.

No association between anti-aaRS-positivity or the other autoantibody defined subgroups and HLA-DRB1 haplotypes was detected in our study. The frequencies of HLA-DRB1 haplotypes are presented in Table 4.

Two patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies (anti-Jo1 and anti-EJ antibodies), 1 anti-MDA5 positive patient, 1 anti-Mi-2 positive patient and 3 seronegative patients died during the follow-up. Cause of death was rapidly progressive ILD (RPILD) in the 2 anti-aaRS positive patients and in the seronegative group RPILD in 1, infectious pneumonia in 1 and vasculitis and infection in a 3rd case. The patient with anti-MDA5 autoantibodies died due to infectious pneumonia and the patient with anti-Mi-2 autoantibodies died due to myocarditis, pulmonary hypertension and RPILD.

# 4 | DISCUSSION

In our cohort of Vietnamese patients of Kinh ethnicity with antiaaRS autoantibodies, anti-Jo1 was the most frequent autoantibody, followed by anti-EJ and anti-PL7 autoantibodies. Furthermore, aaRS autoantibodies were more common in patients within the subgroup DM compared to the PM subgroup. The aaRS autoantibody positive patients had a high frequency of extra-muscular manifestations and all fulfilled the proposed criteria for ASS.

That anti-Jo1 autoantibodies were the most common of antiaaRS autoantibodies in our cohort is similar to what has been reported from other cohorts with different ethnicities. However, anti-EJ antibodies being the second most common anti-aaRS autoantibodies is different from reports in Caucasian and Japanese cohorts, although our data need to be interpreted with caution due to the low number of patients. Antisynthetase autoantibodies constitute an important risk factor for ILD in patients with IIM. ILD frequently predominates at presentation and contributes to the high morbidity and mortality in patients with ASS and was one of the most common extra-muscular manifestations in our patients with ASS found in 51%, a frequency comparable to what has previously been reported in other ethnic groups.<sup>22-24</sup> Similar to other ethnic groups, the frequency of ILD was in particular high in patients with anti-PL7 autoantibodies where 3 of our 4 cases had ILD.<sup>12,25</sup> All of our patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies had signs of myositis, thus there was no difference between anti-aaRS antibody specificities, which was unexpected and different from previous reports.<sup>26,27</sup> Our data on clinical associations with different antisynthetase autoantibodies in Asian patients of Kinh ethnicity differ from a previous report from Japan with 165 patients having anti-aaRS autoantibodies.<sup>28</sup> Myositis was found in less than 60% of Japanese patients during follow-up and the frequency of myositis varied among anti-aaRS subgroups. The patients with anti-Jo1, anti-EJ and anti-PL7 autoantibodies had a higher frequency **TABLE 3** Clinical manifestations at time of investigation in patients subgrouped by the 3 different aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetase autoantibodies

	Anti-Jo-1 (n = 13)	Anti-PL-7 (n = 4)	Anti-EJ (n = 6)	_ P
Characteristic	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	- P value
Age, mean $\pm$ SD y	42.7 ± 14.6	39 <u>+</u> 8.3	57 ± 9.4	NS
Diagnosis, PM/DM	7/6	1/3	1/5	NS
Constitutional manifestations n (%)				
Fever	8 (61.5)	4 (100)	5 (83.3)	NS
Skin lesions n (%)				
Heliotrope rash	4 (66.7)	3 (100)	3 (60)	NS
Gottron's papules	5 (83.3)	1 (33.3)	3 (60)	NS
Mechanic´s hands	1 (16.7)	0 (0)	1 (20)	NS
Skeletal manifestations n (%)				
Arthritis	7 (53.8)	2 (50)	3 (50)	NS
Myositis	13 (100)	4 (100)	6 (100)	NS
Muscle weakness	12 (92.3)	4 (100)	6 (100)	NS
Manual muscle test-8, mean $\pm$ SD	$61 \pm 16$	52 <u>±</u> 20	54 ± 27	NS
Dysphagia	7 (53.8)	2 (50)	4 (66.7)	NS
Raised SGOT	7 (53.8)	3 (75)	2 (33.3)	NS
Raised SGPT	6 (46.2)	3 (75)	3 (50)	NS
Raised lactic dehydrogenase	5 (38.5)	2 (50)	1 (16.7)	NS
CK, IU/L, mean $\pm$ SD, (ref; 26-140 IU/L)	3364 ± 6947.1	4966 ± 5230.7	972 ± 1777.1	NS
Cardiovascular manifestations n (%)				
Raynaud's phenomenon	5 (38.5)	2 (50)	1 (16.7)	NS
Pericarditis	4 (30.8)	2 (50)	1 (16.7)	NS
Pulmonary involvement n (%)				
Interstitial lung disease, PM/DM	6 (46) (4/2)	3 (75)	3 (50)	NS
Pulmonary hypertension	9 (69)	1 (25)	3 (50)	NS
Laboratory investigations				
Raised CRP, n (%)	10 (76.9)	3 (75)	4 (66.7)	NS
Disease activity assessment, mean $\pm$ SD				
Cutaneous disease activity, VAS (max score = $10$ )	$3.2 \pm 3.4$	$4.3 \pm 3.1$	5.7 ± 4.1	NS
Muscle disease activity, VAS (max score $= 10$ )	5.1 ± 2.4	$6.8 \pm 2.2$	5.5 ± 3.5	NS
Joint disease activity, VAS (max score $=$ 10)	2.9 ± 3.1	0	$1.2 \pm 2.9$	NS
Pulmonary disease activity, VAS (max score = 10)	$3.4 \pm 3.5$	$5.3 \pm 2.5$	$3.2 \pm 4.0$	NS

Abbreviations: CK, creatine kinase; CRP, C-reactive protein; DM, dermatomyositis; SGOT, serum glutamic oxalo-acetic transaminase; SGPT, serum glutamate pyruvate transaminase; NS, not significant, reference values for CK = 26-140 IU/L; PM, polymyositis; SD, standard deviation; VAS, visual analog scale.

of myositis compared to anti-PL12, anti-KS and anti-OJ. In addition, ILD was found in nearly all Japanese patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies, a strikingly higher frequency in comparison with our cohort.

Notably, pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) was equally frequent as ILD in our patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies and was more often recorded in patients with anti-Jo-1 autoantibodies compared to patients with other aaRS autoantibodies although the difference was not statistically significant. The frequency of PAH in our cohort is higher compared to other populations where PAH was reported in 7.9%-14.8% of patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies.<sup>29,30</sup> An explanation for the high frequency observed in our cohort may be because all patients were screened with echocardiography. Moreover, both anti-aaRS-positive and anti-MDA5-positive patients had a high prevalence of arthritis and in the anti-aaRS-positive patients the frequency of arthritis was higher compared to the anti-SRP-positive patients (52% vs 12%).

The high frequency of DM skin rash in our patients with antiaaRS autoantibodies is in agreement with previous reports from Japan,<sup>28,31</sup> but different compared to a Chinese population in which the frequency of DM was lower.<sup>32</sup> This difference may indicate that other factors than the autoantibodies may influence the clinical **TABLE 4** Human leukocyte antigen cell surface receptor (HLA-DR)B1 alleles in Vietnamese patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies, patients with anti-SRP, anti-Mi2 or anti-MDA5 autoantibodies and seronegative IIM

		national Journal of eumatic Dis	eases	🐵 👰 –W	'ILEY <u>669</u>
	Antisynthetase (n = 22)	Anti-SRP (n = 17)	Anti-Mi-2 (n = 8)	Anti-MDA5 (n = 11)	Seronegative IIM (n = 68)
HLA-DRB1 <sup>*</sup>	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
*01	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.5)
*03	5 (22.7)	2 (11.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	6 (8.8)
*04	5 (22.7)	1 (5.9)	2 (25)	3 (27.3)	11 (16.2)
*07	1 (4.5)	0 (0)	1 (12.5)	0 (0)	4 (5.9)
*08	4 (18.2)	2 (11.8)	2 (25)	1 (9.1)	9 (13.2)
*09	2 (9.1)	4 (23.5)	0 (0)	2 (18.2)	14 (20.6)
*10	3 (13.6)	0 (0)	2 (25)	0 (0)	12 (17.6)
*11	0 (0)	2 (11.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (5.9)
*12	13 (59.1)	3 (17.6)	3 (37.5)	9 (81.8)	30 (44.1)
*13	2 (9.1)	2 (11.8)	2 (25)	1 (9.1)	7 (10.3)
*14	2 (9.1)	6 (35.3)	2 (25)	1 (9.1)	1 (1.5)
*15	4 (18.2)	7 (41.2)	1 (12.5)	0 (0)	20 (29.4)
*16	1 (4.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	5 (7.4)

Abbreviations: IIM, idiopathic inflammatory myopathy.

\*No significant differences were found between the groups.

phenotypes in anti-aaRS positive patients, where both environmental and genetic factors may contribute.<sup>22</sup> However, this question could not be addressed in our study with only 1 ethnic group.

The disease activity score in the pulmonary domain of the MDAAT score was higher at time of investigation in patients with ASS compared to patients without autoantibodies in our study. The patients with anti-PL-7 antibodies had the highest pulmonary activity score of the 3 anti-aaRS autoantibody positive subgroups. When we compared disease activity at time of investigation, the DM patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies had more active disease in the skin domain compared to DM patients without autoantibodies. The patients with anti-aaRS autoantibodies have been reported to have higher disease activity compared to patients without autoantibodies.<sup>33</sup> In addition, patients with aaRS autoantibodies have poor prognosis with a high mortality rate due to ILD and severe myositis. However, patients with anti-Jo-1 antibodies often have a more favorable prognosis and lower mortality rate than patients with other aaRS autoantibodies.<sup>12</sup> In our cohort the occurrence of fever and CRP levels was also significantly higher in patients with anti-aaRS antibodies compared to the seronegative patients with IIM at time of investigation despite ongoing immunosuppressive treatment. The active disease at time of investigation was in some cases explained by a disease flare due to patient's decision to stop treatment. This could possibly also explain the persisting muscle weakness at time of evaluation in some cases. However, another explanation for the in general severe manifestations observed in our cohort may be a selection of severe cases in this referral center but also that the patients had a delay before myositis diagnosis and thereby a delay in start of immunosuppressive treatment. Alternatively, patients in this ethnic group have a more severe disease compared to Caucasian patients. To address these questions comparative studies are needed. A selection bias

may also affect the autoantibody pattern that we found. A clear limitation of our study is the low number of patients, making comparisons of the small subgroups with different aaRS autoantibodies unreliable.

In conclusion, Vietnamese myositis patients of Kinh ethnicity with anti-aaRS autoantibodies had a high frequency of extramuscular manifestations. Some differences in clinical phenotypes associated with anti-aaRS autoantibodies compared to previous reports were observed such as a high frequency of pulmonary hypertension supporting the need for careful surveillance of extramuscular organ manifestations including pulmonary hypertension in patients with anti-aaRS autoantibody positive IIM, at least in patients of the Kinh ethnicity.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr Ingrid Lundberg has received grants from The Swedish Research Council and grants provided by Region Stockholm (ALF project). Dr Thuy was supported by a research grant from APLAR in 2013 for doctors under the age of 40 years.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Dr Ingrid Lundberg has received research grants from Astra-Zeneca and Bristol-Myers Squibb and has served on the advisory board of Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The other authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Authors' contributions to the paper: Dr Thuy Nguyen Thi Phuong designed the study, collected data, wrote the first draft of the manuscript, performed 50% of the work; Dr Lan Nguyen Thi Ngoc was involved in study design 5%-10%; Dr Johan Rönnelid performed the autoantibody assay, 5%-10%; Dr Leonid Padyukov performed the

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

genetic analyses, 5%-10%; Ingrid E. Lundberg was involved in study design, discussing the results and writing the manuscript, 10%-20%.

# ORCID

Ingrid E. Lundberg D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6068-9212

#### REFERENCES

- Meyer A, Meyer N, Schaeffer M, Gottenberg JE, Geny B, Sibilia J. Incidence and prevalence of inflammatory myopathies: a systematic review. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2015;54(1):50-63.
- Dalakas MC. Polymyositis, dermatomyositis and inclusion-body myositis. N Engl J Med. 1991;325(21):1487-1498.
- Hoogendijk JE, Amato AA, Lecky BR, et al. 119th ENMC international workshop: trial design in adult idiopathic inflammatory myopathies, with the exception of inclusion body myositis, 10–12 October 2003, Naarden, The Netherlands. *Neuromuscul Disord*. 2004;14(5):337-345.
- Pinal-Fernandez I, Mammen AL. Spectrum of immune-mediated necrotizing myopathies and their treatments. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* 2016;28(6):619-624.
- Ghirardello A, Borella E, Beggio M, Franceschini F, Fredi M, Doria A. Myositis autoantibodies and clinical phenotypes. *Auto Immun Highlights*. 2014;5(3):69-75.
- Tansley SL, Mchugh NJ. Myositis specific and associated autoantibodies in the diagnosis and management of juvenile and adult idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* 2014;16(12):464.
- Betteridge Z, Mchugh N. Myositis-specific autoantibodies: an important tool to support diagnosis of myositis. J Intern Med. 2016;280(1):8-23.
- Witt LJ, Curran JJ, Strek ME. The diagnosis and treatment of antisynthetase syndrome. Clin Pulm Med. 2016;23(5):218-226.
- Satoh M, Tanaka S, Ceribelli A, Calise SJ, Chan EK. A Comprehensive overview on myositis-specific antibodies: new and old biomarkers in idiopathic inflammatory myopathy. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* 2017;52(1):1–19.
- Shi J, Li S, Yang H, et al. Clinical profiles and prognosis of patients with distinct antisynthetase autoantibodies. J Rheumatol. 2017;44(7):1051-1057.
- Marie I, Josse S, Decaux O, et al. Comparison of long-term outcome between anti-Jo1- and anti-PL7/PL12 positive patients with antisynthetase syndrome. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2012;11(10):739-745.
- Hervier B, Devilliers H, Stanciu R, et al. Hierarchical cluster and survival analyses of antisynthetase syndrome: phenotype and outcome are correlated with anti-tRNA synthetase antibody specificity. Autoimmun Rev. 2012;12(2):210-217.
- Nguyen Thi Phuong T, Nguyen Thi Ngoc L, Nguyen Xuan H, Ronnelid J, Padyukov L, Lundberg IE. Clinical phenotype, autoantibody profile and HLA-DR-type in Vietnamese patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2019;58(2):361-363.
- 14. Bohan A, Peter JB. Polymyositis and dermatomyositis (first of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1975;292(7):344-347.
- Bohan A, Peter JB. Polymyositis and dermatomyositis (second of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1975;292(8):403-407.
- Miller FW, Rider LG, Chung YL, Cooper R, Danko K, Farewell V. Proposed preliminary core set measures for disease outcome assessment in adult and juvenile idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2001;40(11):1262-1273.
- 17. Connors GR, Christopher-Stine L, Oddis CV, Danoff SK. Interstitial lung disease associated with the idiopathic inflammatory myopathies: what progress has been made in the past 35 years? *Chest*. 2010;138(6):1464-1474.

- Thornton JC, Miller A. Standardized lung function testing. Bull Eur Physiopathol Respir. 1984;20(6):571-572.
- American Thoracic Society. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: diagnosis and treatment. International consensus statement. American Thoracic Society (ATS), and the European Respiratory Society (ERS). Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;161(2 Pt 1):646-664.
- Rider LG, Koziol D. Validation of manual muscle testing and a subset of eight muscles for adult and juvenile idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(4):465-472.
- 21. Espinosa-Ortega F, Holmqvist M, Alexanderson H, et al. Comparison of autoantibody specificities tested by a line blot assay and immunoprecipitation-based algorithm in patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2019;78(6):858-860.
- 22. Noguchi E, Uruha A, Suzuki S, et al. Skeletal muscle involvement in antisynthetase syndrome. *JAMA Neurol.* 2017;74(8):992-999.
- Trallero-Araguas E, Grau-Junyent JM, Labirua-Iturburu A, et al. Clinical manifestations and long-term outcome of anti-Jo1 antisynthetase patients in a large cohort of Spanish patients from the GEAS-IIM group. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2016;46(2):225-231.
- 24. Marie I, Josse S, Decaux O, et al. Clinical manifestations and outcome of anti-PL7 positive patients with antisynthetase syndrome. *Eur J Intern Med*. 2013;24(5):474-479.
- Pinal-Fernandez I, Casal-Dominguez M, Huapaya JA, et al. A longitudinal cohort study of the anti-synthetase syndrome: increased severity of interstitial lung disease in black patients and patients with anti-PL7 and anti-PL12 autoantibodies. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2017;56(6):999-1007.
- 26. Lega JC, Fabien N, Reynaud Q, et al. The clinical phenotype associated with myositis-specific and associated autoantibodies: a meta-analysis revisiting the so-called antisynthetase syndrome. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2014;13(9):883-891.
- Hervier B, Benveniste O. Clinical heterogeneity and outcomes of antisynthetase syndrome. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* 2013;15(8):349.
- Hamaguchi Y, Fujimoto M, Matsushita T, et al. Common and distinct clinical features in adult patients with anti-aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase antibodies: heterogeneity within the syndrome. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(4):e60442.
- Hervier B, Meyer A, Dieval C, et al. Pulmonary hypertension in antisynthetase syndrome: prevalence, aetiology and survival. *Eur Respir* J. 2013;42:1271-1282.
- Aggarwal R, Cassidy E, Fertig N, et al. Patients with non-Jo-1 antitRNA-synthetase autoantibodies have worse survival than Jo-1 positive patients. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(1):227-232.
- Fukamatsu H, Hirai Y, Miyake T, et al. Clinical manifestations of skin, lung and muscle diseases in dermatomyositis positive for anti-aminoacyl tRNA synthetase antibodies. J Dermatol. 2019;46(10):886-897.
- Shi J, Li S, Yang H, et al. Clinical profiles and prognosis of patients with distinct antisynthetase autoantibodies. J Rheumatol. 2017;44(7):1051-1057.
- Li S, Ge Y, Yang H, et al. The spectrum and clinical significance of myositis-specific autoantibodies in Chinese patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2019;38(8):2171–2179.

How to cite this article: Phuong TNT, Ngoc LNT, Rönnelid J, Padyukov L, Lundberg IE. Clinical characteristics of Vietnamese patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies and autoantibodies to aminoacyl-transfer RNA synthetases. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2021;24:663–670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-</u> 185X.14105 DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14094

### ORIGINAL ARTICLE



# 👁 📎 🛛 Wiley

# High cost of illness in fibromyalgia patients in Iran, irrespective of disease severity: A prospective cost study

Faeze Gharibpoor <sup>1</sup> 💿 🏼	Elaheh Nasrollahzadeh	<sup>1</sup>   Banafshesh Ghavidel-Parsa <sup>2</sup> D
Mohammad Ebrahim Gh	affari <sup>3</sup>   Ali Bidari <sup>4</sup> 💿	

<sup>1</sup>Student Research Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Guilan University of Medical Sciences, Rasht, Iran

<sup>2</sup>Rheumatology Research Center, School of Medicine, Razi Hospital, Guilan University of Medical Sciences, Rasht, Iran

<sup>3</sup>Razi Clinical Research and Development Center, Guilan University of Medical Sciences, Rasht, Iran

<sup>4</sup>Department of Rheumatology, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

#### Correspondence

Banafsheh Ghavidel-Parsa, Department of Rheumatology, Razi Hospital, Guilan University of Medical Science, Sardar Jangal St, 41448-95655 Rasht, Guilan, Iran. Email: bghavidelparsa@gmail.com

#### **Funding information**

The funding source of this study was provided by Guilan University of Medical Sciences.

#### Abstract

**Aims:** This study aimed to estimate the economic burden of fibromyalgia (FM) in 6 months, using a cost-diary, and to evaluate its relationship with the disease severity. **Methods:** This is a prospective cost-of-illness study on 62 participants with an FM diagnosis within a 6 month period. Patients completed the questionnaires, including FIQR (Revised Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire) and SF-12 (12-item short-form survey). The cost-diary method was used to track the cost of the disease. The participants received six cost-diary booklets during the study period to report their FM-related costs, hours, and days of productivity loss. The final costs are reported in US dollars.

**Results:** Most of the participants were women (90.3%) with a mean ( $\pm$ SD) age of 40.80 ( $\pm$ 5.50) years and a mean ( $\pm$ SD) FIQR score of 54.38 ( $\pm$ 14.13). Moreover, 45.2% of patients fulfilled all six booklets, whereas 24.2% returned only one booklet. The participants showed a mean ( $\pm$ SD) direct healthcare, non-healthcare, and indirect cost of \$ 2817.08 ( $\pm$ \$ 1860.04), \$ 1497.98( $\pm$ \$ 1358.21), and \$ 1449.05( $\pm$ \$ 3637.41) per patient for 6 months, respectively.

**Conclusion:** Fibromyalgia is associated with high health-related and non-health-related costs in our country, irrespective of its severity. This study warrants urgent consideration in managing the disease burden on both patients and society.

#### KEYWORDS

cost diary, economic, fibromyalgia, Revised Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire, Short-form 12-item survey

# 1 | INTRODUCTION

Fibromyalgia (FM) with a global incidence of 2.7%-4.7%, is a poorly understood condition of widespread pain, fatigue, multiple somatic symptoms, and associated comorbidities.<sup>1,2</sup> Accumulating data suggest that FM incurs a high clinical and economic burden on both patients and societies, comparable with other chronic diseases such as diabetes and hypertension. The substantial burden of this condition

may be caused by several factors, such as the exhausting challenges in diagnosis and management of patients, presence of various comorbidities, low quality of life, and marked social invalidation.<sup>3,4</sup>

Patients with FM often have a long journey to correct diagnosis and management. They undergo multiple visits, numerous investigations, and treatments, even after being diagnosed with FM, mainly because of the patient's and physician's dissatisfaction with their consultations. There is no reference standard of diagnosis or

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Faeze Gharibpoor and Elaheh Nasrollahzadeh contributed equally to this work.

<sup>[</sup>Correction added on 03 April 2021, after first online publication: In the authors list, Banafshesh Gavidel-Parsa name has corrected to Banafshesh Ghavidel-Parsa].

<sup>------</sup>

effective targeted treatment for FM, mainly because of the heterogeneous clinical and biological properties of the condition.<sup>5,6</sup> In the absence of a definite route for diagnosis and treatment, the presence of multiple disabling symptoms despite normal appearance and clinical findings could lead to misunderstanding and rejection of patients by their social environment, including medical caregivers. The presence of concomitant comorbidities could add more complexity to judgment by observers. This scenario results in a tremendous clinical, social, and economic burden. As expected, the benign appearance of FM could place governments and societies into a deep trap of incurred clinical and social burden because of the "iceberg" nature of FM, which is representative of hidden burden of this illness <sup>4,7,8</sup>

Notably, FM patients report far greater use of direct healthcare and non-healthcare resources, regardless of the initial FM diagnosis. Direct healthcare costs are defined as the medical supplies and services used by the patients.<sup>9</sup> Outpatient physician visits, prescribed medications, physiotherapy, and complementary medicine are among the most common examples of direct healthcare costs used by FM patients.<sup>4</sup> Direct non-healthcare costs comprise non-medical goods, and resources expended by the patients and their families somewhere out of the healthcare services, such as the costs due to transportations for reaching the clinics, over-the-counter medications, and seeking help for housekeeping or caregivers.<sup>9</sup> In addition to direct costs, indirect cost is the hidden aspect of the high economic burden of chronic disorders such as FM. It is related to the transient or permanent loss of productivity and the need for sick leave. The indirect cost could be estimated by the acquisition of hours/days of absence in the workplace for employed patients as well as the inability to fulfill household chores or other unpaid works for unemployed patients.<sup>4</sup>

It has been estimated that the mean annual measurable cost per FM patient ranges from \$ 2274 to \$ 9573 (US dollars) or even more than approximately \$ 13 000 in various studies depending on the severity of symptoms and the route of cost calculation. However, the vast majority of these studies were conducted retrospectively using questionnaires,<sup>10,11</sup> insurance databases,<sup>12,13</sup> and medical files.<sup>11,14-16</sup> Although retrospective studies are safe from patient recall errors and result in larger study populations, they may lack a complete collection of direct costs and probably have no coverage of indirect costs.<sup>17-19</sup>

It is believed that a self-report or interview-based method provides more reliable and detailed results in cost-of-illness studies.<sup>17,19</sup> Questionnaires and diaries are among the proposed forms of the self-report-based method, both with their pros and cons.<sup>17</sup> While questionnaires are dependent on the patients' memory, diaries can precisely record events and costs.<sup>20</sup>

Minimal efforts have been made until now to study the diary method and its feasibility in the cost studies of chronic diseases. On the other hand, prospective data, addressing the relation of direct and indirect costs to FM severity, are scarce and conflicting. The present study aimed to prospectively evaluate the direct healthcare and nonhealthcare costs and productivity losses among Iranian FM patients in a diary-based method. We also aimed to study the feasibility of the cost-diary method among our patients. Furthermore, we sought to analyze the relation of direct and indirect costs by FM severity level.

# 1.1 | Study design and patient selection

This is a 6 month prospective study on 95 patients with FM syndrome referred to the FM outpatient clinic of Razi Hospital, Rasht between July 2018 and August 2019. Patients who were included in this study were older than 18 years of age and fulfilled the 2016 American College of Rheumatology classification criteria for FM. The diagnosis of all participants was confirmed by one rheumatologist (BGH), an expert in the diagnosis and management of FM. Patients were excluded if they were under 18 years of age or had a systemic inflammatory rheumatic disease, cultural or educational barriers to cooperate, known confounding medical illness (such as malignancy and disabling medical condition) at the time of enrollment, and any non-rheumatic cause of pain.

Demographic data (including age, sex, occupation, income, hours of paid work, and educational level) were obtained from all participants. A contact telephone number was also obtained to remind patients of their appointments. All the patients were asked to fill out the Revised Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQR), Short-Form 12-item Health Survey (SF-12) at the initial visit. An experienced medical assistant offered help if patients did not understand the meaning of the questions.

To calculate the sample size, we used the formula of  $N = (Z_{\alpha/2})^2 (SD)^2/d^2$ ,<sup>21</sup> with 95% confidence intervals and a level of significance of 5% and  $Z_{\alpha/2}$  of 1.96. The standard deviation (SD) and error of margin (*d*), were obtained from the study by Lacasse et al,<sup>19</sup> which had 57 participants. The final sample size was 95 patients with 15% dropout.

Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. The study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the local ethics committee (IR.GUMS.REC.1398.366).

# 2 | INSTRUMENTS

# 2.1 | Revised Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQR)

The validated Persian version of the FIQR was used as an instrument assessing the disease severity of FM.<sup>22</sup> It contains 21 individual questions. All questions are based on an 11-point numeric rating scale of 0-10 with "10" denoting the "worst". This is divided into three sets of domains: function, overall impact, and symptoms. Then, the total FIQR scores would be the sum of the three modified domain scores.

# 2.2 | Short-Form Health Survey (SF-12)

Health status was assessed by the validated Persian version of SF-12, including eight dimensions: physical functioning, physical role, social role, emotional role, bodily pain, general health, vitality, and mental health. The scores range from 0 to 100, and lower scores indicate worse possible conditions.<sup>23</sup>

# 2.3 | Cost diary

Cost diary is an instrument, developed and partially validated by Goosens et al<sup>17</sup> and used for the cost estimation of a condition. Goosens et al<sup>17</sup> found that there is no significant difference in the patients' reports and medical records. Therefore, the cost diary could be used without the need for checking medical reports. To decrease recall bias, we chose a 1 month period between the visits.

All participants were instructed in both oral and written form to fill out the six booklets, each covering 1 month. Patients were supposed to write down the number of physician visits, their chief complaint, purchased medication (whether prescription drugs or over the counter), and all other expenses related to the condition.

Each patient attended seven face-to-face interviews—one initial visit to obtain demographic data and baseline questionnaires, and six visits to deliver the completed booklets and receive the next one. The response rate was calculated as the proportion of completed diaries to the total number of diaries (six for each patient). To minimize the partial responses and missing information, we also discussed the completed diaries at each visit. Furthermore, patients were asked to bring their purchased medicine and disease-related bills. Before each visit, telephone contacts were made to remind patients of their upcoming appointment. If patients decided to quit the study, the interviewers kindly asked them to bring the booklet as soon as possible. For those who returned at least one but less than six booklets, the mean value over the available booklets was calculated and extrapolated to 6 months.

#### 2.4 | Estimates of cost

Resource use and associated cost were estimated by diary records. Medical resources and para-clinical tests (laboratory and imaging tests) were included only if the physician (BGH) approved their relevance to FM or its comorbidities. Direct healthcare costs (including visits to general practice, specialist care, physiotherapy, hospitalization, prescribed medications, and para-clinical tests) were estimated by the reported number of each healthcare utilization, multiplied by the contemporary tariff of the Mministry of Health. The contemporary tariff is determined for each healthcare service annually by the Ministry of Health and the tariff is different for public and private services. In this study we used the tariff of private services. If the patients had paid more than the tariff, the recorded costs in the diary were calculated. Direct non-healthcare costs (including overthe-counter drugs, alternative medicines, transportation, hours of paid and unpaid household help, and health activities) were calculated based on the real costs reported by the patient in the dairy. The cost of unpaid household help was assessed by the number of reported visit days multiplied by the lowest daily wage of the Ministry of Labor. No transportation cost was calculated if the patients had used personal cars for transportation. Indirect costs (defined as the value of productivity loss due to disease-related absence) were calculated by the friction cost method, which is defined as the number

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

of days or hours that the patient did not attend or left work due to illness unless their position was replaced by another employee.<sup>24</sup> The daily wage of the Ministry of Labor was used for the households and those patients who avoided revealing their income. The costs were recorded in Rial and converted to US dollars at the 2017 gross domestic product-based purchasing power parity of 9035.96 : 1 (Rial : US\$).

🐵 📎 – WILEY

### 2.5 | Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to calculate the mean and standard deviation for continuous variables, and the frequency and percentage for categorical variables.

Linear regression analysis was performed to test whether or not the patient characteristic (including age, level of education, disease duration, and marital status) and severity of the condition were associated with the response rate and the costs. To compare the means of costs between different severity groups of FIQR, the one-way analysis of variance test, and Brown-Forsythe test were used for homogeneous and non-homogeneous data, respectively. To measure the effect size,  $\eta$ -squared was used.<sup>25</sup>

Levene's test was also applied to evaluate the homogeneity of variance between the groups.

Statistical calculations were performed using the SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA), and statistical significance was evaluated at the level of 0.05.

### 3 | RESULT

# 3.1 | Patient demographics and clinical characteristics

A total of 95 patients with a diagnosis of FM were enrolled during the study period. From these, 62 patients fulfilled at least one costdiary booklet and joined the statistical analysis. In total, 42.5% of diaries were returned. Thirty-three (34.7%) patients did not return the first cost-diary booklet so were excluded from the study. Among those who returned at least one booklet, 45.2% returned the full set of booklets. The response rate among the participants was calculated based on the number of returned completed booklets.

Patients had a mean ( $\pm$ SD) age of 40.80 ( $\pm$ 5.5) years and they were predominantly from the 31-44 years age group (64.5%). The vast majority of patients were female (90.3%). The demographics and clinical characteristics of eligible participants were described in Table 1. There was no particular patient characteristic that predisposed patients to higher cost except for marital status. It was shown that married patients tended to have a lower cost compared with single patients (P = 0.03).

Antidepressant drugs were the most prescribed drugs, and 95.1% of patients used them to alleviate their symptoms. There was no breakdown of antidepressants as the majority of patients were

prescribed Duloxetine. Most (82.2%) patients also used supplementary drugs. Only 3.2% of patients used one class of drugs whereas the majority (56.5%) used four or more classes of drugs (Table 2).

# 3.2 | Direct and indirect costs estimation during 6 months follow up

The costs related to the use of healthcare services, non-healthcare services, and loss of productivity are shown in Table 3. Direct healthcare costs during the 6 months were estimated at \$ 174 658.7 in total and a mean ( $\pm$ SD) of \$ 2817 ( $\pm$ \$ 1860) for each patient. The para-clinical tests (laboratory and imaging tests) with a total cost of \$ 53 105.74 were the predominant compartment of direct healthcare costs (30.40%). No hospitalization costs were reported during the study, so the total costs of physician visits were attributed to outpatient visits including a total cost of \$ 44 617.27 for specialist visits versus \$ 2371 for general physician visits, implying the tendency of patients with FM to visit physicians with different specialties. The prescribed drugs appropriated 11.47% (\$ 20 045.54) of total direct healthcare-related costs with the predominance of antidepressant drugs, and supplements with a mean ( $\pm$ SD) of \$ 109.63 ( $\pm$ \$ 187.61) and \$ 99.83 ( $\pm$ \$ 223.55), respectively (Table 3).

Direct non-healthcare costs were estimated at a mean of \$ 1497.98 ( $\pm$ \$ 1358.22) for each patient and \$ 84 209.87 in total, which was almost two times lower than total direct healthcare costs. The nursing cost was the main compartment of the direct non-healthcare cost (72.18%). Costs related to exercise and activities (gyms and pool fees) were estimated at \$ 6398.38 in total. Alternative/complementary medicine costs were mostly related to herbs.

The indirect costs accounted for almost 25% of total costs, which were comparable to the direct non-healthcare costs, which was 24% of total costs.

### 3.3 | Components of indirect costs

Unemployed patients had a mean ( $\pm$ SD) missed hours of 83.04 ( $\pm$ 107.94) hours, whereas missed hours in employees were 59.88 ( $\pm$ 307.58) hours. Total days of sick leave were 138 days during the 6-month period for all the employees (Table 3).

# 3.3.1 | Analysis of costs by the disease severity

There was a trend for higher direct and indirect costs in the mild severity group with a mean of \$ 3126.75 ( $\pm$ \$ 2264.97), and \$ 4833.76 ( $\pm$ \$ 3903.93) per patient, for indirect and direct costs, respectively. However, the differences among the severity groups were not statistically significant with *P* values of 0.413, 0.058, 0.549, and 0.202 for direct healthcare, direct non-healthcare, total direct, and indirect costs, respectively. The  $\eta$ -squared of severity was just 0.03 for direct healthcare, 0.09 for direct non-healthcare, 0.05 for indirect costs,

#### **TABLE 1**Patients' characteristics

Characteristic (n = 62)	Value
Age, mean (SD), years	40.80 (5.50)
Age groups, n [%], years	
≤30	4 [6.5%]
31-44	40 [64.5%]
≥45	17 [27.4%]
Sex, n [%]	
Female	56 [90.3%]
Male	6 [9.7%]
Education, mean (SD), years	12.39 (14.64)
Marital status, n [%]	
Married	51 [82.3]
Non-married	11 [17.7]
Employment status, n [%]	
Non-employed	45 [72.6%]
Employed	17 [27.4%]
FIQR score, mean (SD)	54.38 (14.13)
Disease severity (FIQR), n [%]	
Mild	11 [17.7%]
Moderate	30 [48.4%]
Severe	21 [33.9%]
SF-12 score, mean (SD)	
Mental component	43.18 (9.73)
Physical component	34.88 (8.36)
Time to diagnosis, mean (SD), month	53.58 (64.27)
Disease duration, n [%]	
≤1 month	4 [6.5%]
2-12 month	9 [14.5%]
>12 month	49 [79%]
Interval between the diagnosis and stu	dy entry
≤1 month	35 [56.5%]
2-12 month	14 [22.6%]
>12 month	13 [21%]
Number of physicians visit per patient,	mean (SD) [% of patients]
General physician	1.21 (2.42) [34%]
(Sub)Specialist	
Internist	0.64 (0.30) [4%]
Rheumatologist	11.12 (4.1) [100%]
Endocrinologist	0.2 (0.66) [13%]
Neurologist	0.35 (1.1) [13%]
Gastroenterologist	0.06 (0.31) [4%]
Gynecologist	0.06 (0.30) [4%]
Urologist	0.01 (0.12) [1%]
General surgeon	0.01 (0.12) [1%]
Ophthalmologist	0.80 (0.32) [4%]
Otolaryngologist	0.03 (0.25) [1%]

#### TABLE 1 (Continued)

Characteristic (n = 62)	Value
Orthopedics	0.04 (0.38) [1%]
Pain medicine	0.01 (0.12) [1%']
Response rate, n (% of patients)	
1/6	15 [24.2%]
2/6	6 [9.7%]
3/6	8 [12.9%]
4/6	3 [4.8%]
5/6	2 [3.2%]
6/6	28 [45.2%]

*Note*: The sum of Age groups percentage might not equal 100% due to missing data (n = 1).

Abbreviations: FIQR, Revised Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; SD, standard deviation; SF-12, 12-item short-form survey.

TABLE 2 Frequency of prescribed medications

Medication type	Number (%) of patients			
Anti-depressant	19 063 (95.1%)			
Supplementary	5079 (82.2%)			
Anti-epileptic	5071 (46.7%)			
Analgesic	4383 (17.7%)			
Sedative/Hypnotic	980 (17.7%)			
Gastrointestinal	1359 (19.62%)			
Corticosteroid	86 (9.6%)			
Anti-migraine	300 (3.2%)			
Miscellaneous	4513 (54.7%)			
One of the above	2 (3.2%)			
Two of the above	8 (12.9%)			
Three of the above	17 (27.4%)			
Four or more of the above	35 (56.5%)			

and 0.02 for total direct costs. The calculated effect size was small according to Tatsuoka et al,<sup>26</sup> showing that despite the sample size, severity may not be a significant indicator of costs in our population (Table 4).

# 3.4 | Analysis of costs by the interval between the diagnosis and the study entry

The diagnosis of FM was confirmed in more than half of our included patients within less than 1 month before the study enrollment (56.5%). These patients, who were newly diagnosed, had more direct healthcare ( $3248.92 \pm 2271.46$ ), direct non-health related ( $1403.33 \pm 1614.11$ ), and indirect costs ( $1825.42 \pm 4724.88$ ). However, this difference was not statistically significant (P > 0.05; Table 5).

#### 3.5 | Response rate determinants

No single factor was significantly associated with a higher response rate, except for the function domain of FIQR (P = 0.04). It was shown that the response rate rose with the increase of age, disease duration, FIQR total score, but this relationship was not statistically significant. After using dummy coding for marital status, the response rate decreased when the patients were single, divorced, or widowed (Table 6).

#### 3.6 | Excluded patients

Of 95 patients at the beginning of the study, 33 patients did not return any booklet and were excluded from the study. The dropout group of patients had a mean age of 47.3  $\pm$  8 years, and mean years of education of 10.4  $\pm$  3.4 years. 81.8% of them were married, and 72.8% were not employees. The mean FIQR in this group was 55.0  $\pm$  14.9, and the mean mental and physical components of SF-12 were 44.5  $\pm$  9.5 and 34.0  $\pm$  7.8, respectively. There was no significant difference in baseline characteristics between this dropout group and the patients that completed the study protocol.

### 4 | DISCUSSION

In our prospective study, we used a cost-diary method to estimate the costs and pattern of healthcare utilization among patients with FM in the north of Iran. Our results demonstrated the substantial direct and indirect costs associated with FM in our population, which were not related to the severity of this condition. We also found that the cost-diary method was acceptable, and feasible for use in our population compared with the original study.<sup>17</sup>

Consistent with other studies, our study revealed that FM patients are among high users of healthcare resources, non-healthcare resources, and patients with poor physical and mental health status, which could lead to absenteeism and disability (Figure 1). Our FM patients had \$ 4175.29  $\pm$  \$ 2383.99 in total direct costs per patient for 6 months. This cost was high compared with another study in Iran, which estimated the total direct costs of \$ 170.7  $\pm$  \$ 107.9 annually. This discrepancy can be related to the method of currency exchange, because we used purchasing power parity instead of the exchange rate used by the other study. Our result was also more comparable with the annual cost of the condition in the USA, which was around \$ 7973  $\pm$  \$ 7341 and higher than Germany and France  $($ 2234 \pm $ 2641, $ 924 \pm $ 862)$ , respectively.<sup>27</sup> The most expensive components of the direct healthcare-related costs in our population were para-clinic costs ( $$856.54 \pm $813.40$  for 6 months per patient) and specialist visit costs (\$ 719.63  $\pm$  \$ 263.76 for 6 months per patient). The dissatisfaction of FM patients and their physicians with the FM diagnosis and management alongside the direct and feasible access to specialists in our country are thought to be responsible for multiple visits, extensive investigations, and consequently



	Mean (SD) costs per patient, US \$ Total costs, US \$				
Direct healthcare costs	2817.08 (1860.04)	174 658.7			
Physician visit costs					
General physician	38.24 (73.15)	2371.08 [1.35%]			
(Sub)Specialist	719.63 (263.76)	44 617.27 [25.54]			
Physiotherapy	37.93 (209.83)	2351.71 [1.34%]			
Para-clinic costs					
Laboratory	444.62 (456.80)	27 566.65 [15.78%]			
Imaging	411.92 (740.75)	25 539.09 [14.62%]			
Total prescribed drugs					
Anti-depressant	109.63 (187.61)	6796.84 [3.89%]			
Supplementary	99.83 (223.55)	6189.51 [3.54%]			
Anti-epileptic	40.05 (72.94)	2482.98 [1.42%]			
Analgesic (NSAID)	24.38 (34.94)	1511.36 [0.86%]			
Analgesic (others)	3.09 (11.29)	191.49 [0.10%]			
Analgesic total	27.47 (35.57)	1702.85 [0.97%]			
Sedative/Hypnotic	5.10 (22.84)	316.32[0.18%]			
Gastrointestinal	0.87 (2.73)	54.50 [0.03%]			
Corticosteroid	0.78 (3.03)	48.41 [0.02%]			
Anti-migraine	2.75 (15.46)	170.65 [0.09%]			
Miscellaneous <sup>a</sup>	25.19 (47.15)	1561.92[0.89%]			
Direct non-healthcare costs	1497.98 (1358.22)	84 209.87			
OTCs	28.68 (95.03)	1778.45 [1.91%]			
Assistive devices	20.87 (91.47)	1293.72 [1.39%]			
Alternative medicines	24.55 (73.31)	1521.88 [1.63%]			
Exercise	103.20 (229.95)	6398.38 [6.88%]			
Unpaid household help	902.07 (1389.15)	55 928.43[60.21%]			
Paid household help	179.39 (507.61)	11 122.22 [11.97%]			
Transportation	99.46 (125.86)	6166.78 [6.63%]			
Indirect cost	1449.05 (3637.41)	89 841.00			
Missed, h					
Nonemployee(housewives)	83.04 (107.94)	5148.75			
Employee	6.36 (24.38)	394.50			
Employee absenteeism, d	2.23 (11.80)	138.00			

Note: Data are presented as mean (SD) [% of total cost].

Abbreviation: NSAIDs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; OTC, over-the-counter drugs; SD, standard deviation; US\$, US dollars.

<sup>a</sup>Miscellaneous drug groups include anti-Parkinsonism drugs, drugs for joint and bone health, gastrointestinally associated drugs, and others.

gasti onitestinany associated di ugs, and others.

TABLE 4	Comparison of costs	between different Revised	l Fibromyalgia Impact (	Questionnaire severity groups
---------	---------------------	---------------------------	-------------------------	-------------------------------

Type of cost	Mild	Moderate	Severe	P value	$\eta^2$
Direct healthcare cost	3126.75 ± 2264.97	3011.09 ± 2127.92	2377.68 ± 1053.35	.410	0.03
Direct non-healthcare cost	1707.01 ± 2098.23	894.91 ± 966.36	1837.39 ± 1630.53	.058	0.09
Total direct cost	4833.76 ± 3903.93	$3906.01 \pm 2138.91$	4175.29 ± 1652.72	.540	0.02
Indirect cost	3131.95 ± 8123.34	832.53 ± 1507.32	1448.26 ± 1391.79	.202	0.05

*Note*: Data are presented in US dollar and as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.  $\eta^2$  represents eta-squared. *P* value <0.05 is considered statistically significant.

# TABLE 3 Direct and indirect costs

GHARIBPOOR ET AL.			al Journal of antic Diseases	►
TABLE 5 Comparison b	between costs in different tir	ne intervals after the diagnosis		
Type of cost	≤1 month	2-12 months	>12 months	<i>P</i> value $\eta^2$
Direct healthcare cost	3248.92 ± 2271.46	2501.23 ± 959.79	1994.53 ± 759.660	.088 0.
Direct non-healthcare cost	$1403.33 \pm 1614.11$	$1278.03 \pm 1290.32$	$1323.13 \pm 1485.38$	.962 0.
Total direct cost	$4652.25 \pm 2778.74$	3779.27 ± 1495.66	3317.66 ± 1716.56	.178 0.
Indirect cost	1825.42 ± 4724.88	1079.77 ± 1389.55	833.40 ± 963.76	.648 0.

Note: Data are presented in US dollars and as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.  $\eta^2$  represents eta-squared. P value <0.05 is considered statistically significant.

**TABLE 6** Relationship between response rate and patients' characteristics

	P value	B coefficient <sup>a</sup>
Age, year	.596	0.016
Level of education	.462	-0.026
Disease duration, year	.217	-0.068
Marital status <sup>b</sup>	.083	-1.245
FIQR (total score)	.320	0.019
FIQR (function domain)	.044*	0.029
FIQR (overall domain)	NS	0.002
FIQR (symptom domain)	NS	0.002
SF-12 (physical health)	NS	0.005
SF-12(mental health)	NS	0.007

Abbreviations: NS, not significant; RFIQ, Revised Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; SF-12, 12-item short-form health survey.

<sup>\*</sup>*P* value <0.05 is considered statistically significant.

<sup>a</sup>B stands for regression coefficiency and its positive values represent direct correlation with response rate and vice versa for negative values. <sup>b</sup>For marital status, dummy coding was used and higher values represent married status.





high costs. In contrast, Europe and Canada benefit from the referral system, which may lower the unnecessary costs ( $$564 \pm $262$ ,  $$297 \pm $200$ , and  $$390.28 \pm $465.6$  in Germany, France, and Canada, respectively, for annual physician visit costs) (Figure 1).<sup>19,27</sup> The most frequent visits were made to rheumatologists and endocrinologists, which is understandable due to pain being the main symptom, and the presence of concomitant thyroid disease in a considerable percentage of our patients. The prevalence of thyroid diseases in FM patients might be related to similar symptoms and frequent checking of thyroid function tests in FM patients, which results in higher detection of thyroid disease in these patients.

Interestingly, the total costs for prescribed drugs were lower than the costs for physician visits. Moreover, para-clinic test costs were higher than the physiotherapy costs. These results are probably due to the "doctor shopping behavior" of the FM patients who are looking for satisfaction and reassurance about disabling and invalidated multiple symptoms.

Although the total costs of prescribed drugs were lower than the other direct healthcare cost units, antidepressant medications were consumed in 95.1% by the patients. Such results may be related to the initial prescription of antidepressants by the rheumatologist at the time of enrollment for management of the illness in our population. Additionally, the lower costs of psychotherapy could be justified by the higher tariff and lack of insurance support in our healthcare system. Unsurprisingly, in our study, 56.5% of patients used four or more classes of drugs, and only 3.2% used a single medication. Although polypharmacy is common in FM, evaluating its efficacy is in question. It is believed that over time and due to the variation of symptoms in FM, multiple medications with the same or different mechanisms may be prescribed for patients.<sup>28</sup> Altogether, this pattern of health care, which leads to exhaustion of healthcare providers and invalidation of patients, seems worrisome and must be addressed when setting priorities for the future effectiveness of healthcare services.

Another crucial component of the direct costs in this study was non-healthcare resources utilization. Although it was lower than the direct healthcare costs in total, unpaid household help as the main component of non-healthcare costs incurred substantial costs (\$ 902.07  $\pm$  \$ 1389.15 for 6 months per patient), which was comparable to the visit or para-clinic units of direct healthcare costs. This cost was not directly paid in cash by the patients; however, its economic burden both on patients and society is undeniable. Paid and unpaid household help was found to be the most important resource use among all directly related costs. This is congruent with the study by Boonen et al,<sup>29</sup> which used the cost diary in the evaluation of FM patients' resource utilization. The high costs on this issue indicate the marked impact of FM on the function and daily life of our patients.

Over-the-counter drugs were used by 37% of our patients, and incured relatively lower cost compared with the other components of direct costs ( $$28.68 \pm $95.03$  for 6 months per patient). Moreover, the acceptable costs for the exercise and activity unit in the non-healthcare costs could be attributed to the tertiary level of care; as after the confirmation of FM diagnosis by the rheumatologist, all patients were encouraged to do graduated exercise at least three times a week.

As shown in many studies, fibromyalgia has a considerable effect on loss of productivity. Most employed patients lose their job due to disability: others who attend their job have a notable decrease in productivity.<sup>30</sup> In a study conducted by Lacasse et al<sup>19</sup> in 2016 in Canada, employed and unemployed patients had a loss of productivity equivalent to 3.19 and 14.34 weeks per year, respectively. As a result, the indirect costs of FM are notably higher compared with many other diseases. Boonen et al<sup>29</sup> found that FM and chronic low back pain had indirect costs of \$ 2573 and \$ 2939 per year, respectively. These results were higher than \$ 834 in ankylosing spondylitis. In our study, the means of the productivity loss for each patient were equivalent to 59.88 and 83.04 hours during 6 months for employed and unemployed patients, respectively. The Indirect costs consisted of 25% of the total cost in our study, which was lower than the previous studies. Knight et al<sup>27</sup> showed that indirect cost accounted for 57%, 91%, and 77% in the USA, France, and Germany, respectively. One reason for the lower costs in our study might be the high percentage of unemployment (72.6%) because we used the lowest daily wage of employment for calculating the indirect cost of unemployed patients. Although there are generally more unemployed women in our population than in western countries, the studies have shown that the magnitude of unemployment in FM is also significant compared with other chronic diseases.<sup>31</sup>

It is worth noting that the direct non-healthcare and productivity costs were equally comparable in our unemployment-dominant population. Although it could be representative of a similar impact of FM on the private and professional lives of these patients, caution must be exercised in the interpretation of lower indirect cost, which may be underestimated in the context of unemployment conditions.

Consistent with the previous studies, our findings suggest the substantially impaired quality of life of FM patients. The patients suffered from poor mental ( $43.18 \pm 9.73$ ) and physical ( $34.88 \pm 8.36$ ) health status, which were lower than in the general population.<sup>32</sup> Studies have shown that among a variety of pain disorders, only patients with end-stage renal failure have a lower quality of life compared with patients with FM.<sup>32,33</sup> Poor health, especially in the physical domain, could markedly influence the utilization of formal and non-formal resources.

We used the cost-diary method developed by Goosens et al.<sup>17</sup> This prospective method, unlike the routine retrospective method of collecting data, relies on the patient's self-report, which is more beneficial for collecting the direct costs and productivity-loss information in FM patients.<sup>17,19</sup> In our study, we could track the information of 42.5% of given diaries. This rate is lower compared with the study of Goosens et al,<sup>17</sup> in which 68% of total diaries were returned. However, the percentages of the patients who completed the whole set of diaries for the entire 6 months were comparable to the study conducted by Goosens et al (45.2% vs 50%, respectively).<sup>17</sup> Given the lower response rate in our patients, the success of this method seems to depend on the frequent reminding of patients about arranged appointments and the emphasis on the correct filling of their cost-diary booklet. There was a nonsignificant trend to higher response rate with older age, being single (whether being widowed, divorced, or separated), and more severe disease. Even so, only the functional domain score of FIQR was found to have a positive, statistically significant correlation with the response rate. This follows previous studies, which have shown that patients with poorer health status and worse distress have had a higher response rate.<sup>17</sup>

Although the existing retrospective studies tended to show that the FM costs increased when illness severity rose, the data are still controversial.<sup>11,34</sup> There were many barriers to the certainty of this relationship in these studies, such as not confirming the FM diagnosis based on the validated criteria, patients' enrollment biases, heterogeneous FM diagnosis by the various specialists, estimation of FM severity not at the same time of diagnosis or cost estimation, and finally retrospective method. To the best of our knowledge, there is no prospective research that has investigated the relationship between FM cost and disease severity. Our study did not show any significant relationships between increased cost and severity. Conversely, we found a trend for increased costs in FM patients with mild severity. As our cost drivers were the multiple testing and physician visits, we think the milder condition created more doubt toward the FM diagnosis and as a result warranted more investigation, even after the FM labeling.

Another factor that may affect disease cost is the delay in the diagnosis. Kim et al<sup>35</sup> compared the costs 3 months before and after diagnosis and showed a significant decline in costs after the diagnosis. When we compared the costs between the different periods after the diagnosis, there was a trend to higher costs in newly diagnosed patients. However, this difference was not statistically significant. The higher cost may be attributed to more imaging and para-clinical tests in newly diagnosed patients, as well as the patients' and physicians' dissatisfaction with their diagnosis.

This study had some limitations. First, we mostly enrolled patients with a new FM diagnosis and we did not include the costs related to the patients' pre-diagnostic period. Therefore, we could not compare the different components of direct and indirect costs in these two periods. Second, in our study, the economic burden of FM was not compared with inflammatory rheumatological diseases, other chronic pain conditions, or healthy individuals. The third was the inherent limitation of the cost-diary method, which was the dropout and compliance rate in this prospective acquisition method. Although the response rate was acceptable, around 30% dropout occurred, which was higher than the estimated dropout rate calculated for the sample size. To ensure that this rate of dropout does not affect our result, a comparison between the enrolled and dropout participants was conducted. The result showed no difference between the two groups in terms of probable cofounding variables. As this study was set in a tertiary FM clinic, it was different from the routine or general level of care. As our data came from patients who were actively seeking care, our findings may not be generalizable to the total FM patient population. Finally, as the majority of our patients were unemployed women, these data are insufficient to generalize employment. Therefore, these outcomes warrant future investigation in epidemiological studies with larger sample sizes.

This study provides valuable insights into the economic burden of FM patients in Iran. The significant cost was related to direct medical costs, and its major components were physician office visits and para-clinic tests even after the FM diagnosis. This result shows the high prevalence of doctor shopping behavior in our population, which warrants a need for the prompt attention to shift the resource utilization of FM patients from an unnecessary and exhausting diagnostic process (probably with particular attention to the referral system) towards effective healthcare services. The high costs in the formal and non-formal household care are comparable with direct medical costs, as well as considerable productivity loss, which elucidated the hidden poor functioning of FM patients from the perspective of private and professional life. The high burden of FM irrespective of illness severity highlighted the importance of attention to the economic and clinical aspects of FM beyond the arbitrary scores.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors thank Guilan University of Medical Sciences for providing the financial source of the work.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

#### AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation, data collection, analysis, and the first draft of the article were performed by FG, EN, and BGP. All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### ORCID

Faeze Gharibpoor b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3395-2775 Banafshesh Ghavidel-Parsa https://orcid. org/0000-0002-9033-1756 Ali Bidari https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3583-1838

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Queiroz LP. Worldwide epidemiology of fibromyalgia. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* 2013;17(8):356.
- Lachaine J, Beauchemin C, Landry PA. Clinical and economic characteristics of patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Clin J Pain*. 2010;26(4):284-290.

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

- Berger A, Dukes E, Martin S, Edelsberg J, Oster G. Characteristics and healthcare costs of patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2007;61(9):1498-1508.
- Ghavidel-Parsa B, Bidari A, Maafi AA, Ghalebaghi B. The iceberg nature of fibromyalgia burden: the clinical and economic aspects. *Korean J Pain*. 2015;28(3):169.
- Choy E, Perrot S, Leon T, et al. A patient survey of the impact of fibromyalgia and the journey to diagnosis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010;10(1):102.
- Briones-Vozmediano E, Vives-Cases C, Ronda-Pérez E, Gil-González D. Patients' and professionals' views on managing fibromyalgia. *Pain Res Manag.* 2013;18(1):19-24.
- Bidari A, Ghavidel Parsa B, Ghalehbaghi B. Challenges in fibromyalgia diagnosis: from meaning of symptoms to fibromyalgia labeling. *Korean J Pain*. 2018;31(3):147-154.
- Galvez-Sánchez CM, Reyes Del Paso GA. Diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia. Critical review and future perspectives. J Clin Med. 2020;9(4):1219.
- Jo C. Cost-of-illness studies: concepts, scopes, and methods. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2014;20(4):327.
- Sabariego C, Brach M, Stucki G. Determinants of major direct medical cost categories among patients with osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, back pain or fibromyalgia undergoing outpatient rehabilitation. *J Rehabil Med*. 2011;43(8):703-708.
- Chandran A, Schaefer C, Ryan K, Baik R, McNett M, Zlateva G. The comparative economic burden of mild, moderate, and severe fibromyalgia: results from a retrospective chart review and crosssectional survey of working-age U.S. adults. J Manag Care Pharmacy. 2012;18(6):415-426.
- Berger A, Sadosky A, Dukes EM, Edelsberg J, Zlateva G, Oster G. Patterns of healthcare utilization and cost in patients with newly diagnosed fibromyalgia. Am J Manag Care. 2010;16(5 Suppl):S126-S137.
- White LA, Birnbaum HG, Kaltenboeck A, Tang J, Mallett D, Robinson RL. Employees with fibromyalgia: medical comorbidity, healthcare costs, and work loss. J Occup Environ Med. 2008;50(1):13-24.
- Sicras-Mainar A, Rejas J, Navarro R, et al. Treating patients with fibromyalgia in primary care settings under routine medical practice: a claim database cost and burden of illness study. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2009;11(2):R54.
- Walen HR, Cronan PA, Bigatti SM. Factors associated with healthcare costs in women with fibromyalgia. Am J Manag Care. 2001;7 Spec No: Sp39-47.
- Thompson JM, Luedtke CA, Oh TH, et al. Direct medical costs in patients with fibromyalgia: cost of illness and impact of a brief multidisciplinary treatment program. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2011;90(1):40-46.
- Goossens ME, Rutten-van Molken MP, Vlaeyen JW, van der Linden SM. The cost diary: a method to measure direct and indirect costs in cost-effectiveness research. J Clin Epidemiol. 2000;53(7):688-695.
- Sleed M, Eccleston C, Beecham J, Knapp M, Jordan A. The economic impact of chronic pain in adolescence: methodological considerations and a preliminary costs-of-illness study. *Pain*. 2005;119(1–3):183-190.
- Lacasse A, Bourgault P, Choinière M. Fibromyalgia-related costs and loss of productivity: a substantial societal burden. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17(1):168.
- Roghmann KJ, Haggerty RJ. The diary as a research instrument in the study of health and illness behavior: experiences with a random sample of young families. *Med Care*. 1972;10(2):143-163.
- 21. Suresh K, Chandrashekara S. Sample size estimation and power analysis for clinical research studies. *J Hum Reprod Sci.* 2012;5(1):7-13.
- 22. Ghavidel Parsa B, Amir Maafi A, Haghdoost A, et al. The validity and reliability of the Persian version of the revised fibromyalgia impact questionnaire. *Rheumatol Int.* 2014;34(2):175-180.

WILEY

ILEY- Rheumatic Diseases

- Montazeri A, Vahdaninia M, Mousavi SJ, Omidvari S. The Iranian version of 12-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-12): factor structure, internal consistency and construct validity. *BMC Public Health*. 2009;9(1):341.
- Koopmanschap MA, Rutten FF, van Ineveld BM, van Roijen L. The friction cost method for measuring indirect costs of disease. J Health Econ. 1995;14(2):171-189.
- Cohen J. CHAPTER 8 F Tests on Means in the Analysis of Variance and Covariance. In: Cohen J, ed. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Academic Press; 1977:273-406.
- Tatsuoka M, Keren G, Lewis C, Effect size. A handbook for data analysis in the behavioral sciences: Methodological issues Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, inc.; 1993; 461-479.
- Knight T, Schaefer C, Chandran A, Zlateva G, Winkelmann A, Perrot S. Health-resource use and costs associated with fibromyalgia in France, Germany, and the United States. *ClinicoEcon Outcomes Res.* 2013;5:171-180.
- Menzies V, Thacker LR 2nd, Mayer SD, Young AM, Evans S, Barstow L. Polypharmacy, opioid use, and fibromyalgia: a secondary analysis of clinical trial data. *Biol Res Nurs*. 2017;19(1):97-105.
- 29. Boonen A, van den Heuvel R, van Tubergen A, et al. Large differences in cost of illness and wellbeing between patients with fibromyalgia, chronic low back pain, or ankylosing spondylitis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2005;64(3):396-402.
- Skaer TL. Fibromyalgia: disease synopsis, medication cost effectiveness and economic burden. *Pharmacoeconomics*. 2014;32(5):457-466.

- Schaefer C, Mann R, Masters ET, et al. The comparative burden of chronic widespread pain and fibromyalgia in the United States. *Pain Pract.* 2016;16(5):565-579.
- 32. Hoffman DL, Dukes EM. The health status burden of people with fibromyalgia: a review of studies that assessed health status with the SF-36 or the SF-12. *Int J Clin Pract*. 2008;62(1):115-126.
- Wolfe F, Clauw DJ, Fitzcharles M-A, et al. The American College of Rheumatology preliminary diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia and measurement of symptom severity. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2010;62(5):600-610.
- Winkelmann A, Perrot S, Schaefer C, et al. Impact of fibromyalgia severity on health economic costs. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy*. 2011;9:125-136.
- Kim S-K, Kim S-H, Lee C-K, et al. Effect of fibromyalgia syndrome on the health-related quality of life and economic burden in Korea. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. 2013;52(2):311-320.

How to cite this article: Gharibpoor F, Nasrollahzadeh E, Ghavidel-Parsa B, Ghaffari ME, Bidari A. High cost of illness in fibromyalgia patients in Iran, irrespective of disease severity: A prospective cost study. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:671–680. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14094

680

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14095

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# WILEY

🐵 🕥

# Association of F11R polymorphisms and gene expression with primary Sjögren's syndrome patients

Tzu-Jung Fang<sup>1,2</sup> | Ruei-Nian Li<sup>3</sup> | Yuan-Zhao Lin<sup>4</sup> | Chia-Hui Lin<sup>4</sup> | Jeng-Hsien Yen<sup>2,4,5,6</sup>

Revised: 8 February 2021

Chia-Chun Tseng<sup>2,4</sup> | Wan-Yu Sung<sup>4</sup> | Tsan-Teng Ou<sup>4</sup> | Cheng-Chin Wu<sup>4</sup> |

<sup>1</sup>Division of Geriatrics and Gerontology. Department of Internal Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

<sup>2</sup>Graduate Institute of Clinical Medicine, College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

<sup>3</sup>Department of Biomedical Science and Environmental Biology, College of Life Science, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

<sup>4</sup>Division of Rheumatology, Department of Internal Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

<sup>5</sup>Institute of Medical Science and Technology, National Sun Yat-sen University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

<sup>6</sup>Department of Biological Science and Technology, National Chiao-Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan

#### Correspondence

Jeng-Hsien Yen, Graduate Institute of Clinical Medicine, College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan. Email: jehsye@kmu.edu.tw

#### **Funding information**

Kaohsiung Medical University Chung-Ho Memorial Hospital, Grant/Award Number: KMUH102-2M14

#### Abstract

Aims: F11R gene encodes junctional adhesion molecule-A protein (JAM-A), which is expressed in various types of cells and is involved in leukocyte extravasation during inflammation. Sjögren's syndrome (SS) is a chronic systemic inflammatory disease that involves lymphocytes invasion of exocrine glands. F11R has been studied in autoimmune diseases, but any association between F11R and SS has not yet been investigated. Therefore, experiments were undertaken to examine the relationships among F11R gene polymorphism, messenger RNA (mRNA) expression and SS patients.

Methods: Three hundred and twenty-nine patients with SS, and 223 healthy controls were enrolled in their recruitment from the Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital. Genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood mononuclear cells and gene polymorphisms were genotyped by TaqMan real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR). F11R mRNA expression was quantitated by quantitative real-time PCR with TagMan Gene Expression Assay.

Results: Our study showed the genotype -688A/C (rs6695707) was not found in relation to SS patients. The odds ratio of -436A/G (rs12567886) genotype was notably associated with less susceptibility of SS in human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR2 negative and HLA-DR3 negative individuals. F11R mRNA expression was lower in SS patients than in the cells of healthy controls.

**Conclusion:** The result indicated that G allele of -436A/G genotype has the potential protective effect against SS disease condition. F11R mRNA was expressed significantly lower in SS patients.

# **1** | INTRODUCTION

F11R gene encodes junctional adhesion molecule-A protein (JAM-A). F11R/JAM-A is a transmembrane glycoprotein which is expressed in various types of cells including epithelial cells, endothelial cells, lymphocytes, monocytes, polymorphonuclear (PMN) cells, dendritic cells and platelets.<sup>1-3</sup> The biological function of F11R protein is multifunctional, for instance, F11R is involved in recruiting intracellular signaling, regulating cellular permeability, stimulation of cell translocation during inflammatory processes.<sup>4</sup> F11R is one of the components for cell-cell tight junctions, which maintains the epithelial barrier membrane of the adjacent epithelial cells. F11R serves as an important protein in

Tzu-Jung Fang and Ruei-Nian Li equally contributed.

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

recruiting monocytes and lymphocytes to migrate across paracellular spaces.<sup>5</sup> The destruction of cellular barriers would cause the damage of the tissue by immunocompetent cells. Previous studies reported that deficiency of *F11R* mice showed the decrease of leukocyte extravasation in inflammatory meningitis and skin inflammation.<sup>6,7</sup> In addition, a previous report demonstrated that the recruitment of leukocytes by F11R was stimulus-specific.<sup>8</sup> F11R also influenced the production of cytokines.<sup>9</sup> Chemokines secretion was decreased and nuclear factor (NF)- $\kappa$ B activation was repressed in a *F11R* knockout mice model.<sup>10</sup>

Sjögren's syndrome (SS) is a complicated slow progressive systemic disease, but the precise etiology still remains unknown. SS is a chronic systemic inflammatory disease which involves lymphocyte invasion of exocrine glands, mainly lacrimal glands and salivary glands, and also other organs.<sup>11</sup> However, the pathogenesis of SS has not been elucidated. *F11R* has been studied in autoimmune diseases, but the association between *F11R* and SS is not known.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, it is important to elucidate the roles of *F11R* gene in the immunopathogenesis of SS. In this study, we have carried out experiments to examine the relationship of *F11R* gene polymorphisms and messenger RNA (mRNA) expression with SS patients.

#### 2 | METHODS

#### 2.1 | Clinical subjects

Three hundred and twenty-nine SS patients, and 223 healthy controls were enrolled in their recruitment from the Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital (KMUH). The patients met the 2016 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism Classification Criteria for primary SS.<sup>12</sup> All patients were informed and gave their consent to participate in this study. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of KMUH.

# 2.2 | Genomic DNA and total RNA extraction

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were collected by Ficollpaque (GE Healthcare) purification and genomic DNA was extracted from PBMC of patients from KMUH. Total RNA were extracted by the method of QIAmp RNA Blood Mini Kit (Qiagen). RNA was reverse-transcribed to complementary DNA (cDNA) with random primers and high-capacity cDNA Archive kit (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies). The experimental procedure was followed as the manufacture supplied.

# 2.3 | Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) genotyping and data analysis

Genotypes -688A/C (rs6695707) and -436A/G (rs12567886) of F11R were assessed. The 2 SNPs were chosen from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) dbSNP for validation and higher heterozygosity compared with others. The *F11R* SNPs genotyping were performed by TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assays (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies) by real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) with ABI 7500 Real-Time PCR systems. The assay was carried out as previously described. Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated to evaluate the risk of disease. *HLA-DR2* and *HLA-DR3* typing were determined by HLA-Ready Gene (inno-train, Germany) following the supplier's procedure. The *t* test,  $\chi^2$  test and Fisher's test were used to evaluate the genotype and allele frequencies and F11R mRNA expression, respectively. The statistical analysis was conducted by IBM SPSS Statistics version 19.

# 2.4 | F11R mRNA expression and autoantibodies detection

A total of 120 SS patients and 92 healthy control individuals were assayed for the F11R mRNA expression. The mRNA expression was performed by the TaqMan Gene Expression Assay (Applied Biosystems, cat. no. 4369016) and real-time PCR reaction mix (Applied Biosystems, cat. no. 4369016). The enzyme was first activated at 95°C for 10 minutes, and PCR condition was at 95°C for 10 seconds, 60°C for 1 minute (repeat 40 cycles) on ABI 7500 Real-Time PCR systems. RNA polymerase II is the input control as previously described.<sup>13</sup> Anti-SSA/Ro, anti-SSA/La were detected by fluorescence enzyme immunoassay (FEIA) (EliA, Phadia AB, Sweden). Anti-Ro/La titer greater than 10 IU/mL was positive, less than 7 IU/ mL was negative. Antinuclear antibody (ANA) was detected by indirect fluorescence assay (IFA) (DiaSorin Inc, USA). Titers greater than 1:160 were positive, and less than 1:40 were negative.

#### 3 | RESULTS

# 3.1 | G allele of -436A/G is negatively associated with SS

In this study, we have carried out experiments to determine 2 polymorphic sites on the promoter region of *F11R* gene in SS patients. Our result showed the genotype -688A/C (rs6695707) was not found in relation to SS patients (Table 1). The genotype -436A/G (rs12567886) was notably associated with susceptibility of SS. The OR of -436 A/G + G/G genotypes was significantly associated with decreased risk of SS (OR = 0.25, *P* <.001, 95% CI = 0.11-0.54) (Table 1). This result indicated that the G allele was a protective allele in SS disease with OR 0.24, *P* <.001, 95% CI = 0.11-0.53 (Table 1).

# 3.2 | G allele of -436 was less susceptible with SS in *HLA-DR2(-)* and *HLA-DR3(-)* individuals

The genotype of F11R promoter sequence -436A/G (rs12567886) was related to the susceptibility of SS in HLA-DR2/HLA-DR3 positive

FANG ET AL.		International Journal of		<b>@</b> <u></u>	WILEY 683
		Rheumatic D	iseases	- <u>*</u>	VVILL I
<b>TABLE 1</b> Genotype and allelefrequencies of F11R promoter in primarySjögren's syndrome patients and healthy	Position	Sjögren's syndrome (n = 329)	Control (n = 223)	Р	OR (95% CI)
controls	-688				
	Genotype				
	A/A	217	147		1
	A/C	93	67	NS	0.94 (0.65-1.37)
	C/C	19	9	NS	1.43 (0.63-3.25)
	Dominant model				
	A/A	217	147		1
	A/C + C/C	112	76	NS	1.00 (0.70-1.43)
	Recessive model				
	A/A + A/C	310	214		1
	C/C	19	9	NS	1.46 (0.65-3.28)
	Allele				
	А	527	361		1
	С	131	85	NS	1.06 (0.78-1.43)
	-436				
	Genotype				
	A/A	320	200		1
	A/G	9	22	<.001	0.26 (0.12-0.57)
	G/G	0	1	NS	
	Dominant model				
	A/A	320	200		1
	A/G + G/G	9	23	<.001	0.25 (0.11-0.54)
	Recessive model				
	A/A + A/G	329	222		
	G/G	0	1	NS	
	Allele				
	А	649	422		1
	G	9	24	<.001	0.24 (0.11-0.53)

Abbreviation: NS, not significant.

and HLA-DR2/HLA-DR3 negative patients (Table 2). Notably, the OR of G allele of -436 A/G position in HLA-DR2 negative and HLA-DR3 negative SS patients was significantly low (OR = 0.16, 95% CI = 0.04-0.60; Table 2). F11R genotype -436 A/G was shown to be less susceptible to SS disease in HLA-DR2 negative and HLA-DR3 negative individuals. These results suggested that G allele of -436A/G has the ameliorative effect to the susceptibility of SS in HLA-DR2 negative and HLA-DR3 negative individuals (OR = 0.17, 95% CI = 0.05-0.62; Table 2).

# 3.3 | mRNA expression of F11R in SS patients was lower than those of healthy controls

We performed the TaqMan real-time PCR to evaluate the mRNA expression of F11R gene in SS patients. mRNA expression of F11R was 0.386  $\pm$  0.253 in SS patients, and was 0.552  $\pm$  0.346 in healthy controls, P value < 0.001 (Table 3). F11R mRNA expression in SS patients was lower than those of healthy controls. We observed that F11R mRNA expression in SS patients was lower than healthy controls also in the alleles of genotype -688 and position -436 A allele (Table 3). The F11R mRNA level in SS patients was lower than healthy controls after stratifying with HLA-DR2 or HLA-DR3 (data not shown). The F11R mRNA expression of position -436 G allele was higher in SS patients as compared to the healthy controls, but without significant difference (Table 3).

# 3.4 | Autoantibodies were negatively associated with F11R mRNA level in SS patients

In clinical outcome of SS patients, we noticed that the autoantibodies were negatively associated with F11R mRNA level in SS patients. F11R mRNA expression was low in anti-Ro/anti-La positive individuals, although it was not statistically significant. In contrast, F11R mRNA was significantly less expressed in ANA positive SS patients.

**TABLE 2** Genotype and allele frequencies of F11R promoter in primary Sjögren's syndrome patients stratified with HLA-DR2 and HLA-DR3

	HLA-DR2(+) or DR3(+)				HLA-DR2(-) and DR3(-	-)		
	Sjögren's syndrome	Control			Sjögren's syndrome	Control		
Position	(n = 86)	(n = 67)	Р	OR (95%CI)	(n = 128)	(n = 76)	Р	OR (95%CI)
-688								
Genotype								
A/A	62	44		1	84	48		1
A/C	20	21	NS	0.68 (0.33-1.39)	37	22	NS	0.96 (0.51-1.82)
C/C	4	2	NS	1.42 (0.25-8.09)	7	6	NS	0.67 (0.21-2.10)
Allele								
А	144	109		1	205	118		1
С	28	25	NS	0.85 (0.47-1.54)	51	34	NS	0.86 (0.53-1.41)
-436								
Genotype								
A/A	83	61		1	125	66		1
A/G	3	6	NS	0.37 (0.09-1.53)	3	10	.005	0.16 (0.04-0.60)
G/G	0	0			0	0		
Allele								
А	169	128		1	253	142		1
G	3	6	NS	0.38 (0.09-1.54)	3	10	.006	0.17 (0.05-0.62)

Abbreviation: HLA, human leukocyte antigen; NS, not significant.

TABLE 3	The mRNA e	expression	of F11R ir	n primary	/ Sjögren's	s syndrome	e patients and	l control

		F11R mRNA expression		
		Sjögren's syndrome	Control	Р
		$0.386 \pm 0.253$ (n = 120)	0.552 ± 0.346 (n = 92)	<.001
Position	Allele			
-688	А	$0.380 \pm 0.250$ (n = 192)	$0.551 \pm 0.337$ (n = 147)	<.001
	С	$0.410 \pm 0.262 \ (n = 48)$	$0.556 \pm 0.379 \ (n = 37)$	.039
-436	А	$0.383 \pm 0.251$ (n = 236)	$0.556 \pm 0.350$ (n = 176)	<.001
	G	$0.554 \pm 0.327$ (n = 4)	$0.468 \pm 0.171 (n = 8)$	NS

Abbreviation: mRNA, messenger RNA; NS, not significant.

These results indicated there was a trend of F11R mRNA levels in less amount in anti-Ro/anti-La positive individuals, and particularly in ANA positive SS patients.

# 4 | DISCUSSION

We have investigated 2 polymorphic sites on the promoter of *F11R* gene in SS patients. The 2 SNPs were chosen from NCBI dbSNP for good validation and higher heterozygosity compared with others. The results indicated that the promoter genotype -688A/C (rs6695707) of *F11R* gene was found to have no relation to the susceptibility with SS patients. However, we noticed that the genotype -436A/G (rs12567886) of *F11R* was associated with less susceptibility to SS, particularly in the *HLA-DR2* negative and *HLA-DR3* negative

individuals. Taking the results together, our study shows that the G allele of -436A/G genotype has the potential to have ameliorative effect of SS disease condition in *HLA-DR2* negative and *HLA-DR3* negative individuals. The F11R is important in maintenance of the tight junction between the endothelial cells and epithelial cells, and F11R is also expressed in lymphocytes.<sup>2</sup> The binding of F11R with its ligands contributes to the interaction between endothelial cells and epithelial cells and epithelial cells leading to stabilizing intercellular junctions. The interaction between lymphocyte integrin with F11R protein facilitates lymphocyte infiltration and diapedesis of lymphocytes during inflammation.<sup>1,2,14,15</sup>

mRNA expression of *F11R* was lower in SS patients as compared to the healthy controls (Table 4). We also observed that the F11R mRNA expression of position -436 G allele was higher in SS patients as compared to the healthy controls, although without significant difference (Table 4). *F11R* genotypes -436 A/G and -436 TABLE 4Relationship between autoantibodies and F11Rmessenger RNA expression in primary Sjögren's syndrome (SS)patients

Clinical feature	F11R mRNA expression	Р
Anti-SSA/Ro test		
Positive	$0.349 \pm 0.246$	.053
Negative	$0.450\pm0.267$	
Anti-SSB/La test		
Positive	0.306 ± 0.197	.062
Negative	$0.412 \pm 0.268$	
Antinuclear antibody test		
Positive	$0.277 \pm 0.159$	.010
Negative	$0.428 \pm 0.272$	

G/G were shown to be less susceptible to SS disease in HLA-DR2 negative and HLA-DR3 negative individuals (Table 2). Therefore, these results demonstrated that G allele of F11R genotype -436 was a protective allele. In our study, we observed that the F11R mRNA expression of position -436 G allele in SS patients was not significantly higher than those of the healthy controls. This result was only from a small sample size because of insufficient amount of extracted RNA. This sample size might serve as a training cohort, and further validation study will be required. Autoantibodies anti-Ro, anti-La and ANA are associated with different autoimmune diseases, such as SS and systemic lupus erythematosus.<sup>16</sup> One of the main pathologies of SS is anti-Ro antibodies.<sup>17</sup> Our results indicated that the autoantibodies anti-Ro, anti-La and ANA were negatively associated with F11R levels in SS patients. There was a trend of F11R mRNA to be less in SS autoantibody positive individuals. The correlation between the level of F11R mRNA and autoantibodies or disease severity requires further study. In our previous study, we found that the mRNA expression level of F11R was higher in rheumatoid arthritis patients with secondary SS than those of healthy controls.<sup>18</sup> The high level expression of F11R was involved in the recruitment of lymphocytes and immune cells. The low expression of F11R was also reported in autoimmune thyroid diseases.<sup>19</sup> F11R was increasingly expressed in Graves' disease but F11R was decreased in Hashimoto thyroiditis; both are thyroid autoimmune diseases. Highly expressed F11R recruited monocytes transmigration to the epithelium of patients with Graves' disease. In Hashimoto disease, F11R was less expressed and resulted in loss of integrity tightness of cell junction leading to the transmigration of immunocompetent cells and eventually caused the destruction of thyroid glands.<sup>19</sup> Silencing of F11R promoted the migration and proliferation of human keratinocytes and epidermal cells.<sup>20,21</sup> Thus, F11R is not necessary for the migration of lymphocytes and immune cells. F11R is important to maintain the epithelial barrier membrane of the adjacent epithelial cells. F11R serves as important protein in recruiting monocytes and lymphocytes to migrate across paracellular spaces.<sup>2</sup> Cytokines influence the integrity of the epithelium by altering tight junction protein expressions and the change of cellcell junction complex permeability.<sup>22,23</sup> The level of F11R could be

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

decreased by proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-8 and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  in autoimmune diseases.<sup>9</sup> Previous studies have shown that loss of JAM-A negatively regulates polarized migration of PMN cells, while having a positive effect on dendritic cells.<sup>10,24</sup> Because cytokines are involved in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases, the physiological role of cytokines and F11R in the development of autoimmune diseases needs to be elucidated. Further experiments have to confirm if the presence of F11R contributes to disease severity. We cannot rule out the possibility of disease severity in SS can be partially explained by *F11R* polymorphisms and F11R mRNA expression. The regulatory role of F11R is complicated, and the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases must be determined in further studies.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was financially supported by Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, grant number KMUH102-2M14.

#### CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

No potential conflicts of interest were disclosed.

#### ORCID

Tzu-Jung Fang D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7318-5152

#### REFERENCES

- Ostermann G, Fraemohs L, Baltus T, et al. Involvement of JAM-A in mononuclear cell recruitment on inflamed or atherosclerotic endothelium: inhibition by soluble JAM-A. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25(4):729-735.
- Weber C, Fraemohs L, Dejana E. The role of junctional adhesion molecules in vascular inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2007;7(6):467-477.
- Ebnet K. Junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs): cell adhesion receptors with pleiotropic functions in cell physiology and development. *Physiol Rev.* 2017;97(4):1529-1554.
- Laukoetter MG, Nava P, Lee WY, et al. JAM-A regulates permeability and inflammation in the intestine in vivo. J Exp Med. 2007;204(13):3067-3076.
- Monteiro AC, Parkos CA. Intracellular mediators of JAM-A-dependent epithelial barrier function. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2012;1257:115-124.
- Del Maschio A, De Luigi A, Martin-Padura I, et al. Leukocyte recruitment in the cerebrospinal fluid of mice with experimental meningitis is inhibited by an antibody to junctional adhesion molecule (JAM). J Exp Med. 1999;190(9):1351-1356.
- Lechner F, Sahrbacher U, Suter T, et al. Antibodies to the junctional adhesion molecule cause disruption of endothelial cells and do not prevent leukocyte influx into the meninges after viral or bacterial infection. J Infect Dis. 2000;182(3):978-982.
- Woodfin A, Reichel CA, Khandoga A, et al. JAM-A mediates neutrophil transmigration in a stimulus-specific manner in vivo: evidence for sequential roles for JAM-A and PECAM-1 in neutrophil transmigration. *Blood.* 2007;110(6):1848-1856.
- Ohkuni T, Kojima T, Ogasawara N, et al. Poly(I:C) reduces expression of JAM-A and induces secretion of IL-8 and TNF-alpha via distinct NF-kappaB pathways in human nasal epithelial cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 2011;250(1):29-38.
- Luissint A-C, Williams HC, Kim W, et al. Macrophage-dependent neutrophil recruitment is impaired under conditions of increased

ILEY

intestinal permeability in JAM-A-deficient mice. *Mucosal Immunol.* 2019;12(3):668-678.

- Vivino FB. Sjogren's syndrome: clinical aspects. Clin Immunol. 2017;182:48-54.
- Shiboski CH, Shiboski SC, Seror R, et al. 2016 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism classification criteria for primary Sjogren's syndrome: a consensus and datadriven methodology involving three international patient cohorts. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2017;76(1):9-16.
- Chan HC, Ke LY, Chang LL, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 gene expression and polymorphisms in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*. 2010;19(6):696-702.
- Babinska A, Kedees M, Athar H, et al. F11-receptor (F11R/JAM) mediates platelet adhesion to endothelial cells: role in inflammatory thrombosis. *Thromb Haemost*. 2002;88(5):843-850.
- Shaw SK, Ma S, Kim MB, et al. Coordinated redistribution of leukocyte LFA-1 and endothelial cell ICAM-1 accompany neutrophil transmigration. J Exp Med. 2004;200(12):1571-1580.
- Menendez A, Gomez J, Escanlar E, Caminal-Montero L, Mozo L. Clinical associations of anti-SSA/Ro60 and anti-Ro52/TRIM21 antibodies: Diagnostic utility of their separate detection. *Autoimmunity*. 2013;46(1):32-39.
- Gal I, Lakos G, Zeher M. Comparison of the anti-Ro/SSA autoantibody profile between patients with primary and secondary Sjogren's syndrome. *Autoimmunity*. 2000;32(2):89-92.
- Fang T-J, Lin C-H, Lin Y-Z, et al. F11R mRNA expression and promoter polymorphisms in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2016;19(2):127-133.
- Rebuffat SA, Kammoun-Krichen M, Charfeddine I, Ayadi H, Bougacha-Elleuch N, Peraldi-Roux S. IL-1beta and TSH disturb

thyroid epithelium integrity in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Immunobiology*. 2013;218(3):285-291.

- Zhou T, Wu M, Guo X, Liu H. RNA interference mediated JAM-A gene silencing promotes human epidermal stem cell proliferation. *Hum Cell*. 2015;28(2):73-80.
- 21. Wang Y, Zheng J, Han Y, et al. JAM-A knockdown accelerates the proliferation and migration of human keratinocytes, and improves wound healing in rats via FAK/Erk signaling. *Cell Death Dis.* 2018;9(9):848.
- 22. Shaw SK, Perkins BN, Lim YC, et al. Reduced expression of junctional adhesion molecule and platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (CD31) at human vascular endothelial junctions by cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha plus interferon-gamma Does not reduce leukocyte transmigration under flow. Am J Pathol. 2001;159(6):2281-2291.
- Ewert P, Aguilera S, Alliende C, et al. Disruption of tight junction structure in salivary glands from Sjogren's syndrome patients is linked to proinflammatory cytokine exposure. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2010;62(5):1280-1289.
- Cera MR, Fabbri M, Molendini C, et al. JAM-A promotes neutrophil chemotaxis by controlling integrin internalization and recycling. J Cell Sci. 2009;122(Pt 2):268-277.

How to cite this article: Fang T-J, Li R-N, Lin Y-Z, et al. Association of F11R polymorphisms and gene expression with primary Sjögren's syndrome patients. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2021;24:681–686. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14095 DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14096

### ORIGINAL ARTICLE



🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Joint hypermobility and its association with self-reported knee health: A cross-sectional study of healthy Australian adults

Cliffton Chan<sup>1</sup> | Haiwei H. Qi<sup>2</sup> | Jennifer N. Baldwin<sup>2,3</sup> | Marnee J. McKay<sup>2</sup> | Joshua Burns<sup>2,4</sup> | Leslie L. Nicholson<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Medicine and Health, School of Medical Sciences, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Faculty of Medicine and Health, Sydney School of Health Sciences, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Faculty of Health and Medicine, Priority Research Centre in Physical Activity & Nutrition, The University of Newcastle, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Paediatric Gait Analysis Service of New South Wales, Sydney Children's Hospital Network (Randwick and Westmead), Sydney, NSW, Australia

#### Correspondence

Cliffton Chan, Faculty of Medicine and Health, School of Medical Sciences, The University of Sydney, RC Mills Building (Room 133), Camperdown, NSW, 2006, Australia.

Email: cliffton.chan@sydney.edu.au

#### **Funding information**

National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia – Centre for Research Excellence and Neuromuscular Disorders, Grant/Award Number: 1031893; Australian Podiatry Education and Research Foundation

#### Abstract

**Aim:** The primary aim of this study was to determine the association between generalized joint hypermobility (GJH), knee-specific hypermobility (KSH) and self-reported knee health in an Australian population. Secondary aims included elucidating ethnic/ gender differences in GJH/KSH prevalence and knee health, and identifying KSH using a novel knee extension range of motion cut-off method.

**Method:** Knee extension range, Beighton score, and 5 domains of the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) were collected from adults aged 18-101 years self-identifying as healthy, and were grouped by ethnicity and gender. Two established Beighton score criteria and 1 novel knee extension range cut-off method were used to determine GJH and KSH respectively. Point-biserial correlation tested the associations between GJH/KSH and KOOS. Differences in GJH/KSH prevalence and knee health between ethnic/gender groups were determined with the Chi-squared test.

**Results:** Of 732 participants (50% male), 80.3% were Caucasian. No correlations were found between GJH and KOOS while a very weak correlation was found between KSH and 1 KOOS domain (r > -.30; P = .04). Prevalence of GJH was higher in non-Caucasians (17.4% vs 5.6%, P < .001) and females (4.4% vs 1.1%, P = .007). Prevalence of KSH between ethnic and gender groups was not significantly different (P = .50 and P = .69 respectively). Non-Caucasians scored higher (better) in all KOOS domains than Caucasians (all P < .05).

**Conclusion:** Those who met the age- and gender-specific criteria for GJH/KSH did not report worse knee health than their non-hypermobile counterparts. Clinicians can assure individuals who exhibit GJH/KSH that these are not associated with lower knee health and function.

#### KEYWORDS

Beighton score, cut-off, generalized joint hypermobility, Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score, knee-specific hypermobility

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Musculoskeletal disorders of the knee can be detrimental to an individual's long-term knee health, leading to joint pain, disability and reduced quality of life.<sup>1-3</sup> Knee osteoarthritis is an example of a musculoskeletal disorder that may lead to recurrent pain and disability, negatively affecting both knee and global health.<sup>2</sup> Australians living with osteoarthritis are up to 3 times more likely to experience severe pain and psychological distress.<sup>4</sup> While multiple mechanisms have been hypothesized to explain how poor knee health could arise from musculoskeletal disorders, biomechanical features are consistently recognized as key risk factors for ongoing knee pain and disability.<sup>5,6</sup>

LEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Joint hypermobility is a biomechanical feature, defined as the capacity of a joint to exceed normal active and/or passive physiological mobility,<sup>7</sup> that is influenced by age, gender, and ethnicity.<sup>8</sup> When hypermobility is present in 5 or more joints, it is termed generalized joint hypermobility.<sup>7,8</sup> Both generalized joint hypermobility and kneespecific hypermobility have been suggested as indicators of poorer knee health. A seminal study found a greater prevalence of joint pain, particularly at the knee, in Canadians with generalized joint hypermobility who were otherwise healthy.<sup>9</sup> Subsequent studies reported similar findings in Caucasians,<sup>10-12</sup> African-Americans,<sup>13</sup> and Middle Eastern populations.<sup>14,15</sup> Conversely, other studies suggest generalized joint hypermobility as a factor protecting hypermobile Caucasians<sup>16-18</sup> and African Americans<sup>17,18</sup> from developing osteoarthritis. Such conflicting results regarding the association between generalized joint hypermobility or knee-specific hypermobility with knee health and pain may be explained by the diverse set of outcome measures and their suggested reference values/cut-offs used to quantify these factors. Additionally, the lack of standardized methodologies to classify people as demonstrating generalized joint or knee-specific hypermobility further challenges the validity of reported associations.

Currently, no study has investigated the association of knee health with generalized joint or knee-specific hypermobility in the ethnically diverse Australian population. Clarification of these relationships is essential to ascertain the impact and effects of joint hypermobility on knee health, and to determine the role of screening for hypermobility in routine medical examinations. Therefore, the primary aim of this study was to determine the association of generalized joint hypermobility and knee-specific hypermobility with knee health in a large healthy Australian adult population. Secondary aims of this study include identifying ethnic and gender differences in generalized joint hypermobility, knee-specific hypermobility prevalence and knee health, as well as establishing age- and gender-specific knee extension range of motion cutoffs to appropriately define knee-specific hypermobility across the lifespan.

### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHOD

#### 2.1 | Design

This study involved 732 adults (aged 18-101 years) who participated in the 1000 Norms Project,<sup>19</sup> a cross-sectional observational

study investigating outcome measures of self-reported health and physical function in 1000 healthy individuals aged 3 to 101 years. Participants were stratified for age and gender (Table 1).

### 2.2 | Population and participants

The data of eligible participants aged 18-101 years were used in the current study. Participants considered themselves healthy for their age, could participate in age-appropriate activities of daily living and did not report any significant health conditions affecting their physical performance. Potential participants were excluded if they were diagnosed with diabetes mellitus; malignant cancers; demyelinating, inflammatory, or degenerative neurological conditions; pregnancy; severe cardiac/pulmonary disease; class 3 obesity (body mass index  $\geq$  40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>); joint replacement; infectious or inflammatory arthropathies; severe mobility impairment requiring mobility aids for ambulation. Ethics approval was granted by the institutional Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC 2013/640) and written informed consent was received from all participants prior to the study.

### 2.3 | Procedures

As the prevalence of generalized joint hypermobility differs between ethnicities and genders,<sup>20</sup> participants were separated into ethnic and gender cohorts in accordance with the standards of the Australian Bureau of Statistics.<sup>21</sup> Participants were classified as Caucasian if they self-identified as European, American, or Oceanic, and those who identified otherwise were categorized as non-Caucasian.

The Beighton scoring system was used to classify the presence of generalized joint hypermobility, and has been reported to have excellent inter-rater reliability,<sup>22</sup> and concurrent validity.<sup>20</sup> It assesses mobility of 4 joints bilaterally, as well as the lumbo-pelvic complex. One point out of 9 is allocated for each of the following tests: (1) passive apposition of left and/or right thumb to contact the flexor aspect of the forearm (2 points); (2) passive hyperextension of left and/or right 5th metacarpophalangeal joint beyond 90° (2 points); (3)

**TABLE 1** Gender and ethnic characteristics of included participants, categorized into age-groups

Age category, y	Male, n (%)	Caucasian, n (%)	Subtotal, n
18-29	66 (50)	64 (48)	132
30-39	50 (50)	68 (68)	100
40-49	50 (50)	83 (83)	100
50-59	50 (50)	86 (86)	100
60-69	50 (50)	94 (94)	100
70-101	100 (50)	193 (97)	200
Total:	366 (50)	588 (80)	732
🗠 👰 – Wiley-

hyperextension of the left and/or right humero-ulnar joint beyond 10° (2 points); (4) hyperextension of the left and/or right tibiofemoral joint beyond 10° (2 points); and (5) placement of both palms on the floor directly in front of the feet with both knees extended in standing (1 point). The Beighton score was originally developed to be interpreted dichotomously;<sup>8</sup> that is, classifying a person as having generalized joint hypermobility or not. The commonly utilized Beighton score cut-off of  $\geq$  4/9 to dichotomize individuals with or without generalized joint hypermobility was employed to allow comparison of the results of this study to others. This cut-off methodology is described herein as the " $\geq$ 4/9 Beighton criterion".

A novel Beighton score cut-off method was recently established to better define "hyper-" mobility, where generalized joint hypermobility prevalence should represent the 5% most mobile individuals for age and gender.<sup>23</sup> Utilizing this revised method, Beighton score cut-offs were recommended for females aged 18-39 years to be  $\geq$  5, aged 40-59 years to be  $\geq$  4, aged 60-69 years to be  $\geq$  3, and those aged 70 years and above to be  $\geq$  2, while Beighton score cut-offs were recommended for males aged 18-39 years to be  $\geq$  4, aged 40-59 years to be  $\geq$  2, and those aged 60 years and above to be  $\geq$  1.<sup>23</sup> This was employed as the 2nd generalized joint hypermobility classification method, described herein as the "age- and gender-specific Beighton criterion".

Knee extension range was measured using a universal goniometer (Baseline, Fabrication Enterprises Inc.). The greater the knee extension range, the more hypermobile the knee joint. Participants were instructed to lie supine on a plinth with their hip positioned in neutral extension, adduction, and abduction. The ankle of the dominant limb was rested on a rolled-up towel, permitting the knee to drop into hyperextension. The goniometry was undertaken twice by either 1 of 2 experienced physiotherapists and the mean of their 2 knee extension measurements was used for analysis. Inter-rater reliability between the 2 assessors was demonstrated to be excellent.<sup>19</sup>

Novel knee extension range cut-offs were used to determine if participants demonstrated knee-specific hypermobility. Similar to the age- and gender-specific Beighton score criterion, these cut-offs identified the 5% of individuals in each age- and gender-specific co-hort with the greatest knee extension mobility, thereby determining the prevalence of knee-specific hypermobility.<sup>24</sup> These cut-offs were utilized as the knee-specific hypermobility classification method, described herein as the 'knee-specific hypermobility criterion'.

Participants completed the Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), which is a valid and responsive knee-specific instrument that assesses knee-related quality of life.<sup>25</sup> It is widely used to determine the impact of various knee conditions that can result in osteoarthritis.<sup>26</sup> The KOOS quantifies an individual's selfperceived knee health in 5 domains: pain, other symptoms, activities of daily living (ADL), sports and recreation participation (sport/rec), and quality of life (QoL). A maximum score of 100 for each domain represents excellent self-reported knee health, with a score of 0 representing poorest knee health.<sup>25</sup> Scoring of KOOS domains does not permit aggregation.<sup>27</sup>

#### 2.4 | Statistical analysis

Descriptive analyses of the Beighton score, knee extension range, and 5 domains of the KOOS for both groups (ethnicity and gender) were performed. To determine the association between generalized joint hypermobility and knee-specific hypermobility with selfreported knee health, point-biserial correlation tests were used. Correlations of r < .30 were deemed very weak,  $.30 \le r \le .49$  as weak,  $.50 \le r \le .69$  as moderate,  $.70 \le r \le .89$  as strong, and  $r \ge .90$ as very strong.<sup>28</sup> The secondary aim of identifying ethnic and gender differences in the prevalence of generalized joint hypermobility, knee-specific hypermobility and self-reported knee health was addressed with Chi-squared tests on Beighton Scores, knee extension range, and all KOOS domains between participants with and without generalized joint hypermobility/knee-specific hypermobility in their ethnic and gender cohorts. P values of <.05 were accepted a priori as statistically significant. All statistical analyses were undertaken using SPSS v. 22 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows).

#### 3 | RESULTS

#### 3.1 | Demographics

Of the original 1000 participants, 268 were excluded as they did not meet the 18 and over age inclusion criterion, leaving a remainder of 732 participants in this study (Table 1). Mean age, ethnic-specific mean Beighton Scores (out of 9), knee extension range, and scores for the 5 domains of knee health (KOOS) were generated. Mean Beighton Scores and KOOS domain scores were statistically significantly higher in non-Caucasians than Caucasians (all P < .05), except mean age where the non-Caucasians were significantly younger than the Caucasian cohort (P < .001; Table 2).

#### 3.2 | Association between generalized joint hypermobility or knee-specific hypermobility and the KOOS domains

Point-biserial correlation coefficients indicating the extent of associations between dichotomized generalized joint and knee-specific hypermobility (participants either meeting or not meeting the 3 cutoff criteria) with continuous KOOS measures have been calculated (see Appendix S1). The only significant, yet very weak correlation, was found between knee-specific hypermobility and the KOOS QoL domain score in all male participants (r = -.11, P = .04).

## 3.3 | Age- and gender-specific knee extension range cut-off values to identify knee-specific hypermobility

Only 3 of 732 participants (0.4%) met the traditionally used >10° of knee extension cut-off to determine knee-specific hypermobility. If

WILEY- Rheumatic Diseases



	Ethnicity		
Outcome measure	Cau (n = 588)	NCau (n = 144)	Р
Mean age, y	57.2 (19.6)	35.1 (16.0)	<.001**
Beighton score, /9	0.4 (1.0)	1.1 (1.3)	<.001**
Knee extension range, degrees	0.6 (2.4)	1.6 (2.4)	<.001**
KOOS, all/100			
Symptom	90.3 (12.3)	92.9 (8.8)	.005*
Pain	93.8 (10.4)	96.7 (7.1)	<.001**
ADL	96.4 (7.9)	98.3 (4.7)	<.001**
Sport/rec	89.7 (16.8)	93.1 (14.5)	.016*
QoL	87.1 (17.1)	91.6 (14.4)	.002*

Abbreviations: ADL, activities of daily living; Cau, Caucasian cohort; KOOS, Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (higher score indicates better knee health); NCau, non-Caucasian cohort; QoL, quality of life; Sport/rec, sports and recreation.

<sup>a</sup>Values in this table are mean (SD).

\*Level of significance P < .05.

\*\*Level of significance P < .001.

 TABLE 3
 Identified age- and gender-specific knee extension

 range of motion cut-off values used for the knee-specific
 hypermobility (KSH) criterion

	Knee extension range cut-off value (°)	
Age group, y	Male	Female
18-29	6	6
30-39	6	6
40-49	5	5
50-59	3	5
60-69	3	2
70-101	1	2

we extend the cut-off to  $>7^{\circ}$ , to allow for measurement error associated with long-arm goniometry, the prevalence was 1.5%. The range of knee extension that placed a participant in the 5% most mobile for their age and gender was calculated to provide the knee-specific hypermobility criterion (Table 3).

#### 3.4 | Prevalence of generalized joint hypermobility and knee-specific hypermobility across ethnicities and gender

A summary of the proportion of the 732 participants who met the 2 criteria for generalized joint hypermobility and that for kneespecific hypermobility is found in Table 4. Both the  $\geq$ 4/9 Beighton and the age- and gender-specific Beighton criteria identified a higher prevalence of generalized joint hypermobility in non-Caucasians than Caucasians. A higher proportion of female than male participants were identified with generalized joint hypermobility when the  $\geq$ 4/9 Beighton criterion was used. Prevalence of 
 TABLE 2
 Ethnicity-specific knee

 extension range, Beighton score, and
 KOOS domains<sup>a</sup>

knee-specific hypermobility did not significantly differ between ethnic groups.

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

In this large sample of healthy Australian adults, both generalized joint hypermobility and knee-specific hypermobility as determined by 3 criteria were generally not associated with poorer self-reported knee health. However, knee-specific hypermobility was found to be very weakly associated with lower knee-related, QoL in male participants. Novel age- and gender-specific knee extension range cutoffs to define knee-specific hypermobility were established which are lower than the widely accepted 10° of knee hyperextension. The prevalence of generalized joint hypermobility was significantly greater in non-Caucasians (regardless of the Beighton cut-off criteria used) and in females, while no differences were found in kneespecific hypermobility between 2 ethnic and gender cohorts.

Both generalized joint hypermobility and knee-specific hypermobility are predominantly not associated with poorer self-reported knee health. Knee-specific hypermobility had a significant negative influence on only the knee-related QoL domain among males who did not report significant knee-related issues such as pain, stiffness, ADL or sport/rec limitations. Such sparse and unremarkable associations between generalized joint hypermobility and knee health were also noted in other recent studies.<sup>18,29,30</sup> However, our study is in stark contrast to that of a large Danish study.<sup>12</sup> They found that those with knee-specific and generalized joint hypermobility were twice as likely to report symptoms, poorer QoL, and functional limitations. There are multiple reasons for the difference in findings. First, the Danish study used self-reported outcome measures for both kneespecific and generalized joint hypermobility. Knee-specific symptoms were reported using questions selected from the Standardized

CHAN	ET AL.
------	--------

**TABLE 4**Prevalence of generalizedjoint hypermobility and knee-specifichypermobility across ethnicity andgender<sup>a</sup>

	Rh	eumatic Disea	ises	· · · · ·	WILE	Y
Joint hypermobility criterion	Caucasian	Non- Caucasian	Р	Male	Female	Р
≥4/9 Beighton	2.0%	5.5%	.034*	1.1%	4.4%	.007*
AGS Beighton	5.6%	17.4%	<.001**	N/A	N/A	N/A
KSH	8.7%	6.9%	.501	7.9%	8.7%	.688

International Journal of

*Note:* AGS Beighton: age- and gender-specific Beighton score cut-off criteria for generalized joint hypermobility;<sup>23</sup> KSH, age and gender knee extension range cut-offs used as per Table 3. <sup>a</sup>Values are the percentage of cohort with joint hypermobility.

\*Level of significance P < .05.

\*\*Level of significance P < .001.

Nordic Questionnaire that was designed for an occupational setting. Second, the generalized joint hypermobility measure was the 5-part questionnaire developed by Hakim and Grahame (2003) which incorporates historical hypermobility questions about childhood hypermobility and a question about their knee-specific hypermobility ("Can you hyperextend one or both of your knees?").<sup>31</sup> Lastly, the age distribution differed between the studies, and ethnicity was not reported.

Given that our study found only 1 very weak correlation between QoL and knee-specific hypermobility, it is our preliminary impression that the presence of generalized joint hypermobility and/ or knee-specific hypermobility are not detrimental to self-reported knee health in an otherwise healthy population. Therefore, clinicians should reassure their patients who exhibit generalized joint hypermobility or knee-specific hypermobility that these are not associated with lower knee health. Perhaps of greater importance and clinical usefulness is to determine whether a patient's hypermobility is related to any joint instability (ie, patient's report of giving way, weakness, unable to control into the hypermobile range during activity). The association between knee hypermobility and instability is yet to be established and warrants future research.

Non-Caucasians had a higher prevalence and extent of generalized joint hypermobility than Caucasians, which is consistent with the majority of existing research and current clinical understanding.<sup>8</sup> Even using a Beighton cut-off method limiting generalized joint hypermobility prevalence across a whole cohort to the most mobile 5%, non-Caucasians were over-represented with 17.4% exhibiting generalized joint hypermobility. Although this was an expected result as ethnicity is a known factor that influences the prevalence of joint hypermobility,<sup>8</sup> being over 3 times higher was somewhat unanticipated. Of interest, a recent study of 1987 Americans has challenged the aforementioned notion, finding lower prevalence of generalized joint hypermobility among African-Americans than Caucasians when using the  $\geq$ 4/9 Beighton criterion.<sup>30</sup> Discrepancies between these findings warrant future research into the prevalence and effects of hypermobility in specific ethnic groups.

Non-Caucasians reported significantly better mean self-reported knee health than Caucasians across all KOOS domains (Table 2). This finding is contrary to the American study that found a higher proportion of middle-to-older-aged African-Americans reporting knee symptoms compared to Caucasians.<sup>30</sup> Two possible explanations are that our study included various ethnicities (typical of multicultural Australia) confounding the influence of specific ethnicities on joint hypermobility and therefore comparability to other studies, and/or that our non-Caucasian cohort is younger than our Caucasian group. Nonetheless, the statistical significance found here may have little clinical significance since the accepted minimal perceptible clinical change for the KOOS is between 8-10,<sup>27</sup> and our largest difference was 4.5/100 in the KOOS QoL measure.

Females had a higher prevalence of both generalized joint and knee-specific hypermobility. This is consistent with most studies on the epidemiology of joint mobility between genders.<sup>14,15,17</sup>

This study established novel knee extension range cut-off values to identify knee-specific hypermobility across the adult lifespan. For example, both male and female participants aged 18-49 years would be considered to have knee-specific hypermobility if they demonstrated knee extension range of 6° or more (Table 3). These clinically applicable cut-offs adhere to the recent consensus that those who have knee-specific hypermobility must demonstrate a statistically extreme knee extension range with respect to their age and gender.<sup>23,32</sup> In this study, we identified those participants whose knee extension range places them over the 95th percentile.<sup>24</sup> Such a methodology standardizes the proportion of people with joint hypermobility and can benefit the conduct of a priori power analyses in future studies. The cut-off ranges to identify knee-specific hypermobility decreased with age regardless of gender. Clinically, the criterion to define knee-specific hypermobility has been set at  $>10^{\circ}$  as evidenced by its incorporation into the Beighton scoring system. As our proposed extension cut-off values for adults, regardless of age or gender, were all below 10°, the findings of this study suggest that the current clinical criterion grossly underestimates the prevalence of knee-specific hypermobility and therefore generalized joint hypermobility. We recommend clinicians take caution in using a strict >10° knee extension as a measure of hypermobility.

Novel knee extension range cut-off values established in this study, along with previously developed age- and gender-specific Beighton score cut-offs,<sup>23</sup> may be more useful approaches to identify knee-specific hypermobility and generalized joint hypermobility. These values could better assist the identification of ethnic and

gender differences in joint hypermobility. Upon validation of such

methodology, future studies should adopt the use of the age- and gender-specific knee extension range cut-off values, as it may better assist clinicians in assessing and ultimately addressing knee mobilityrelated disorders.

A key strength of this study lies in the use of a large representative sample of the Australian population. The use of age- and gender-specific Beighton score<sup>23</sup> and knee extension range criteria to identify the most hypermobile 5% of participants with generalized joint hypermobility and knee-specific hypermobility respectively is another fundamental strength of this study. Hypermobility may contribute significantly to musculoskeletal complaints,<sup>8</sup> regardless of age. The use of age- and gender-specific cut-off values maintains the sensitivity in discerning hypermobility in older populations with naturally reduced joint mobility;<sup>23</sup> such cut-offs accurately identify hypermobile individuals across the lifespan and permit us to better investigate the relationship of joint hypermobility with mobilityrelated musculoskeletal disorders. Further, this study adopted the KOOS as its primary outcome measure. A patient-report measure, the KOOS has demonstrated good validity, test-retest reliability, responsiveness to clinical change,<sup>33</sup> assesses knee-related QoL,<sup>27</sup> and provides patient insight in domains of health that cannot be assessed clinically or radiographically.

The use of a cross-sectional study design limits our ability to observe the temporal relationship between joint mobility and knee health, nor can it attribute causality. The validity of the Beighton score has only been established in a single Caucasian pediatric population;<sup>34</sup> its use in the adult population has yet to be validated. Despite the relatively large sample of metropolitan Australians, results of this study may only be relevant to adults who self-identify as healthy. There was a higher proportion of non-Caucasians in the younger compared to the older groups. Ethnicity was not stratified in the recruitment to the study and it is possible that the higher prevalence of generalized joint hypermobility and knee-specific hypermobility in non-Caucasians was confounded by age. Future studies of this type would benefit from such stratification and prevalence estimates in specific ethnicities. Lastly, this study cannot fully determine the lack of association between self-reported knee health and knee-specific hypermobility as knee hypermobility in the coronal and horizontal planes were not investigated.

In conclusion, neither generalized joint nor knee-specific hypermobility were associated with self-reported knee health in this large Australian sample, with the exception of males with knee-specific hypermobility who reported lower knee health in the QoL KOOS domain. This suggests that joint hypermobility is not a significant determinant of knee health. Given this, our recommendation for health professionals is to carefully weigh and address all determinants of knee joint health including, but not limited to, lower limb strength and control, biomechanics/alignment and psychosocial factors, and not to overly attribute joint hypermobility to presenting knee symptoms and dysfunction.<sup>35,36</sup> The cut-off scores for knee-specific hypermobility established here indicate that previous prevalence estimates of knee hypermobility in adults are indeed under-estimations.

#### CHAN ET AL.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia – Centre for Research Excellence and Neuromuscular Disorders (#1031893) and the Australian Podiatry Education and Research Foundation. The authors would also like to thank the volunteers who participated in the 1000 Norms Project.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors acknowledge they have contributed significantly, were involved in the conceptualization and methodology of the study and are in agreement with the content of the manuscript. Participants recruitment and data collection were conducted by Dr Marnee McKay and Dr Jennifer Baldwin. Dr Cliffton Chan, A/Prof Leslie Nicholson and Haiwei Qi were responsible for writing the original draft and formal analysis, but Dr Marnee McKay, Dr Jennifer Baldwin and Prof Joshua Burns played a role in reviewing the manuscript. Prof Joshua Burns was responsible for funding acquisition.

#### ORCID

Cliffton Chan (D) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3259-1242

#### REFERENCES

- Peat G, McCarney R, Croft P. Knee pain and osteoarthritis in older adults: a review of community burden and current use of primary health care. Ann Rheum Dis. 2001;60(2):91-97.
- 2. Hunter DJ, Schofield D, Callander E. The individual and socioeconomic impact of osteoarthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. 2014;10(7):437-441.
- Urwin M, Symmons D, Allison T, et al. Estimating the burden of musculoskeletal disorders in the community: the comparative prevalence of symptoms at different anatomical sites, and the relation to social deprivation. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 1998;57(11):649-655.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Chronic musculoskeeltal conditions: Osteoarthritis. [Internet]. Canberra ACT: Australian Government; 2019 [updated 2020 Aug 25; cited 2020 Nov 9]. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/chronic-muscu loskeletal-conditions/osteoarthritis
- Winkelstein BA. Mechanisms of central sensitization, neuroimmunology & injury biomechanics in persistent pain: implications for musculoskeletal disorders. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2004;14(1):87-93.
- Dieppe PA, Lohmander LS. Pathogenesis and management of pain in osteoarthritis. *Lancet*. 2005;365(9463):965-973.
- Castori M, Tinkle B, Levy H, Grahame R, Malfait F, Hakim A. A framework for the classification of joint hypermobility and related conditions. *Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet*. 2017;175(1):148-157.
- Beighton P, Grahame R, Bird HA. Hypermobility of Joints, 4th edn. London, UK: Springer; 2012.
- Kirk JA, Ansell BM, Bywaters EG. The hypermobility syndrome. Musculoskeletal complaints associated with generalized joint hypermobility. Ann Rheum Dis. 1967;26(5):419-425.
- Scott D, Bird HA, Wright V. Joint laxity leading to osteoarthrosis. *Rheumatology*. 1979;18(3):167-169.
- Bird HA, Tribe CR, Bacon PA. Joint hypermobility leading to osteoarthrosis and chondrocalcinosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 1978;37(3):203-211.
- Junge T, Henriksen P, Hansen S, Østengaard L, Golightly YM, Juul-Kristensen B. Generalised joint hypermobility and knee joint hypermobility: prevalence, knee joint symptoms and healthrelated quality of life in a Danish adult population. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2019;22(2):288-296.
- 13. Golightly YM, Hannan MT, Nelson AE, et al. Relationship of joint hypermobility with ankle and foot radiographic osteoarthritis

and symptoms in a community-based cohort. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(4):538-544.

- 14. Al-Rawi Z, Nessan AH. Joint hypermobility in patients with chondromalacia patellae. Br J Rheumatol. 1997;36(12):1324-1327.
- Gürer G, Bozbas GT, Tuncer T, Unubol AI, Ucar UG, Memetoglu OI. Frequency of joint hypermobility in Turkish patients with knee osteoarthritis: a cross sectional multicenter study. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2018;21(10):1787-1792.
- Dolan AL, Hart DJ, Doyle DV, Grahame R, Spector TD. The relationship of joint hypermobility, bone mineral density, and osteoarthritis in the general population: the Chingford Study. *J Rheumatol.* 2003;30(4):799-803.
- Chen HC, Shah SH, Li YJ, Stabler TV, Jordan JM, Kraus VB. Inverse association of general joint hypermobility with hand and knee osteoarthritis and serum cartilage oligomeric matrix protein levels. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2008;58(12):3854-3864.
- Gullo TR, Golightly YM, Flowers P, et al. Joint hypermobility is not positively associated with prevalent multiple joint osteoarthritis: a cross-sectional study of older adults. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2019;20(1):165.
- McKay MJ, Baldwin JN, Ferreira P, et al. 1000 Norms Project: protocol of a cross-sectional study cataloging human variation. *Physiotherapy*. 2016;102(1):50-56.
- Remvig L, Jensen DV, Ward RC. Epidemiology of general joint hypermobility and basis for the proposed criteria for benign joint hypermobility syndrome: review of the literature. *J Rheumatol.* 2007;34(4):804-809.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2071.0 Reflecting a Nation: Stories from the 2011 Census, 2012-2013 [Internet]. Canberra ACT: Australian Government; 2017 [updated 2017 June 22; cited 2019 Sept 01]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@. nsf/Lookup/2071.0main+features902012-2013
- Juul-Kristensen B, Røgind H, Jensen DV, Remvig L. Inter-examiner reproducibility of tests and criteria for generalized joint hypermobility and benign joint hypermobility syndrome. *Rheumatology*. 2007;46(12):1835-1841.
- Singh H, McKay M, Baldwin J, et al. Beighton scores and cut-offs across the lifespan: cross-sectional study of an Australian population. *Rheumatology*. 2017;56(11):1857-1864.
- Fairbank JC, Pynsent PB, Phillips H. Quantitative measurements of joint mobility in adolescents. Ann Rheum Dis. 1984;43(2):288-294.
- Roos EM, Roos HP, Lohmander LS, Ekdahl C, Beynnon BD. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)—development of a self-administered outcome measure. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 1998;28(2):88-96.
- Luyten FP, Bierma-Zeinstra S, Dell'Accio F, et al. Toward classification criteria for early osteoarthritis of the knee. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2018;47(4):457-463.

- 27. Roos EM, Lohmander LS. The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): from joint injury to osteoarthritis. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2003;1(1):1-8.
- 28. Mukaka MM. A guide to appropriate use of correlation coefficient in medical research. *Malawi Med J.* 2012;24(3):69-71.
- 29. Shiue KY, Cleveland RJ, Schwartz TA, et al. Is the association between knee injury and knee osteoarthritis modified by the presence of general joint hypermobility? *Osteoarthr Cartilage Open*. 2020;2(2):e100045.
- Flowers PP, Cleveland RJ, Schwartz TA, et al. Association between general joint hypermobility and knee, hip, and lumbar spine osteoarthritis by race: a cross-sectional study. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2018;20(1):76.
- Hakim AJ, Grahame R. A simple questionnaire to detect hypermobility: an adjunct to the assessment of patients with diffuse musculoskeletal pain. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2003;57(3):163-166.
- Jansson A, Saartok T, Werner S, Renström P. General joint laxity in 1845 Swedish school children of different ages: age-and genderspecific distributions. *Acta Paediatr.* 2004;93(9):1202-1206.
- Collins NJ, Prinsen CA, Christensen R, Bartels EM, Terwee CB, Roos EM. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): systematic review and meta-analysis of measurement properties. Osteoarthr Cartilage. 2016;24(8):1317-1329.
- Smits-Engelsman B, Klerks M, Kirby A. Beighton score: a valid measure for generalized hypermobility in children. J Pediatr. 2011;158(1):119-123.
- Crossley KM, van Middelkoop M, Barton CJ, Culvenor AG. Rethinking patellofemoral pain: prevention, management and long-term consequences. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2019;33(1):48-65.
- 36. Van Tunen JA, Dell'Isola A, Juhl C, et al. Association of malalignment, muscular dysfunction, proprioception, laxity and abnormal joint loading with tibiofemoral knee osteoarthritis-a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2018;19(1):1-15.

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Chan C, Qi HH, Baldwin JN, McKay MJ, Burns J, Nicholson LL. Joint hypermobility and its association with self-reported knee health: A cross-sectional study of healthy Australian adults. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:687–693. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14096

-WILEY

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

## Frequency of Growth Differentiation Factor 5 rs143383 and asporin D-repeat polymorphisms in patients with hand and knee osteoarthritis in Kurdistan province, Iran

Nasrin Moghimi<sup>1</sup> | Sherko Nasseri<sup>2</sup> | Farzad Ghafouri<sup>1</sup> | Ali Jalili<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Cancer & Immunology Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

<sup>2</sup>Cellular and Molecular Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

#### Correspondence

Ali Jalili, Cancer and Immunology Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran. Email: Ali130@gmail.com, Ali.Jalili@muk.ac.ir

#### **Funding information**

Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Grant/Award Number: 1394.87

#### Abstract

**Aim:** Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common chronic joint disorder, resulting from the breakdown of joint cartilage. It occurs in the knees, hands, and hips, leading to pain, stiffness, inflammation, and swelling.

**Methods:** In this study, 100 hand and knee OA patients, meeting the American College of Rheumatology criteria were included in the case group, and 100 healthy individuals were allocated to the control group. Blood samples were collected from the participants. After DNA extraction, genotyping was carried out for *GDF5* rs143383 C/T polymorphism by allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (ASPCR) and for D-repeat alleles of asporin (ASPN) by conventional PCR assay.

**Results:** The results showed that the frequency of the D14 allele of ASPN was significantly higher than other alleles in the case group (P = .0001). Also, the frequency of the D14 allele among women was significantly higher than in men (P = .004). Moreover, the frequency of the TT allele in *GDF5* rs143383 C/T polymorphism was significantly higher than the CC and CT alleles in the case group, compared with the control group (P = .001). A significant difference was found between the TT allele and other alleles in female and male patients compared with the control group (P = .02). **Conclusions:** The D14 allele of the ASPN gene and TT allele of the *GDF5* gene (rs143383 + 104T/C) are associated with hand and knee OA in the Kurdish population, indicating that these alleles could be risk factors for OA, at least in our populations.

#### KEYWORDS

asporin, growth/differentiation factor-5, osteoarthritis, polymorphism

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative joint disease, which occurs when the cartilage or cushion between the joints breaks down, leading to pain, stiffness, and swelling. OA is characterized by the degeneration of articular cartilage.<sup>1</sup> Several factors lead to the development of OA, including excess weight, injury, aging, and

hormonal, environmental, and genetic factors, which are recognized as major risk factors for OA.<sup>2</sup> This disease occurs when mechanical stress and inflammatory mediators cause an imbalance in anabolic and catabolic processes of carcinogenesis.<sup>3,4</sup>

Symptomatic knee OA occurs in 10% of men and 13% of women aged 60 years or above.<sup>5</sup> Knee OA is a common condition in Asian countries. In Iran, the incidence of knee OA is estimated at 19.4%

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

in rural areas and 15.3% in urban regions; also, it is more prevalent among women than men.<sup>4</sup> The prevalence of hand OA in the Community-Oriented Program for Control of Rheumatic Diseases (COPCORD) study was reported to be 2.66%.<sup>6</sup> The prevalence of knee and hand OA in the COPCORD study was 18.8% and 3.9% in Sanandaj, Iran, respectively.<sup>7</sup> There are many risk factors for knee OA in different communities, such as obesity, aging, race, bone density, hormonal imbalance, occupation, and housing status.<sup>8</sup> Symptomatic hand OA has both clinical and public health aspects. The prevalence of OA in the general population of adults ranges from 3% to 8% in different countries.<sup>9,10</sup> Gender, race, education, obesity, history of a hand injury, and occupational hand activities are the six known or potential risk factors for OA of the hands.<sup>5,11</sup>

Genomic studies are used to determine the possible relationships between genetic variants and diseases. They mainly focus on the identification of polymorphisms associated with the disease.<sup>12,13,14</sup> Growth/differentiation factor 5 (GDF5) is a member of the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) superfamily and is closely related to bone morphogenetic protein. It plays an important role in the morphogenesis of tendons, ligaments, and bones.<sup>12-15</sup> It also contributes to the regulation of chondrogenesis significantly. GDF5 mutation may be correlated with abnormal joint development, the progression of OA, and various forms of chondrodysplasia, joint symphalangism, and brachydactyly type C.<sup>16,17</sup> The GDF5 gene is expressed in both normal and osteoarthritic articular cartilages.<sup>7,15</sup> The 5' untranslated region (UTR) of rs143383 + 104T/C GDF5 core promoter is a single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), contributing to transcriptional activity.<sup>18</sup> T allele, a non-ancestral allele related to OA susceptibility, is associated with a decrease in transcriptional activity.<sup>16</sup> Moreover, studies on the Japanese and Han Chinese populations have shown the association of T allele with knee OA.<sup>3,19</sup> However, some reports from Spain and Greece have reported inconsistent results, and some found no significant association.<sup>20</sup> In a recent meta-analysis of the association between SNP rs143383 and OA, the association between rs-143383 SNP and OA was confirmed globally.<sup>13,21</sup>

Recently, it has been reported that a protein from an extracellular matrix, called asporin (ASPN), is associated with OA of the hands and knees.<sup>22,23</sup> The ASPN gene decodes proteins in cartilaginous cells. These proteins can regulate cartilage formation by attaching to TGF- $\beta_1$  and inhibiting its expression.<sup>24</sup> ASPN has a sequence of aspartic acid (D) and residual (D-repeat) strands in the N-terminal region of adult proteins.<sup>25</sup> Previous studies have shown that ASPN can bind to TGF- $\beta_1$  and interfere with type II receptors of TGF- $\beta$ , thereby inhibiting TGF-β/Smad signaling and reducing chondrogenesis.<sup>26,27</sup> The repeat poly-mutation (D-repeat) in ASPN was first defined in 2005 as a knee OA-related polymorphism.<sup>28</sup> The D14 allele of ASPN was found in patients with knee OA. The inhibition of TGF- $\beta_1$  in the D14 allele is greater than the D13 allele, which is recognized as a common allele.<sup>29</sup> In Japanese and Chinese populations, the D14 allele was associated with the risk of knee OA, whereas the D13 allele was found to be a protective agent against OA in some Japanese people.<sup>30,31</sup> Although the D15 allele is considered a risk factor in the

Rheumatic Diseases

Greek population,<sup>32</sup> a study by Jazayeri et al, conducted in Tehran, Iran on patients with knee OA, showed that the D15 allele was a risk factor for knee OA only in women.<sup>33</sup>

🐵 🛞 – WILEY

Research shows that the *GDF5* gene and *ASPN* are related to knee OA. Considering the lack of research on this relationship and evidence of significant differences between ethnic groups, the present study aimed to investigate and compare *GDF5* and *ASPN* polymorphisms in patients with hand and knee OA and a healthy group of individuals, referred to the Department of Rheumatology of Tohid Hospital, Sanandaj, Iran, in 2016.

#### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Sample preparation

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of Tohid Hospital (ethics code: IR.MUk.REC.1394.87). Both the control and case groups belonged to the same ethnic group and geographical area. In this case-control study, the frequency of polymorphisms was investigated in patients, who were referred to the rheumatology clinic of Tohid Hospital in 2016 and volunteered to participate in the study. Patients who were referred to the rheumatology clinic and diagnosed with both hand and knee OA were included in the case group, whereas those who were referred to the hospital without OA were allocated to the control group. The two groups were matched in terms of age and sex.

A total of 100 patients, who met the American College of Rheumatology criteria for hand and knee OA were included in the case group, and 100 healthy individuals were included in the control group. Overall, 50 participants were male and 150 were female. The control group was selected from among individuals who did not show any symptoms of OA and all of them we clinically examined by our colleague (NM), who is Board-certified in Internal Medicine and Rheumatology. There was no parental or blood relationship between cases and controls.

Inclusion criteria for the case group were as follows: (a) age above 50 years; (b) clinical and radiological symptoms (eg, chronic pain and motor limitations); and (c) knee or hand OA. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (a) history of the inflammatory articular disease; (b) postinfection or post-traumatic arthritis; (c) joint dysplasia; (d) congenital anomaly; (e) crystallopathy; (f) malignancy; and (g) vascular necrosis.

The sample size, including 100 cases and 100 controls (a total of 200 individuals), was obtained based on the following formula considering  $p_A = 0.26$  and  $p_B = 0.15$  considering  $\alpha = 0.05$  and  $\beta = 0.2$  people and a total of 200 people.

$$n_{\rm A} = n_{\rm B} = \frac{(Z_{1-\alpha/2} + Z_{1-\beta})^2 [p_{\rm A}(1-p_{\rm A}) + p_{\rm B}(1-p_{\rm B})]}{(p_{\rm A} - p_{\rm B})^2}$$

where, nA= sample size of case group, nB= sample size of control group, Z $\alpha$ =Type 1 error, Z $\beta$ =TYPE 2 error, P= Prevalence of OA in population.

Rheumatic Diseases

The power association was calculated by http://osse.bii.a-star. edu.sg/. Based on minor frequencies of T allele in both the case (26%) and the control (6%) groups, the sample size of 200 (100 samples for each), and the desired 5% significant level, the power was 97.6%.

A total of 200 peripheral blood samples were collected from the participants, and DNA was extracted using a Qiagen extraction kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA). The *GDF5* rs143383 C/T polymorphism was examined using allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (ASPCR), and the D-repeat allele of ASPN was determined by conventional PCR assay. The demographic information, including age, education, occupational status, body mass index, and sex, are summarized in Table 1.

#### 2.2 | DNA extraction

DNA extraction was carried out for each sample. By centrifuging 2 mL of whole blood, a leukocyte cell pellet was obtained from the buffy coat samples. This cell pellet was used for DNA extraction. The Qiagen DNA blood mini-kit (Qiagen) was used to collect genomic DNA, according to the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA purity and concentration were determined using a Synergy 2 multi-mode reader (BioTek<sup>®</sup> Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA).

#### 2.3 | Conventional PCR assay

For the assessment of repeat polymorphisms of *ASPN* gene, according to a study by Mustafa et al,<sup>34</sup> the exact number of microsatellites and D-repeats was determined, using a forward primer

TABLE 1	Demographic characteristics of the patients with OA
and control	individuals

Variables	Classification dimensions	Frequency	Percent
Age, y	50-60	81	40.5
	61-70	79	39.5
	More than 70	40	20
Education	Literature	81	40.5
	Elementary education	39	19.5
	Diploma	69	34.5
	University education	11	5.5
Jop	Unemployed	104	52
	Worker	45	22.5
	Business	41	10
	Retired	10	15.5
Body mass	Less than 25	31	15.5
index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	25-30	82	41
	More than 30	87	43.5
Sex	Male	50	25
	Female	150	75

(5'-GCTTTGTGCTCTGCCCAAACCC-3') and a reverse primer (5'-CACTGACATCCAAATGGACAC-3'5).

#### 2.4 | ASPCR assay

The ASPCR method was performed according to a study by Yaku et al.<sup>35</sup> In their study, detectable amounts of PCR products were obtained when primers, forming a single or two mismatch pairings at the 3' end, were used. Their results indicated that a primer with a 3'-terminal nucleotide, which identifies the SNP nucleotide and the next two nucleotides forming mismatch pairings with the template sequence, can be used as an allele-specific primer to eliminate the pseudo-positive problem. In the present study, we designed three primer sets of C and T alleles for the identification of the rs143383 polymorphism (Figure 1A), according to a study by Liu et al.<sup>36</sup> We selected two allele-specific primers that were the most effective primers in detecting rs143383 polymorphism in two separate PCR tubes for each C allele and T allele (Figure 1B).

Briefly, after DNA extraction, forward and reverse primers were used in two separate PCR tubes for each sample to reproduce a 197bp fragment of the *GDF-5* gene. Next, ASPCR primers were used to reproduce 109-bp fragments for each T or C allele (Table 2). Each allele-specific primer was designed according to the specificitymatching principle at the 3' end of candidate primers (Figure 1). In this study, the  $\beta$ -actin gene was used as a positive control. Also, gradient PCR was performed to determine the optimum annealing temperature for each allele-specific primer. After PCR amplification, electrophoresis was performed on a 2% agarose gel. The interpretation and comparison of the results were performed in SPSS version 20 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

#### 2.5 | Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed in SPSS version 20 using chi-squared and Fisher's exact tests. The odds ratio and its corresponding 95% confidence interval were calculated where necessary. The unpaired *t* test was used for continuous data and chi-squared test was used for categorical data. Allele frequencies, odds ratio, and the probability for Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium were estimated and analyzed as previously described.<sup>37</sup>

#### 3 | RESULTS

The mean age of the participants was  $59.49 \pm 13.08$  years in the case group and  $57.21 \pm 11.93$  years in the control group. In terms of age, the case and control groups were classified into three groups of 50-60 years (40.5%), 61-70 years (39.5%), and  $\geq$ 70 years (20%). In terms of literacy, 40.5% of the participants were illiterate; 19.5% had elementary education, 34.5% had a high-school diploma, and the rest (5.5%) had a university education. Regarding occupation, 52% of

FIGURE 1 The ASPCR method for detecting GDF5 rs143383 + 104T/C polymorphism. (A) The designed allelespecific primer based on the study by Liu et al.<sup>37</sup> There were three sets of primers, and each primer was tested for differentiation power between T and C alleles by gradient PCR ( $G=\pm 3C^{\circ}$ ). (B) The sequence of allele-specific primers was selected and used with a mismatch in the third nucleotide at the 3' end (G  $\rightarrow$  T). (C) The 3% agarose gel electrophoresis in ASPCR; each patient had two PCR tubes, each containing one form of rs143383 polymorphism (C or T). Right to left: 100 bp ladder in patient C undergoing conventional PCR (197 bp); only C allele (109 bp) was reproduced (CC genotype). Patient B undergoing conventional PCR (197 bp); both C allele (109 bp) and T allele (109 bp) were reproduced (TC genotype). Patient A undergoing conventional PCR (197 bp); only T allele (109 bp) was reproduced (TT genotype)





TABLE 2The sequence of primers for<br/>allele-specific polymerase chain reaction<br/>(PCR)

Primer name	Primer sequences	Melting temperature	PCR product length
PCR primer	F: 5'-AGCACAGGCAGCATTACG-3' R: 5'-CCAGTCCCATAGTGGAAATG-3'	TM = 58 C	197 bp
Allele-specific PCR primer	F: 5-CAGGAGAAAGGGGGGCGTTT-3 F: 5-CAGGAGAAAGGGGGGCGTTC-3	TM = 59 TM = 62	109 bp

TABLE 3	Relationship bety	veen asporin polvn	norphic alleles in	patients with hand	and knee osteoarthritis

The CC allele		The TC allele		The TT allele		
Aspirin allele	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value
OA patients vs controls	0.19 (0.52-1.01)	.22	0.89 (0.52-1.12)	.21	0.47 (0.13-0.99)	.0001
Female patients vs female controls	0.77 (0.34-1.22)	.47	0.66 (0.44-1.09)	.33	0.69 (0.43-0.83)	.004
Male patients vs male controls	1.09 (0.38-1.27)	.55	0.29 (0.09-0.43)	.18	0.38 (0.16-0.73)	.27

Abbreviations: CI, confidence intervals; OA, osteoarthritis; OR, odds ratio.

the participants were unemployed, 22.5% were simple workers, 10% were business people, and 15.5% were retired (Table 1).

The D13, D14, and D15 alleles of the *ASPN* gene and also rs143383 + 104T/C polymorphism of the *GDF5* gene were investigated in hand and knee OA patients in the case group and compared with the control group. Based on the results, the frequency

of rs143383 + 104T/C *GDF5* and *ASPN* polymorphisms in the control group was not significantly different between men and women. There was a significant difference between the D14 allele and other alleles (P = .0001). There was also a significant difference between the D14 allele and other alleles in female patients, compared with women in the control group (P = .004; Table 3). The D14 alleles of Rheumatic Diseases

ASPN were significantly different between the OA patients and the control group (P = .0001). We also observed that the frequency of this allele was significantly higher in the female and male patents (P = .004). However, the D13 and D15 alleles had no significant differences in total frequency or in female and male comparison groups (P > .05).

In this study, we aimed to introduce the ASPCR method as a fast, low-cost, and precise method for detecting rs143383 + 104T/C GDF5 polymorphism as an important risk factor for OA of the hands and knees, using a primer (5'-CAGGAGAAAGGGGGCGTTY-3'). The present results revealed that the frequency of the TT allele of rs143383 polymorphism was significantly higher among patients with hand and knee OA in the case group, compared with the control group. The frequencies of genotype in our patients were TC 34%, TT 52%, and CC 14%; whereas these frequencies were TC 46%, TT 12%, and CC 42% in the control individuals. The total allele frequencies of T allele in patients and controls were 69% and 33%, respectively. Moreover, the total frequency of C allele was 31% in the patient group and 67% in the control group. As shown in Table 4, in comparison with the control group, the difference of TT genotype, but not CC and CT, was significant in patients with OA (P = .001). Moreover, this association was not gender-dependent and the TT genotype frequency was significantly higher in both men and women of the case group than the control group (P < .05; Table 4).

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

The knee and hand OA is one of the most common articular diseases, and we have previously reported that the prevalence of knee OA and hand OA in the COPCORD study was 18.8% and 3.9% in Sanandaj, Iran, respectively.<sup>7</sup> Several factors, including age, obesity, race, genetics, and sex hormones, have been associated with knee OA, and factors, such as age, obesity, excessive use of joints, and physical activity, have significant effects on hand OA. Previous studies have shown that ASPN, a leucine-rich repeat protein, plays a major role in the pathogenesis of OA.<sup>28,38</sup> The *ASPN* gene also regulates the production of an extracellular cartilage protein, belonging to the leucine-rich proteoglycan family.<sup>39</sup> It has a variable number of aspartic acid residues in the N-terminal end. This enriched protein (D-repeat) is guided by the microsatellite polymorphism.<sup>29</sup> It can also prevent the TGF- $\beta_1$  signaling pathway, which plays an essential role in nearly every aspect of cartilage formation and maintenance.<sup>22</sup>

In the present study, D13, D14, and D15 alleles of the ASPN gene were investigated in the case and control groups, and a significant correlation was found between the ASPN polymorphic alleles (D14) and knee/hand OA, compared with the control group (P = .0001). The ASPN gene alleles (D14) were significantly different in women (P = .004), whereas no significant difference was observed in men. In this regard, Kizawa et al reported a significant correlation between the aspartic acid repeat polymorphism (D14) and knee and hip OA.<sup>30</sup> Song et al found a significant relationship between ASPN D14 polymorphism and lumbar disk disease in Asians.<sup>40</sup> Mustafa et al, in a study investigating the alleles of aspartic acid (D allele) in white British people with OA, reported that the D13 allele was more common in the controls. They also found that the D14 allele was more common in male patients; this trend was only significant in men who had undergone hip replacement.<sup>34</sup>

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis revealed that there is a significant relationship between ASPN D14 polymorphism and knee OA.<sup>41</sup> Taipale et al reported that the carriage of the ASPN D15 allele is associated with the increased risk of symmetrical hand OA.<sup>22</sup> Moreover, the D14 repeat polymorphism of the ASPN gene was found to be associated with primary OA of the knees in a Mexican Mestizo population.<sup>42</sup> All of these studies are consistent with our study, showing that D14 alleles are associated with OA. However, the results of the present study, unlike the study by Mustafa et al,<sup>34</sup> showed that the frequency of D14 alleles was significantly different between female and male patients. In contrast to the results of our study, a study conducted in Iran by Jazayeri et al concluded that the D15 allele of the ASPN gene could only be considered a significant allele in women.<sup>33</sup> This is unlike the results of this study, which depicted that the frequency of the D14 allele in the ASPN gene was significantly higher in hand and knee OA patients, compared with the control group in the Kurdish population. Moreover, there was a significant relationship between the D14 allele and hand and knee OA in women. Although both of these studies were carried out in Iran, the results are not consistent. It seems that genetic and environmental differences of ethnic groups in Iran may play a role in the etiology of OA as a complex condition in a human outbred population.

 TABLE 4
 Relationship between GPF5 polymorphic alleles in patients with hand and knee osteoarthritis

	CC allele		TC allele		TT allele	
GDF-5 genotypes	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value
OA patients vs controls	0.53 (0.34-0.90)	.28	1.27 (0.59-1.49)	.46	0.34 (0.21-0.76)	.001
Female patients vs female controls	1.34 (0.68-1.57)	.53	0.83 (0.51-1.16)	.12	0.56 (0.23-0.93)	.001
Male patients vs male controls	0.89 (0.53-1.08)	.31	0.48 (0.29-0.73)	.27	0.49 (0.23-0.80)	.02

Abbreviations: CI, confidence intervals; OA, osteoarthritis; OR, odds ratio.

In the current study, we also investigated the rs143383 + 104T/C polymorphism of the GDF5 gene, as an important risk factor for hand and knee OA. This gene accounts for a wide range of skeletal disorders in humans.<sup>43</sup> However, Daans et al, by studying a Gdf5(Bp-J/+) mouse model, suggested that the decreased level of GDF5 in mice might contribute to OA through different mechanisms, including altered loading and subchondral bone changes.<sup>44</sup> On the other hand, studies by Miyamoto et al on Chinese and Japanese populations,<sup>18</sup> Southam et al on a European population,<sup>4</sup> and Valdes et al on a Caucasian population <sup>14</sup> found that the GDF5 rs143383 polymorphism was associated with OA of the knees. Several other studies have reported a significant relationship between the GDF5 gene and knee, hip, and hand OA.<sup>16,22,45</sup> In this study, we tried to present ASPCR as a fast, low-cost, and precise method for detecting GDF5 rs143383 + 104T/C polymorphism as an important risk factor for OA of the hands and knees, using a primer (5'-CAGGAGAAAGGGGGGCGTTY-3'). Our findings revealed that the frequency of the TT allele of rs143383 polymorphism was significantly higher in hand and knee OA patients (case group), compared with the control group. We also observed that there was a significant difference in both men and women of the case group, compared with the control group. Based on the results of the above-mentioned studies, the rs143383 polymorphism may play an important role in increasing the risk of knee and hand stiffness and OA in the Kurdish population, as has been reported in other populations in different parts of the world. It can be concluded that there is a significant association between the TT allele of GDF-5 rs143383 polymorphism and OA in Kurdish women. On the other hand, we have to consider that the sample size of our study was smaller than previous studies. Based on our knowledge, there are no studies showing the frequencies of these alleles in other ethnic groups in Iran, which needs to be further investigated. However, the population of this study seems to be homogeneous and the distribution between the case and control groups was in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Overall, this study is the first report of an association between the GDF5 polymorphism and OA of the hands and knees in the Kurdish population.

#### 5 | CONCLUSIONS

It seems that the TT allele of the *GDF5* gene and the D14 allele of the *ASPN* gene are alleles indicating risk for hand and knee OA in Kurdistan. The rs143383 polymorphism may play an important role in increasing the risk of knee and hand stiffness and OA in the Kurdish population. However, further studies enrolling a larger number of patients are required.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a grant (MUk.1394.87) from Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences to NM and AJ. The authors would like to thank Dr Khaled Rahmani and Mr Afshin Saaidi for statistical assistance.

#### CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The authors declare that they have no competing financial interest and nothing to disclose.

#### ORCID

Ali Jalili ២ https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1833-4928

#### REFERENCES

- Oliveria SA, Felson DT, Reed JI, Cirillo PA, Walker AM. Incidence of symptomatic hand, hip, and knee osteoarthritis among patients in a health maintenance organization. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 1995;38(8):1134-1141.
- Peach CA, Carr AJ, Loughlin J. Recent advances in the genetic investigation of osteoarthritis. *Trends Mol Med*. 2005;11(4):186-191.
- Miyamoto Y, Mabuchi A, Shi D, et al. A functional polymorphism in the 5 [variant prime] UTR of GDF5 is associated with susceptibility to osteoarthritis. *Nat Genet*. 2007;39(4):529.
- Southam L, Rodriguez-Lopez J, Wilkins JM, et al. An SNP in the 5'-UTR of GDF5 is associated with osteoarthritis susceptibility in Europeans and with in vivo differences in allelic expression in articular cartilage. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2007;16(18):2226-2232.
- Zhang Y, Jordan JM. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Clin Geriatr Med. 2010;26(3):355-369.
- Tehrani-Banihashemi A, Davatchi F, Jamshidi AR, Faezi T, Paragomi P, Barghamdi M. Prevalence of osteoarthritis in rural areas of Iran: a WHO-ILAR COPCORD study. Int J Rheum Dis. 2014;17(4):384-388.
- Davatchi F, Sandoughi M, Moghimi N, et al. Epidemiology of rheumatic diseases in Iran from analysis of four COPCORD studies. Int J Rheum Dis. 2016;19(11):1056-1062.
- Pfleger2 ADWB. Burden of major musculoskeletal conditions. 2000 -2010.
- Andrianakos AA, Kontelis LK, Karamitsos DG, et al. Prevalence of symptomatic knee, hand, and hip osteoarthritis in Greece. The ESORDIG study. J Rheumatol. 2006;33(12):2507-2513.
- Grotle M, Hagen KB, Natvig B, Dahl FA, Kvien TK. Prevalence and burden of osteoarthritis: results from a population survey in Norway. J Rheumatol. 2008;35(4):677-684.
- 11. Neogi T, Zhang Y. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis. *Rheum Dis Clin* North Am. 2013;39(1):1-19.
- Ayerst BI, Smith RA, Nurcombe V, Day AJ, Merry CL, Cool SM. Growth differentiation factor 5-mediated enhancement of chondrocyte phenotype is inhibited by heparin: implications for the use of heparin in the clinic and in tissue engineering applications. *Tissue Eng Part A*. 2017;23(7–8):275-292.
- Evangelou E, Chapman K, Meulenbelt I, et al. Large-scale analysis of association between GDF5 and FRZB variants and osteoarthritis of the hip, knee, and hand. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2009;60(6):1710-1721.
- 14. Tsezou A. Osteoarthritis year in review 2014: genetics and genomics. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2014;22(12):2017-2024.
- Valdes AM, Evangelou E, Kerkhof HJM, et al. The GDF5 rs143383 polymorphism is associated with osteoarthritis of the knee with genome-wide statistical significance. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2011;70(5):873-875.
- Capellini TD, Chen H, Cao J, et al. Ancient selection for derived alleles at a GDF5 enhancer influencing human growth and osteoarthritis risk. *Nat Genet*. 2017;49(8):1202-1210.
- Zhang R, Yao J, Xu P, et al. A comprehensive meta-analysis of association between genetic variants of GDF5 and osteoarthritis of the knee, hip and hand. *Inflamm Res.* 2015;64(6):405-414.
- Miyamoto Y, Mabuchi A, Shi D, et al. A functional polymorphism in the 5' UTR of GDF5 is associated with susceptibility to osteoarthritis. *Nat Genet*. 2007;39(4):529-533.

ILEY-Rheumatic Diseases

- Xiao JL, Meng JH, Gan YH, Zhou CY, Ma XC. Association of GDF5, SMAD3 and RUNX2 polymorphisms with temporomandibular joint osteoarthritis in female Han Chinese. J Oral Rehabil. 2015;42(7):529-536.
- Tsezou A, Satra M, Oikonomou P, Bargiotas K, Malizos KN. The growth differentiation factor 5 (GDF5) core promoter polymorphism is not associated with knee osteoarthritis in the Greek population. J Orthop Res. 2008;26(1):136-140.
- Garcia-Alvarado F, Rosales-Gonzalez M, Arellano-Perez-Vertti D, Espino-Silva P, Meza-Velazquez M, Ruiz-Flores P. Association between the SNP rs143383 + 104T/C in the GDF5 gene and the risk of knee osteoarthritis in a population from Northern Mexico-a casecontrol study. *Genet Test Mol Biomarkers*. 2018;22(8):503-506.
- Taipale M, Solovieva S, Leino-Arjas P, Mannikko M. Functional polymorphisms in ASPN and CILP together with joint loading predispose to hand osteoarthritis. *BMC Genet.* 2017;18(1):108.
- Zhu X, Jiang L, Lu Y, et al. Association of aspartic acid repeat polymorphism in the ASPN gene with osteoarthritis of knee, hip, and hand: A PRISMA-compliant meta-analysis. *Medicine*. 2018;97(12):e0200.
- 24. Maris P, Blomme A, Palacios AP, et al. ASPN is a fibroblast-derived TGF-beta1 inhibitor and a tumor suppressor associated with good prognosis in breast cancer. *PLoS Medicine*. 2015;12(9):e1001871.
- 25. Sobhan MR, Mehdinejad M, Jamaladini MH, Mazaheri M, Zare-Shehneh M, Neamatzadeh H. Association between aspartic acid repeat polymorphism of the ASPN gene and risk of knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2017;51(5):409-415.
- Loughlin J. Genetic indicators and susceptibility to osteoarthritis. Br J Sports Med. 2011;45(4):278-282.
- Wang W, Rigueur D, Lyons KM. TGFbeta signaling in cartilage development and maintenance. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today. 2014;102(1):37-51.
- Liu R, Yuan X, Yu J, et al. An updated meta-analysis of the ASPN gene D-repeat in knee osteoarthritis: effects of gender and ethnicity. J Orthop Surg Res. 2017;12(1):148.
- Shi D, Dai J, Zhu P, et al. Association of the D repeat polymorphism in the ASPN gene with developmental dysplasia of the hip: a casecontrol study in Han Chinese. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2011;13(1):R27.
- Kizawa H, Kou I, Iida A, et al. An aspartic acid repeat polymorphism in ASPN inhibits chondrogenesis and increases susceptibility to osteoarthritis. *Nat Genet*. 2005;37(2):138-144.
- Jiang Q, Shi D, Yi L, et al. Replication of the association of the aspartic acid repeat polymorphism in the ASPN gene with knee-osteoarthritis susceptibility in Han Chinese. J Hum Genet. 2006;51:1068.
- Kaliakatsos M, Tzetis M, Kanavakis E, et al. ASPN and knee osteoarthritis in patients of Greek origin. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2006;14(6):609-611.
- Jazayeri R, Qoreishi M, Hoseinzadeh HR, et al. Investigation of the ASPN gene polymorphism as a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis in Iran. Am J Orthop. 2013;42(7):313-316.
- Mustafa Z, Dowling B, Chapman K, Sinsheimer JS, Carr A, Loughlin J. Investigating the aspartic acid (D) repeat of ASPN as a risk factor

for osteoarthritis in a UK Caucasian population. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2005;52(11):3502-3506.

- Yaku H, Yukimasa T, Nakano S, Sugimoto N, Oka H. Design of allele-specific primers and detection of the human ABO genotyping to avoid the pseudopositive problem. *Electrophoresis*. 2008;29(20):4130-4140.
- Liu J, Huang S, Sun M, et al. An improved allele-specific PCR primer design method for SNP marker analysis and its application. *Plant Methods*. 2012;8(1):34.
- 37. Tawonsawatruk T, Changthong T, Pingsuthiwong S, Trachoo O, Sura T, Wajanavisit W. A genetic association study between growth differentiation factor 5 (GDF 5) polymorphism and knee osteoarthritis in Thai population. J Orthop Surg Res. 2011;6(1):47.
- Xu L, Li Z, Liu SY, Xu SY, Ni GX. ASPN and osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2015;23(6):933-939.
- Gruber HE, Ingram JA, Hoelscher GL, Zinchenko N, Hanley EN Jr, Sun Y. ASPN, a susceptibility gene in osteoarthritis, is expressed at higher levels in the more degenerate human intervertebral disc. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2009;11(2):R47.
- Song YQ, Cheung KM, Ho DW, et al. Association of the ASPN D14 allele with lumbar-disc degeneration in Asians. Am J Hum Genet. 2008;82(3):744-747.
- 41. Wang H, Zhang X, Wu W, Zhang M, Sam NB, Niu L. Association between the aspartic acid D-repeat polymorphisms and osteoarthritis susceptibility: an updated systematic review and meta-analyses. *Medicine*. 2018;97(45):e13163.
- 42. Gonzalez-Huerta NC, Borgonio-Cuadra VM, Zenteno JC, Cortes-Gonzalez S, Duarte-Salazar C, Miranda-Duarte A. D14 repeat polymorphism of the ASPN gene is associated with primary osteoarthritis of the knee in a Mexican Mestizo population. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2017;20(12):1935-1941.
- Masuya H, Nishida K, Furuichi T, et al. A novel dominant-negative mutation in Gdf5 generated by ENU mutagenesis impairs joint formation and causes osteoarthritis in mice. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2007;16(19):2366-2375.
- 44. Daans M, Luyten FP, Lories RJ. GDF5 deficiency in mice is associated with instability-driven joint damage, gait and subchondral bone changes. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2011;70(1):208-213.
- 45. Jiang D, Hao Z, Fan D, et al. Association between GDF5 +104T/C polymorphism and knee osteoarthritis in Caucasian and Asian populations: a meta-analysis based on case-control studies. J Orthop Surg Res. 2016;11(1):104.

How to cite this article: Moghimi N, Nasseri S, Ghafouri F, Jalili A. Frequency of Growth Differentiation Factor 5 rs143383 and asporin D-repeat polymorphisms in patients with hand and knee osteoarthritis in Kurdistan province, Iran. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:694–700. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14097

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14102

Revised: 15 February 2021

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Rheumatic Diseases**

#### 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

## Evaluating the strength of spinal and proximal girdle muscles in patients with axial spondyloarthritis: Correlation with activity, disability, and functionality

<sup>1</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Bezmialem Vakıf University, Istanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Cam and Sakura State Hospital, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinic, Istanbul, Turkey

#### Correspondence

Ozan Volkan Yurdakul, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Bezmialem Vakıf University, Adnan Menderes Blv. 34093 Fatih-Istanbul-Turkey. Email: yurdakul\_ozan@yahoo.com

#### Abstract

**Aim:** To compare the muscle strength of muscle groups in axial spondyloarthritis (axSpA) patients with the muscle powers of healthy volunteers and to examine the relationship of muscle strengths with disease activity, functionality, and disability. **Method:** One hundred males (50 axSpA, 50 healthy) were included in the study. Bath Disease Activity Index (BASDAI), Functional Index (BASFI), and Health Assessment Questionnaire-Disability Index (HAQ-DI) scores were recorded. The maximum (max) and mean cervical flexion, extension, lateral flexion (CF, CE, CLF), truncal flexion, extension (TF, TE), root joint flexion, extension, abduction, internal and external rotation (SF, SE, SAB, SIR and SER for the shoulder; HF, HE, HAB, HIR and HER for the hip) muscle strengths of the patients in both groups were measured by a handheld dynamometer. Total muscle strength (CT, TT, ST, HT) was found according to the sum of the max and mean values for each region.

**Results:** All muscle strengths were lower in the axSpA group compared to the healthy volunteers. The symptom duration was found to have a weak-moderate negative correlation with CT, TT, ST, HT and all individual muscle strengths except for the TE, CF, HIR, and HER. BASDAI and HAQ-DI had weak-moderate negative correlations with HIR and HER. BASFI had a weak-moderate negative correlation with cervical measurements, TE, TF, SF, SER, SIR, and hip measurements.

**Conclusion:** All muscle strengths were lower in patients compared to healthy volunteers. Strengthening specific muscle groups for the desired goal can be a reasonable strategy. The study is prospectively registered and available at www.clinicaltrials.gov (NCT04435860).

#### KEYWORDS

ankylosing spondylitis, handheld dynamometer, manual muscle tester, muscle power

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Int J Rheum Dis. 2021;24:701-710.

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/apl 701

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Axial spondyloarthritis (axSpA) refers to a group of systemic inflammatory rheumatic diseases that cause inflammation and stiffness, particularly in the spine, resulting in pain and limitations in physical efficiency as well as quality of life. The spine is primarily affected, and there is milder peripheral involvement.<sup>1</sup> Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) constitutes the prototype of these diseases.<sup>2</sup>

ILEY-International Journal of

Decreased muscle strength has been reported in axial SpA patients compared to healthy controls.<sup>3-5</sup> In addition, some studies have found a decreased lean mass and increased fat mass in axSpA patients compared to controls.<sup>5,6</sup> AxSpA is a disease in which abnormal proinflammatory cytokines are secreted by innate immune cells, and the overexpression of tumor necrosis factor and other cytokines in this disease may cause the inhibition of the pathways that lead to muscle hypertrophy as well as the activation of proteolytic pathways in the muscle.<sup>7-9</sup> According to another perspective, inflammation, pain, joint stiffness, and enthesitis observed in axSpA patients may lead to inactivity, fatigue, and muscle weakness. Inactivity can cause the instability of the joint and can affect the muscle strength secondarily.<sup>10</sup> In the literature, the studies on muscle involvement in this patient group have focused on sarcopenia.<sup>11,12</sup> Although muscle mass is a factor affecting muscle strength, there may be factors other than muscle mass, which affect muscle strength and, therefore, functionality in inflammatory rheumatic diseases. Therefore, measuring muscle mass may be insufficient for determining how the functionality of the patient is affected.

The European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) published physical activity recommendations for patients with SpA and focused on 4 types of activity (aerobics, flexibility, strengthening, and neuromotor exercises).<sup>13</sup> Also, physical activity is strongly recommended for active axSpA patients in the recommendations of the American College of Rheumatology (ACR)/Spondyloarthritis Research and Treatment Network (SPARTAN) in 2019.<sup>14</sup> The importance of exercise for axSpA in treatment is generally accepted; however, specific exercise programs have not been established for this disease in the literature. In these recommendations, there is no clear consensus on the most effective exercise type, the intensity and frequency of the exercises to be performed, and the muscle groups that should be addressed more intensely.<sup>15,16</sup>

In patients with SpA, the muscles, particularly the paravertebral muscles, are affected. Restriction in spinal movements is a well-known consequence of the disease process, and paravertebral muscle atrophy is observed due to this restriction.<sup>17,18</sup> In extraspinal involvement in this group of diseases, the root joints (shoulder and hip) are usually involved, and enthesitis is common in these joints.<sup>19</sup> Even though this involvement is assumed, no study has ever evaluated the strength of the main involved spine and root joint-related muscles neither separately nor in one study so far. In this context, our aim is to determine how the spine-related muscle groups and proximal girdle muscle strengths are affected in axSpA patients compared to healthy volunteers and to determine the relationship

YURDAKUL ET AL.

of the affected muscle groups with disease activity, functionality, and disability.

#### 2 | METHODS

#### 2.1 | Study design and patient enrollment

A total of 100 volunteers (50 with axSpA, 50 healthy), who presented to the outpatient clinic of the corresponding author, were included in this cross-sectional study. The study was approved by the institutional ethics committee (No: 08/115), and written informed consent was obtained from the participants. The study was carried out per the "Declaration of Helsinki, Ethical Principles for medical research involving human subjects." The study is prospectively registered and available at www.clinicaltrials.gov from 17 June, 2020 (ID: NCT04435860). Inclusion criteria for the axSpA group were as follows: (a) having been diagnosed with axSpA according to the 2010 criteria of the Assessment for Spondyloarthritis International Society (ASAS) (1); (b) to be of the male gender; (c) to be aged  $\geq$  18. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (a) presence of severe cardiac/ pulmonary/renal disease; (b) accompanying fibromyalgia; (c) severe psychiatric disorder; (d) other diseases that may cause a restriction in the spine, pelvic, and shoulder girdle; (e) myopathy, neuropathy, and radiculopathy that may cause deficits in muscle strength; (f) use of high-dose corticosteroids; (g) endocrinological disorder (such as thyroid, parathyroid disorder); (h) malignancy. The control group was composed of healthy volunteers who did not meet the exclusion criteria. Since there was no similar study to the present study, effect sizes were calculated based on the data after the preliminary analysis of 10 patients for each group. A minimum of 50 patients was considered sufficient for each group (for maximum truncal extension strength [TE<sub>max</sub>]), with 99% power, 0.91 standard effect size, and .05 significance. TE<sub>max</sub> was selected for presenting the most significant dispersion.

Demographic data of patients and healthy individuals, laboratory parameters of patients were recorded by the same physician, and patients filled out clinical assessment questionnaires. Then, muscle strength measurements were made by a different evaluator. All evaluations were made on the same day. Data analysis and interpretation were performed by a 3rd physician.

#### 2.2 | Clinical assessments

Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI), Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index (BASFI), and Health Assessment Questionnaire-Disability Index (HAQ-DI) obtained from the patients were recorded. The BASDAI consists of a 0 through 10 scale with 6 questions.<sup>20</sup> On the other hand, BASFI examines the functional status of the patient by Numerical Rating Scale with 10 questions. The mean of the 10 answers yields the BASFI score, which is a value between 0 and 10.<sup>21</sup> A worsened patient condition was indicated with a higher Bath index. HAQ-DI is a 20-item questionnaire in which daily life activities are examined and is generally used in rheumatic diseases. The mean of the responses is calculated, and the total score varies between 0 and 3. A high score indicates a high level of disability.<sup>22</sup>

#### 2.3 | Muscle strength measurements

Muscle strength was measured with a manual muscle tester (Lafayette Instrument Company, Lafayette, IN, USA). This device can measure the maximum and the mean force in kilograms that can be applied in 10 seconds. The patients were asked to perform the desired movement with the maximum force they could apply for 10 seconds. To illustrate with an example, the supervisor described each movement on the patient once before the measurement and allowed the patient to rehearse. Next, the patient performed the movement. Measurements were made with 3 isometric contractions for each region, and there was a minimum of 30 seconds between measurements.<sup>23</sup> The maximum (max) and the mean value of 10 seconds were obtained for each measurement, and the highest of the 3 measurements was recorded. In order to determine the total max and mean muscle strength of the relevant joint region, the max and mean muscle strengths of all muscles in that region were summed up; thus, the HT, ST, TT, and CT values were determined. The mean of both sides was recorded in bilateral measurements, and the muscle strengths on the dominant side were tested in unilateral measurements.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases WILEY

Isometric muscle strength measurements of the cervical region were performed in a sitting position. The measurement cap of the dynamometer was placed in the middle of the forehead slightly above the eyebrows for CF, slightly above the external occipital protuberance for CE, and on the lateral aspect of the head above the ear for CLF<sup>23</sup> (Supplement 1). Isometric TF was measured by placing the patient in the supine position with the hip at 30 degrees and the knees in a straight position, and the measurement cap was placed on the sternum just below the suprasternal notch. Isometric TE was measured when the patient was in the prone position, with the hips and knees in the neutral position, and the measurement cap was placed at the level of the T4 vertebra<sup>24</sup> (Supplement 1). The measurement positions and methods, which were described by Katoh et al.,<sup>25</sup> were used for the measurements of the shoulder girdle, and the SF, SE, shoulder abduction (SAB), internal rotation (SIR) and external rotation (SER) values were obtained (Figure 1). The patient was placed in a sitting position with the hip and knee at 90 degrees, and the measurement cap was placed 5 cm above the patella on the anterior part of the distal thigh for HF. For HE, the measurement cap was placed 5 cm proximal to the knee behind the thigh when the patient was in the prone position. For hip abduction (HAB), the measurement was performed by placing the measurement cap on the lateral malleolus when the patient was in the supine position. For the internal rotation (HIR) and external rotation (HER) of the hip, the patient was placed in the prone position with the knees at 90 degrees of flexion. The cap was placed 5 cm proximal to the medial and lateral malleolus<sup>26</sup> (Supplement 2). The techniques described in the previous studies and proven for reliability with a handheld dynamometer were preferred for the measurements.



**FIGURE 1** Shoulder girdle measurements (A) flexion, (B) extension, (C) abduction, (D) internal rotation, (E) external rotation **a** (

#### 2.4 | Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis of the data was performed using the IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) v23.0 (Armonk, NY, USA). The data distribution was analyzed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The descriptive statistics of the data were presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (median [min-max]) for the continuous data and as frequency and percentage (n [%]) for categorical variables. In the comparison of 2 independent groups, the independent samples *t* test was used for normally distributed continuous data, and the Mann-Whitney *U* test was used for non-normally distributed continuous data. Pearson Chi-square and Fisher exact tests were used in the analysis of the categorical variables. Correlation analysis with Pearson correlation coefficient was used to determine the relationship between 2 independent variables in normally distributed

LEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

continuous data. The relationships were interpreted as strongly, moderately, weakly, and negligibly correlated when  $r \ge .70$ , r = .40-.69, r = .10-.39, and  $r \le .10$ , respectively.<sup>27</sup> The level of significance was determined as  $\alpha = .05$ .

#### 3 | RESULTS

The study included 50 volunteers with axSpA (19 with non-radiographic axSpA and 31 with AS) and 50 healthy volunteers. The mean age was  $39.88 \pm 11.85$  years for the axSpA group and  $39.4 \pm 10.52$  years for the control group. Body mass index (BMI) was  $25.95 \pm 4.66$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the patient group, while it was  $26.2 \pm 2.74$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the control group. The demographic data and the data of the patient and control groups are presented in Table 1. There was no

**TABLE 1**Demographic and clinicalcharacteristics of the study population

	axSpA (50)	Control (50)	
	Mean ± SD Median (min-max)/ n (%)	Mean ± SD Median (min-max)/ n (%)	P value
Age, y	39.88 ± 11.85	39.4 ± 10.52	.831(t)
	39 (18-68)	38 (20-67)	
Height, cm	176.2 ± 6.72	176.96 ± 5.65	.542(t)
	175 (162-189)	176 (167-187)	
Weight, kg	$80.58 \pm 15.27$	82.0 ± 9.1	.312(m)
	80 (50-123)	80 (63-103)	
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	25.95 ± 4.66	26.2 ± 2.74	.746(t)
	25.75 (17.3-37.65)	25.73 (19.02-31.1)	
Educational status			
Primary school	9 (18.0%)	9 (18.0%)	.594**
Secondary school	10 (20.0%)	5 (10.0%)	
High school	17 (34.0%)	16 (32.0%)	
University	12 (24.0%)	16 (32.0%)	
Postgraduate	2 (4.0%)	4 (8.0%)	
Hand dominancy			
Right	47 (94.0%)	46 (92.0%)	1**
Left	3 (6.0%)	4 (8.0%)	
Smoking at anytime			
No	32 (64.0%)	36 (72.0%)	.52*
Yes	18 (36.0%)	14 (28.0%)	
Alcohol consumption			
No	44 (88.0%)	43 (86.0%)	1*
Yes	6 (12.0%)	7 (14.0%)	
Exercise habit			
None	23 (46.0%)	27 (54.0%)	.676*
1-2/wk	15 (30.0%)	14 (28.0%)	
≥3/wk	12 (24.0%)	9 (18.0%)	

*Note*: (t) independent samples t test; (m) Mann-Whitney U test.

axSpA, axial spondyloarthritis; BMI, body mass index.

\*Pearson Chi-squared test.

\*\*Fisher exact test.

 TABLE 2
 Comparison of two groups in terms of muscle strength

	Mean $\pm$ SD				Mean $\pm$ SD		
	Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)		Median (min-max)			
	axSpA (n = 50)	Control (n = 50)	P value		axSpA (n = 50)	Control (n = 50)	P value
HAB <sub>mean</sub>	17.06 ± 6.47	21.04 ± 5.66	.002(m)	SER <sub>max</sub>	$16.62 \pm 6.21$	19.93 ± 4.67	.003(t)
	16.7 (7.4-35.3)	20.05 (11.5-35.4)			16.75 (6.1-30.7)	20.25 (9.5-29.9)	
HAB <sub>max</sub>	$21.58 \pm 8.88$	27.37 ± 8.17	.001(m)	$SF_{mean}$	15.03 ± 6.98	19.75 ± 6.97	.001(m)
	20.05 (8.6-44.7)	25.7 (14.7-47.8)			14.3 (4.6-30.2)	19.95 (8-36)	
HE <sub>mean</sub>	18.21 ± 7.27	25.0 ± 6.2	<.001(t)	$SF_{max}$	19.4 ± 9.44	26.66 ± 10.03	.001(m)
	17.85 (6.8-32.5)	25.75 (8.5-34.4)			18.35 (5.4-42)	28.3 (9.7-47.8)	
HE <sub>max</sub>	22.99 ± 10.69	32.45 ± 9.02	<.001(t)	$SIR_{mean}$	14.3 ± 5.44	$16.41 \pm 4.13$	.032(t)
	20.4 (2.5-43.6)	34.9 (9.8-51.3)			14.2 (4.4-28.5)	16.35 (9.3-27.6)	
HER <sub>mean</sub>	9.95 ± 3.34	11.94 ± 2.84	.002(t)	SIR <sub>max</sub>	17.74 ± 6.46	20.98 ± 5.58	.008(t)
	9.6 (1.7-19)	11.85 (6.6-18.2)			17.35 (4.8-31.6)	20.8 (12.3-35)	
HER <sub>max</sub>	$12.11\pm4.09$	14.76 ± 3.46	.001(t)	CE <sub>mean</sub>	8.63 ± 4.03	11.69 ± 3.64	<.001(r
	11.25 (3.5-25.2)	14.4 (8.2-24.3)			8.45 (0.4-17.7)	11.15 (6-24.9)	
HF <sub>mean</sub>	$21.73 \pm 10.68$	28.37 ± 8.92	.001(m)	CE <sub>max</sub>	$10.85 \pm 4.86$	$14.35 \pm 4.34$	<.001(r
	18 (7.9-42.6)	28.3 (9.6-48.7)			10.9 (3-22)	14.1 (6.8-29.2)	
HF <sub>max</sub>	28.27 ± 14.28	37.03 ± 12.09	.001(m)	$CF_{mean}$	8.82 ± 3.17	$10.66 \pm 2.92$	.004(m
	24.75 (8.9-54.5)	37.3 (12.2-58.8)			8.65 (3.8-15.3)	10.2 (6.8-21)	
$HIR_{mean}$	12.78 ± 3.98	14.89 ± 3.25	.005(t)	$CF_{max}$	$10.68\pm3.84$	$13.27 \pm 3.7$	.002(m
	11.9 (5.8-21.2)	14.9 (8.1-21.1)			10.75 (4.5-18.2)	12.55 (7.4-23.8)	
HIR <sub>max</sub>	15.7 ± 4.68	19.2 ± 4.65	.001(m)	$CLF_{mean}$	8.55 ± 3.4	$11.14 \pm 2.66$	<.001(r
	15 (6.8-23)	19.05 (9.5-34.1)			8.1 (3.45-16.2)	10.85 (6.6-21.15)	
SAB <sub>mean</sub>	13.92 ± 5.34	19.1 ± 5.71	<.001(t)	CLF <sub>max</sub>	$10.32\pm4.17$	13.29 ± 3.24	<.001(r
	14.1 (4.3-24.1)	18.25 (8.3-32.4)			9.4 (4.2-20.35)	12.68 (8.1-25.55)	
SAB <sub>max</sub>	17.49 ± 6.75	24.6 ± 7.95	<.001(t)	TE <sub>mean</sub>	15.17 ± 7.03	$20.11 \pm 4.63$	<.001(r
	17.95 (5.1-33.8)	24.45 (11.9-42.4)			15.4 (2.4-28.5)	20.05 (12.1-32.4)	
SE <sub>mean</sub>	12.69 ± 4.49	$16.51 \pm 5.07$	<.001(t)	TE <sub>max</sub>	19.12 ± 9.54	25.48 ± 6.95	.001(m)
	12.55 (5-22.5)	16.3 (7.5-31.2)			17.4 (6.7-37.4)	25.05 (9.9-42.3)	
SER <sub>max</sub>	$16.32 \pm 6.23$	$20.73 \pm 6.44$	.001(t)	$TF_{mean}$	15.51 ± 7.0	18.93 ± 5.07	.008(m
	15.9 (6-28.7)	20.25 (9.6-37.3)			15 (4.3-28.3)	19.25 (10.4-28)	
SER <sub>mean</sub>	$13.54 \pm 4.84$	16.51 ± 3.75	.001(t)	$TF_{max}$	19.73 ± 9.61	25.06 ± 7.17	.002(m)
	13.25 (5.1-23.7)	17.05 (7.9-23.7)			18.8 (4.9-39.7)	25.9 (12.4-39.8)	

Note: (t): independent samples t test, (m): Mann-Whitney U test.

axSpA, axial spondyloarthritis; max, maximum; CE, cervical extension; CF, cervical flexion; CLF, cervical lateral flexion; HAB, hip abduction; HE, hip extension; HER, hip extension; HER, hip extension; HF, hip flexion; HIR, hip internal rotation; SAB, shoulder abduction; SE, shoulder extension; SER, shoulder external rotation; SF, shoulder flexion; SIR, shoulder internal rotation; TE, truncal extension; TF, truncal flexion.

significant difference between the 2 groups in terms of age, weight, height, BMI, educational status, hand dominancy, smoking and alcohol use, and exercise habits. The clinical features of the axSpA patients were as follows: the symptom duration (months) =  $57.47 \pm 90.73$  (24 [3-360]), BASDAI =  $4.24 \pm 2.22$  (4.35 [0-9.3]), BASFI =  $2.47 \pm 2.05$  (2.15 [0-7.1]), HAQ-DI =  $0.26 \pm 0.24$  (0.25 [0-1]), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) (mm) =  $13.24 \pm 13.72$  (9.5 [2-60]) (N: 0-15) and C-reactive protein (CRP) (mg/L) =  $13.13 \pm 19.43$  (5.11 [0.2-78]) (N: 0-5). Human leukocyte antigen-B27 was positive in 58% of the patients.

When the measurements of the muscle strengths of the control and axSpA groups were compared, a significant decrease was found in the axSpA group compared to the control in all muscle groups (Table 2). In terms of the total muscle strengths of the relevant regions, a significant decrease was found in the axSpA group compared to the control group (Table 3).

When the relationship of the total muscle strengths with laboratory tests was examined, no muscle group was related to ESR and CRP. Symptom duration was found to have a moderate negative correlation with  $ST_{max}$ ,  $ST_{mean}$ ,  $HT_{max}$  and  $HT_{mean}$  (r = -.4, -.42, -.4

-WILEY-Rheumatic Diseases



	Mean $\pm$ SD	Mean $\pm$ SD			
	Median (min-max)				
	axSpA (n = 50)	Control (n = 50)	P value		
Hip total <sub>mean</sub>	79.72 ± 28.24	$101.24 \pm 21.57$	<.001(t)		
	77.2 (38.1-135.9)	101.1 (46.2-147.3)			
Hip total <sub>max</sub>	100.65 ± 37.74	$130.8\pm30.28$	<.001(t)		
	95.9 (44-175.4)	129.85 (56.7-193.1)			
Shoulder total <sub>mean</sub>	69.48 ± 24.38	88.28 ± 23.14	<.001(t)		
	71.15 (24.3-115.8)	90.05 (44-149.1)			
Shoulder total <sub>max</sub>	87.56 ± 31.91	112.9 ± 31.27	<.001(t)		
	86.8 (28.5-151.6)	112.45 (59.9-184.8)			
Cervical total <sub>mean</sub>	26.01 ± 10.18	33.49 ± 8.21	<.001(m)		
	24.5 (10.05-48.5)	32.03 (19.5-60.7)			
Cervical total <sub>max</sub>	31.86 ± 12.32	40.9 ± 10.37	<.001(m)		
	30.08 (13.75-59.15)	39.63 (23.2-73.9)			
Truncal total <sub>mean</sub>	30.68 ± 13.47	39.04 ± 8.96	.002(m)		
	29.1 (10.3-56)	39.95 (25.4-58.6)			
Truncal total <sub>max</sub>	38.85 ± 18.52	$50.54 \pm 13.45$	.001(m)		
	35.95 (11.6-71.1)	51.1 (23.6-76.5)			

*Note:* (t) independent samples t test, (m) Mann-Whitney U test.

axSpA, axial spondyloarthritis; max, maximum.

	r					
	ESR	CRP	Symptom duration	BASDAI	BASFI	HAQ-DI
TT <sub>max</sub>	09	18	34*	19	41**	17
TT <sub>mean</sub>	04	12	35 <sup>*</sup>	2	4**	19
$ST_{max}$	.03	13	4**	16	32*	06
$ST_{mean}$	.05	11	42**	19	31*	09
HT <sub>max</sub>	03	21	4**	21	43**	14
$HT_{mean}$	02	22	4**	24	45**	19
CT <sub>max</sub>	.06	06	32*	23	35*	12
CT <sub>mean</sub>	.05	07	31 <sup>*</sup>	24	35*	13

## **TABLE 4**Correlations between clinicalfeatures and total muscle strengths

*Note: r*, Pearson correlation test coefficient; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; max, maximum; TT, truncal total; ST, shoulder total; HT, hip total; CT, cervical total; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; HAQ-DI, Health Assessment Questionnaire-Disability Index. \*P value < .05.

\*\* 0

\*\*P value < .01.

and -.4, respectively); and a weak negative correlation with  $TT_{max}$ ,  $TT_{mean}$ ,  $CT_{max}$  and  $CT_{mean}$  (r = -.34, -.35, -.32 and -.31, respectively). In terms of clinical evaluation scales, BASFI was found to have a moderate negative correlation with  $TT_{max}$ ,  $TT_{mean}$ ,  $HT_{max}$ , and  $HT_{mean}$  (r = -.41, -.4, -.43 and -.45, respectively); and a weak negative correlation with  $ST_{max}$ ,  $ST_{mean}$   $CT_{max}$  and  $CT_{mean}$  (r = -.32, -.31, -.35 and -.35, respectively). BASDAI and HAQ-DI had no relationship with the total strength of any muscle groups (Table 4).

When the muscle groups were evaluated individually, no relationship was found in any muscle group with CRP and ESR. In terms of the symptom duration,  $TF_{max}$ ,  $TF_{mean}$ ,  $SF_{max}$  and  $SF_{mean}$  were correlated moderately and negatively, while all other shoulder girdle measurements were correlated weakly and negatively. No relationship was found with HIR<sub>max</sub>, HIR<sub>mean</sub>, HER<sub>max</sub>, and HER<sub>mean</sub>; however, a weak negative correlation was found with HE<sub>max</sub> (r = -.39), and moderate negative correlations were found in all remaining

**TABLE 3**Comparison of total musclestrength according to regions

TABLE 5 Correlation between strength of individual muscle groups and

clinical parameters

	r					
	ESR	CRP	Symptom duration	BASDAI	BASFI	HAQ-DI
TF <sub>max</sub>	03	12	41**	14	36*	13
$TF_{mean}$	01	1	42**	18	37**	17
TE <sub>max</sub>	15	24	25	22	44**	19
TE <sub>mean</sub>	06	14	26	21	39**	2
$SF_{max}$	.01	13	4**	07	31*	02
$SF_{mean}$	0	15	43**	11	29*	05
SE <sub>max</sub>	.06	1	34*	15	2	05
$SE_{mean}$	.08	09	36*	13	2	03
$SAB_{max}$	.08	05	37**	21	25	.03
$SAB_{mean}$	.06	03	38**	21	24	.01
$SER_{max}$	01	16	39**	18	36*	16
$SER_{mean}$	03	16	38**	21	36**	17
$SIR_{max}$	.01	17	29*	14	32*	11
$SIR_{mean}$	.11	05	32*	21	29*	2
$HF_{max}$	.01	14	41**	12	35*	05
$HF_{mean}$	.01	16	4**	14	38**	09
$HE_{max}$	11	2	39**	14	43**	06
$HE_{mean}$	08	19	4**	13	39**	07
$HAB_{max}$	0	18	51**	14	34 <sup>*</sup>	08
$HAB_{mean}$	01	19	5**	2	37**	13
$HIR_{max}$	03	26	11	41**	46**	38**
$HIR_{mean}$	0	22	17	4**	46**	37**
HER <sub>max</sub>	.05	26	0	34*	41**	38**
$HER_{mean}$	.02	35	08	41**	49**	45**
$CF_{max}$	01	09	22	19	37**	11
$CF_{mean}$	0	1	21	2	37**	13

ational Journal o **Rheumatic Diseases** 

707 🕳 📎 – Wiley-

-.09

-.11

-.16

-.13

-.28 -.31\*

-.38\*\*

-.35\*

Note: r, Pearson correlation test coefficient; max, maximum; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; CE, cervical extension; CF, cervical flexion; CLF, cervical lateral flexion; HAB, hip abduction; HE, hip extension; HER, hip external rotation; HF, hip flexion; HIR, hip internal rotation; SAB, shoulder abduction; SE, shoulder extension; SER, shoulder external rotation; SF, shoulder flexion; SIR, shoulder internal rotation; TE, truncal extension; TF, truncal flexion; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; HAQ-DI, Health Assessment Questionnaire-Disability Index. \*P value < .05.

-.29\*

-.28

-.41\*\*

-.4\*\*

\*\*P value < .01.

.04

-.02

.14

.18

-.05

-.09

-.04

-.02

CE<sub>max</sub>

CE<sub>mean</sub>

CLF<sub>max</sub>

CLF<sub>mean</sub>

measurements of the hip. Also, symptom duration had a negative and moderate correlation with  $\mathsf{CLF}_{\max}$  and  $\mathsf{CLF}_{\max}$  , and a weak negative correlation with  $\mathsf{CE}_{\max}$ . Regarding the relationship with BASDAI, a moderate negative relationship was found with HIR<sub>max</sub>,  $\mathsf{HIR}_{\mathsf{mean}}$  and  $\mathsf{HER}_{\mathsf{mean}}$  and a weak negative relationship was found with  $HER_{max}$ . BASFI had a moderate negative correlation with the TE<sub>max</sub>, and a weak correlation with the remaining truncal muscle measurements. BASFI was determined to have a weak and negative correlation with flexor, internal rotator, and external rotator muscles of the shoulder girdle; however, no correlation was found with extensor and abductor muscles. A moderate negative correlation was determined between BASFI and  $HE_{max}$ ,  $HIR_{max}$ ,  $HIR_{mean}$ ,  $\mathrm{HER}_{\mathrm{max}}$  , and  $\mathrm{HER}_{\mathrm{mean}}$  in the hip girdle, while weak and negative correlations were determined with other hip-related muscle groups.

-.23

-.26

-.25

-.22

LEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

BASFI had a weak negative correlation with  $CF_{max}$ ,  $CF_{mean}$ ,  $CE_{mean}$ ,  $CLF_{max}$ , and  $CLF_{mean}$  in the cervical region, and there was no correlation with  $CE_{max}$ . HAQ-DI was found to have a weak negative correlation with only  $HIR_{max}$ ,  $HIR_{mean}$ , and  $HER_{max}$  and a moderate negative correlation with HER<sub>mean</sub> (Table 5).

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

Inflammation is the primary mechanism in patients with axSpA, and it leads to the loss of skeletal muscle secondarily by causing pain and stiffness.<sup>5</sup> It has been suggested that muscle strength in patients with axSpA would decrease due to the inflammatory process; however, the muscle strengths associated with the main involved regions have not been evaluated in a single study. Recommendations of exercise made on this matter are far from the specifications suggesting the effects of the strengths of individual muscle groups on disease parameters. Some of the studies conducted with patients with axSpA have evaluated muscle mass, namely sarcopenia, rather than muscle strength. In various studies, it has been found that sarcopenia is increased in AS patients.<sup>11,12</sup> In these studies, methods such as skeletal muscle index were used in the evaluation of sarcopenia.<sup>28</sup> These types of measurement methods are far from evaluating the muscle groups that are affected and determining the muscles that should be included in the strengthening program. It is difficult to determine the muscles that the muscle power distribution is in favor of and against in the total muscle mass. For this reason, we found it more appropriate to measure the muscle strengths of the muscle groups that could be measured objectively by handheld dynamometer; and we excluded females for the uniformity of the groups. We found that both the specific muscle groups and the total muscle strengths of the truncal and cervical muscles and root joints we measured were lower in patients with axSpA compared to the healthy volunteers. We found negative weak-moderate correlations between total muscle strengths and BASFI. Also, we determined weak-moderate correlations between individual muscle strengths and BASDAI, BASFI, and HAQ-DI.

Root joint involvement has been found to be effective upon functionality in patients with axSpA. It was observed that patients with clinical or radiological involvement in the hip joint had worse BASFI values.<sup>29</sup> In fact, BASFI does not contain guestions about the hip joint directly; however, it is believed that the involvement of this joint indirectly affects the mobility of the spine and decreases spinal mobility.<sup>30</sup> One study suggested that hip involvement may reduce functional limitation more than spinal involvement by reducing the compensation of impaired spinal mobility.<sup>31</sup> With a similar mechanism, it can be thought that the shoulder girdle should be used more effectively to compensate for the limitation of motion in the thoracic and cervical regions. However, studies on how the muscle strength of the shoulder girdle is affected in patients with axSpA are limited. Hagberg et al.<sup>32</sup> compared the isometric maximum flexion muscle strength of the shoulder at 90 degrees with a strain gage instrument in 8 patients with AS and 10 healthy volunteers in their study, and they found no significant difference. In contrast to that study, we found a decreased muscle strength in patients with axSpA compared to the healthy volunteers in terms of the maximum shoulder flexion. We also found a significant decrease in muscle strengths of other shoulder girdle movements and in the total muscle strength of the shoulder. We observed this decrease both in maximum muscle strength and in the mean muscle strength that can be applied for 10 seconds. According to our results, there was also a weak negative correlation between functionality and total muscle strength of the shoulder.

Limitations of functionality in the hip and shoulder girdle can lead to decreased quality of life and loss of workforce.<sup>30</sup> In our study, weak-moderate correlations were found between hip girdle muscles on BASFI, supporting this statement. In the shoulder girdle muscles, functionality was weakly associated with flexors, internal and external rotators. These results may be obtained due to the fact that BASFI contained questions addressing all muscle groups of hip girdle such as leaning forward, getting up from the ground, walking, as well as the questions addressing flexor and rotator muscle groups of the shoulder girdle such as wearing socks and lying on a shelf. Nevertheless, it may be argued that priority should be given to these muscle groups, which are used more in functionality while strengthening root joints in patients. Interestingly, a negative and moderate relationship was found between BASDAI and the internal and external rotators of the hip. It appeared that only this muscle group was observed to be affected due to the increased disease activity. Further, only the same muscle group seemed to be related to HAQ-DI, which was an indicator of disability. The critical role of the hip rotators in daily living activities and walking has been determined.<sup>33</sup> Nonetheless, why other muscle groups do not exhibit this relationship is a question worth investigating.

In their study, Akgul et al.<sup>34</sup> evaluated the fatty degeneration in the paravertebral muscles semi-quantitatively by magnetic resonance imaging in 36 patients with axSpA (14 with non-radiographic axSpA and 22 with AS). They concluded that there was increased fatty degeneration in the paravertebral muscles of the patients with AS with longer symptom duration compared to patients with nonradiographic axSpA. In our study, we found that symptom duration had a moderate correlation with truncal flexion and cervical lateral flexion muscle strength. Although the mentioned study did not evaluate muscle strength as in our study, it is an important study in terms of demonstrating the histological influence of the paravertebral muscles, and the reflection of these findings to the clinic was also observed in the results of our study. The weak-moderate correlation of cervical and truncal muscle strengths with functionality reveals the importance of these muscle groups in patients with axSpA. The relationship between the duration of symptoms and especially hip, shoulder, and truncal flexors may be manifestations of the postural disorder that develops in the flexor direction on muscle strength.

Sahin et al.<sup>3,4</sup> determined the flexor and extensor muscle strengths of the ankle and knee in 26 patients with AS and 26

healthy controls using an isokinetic dynamometer. They found that muscle strength was lower in patients with axSpA compared to the control group. They found no correlation between muscle strength of the knee and BASFI; however, they found a low correlation between muscle strength of the ankle and BASFI. Although knee and ankle muscle strengths are important for walking, walking alone may not be suitable for evaluating everyday life activities and functionality. In addition, since the patients with axSpA have axial and root joint involvement rather than peripheral lower extremity muscle involvement, it seems more logical to evaluate these muscle groups. In this context, we compared muscle strengths in muscle groups related to the cervical, truncal, and root joints with healthy volunteers in our study, and we found a significant decrease in all muscle groups. We also found weak-moderate correlations with BASFI in various muscle groups we evaluated.

There were some limitations in our study. First of all, peripheral muscle involvement was not examined in this study. Considering that the peripheral joints were affected less than the axial spine without causing deformity in most of the patients, it was thought that the priority was to examine the axial and root joint involvement. However, the effect of particularly the upper extremity muscle strength should be analyzed in future studies. In addition, the lumbar muscle strength was not studied due to the technical limitation of the handheld dynamometer and the inseparability of the effect of the hip girdle. Further, the effects of the hip and shoulder adductors were not studied due to reliability concerns and technical difficulty. Nevertheless, even though disease activity scores varied from 0 to 9.3, the mean BASDAI score was  $4.24 \pm 2.22$ , indicating a high disease activity. A future study in patients with low disease activity may be conducted. Also, we did not seek the relationship between enthesitis and strength of related muscles, which may be subject to another study. Finally, the weak-moderate correlations found in the study may seem to be low; however, these correlations are considered to be clinically significant since functionality and disability are affected by many factors.

In conclusion, the strengths of the cervical, truncal, shoulder, and hip joint-related muscles were found to be decreased in patients with axSpA compared to healthy individuals. As the symptom duration increased, all spine and root joint muscles examined were affected at a low or moderate level, except for truncal extensors, cervical flexors, and the internal and external rotators of the hip. Disease activity and level of disability were found to be associated with the rotator muscles of the hip. Although functionality was found to be associated with many muscle strengths examined, it was mostly found to be associated with  ${\rm TE}_{\rm max},\,{\rm HE}_{\rm max},$  and the rotators of the hip, and not with shoulder extensors and abductors among the muscles that were evaluated. According to the data of our study, muscle strengthening exercises should be an essential part of the treatment in this patient group. In addition, strengthening specific muscle groups for the desired goal can be a reasonable strategy. Broader studies are needed on this subject matter.

709

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

None.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: OVY, OEI; methodology: OVY, FB, OEI; formal analysis and investigation: OVY, MK, EK; writing - original draft preparation: OVY, MK, EK; writing - review and editing: FB, TA; supervision: OVY, TA. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

#### ORCID

Ozan Volkan Yurdakul b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4567-8133 Fatih Bagcier https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6103-7873

#### REFERENCES

- Kim SC, Lee YG, Park SB, Kim TH, Lee KH. Muscle mass, strength, mobility, quality of life, and disease severity in ankylosing spondylitis patients: a preliminary study. *Annals of rehabilitation medicine*. 2017;41(6):990-997.
- Rudwaleit M, van der Heijde D, Landewé R, et al. The development of Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society classification criteria for axial spondyloarthritis (part II): validation and final selection. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(6):777-783.
- Sahin N, Ozcan E, Baskent A, Karan A, Ekmeci O, Kasikcioglu E. Isokinetic evaluation of ankle muscle strength and fatigue in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med.* 2011;47(3):399-405.
- Sahin N, Ozcan E, Baskent A, Karan A, Kasikcioglu E. Muscular kinetics and fatigue evaluation of knee using by isokinetic dynamometer in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Acta Reumatol Port*. 2011;36(3):252-259.
- Marcora S, Casanova F, Williams E, Jones J, Elamanchi R, Lemmey A. Preliminary evidence for cachexia in patients with well-established ankylosing spondylitis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2006;45(11):1385-1388.
- Sari I, Demir T, Kozaci LD, et al. Body composition, insulin, and leptin levels in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Clin Rheumatol*. 2007;26(9):1427-1432.
- Ambarus C, Yeremenko N, Tak PP, Baeten D. Pathogenesis of spondyloarthritis: autoimmune or autoinflammatory? *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2012;24(4):351-358.
- Peterson JM, Guttridge DC. Skeletal muscle diseases, inflammation, and NF-kappaB signaling: insights and opportunities for therapeutic intervention. *Int Rev Immunol.* 2008;27(5):375-387.
- Sandri M. Signaling in muscle atrophy and hypertrophy. Physiology (Bethesda). 2008;23:160-170.
- Häkkinen A, Mälkiä E, Häkkinen K, Jäppinen I, Laitinen L, Hannonen P. Effects of detraining subsequent to strength training on neuromuscular function in patients with inflammatory arthritis. Br J Rheumatol. 1997;36(10):1075-1081.
- El Maghraoui A, Ebo'o FB, Sadni S, Majjad A, Hamza T, Mounach A. Is there a relation between pre-sarcopenia, sarcopenia, cachexia and osteoporosis in patients with ankylosing spondylitis? BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17:268.
- Barone M, Viggiani MT, Anelli MG, et al. Sarcopenia in patients with rheumatic diseases: prevalence and associated risk factors. J Clin Med. 2018;7(12):504.
- Rausch Osthoff AK, Niedermann K, et al. 2018 EULAR recommendations for physical activity in people with inflammatory arthritis and osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77(9):1251-1260.

ILEY- Rheumatic Diseases

- 14. Ward MM, Deodhar A, Gensler LS, et al. 2019 Update of the American College of Rheumatology/Spondylitis Association of America/Spondyloarthritis Research and Treatment Network Recommendations for the Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis and Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Care Res* (Hoboken). 2019;71(10):1285-1299.
- Dagfinrud H, Halvorsen S, Vøllestad NK, Niedermann K, Kvien TK, Hagen KB. Exercise programs in trials for patients with ankylosing spondylitis: do they really have the potential for effectiveness? *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2011;63(4):597-603.
- Ozgocmen S, Akgul O, Altay Z, et al. Expert opinion and key recommendations for the physical therapy and rehabilitation of patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2012;15(3):229-238.
- Cooper RG, Freemont AJ, Fitzmaurice R, Alani SM, Jayson MI. Paraspinal muscle fibrosis: a specific pathological component in ankylosing spondylitis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 1991;50(11):755-759.
- Hopkins GO, McDougall J, Mills KR, Isenberg DA, Ebringer A. Muscle changes in ankylosing spondylitis. *Br J Rheumatol*. 1983;22(3):151-157.
- Braun J, Baraliakos X. Imaging in spondyloarthritis. In: Hochberg MC, Silman AJ, Smolen JS, Weinblatt ME, Weisman MH, eds. *Rheumatology (Sixth Edition)*. Philadelphia: Mosby; 2015:960-969.
- Garrett S, Jenkinson T, Kennedy LG, Whitelock H, Gaisford P, Calin A. A new approach to defining disease status in ankylosing spondylitis: the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index. J Rheumatol. 1994;21(12):2286-2291.
- 21. Calin A, Jones SD, Garrett SL, Kennedy LG. Bath ankylosing spondylitis functional index. *Br J Rheumatol.* 1995;34(8):793-794.
- 22. Fries JF, Spitz P, Kraines RG, Holman HR. Measurement of patient outcome in arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1980;23(2):137-145.
- Krause DA, Hansen KA, Hastreiter MJ, Kuhn TN, Peichel ML, Hollman JH. A comparison of various cervical muscle strength testing methods using a handheld dynamometer. *Sports Health*. 2019;11(1):59-63.
- De Blaiser C, De Ridder R, Willems T, Danneels L, Roosen P. Reliability and validity of trunk flexor and trunk extensor strength measurements using handheld dynamometry in a healthy athletic population. *Phys Ther Sport*. 2018;34:180-186.
- Katoh M. Test-retest reliability of isometric shoulder muscle strength measurement with a handheld dynamometer and belt. J Phys Ther Sci. 2015;27(6):1719-1722.
- Thorborg K, Petersen J, Magnusson SP, Holmich P. Clinical assessment of hip strength using a hand-held dynamometer is reliable. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2010;20(3):493-501.

- Schober P, Boer C, Schwarte LA. Correlation coefficients: appropriate use and interpretation. *Anesth Analg.* 2018;126(5):1763-1768.
- An HJ, Tizaoui K, Terrazzino S, et al. Sarcopenia in autoimmune and rheumatic diseases: a comprehensive review. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(16):5678.
- 29. Calin A, Garrett S, Whitelock H, et al. A new approach to defining functional ability in ankylosing spondylitis: the development of the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index. *J Rheumatol.* 1994;21(12):2281-2285.
- Vander Cruyssen B, Munoz-Gomariz E, Font P, et al. Hip involvement in ankylosing spondylitis: epidemiology and risk factors associated with hip replacement surgery. *Rheumatology*. 2010;49(1):73-81.
- Ward MM. Complications of total hip arthroplasty in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(8):1101-1108.
- Hagberg M, Hagner IM, Bjelle A. Shoulder muscle strength, endurance and electromyographic fatigue in ankylosing spondylitis. *Scand J Rheumatol.* 1987;16(3):161-165.
- 33. Uemura K, Atkins PR, Fiorentino NM, Anderson AE. Hip rotation during standing and dynamic activities and the compensatory effect of femoral anteversion: an in-vivo analysis of asymptomatic young adults using three-dimensional computed tomography models and dual fluoroscopy. *Gait Posture*. 2018;61:276-281.
- Akgul O, Gulkesen A, Akgol G, Ozgocmen S. MR-defined fat infiltration of the lumbar paravertebral muscles differs between nonradiographic axial spondyloarthritis and established ankylosing spondylitis. *Mod Rheumatol.* 2013;23(4):811-816.

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Yurdakul OV, Ince OE, Bagcier F, Kara M, Kultur E, Aydin T. Evaluating the strength of spinal and proximal girdle muscles in patients with axial spondyloarthritis: Correlation with activity, disability, and functionality. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:701–710. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-</u>185X.14102

710

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14103

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

```
Rheumatic Diseases
```

🗠 👰 🛛 Wiley

## Association of serum CCL20 levels with pulmonary vascular involvement and primary biliary cholangitis in patients with systemic sclerosis

Tetsuya Ikawa<sup>1</sup> | Takuya Miyagawa<sup>1</sup> | Yuki Fukui<sup>1</sup> | Shun Minatsuki<sup>2</sup> | Hisataka Maki<sup>2</sup> | Toshiro Inaba<sup>2</sup> | Masaru Hatano<sup>2</sup> | Satoshi Toyama<sup>1</sup> | Jun Omatsu<sup>1</sup> | Kentaro Awaji<sup>1</sup> | Yuta Norimatsu<sup>1</sup> | Yusuke Watanabe<sup>1</sup> | Ayumi Yoshizaki<sup>1</sup> | Shinichi Sato<sup>1</sup> | Yoshihide Asano<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>2</sup>Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan

#### Correspondence

Yoshihide Asano, Department of Dermatology, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, 7-3-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, 113-8655, Japan. Email: yasano-tky@umin.ac.jp

#### **Funding information**

Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare of Japan, Grant/Award Number: grant for Research in Intractable Diseases

#### Abstract

**Aim:** Systemic sclerosis (SSc) is a chronic autoimmune disease resulting in vasculopathy and fibrosis of the skin and major internal organs. Especially, interstitial lung disease and pulmonary arterial hypertension are the leading causes of mortality. C-C motif ligand 20 (CCL20) is known as a homeostatic and inflammatory chemokine, which is associated with fibrosis and angiogenesis and constantly expressed in organs involved in SSc. Therefore, we investigated the potential contribution of CCL20 to the development of SSc.

**Method:** We conducted cross-sectional analyses of 67 SSc patients and 20 healthy controls recruited in a single center for 9 years. Serum CCL20 levels were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Statistical analyses were performed with the Mann-Whitney *U* test, the Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test, Fisher's exact probability test and the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient.

**Results:** SSc patients had significantly higher serum CCL20 levels than healthy controls. In SSc patients, serum CCL20 levels correlated inversely with the percentage of predicated diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide and positively with mean pulmonary artery pressure (mPAP). In addition, SSc patients with increased serum CCL20 levels had anti-mitochondrial antibody M2 titer significantly elevated relative to those with normal levels, and SSc patients with asymptomatic primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) possessed higher serum CCL20 levels than those without. Importantly, serum CCL20 levels were associated positively with mPAP values and PBC presence by multivariate regression analysis.

**Conclusion:** Serum CCL20 levels may be involved in the development of pulmonary vascular involvement leading to pulmonary arterial hypertension and asymptomatic PBC in SSc patients.

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

#### KEYWORDS

anti-mitochondrial M2 antibody, CCL20, primary biliary cholangitis, pulmonary artery hypertension, systemic sclerosis

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

712

Systemic sclerosis (SSc) is a chronic autoimmune disease with unknown specific etiology. Fibrosis, vasculopathy and immune abnormalities cause various complications, such as skin fibrosis, interstitial lung disease (ILD), pulmonary artery hypertension (PAH), cardiac fibrosis, gastroesophageal reflux disease, scleroderma renal crisis, and so on.<sup>1-3</sup> In addition to SSc-related complications, other organspecific autoimmune diseases, such as Hashimoto's thyroiditis and primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), are frequently concomitant with this disease.<sup>4,5</sup> Under the developmental process of these complications, there seems to be an SSc-specific orchestrated network of cytokines, growth factors, chemokines and cell adhesion molecules, leading to the activation of various cell types, including fibroblasts, endothelial cells and immune cells.<sup>6,7</sup>

Chemokines are substances which attract immune cells to appropriate body parts under physiological and pathological conditions. It is now well known that chemokines affect numerous biological processes other than chemotaxis, such as cell growth, autoimmunity, inflammation and angiogenesis.<sup>8,9</sup> In SSc, chemokines play a part in promoting the earliest perivascular infiltration of mononuclear cells after initial vascular injury.<sup>10</sup> This earliest lesion subsequently triggers autoimmune and inflammatory reactions by attracting much more immune cells.<sup>10,11</sup> So far, various chemokines have been reported to contribute to the early, active and late stages of SSc.<sup>10</sup> For example, C-C motif ligand 3 (CCL3) and CCL5 are elevated in very early stage, in which monocytes and T-helper (Th) cells are recruited and cause tissue damage.<sup>10</sup> In later stage, CCL2, CCL7, C-X-C motif ligand 10 (CXCL10) and CXCL12 are involved in fibroblast recruitment and activation.<sup>10</sup> Moreover, various chemokines have been shown to be related to major organ involvement: (a) CCL2 and CXCL4 for skin sclerosis; (b) CCL2, CCL18, CXCL4 and CXCL10 for ILD; (c) CXCL4 for PAH.<sup>10,12</sup> Also, CXCL4 and CXCL8 can serve as general prognostic indicators of SSc.<sup>13,14</sup> Thus, chemokines have been already recognized as a member of disease-driving molecules in SSc.

In this study, we focused on CCL20 (also known as macrophage inflammatory protein- $3\alpha$  or liver activation regulated chemokine), which belongs to the CC chemokine group and binds to CCR6 alone. It is a homeostatic and inflammatory chemokine attracting mainly immature dendritic cells, effector/memory T cells and B cells.<sup>9</sup> It has a quite important role to keep steady immune cell trafficking and to initiate T cell-dependent inflammation.<sup>9,15</sup> CCL20 is steadily expressed in the skin, lungs, liver, mucosal surfaces, appendix, lymph nodes and peripheral blood lymphocytes, and can be upregulated when inflammation occurs in those organs.<sup>9</sup> Since CCR6 is expressed on Th17 cells and regulatory T cells, CCL20 controls appropriate

amount of inflammation by maintaining delicate balance of offensive and defensive immunity.<sup>17</sup> On the other hand, CCL20 contributes to liver fibrosis<sup>19,20</sup> and angiogenesis in malignant tumors.<sup>21-23</sup> Thus, CCL20 appears to be involved in autoimmunity/inflammation, vasculopathy and tissue fibrosis, which are the 3 cardinal pathological features of SSc.<sup>2,3,24</sup>

Based on these backgrounds, we examined if CCL20 is involved in the development of SSc-associated symptoms and complications. To this end, we investigated relations between serum CCL20 levels and clinical symptoms in SSc patients.

#### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Patients

Patients who visited our hospital from February 2010 to May 2019 and met 2013 American College of Rheumatology / European League Against Rheumatism (ACR/EULAR) SSc classification criteria were included in this study.<sup>25</sup> Patients were excluded if they were treated with corticosteroids, other immunosuppressants or bosentan before or at the time of blood sampling. This study included 15 SSc patients with ILD and 4 SSc patients with borderline PAH, but blood samples were drawn from these patients before starting any specific treatments for these complications. Healthy controls were selected from individuals without any history of illness who visited us for the diagnosis of benign skin tumors, such as nevus cell nevi. Written informed consent was taken from all participants. This study was approved by ethics committee (University of Tokyo Graduate School of Medicine). The entire procedures were in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Serum samples were obtained from 67 SSc patients (60 women, 7 men; median [25-75 percentiles], age, 59 years [48.0-68.0]; disease duration, 3.1 years [1.0-9.6]) and 20 healthy controls (17 women, 3 men; age, 52 years [38.3-67.5]). Ages of two groups were not statistically different (P = .36). All sera were stored at -80°C. Patients were categorized by LeRoy's classification system:<sup>26</sup> 38 diffuse cutaneous SSc (dcSSc) and 29 limited cutaneous SSc (IcSSc).

#### 2.2 | Clinical assessment

Disease onset was defined as the first clinical event of SSc other than Raynaud's phenomenon. Disease duration was defined as an interval between the disease onset and the time of blood sampling. Skin score was measured by modified Rodnan total skin thickness score (mRSS).<sup>27</sup> ILD was defined as the presence of ground glass opacity and/or reticular pattern on high-resolution computed tomography. Severity of ILD was evaluated by pulmonary function tests: the percentage of predicted vital capacity (%VC) and the percentage of predicated diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide (%DL<sub>CO</sub>). Serum Krebs von den Lungen 6 (KL-6) levels and serum surfactant protein D (SP-D) levels were determined by chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassay kits, which were purchased from FUJIREBIO (Tokyo, Japan) and Hitachi chemical diagnostic systems (Tokyo, Japan) respectively, with the blood samples used for CCL20 measurement. PAH was determined based on mean pulmonary artery pressure (mPAP), pulmonary artery wedge pressure and peripheral vascular resistance obtained by right heart catheterization. Results of right heart catheterization were available from 21 patients (13 dcSSc and 8 lcSSc). Esophageal involvement was defined as distal esophageal hypomotility on barium-contrast radiography and gastroesophageal reflux disease. Hepatobiliary involvement was defined as serum liver enzyme abnormalities. The definition of PBC was described previously.<sup>28</sup> Anti-mitochondrial antibody M2 (AMA-M2) titer was measured by fluorescence-enzyme immunoassay.

#### 2.3 | Measurement of serum CCL20 levels

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) was used to measure serum CCL20 levels (analytical range, 7.8-500 pg/mL; intra-assay coefficient of variation, 2.8%; inter-assay coefficient of variation, 8.9%; average recovery, 103%). Briefly, a polystyrene 96-well plate coated with anti-CCL20 antibodies was incubated with 2-fold diluted serum (linearity of the kit at 1:2 diluent; average % of expected, 104%; range, 98%-107%) for 2 hours at room temperature. The wells were washed and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-CCL20 antibodies. After the wells were washed again, they were impregnated with tetramethylbenzidine and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Finally, sulfuric acid was added to terminate the reaction. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm. Serum CCL20 levels were calculated from a standard curve.

#### 2.4 | Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was done with the Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 unpaired data with skewed distribution. Comparison between more than 3 groups with skewed distribution was conducted with the Kruskal-Wallis test, and multiple comparisons were done with the Dunn's multiple comparison test. The data with skewed distribution were shown as median with 25-75 percentiles. Fisher's exact probability test was carried out for frequency analyses. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used for clinical correlations. Statistical significance was defined as a P value of <.05.

#### 3 | RESULTS

## 3.1 | Association of serum CCL20 levels with clinical and laboratory findings in SSc patients

Serum CCL20 levels were significantly higher in SSc patients than in healthy controls (15.89 pg/mL [9.79-33.33] vs. 9.27 pg/mL [6.36-12.46], P < .001). When compared among dcSSc, lcSSc and healthy control participants, dcSSc and lcSSc patients had higher serum CCL20 levels than healthy controls (14.21 pg/mL [8.36-34.0] for dcSSc, 20.56 pg/mL [12.38-32.75] for lcSSc), while there was no significant difference between SSc subtypes (Figure 1). We also assessed the association of serum CCL20 levels with age because the median of age was a little bit higher in the SSc patient group than in healthy controls (59 years [48.0-68.0] vs. 52 years [38.3-67.5], P = .16), but age did not affect serum CCL20 levels (supplementary Figure S1).

Demographic characteristics, clinical findings and laboratory variables were compared between SSc patients with increased serum CCL20 levels and those with normal levels (Table 1). Cut-off value was set at 23.49 pg/mL which equals to mean + 2 SDs, calculated from serum CCL20 levels of healthy controls. There was no significant difference in gender, age, disease duration and the ratio of



**FIGURE 1** Serum C-C motif ligand 20 (CCL20) levels of systemic sclerosis (SSc) patients and healthy controls. Serum CCL20 levels were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Those of diffuse cutaneous SSc (dcSSc) (n = 38), limited cutaneous SSc (lcSSc) (n = 29) and healthy controls (HC) (n = 20) were compared. Horizontal bars represent median of each group. Statistical analysis was conducted with the Kruskal-Wallis test. Dunn's multiple comparison test was used to compare each group

🗠 👰 – Wiley 🗌

714

-WILEY- Rheumatic Diseases



	Patients with elevated CCL20 levels (n = 23)	Patients without elevated CCL20 levels ( $n = 44$ )	P values
Demographic features			
Gender, male: female	1:22	6:38	.41
Age, y	66.0 [54.0-69.0] (n = 23)	58.0 [45.3-68.0] (n = 44)	.29
Disease duration, y	4.0 [1.0-14.0] (n = 23)	3.1 [1.0-7.0] (n = 44)	.24
dcSSc:lcSSc	11:12 (n = 23)	26:18 (n = 44)	.44
Clinical findings			
mRSS	6.0 [2.0-10.75] (n = 20)	9.0 [6.0-13.0] (n = 43)	.07
Raynaud's phenomenon	91.3 (21/23)	93.1 (41/44)	>.99
Nailfold bleeding	69.6 (16/23)	79.6 (35/44)	.38
Telangiectasia	38.9 (7/18)	33.3 (11/33)	.76
Pitting scar	36.4 (8/22)	31.0 (13/42)	.78
Digital ulcers	21.7 (5/23)	13.6 (6/44)	.49
Laboratory findings			
%VC	90.0 [74.0-106.0] (n = 23)	94.5 [78.3-102.9] (n = 44)	.49
%DLco	82.0 [61.0-101.0] (n = 23)	87.5 [77.0-100.8] (n = 44)	.17
KL-6, U/mL	541.0 [252.0-969.0] (n = 23)	402.5 [246.3-755.8] (n = 44)	.57
SP-D, ng/mL	113.3 [57.35-182.0] (n = 20)	100.7 [54.13-195.1] (n = 40)	.78
mPAP, mm Hg	18.5 [16.8-21.3] (n = 10)	12.0 [12.0-16.0] (n = 11)	.007
AMA-M2 titer	5.0 [3.4-8.6] (n = 20)	2.4 [1.1-6.8] (n = 44)	.03
Decreased %VC, <80%	43.5 (10/23)	27.3 (12/44)	.27
Decreased %DLco, <70%	39.1 (9/23)	13.6 (6/44)	.03

**TABLE 1**Association of CCL20 levelswith demographic features, clinicalmanifestations and laboratory data in SScpatients

*Note*: For CCL20 comparison, median [25-75 percentiles] (number of patients) is shown for each group. For frequent analyses, percentage (number of patients applicable/number of population) are shown.

mRSS, modified Rodnan total skin thickness score; dcSSc, diffuse cutaneous systemic sclerosis; lcSSc, limited cutaneous systemic sclerosis; KL-6, Krebs von den Lungen 6; SP-D, surfactant protein D; mPAP, mean pulmonary artery pressure; AMA-M2, anti-mitochondrial M2 antibody; %VC, percentage of predicted vital capacity; %DL<sub>co</sub>, percentage of predicated diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide.

disease subtypes. Modified Rodnan Skin Score (mRSS) values and the frequencies of cutaneous vascular complications, such as Raynaud's phenomenon, nailfold bleeding, telangiectasia, pitting scars and digital ulcers, were comparable between the 2 groups. Although the values of %VC, %DLco, KL-6 and SP-D were not different, mPAP values were significantly higher in SSc patients with increased serum CCL20 levels than in those with normal levels. Additionally, SSc patients with increased serum CCL20 levels had AMA-M2 titer significantly elevated as compared to those with normal levels.

We also conducted frequency analyses (the 2 rows at the bottom of Table 1). The frequency of patients with decreased %DLco was higher in patients with elevated serum CCL20 levels than in those with normal levels. Meanwhile, the frequency of patients with decreased %VC was comparable in the 2 groups. We further assessed the impact of each clinical symptom on serum CCL20 levels (Table 2). We evaluated %VC/%DLco ratio that enabled us to detect early PAH or to predict future progression to PAH.<sup>29,30</sup> Patients with %VC/%DLco ratio  $\geq$  1.4 had higher serum CCL20 levels than the others. In addition, patients with hepatobiliary involvement had significantly higher serum CCL20 levels than those without. The hepatobiliary involvement was concomitant with PBC alone in this study.

#### 3.2 | Correlations of serum CCL20 levels with PAHrelated parameters in SSc

We further examined if serum CCL20 levels correlate with numeric parameters of SSc-associated complications. Novel relations were

	Serum CCL20 lev	els (pg/mL)	
	Patients with symptoms	Patients without symptoms	P values
Organ involvement			
Esophageal dysfunction	14.7 [8.9-31.6] (n = 55)	22.0 [13.3-35.5] (n = 12)	.32
Interstitial lung disease	14.7 [8.9-33.7] (n = 15)	14.5 [11.4-33.8] (n = 52)	.42
Decreased %VC, <80%	22.7 [9.9-37.7] (n = 14)	14.7 [9.4-28.4] (n = 53)	.22
Decreased %DLco, <70%	31.6 [14.4-44.8] (n = 15)	14.5 [9.1-27.3] (n = 52)	.06
Increased %VC/%DLco ratio ≥1.4	22.2 [20.4- 88.3] (n = 9)	14.4 [8.8-32.4] (n = 58)	.02
Hepatobiliary involvement	65.9 [17.0- 183.5] (n = 5)	15.3 [8.9-31.7] (n = 62)	.04
Laboratory findings			
Increased KL-6, ≥500 U/mL	18.8 [8.9-35.5] (n = 31)	15.7 [10.6-28.5] (n = 36)	.73
Increased SP-D, ≥110 ng/mL	14.4 [86.6-35.4] (n = 29)	14.7 [10.6-33.3] (n = 31)	.96

 TABLE 2
 Comparison of serum CCL20 levels between patients

with organ involvement/laboratory findings and those without

*Note:* Median [25-27 percentiles] (number of patients) is shown for each group.

%VC, percentage of predicted vital capacity; %DL<sub>co</sub>, percentage of predicated diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide; KL-6, Krebs von den Lungen 6; SP-D, surfactant protein D.

found in PAH-related parameters. Serum CCL20 levels negatively correlated with  $DL_{CO}$  in SSc patients (r = -.26, P = .04; Figure 2A). Furthermore,  $VC/DL_{CO}$  ratio was positively correlated with

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases -WILEY

 $\langle \mathfrak{D} \rangle$ 

serum CCL20 levels (r = .27, P = .03; Figure 2B). Moreover, serum CCL20 levels had a strong positive correlation with mPAP (r = .68, P < .001; Figure 2C). Importantly, 4 of 21 cases were officially diagnosed as having borderline PAH (mPAP: 21-24 mm Hg), and the remaining had normal mPAP values, namely, no patients had definite PAH. In contrast, serum CCL20 levels did not correlate with %VC, KL6, or SP-D (data not shown).

## 3.3 | Serum CCL20 levels are associated positively with mPAP values and PBC presence in SSc patients

As described above, serum CCL20 levels correlated with a variety of SSc-related clinical data. To more clearly evaluate the role of CCL20 in SSc, we conducted multivariate regression analysis with stepwise procedure using serum CCL20 levels as the dependent variable and clinical symptoms and data with P values of <0.05 in Tables 1 and 2 as independent variables. Anti-M2 antibody titers were not included because there is generally a close correlation between PBC and anti-M2 antibody titers. To convert gualitative data to guantitative values, we employed dummy variables, namely, patients were given a value of 1 if they had the symptom or a value of 0 if they did not have the symptom. First, we conducted the analysis with total SSc patients using %DLco values, %VC/%DLco values and PBC presence as independent variables, showing that %VC/%DLco values and PBC presence were identified as explanatory variables, but adjusted  $R^2$  was low (supplementary Table S1). Second, we carried out the analysis with 21 SSc patients who underwent right heart catheterization, in which %DLco values, %VC/%DLco values, PBC presence and mPAP values were used as independent variables. Of note, we identified mPAP values and PBC presence as explanatory variables  $(P = .032 \text{ and } P = .012, \text{ respectively}), \text{ in which adjusted } R^2 \text{ was } 0.47$ 

**FIGURE 2** Correlation of serum C-C motif ligand 20 (CCL20) levels with clinical parameters in systemic sclerosis (SSc) patients. Serum CCL20 levels of SSc patients were negatively correlated with percentage of predicated diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide (%DL<sub>CO</sub>) (A). Serum CCL20 levels of SSc patients were positively correlated with percentage of predicted vital capacity (%VC)/%DL<sub>CO</sub> ratio (B). Serum CCL20 levels of SSc patients were positively correlated with mean pulmonary artery pressure (mPAP) (C). The solid lines represent regression lines



**TABLE 3** Factors predicting serum CCL20 levels determined bymultiple regression analysis

	Estimate	SE	P value
Intercept	-61.62	37.07	.11
mPAP	5.34	2.30	.032
PBC presence	72.11	25.69	.012

*Note:* Dummy variables were assigned for PBC (the presence of diagnosis = 1, the absence of diagnosis = 0). The multiple regression equation predicting serum CCL20 levels is as follows: serum CCL20 levels =  $-61.62 + (5.34 \times \text{mPAP value}) + (72.11 \times \text{dummy variable of PBC presence})$ . N = 21, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.47$ , P = .0012.

Abbreviations: CCL20, C-C motif ligand 20; mPAP: mean pulmonary artery pressure, PBC: primary biliary cholangitis.

(Table 3). Therefore, the increase in CCL20 expression may be mainly included in the developmental process of pulmonary vascular involvement leading to PAH and PBC in SSc patients.

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

CCL20 has a wide variety of effects on immune cells, and its abnormality plays a part in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, inflammatory bowel disease and psoriasis.<sup>9,31</sup> With respect to SSc, an excellent study by Tao et al. demonstrated the potential contribution of CCL20 to the development of SSc.<sup>11</sup> According to their study, CCL20 and CCR6 are elevated in the involved skin of early SSc patients, and CCL20 released from cytokine-activated dermal fibroblasts promotes the recruitment of mononuclear cells. Thus, CCL20 seems to be related to the development of SSc. To further understand the contribution of CCL20 to SSc complications, we examined the association of serum CCL20 levels with SSc-related clinical and laboratory findings in this study.

A novel finding of this study is the close relationship between serum CCL20 levels and SSc-association PAH (SSc-PAH). Most strikingly, serum CCL20 levels showed a strong positive correlation with mPAP measured by right heart catheterization. Relevant to this, serum CCL20 levels of SSc patients were correlated negatively with %DLco and positively with %VC/%DLco ratio, and SSc patients with increased %VC/%DLco ( $\geq$ 1.4) had higher serum CCL20 levels than those without. These results are plausible because %DLco usually starts to fall during the early pathological vascular change leading to PAH.<sup>29</sup> To our best knowledge, this is the first report demonstrating the potential association of CCL20 with SSc-PAH. Although only 4 of 21 patients had mPAP high enough to meet the diagnostic criteria of borderline PAH, our results suggest that CCL20 up-regulation may be involved in the development of pulmonary vascular involvement leading to PAH in SSc patients.<sup>32</sup>

Recently, it was reported that CCL20 plays a part not only in inflammation, but also in angiogenesis.<sup>21,33</sup> For instance, human umbilical vein endothelial cells develop more capillary-like structures *in*  vivo through the CCL20 activity.<sup>21</sup> Also, CCL20 increases messenger RNA and secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor in breast epithelial cells and subsequent microvessel sprouting.<sup>33</sup> In addition, there are other studies demonstrating CCL20 expression in vascular endothelial cells with or without stimulation.<sup>9,34,35</sup> Given that vascular change leading to SSc-PAH is profoundly attributed to impaired vascular remodeling, such as dysregulated angiogenesis and defective vasculogenesis,<sup>36</sup> our current results may reflect the contribution of CCL20 to dysregulated small vessel angiogenesis underlying SSc-PAH.

Another critical finding of our study is the link between serum CCL20 levels and PBC. As far as we know, this is the first report regarding serum CCL20 levels in patients with PBC, but a previous study demonstrated similar results in alcohol-induced hepatitis. Circulating levels of CCL20, possibly derived from macrophages and hepatic stellate cells, are increased in patients with alcohol-induced hepatitis and correlated with the degree of fibrosis and portal hypertension.<sup>19</sup> This observation suggests the involvement of CCL20 in hepatic fibrosis. Supporting this notion, the following data have been reported: (a) periductal Langerhans cells and biliary epithelial cells produce CCL20 in the context of PBC;<sup>37</sup> (b) Th17 cells attracted by CCL20 to the liver promote the interleukin-17-dependent proliferation of hepatic stellate cells, leading to the development of hepatic fibrosis.<sup>20</sup> Thus, CCL20 appears to be a critical profibrotic factor in the developmental process of PBC at least partially by serving as a chemoattractant for Th17 cells. In SSc, AMA antibody is positive approximately in 25% of patients, but many of them are asymptomatic.<sup>38,39</sup> However, early detection and management of PBC is quite important to reduce the risk of liver dysfunction induced by drugs used for the treatment of SSc complications, such as bosentan.<sup>40</sup> Therefore, from the perspective of concomitant PBC, it can be beneficial to further evaluate whether elevated serum CCL20 levels predict the development of hepatobiliary involvement in SSc patients with AMA antibody and normal liver function.

A limitation of this study is the small number of SSc patients who underwent right heart catheterization for the diagnosis of PAH. Among them, no patients met the diagnostic criteria of PAH, while 4 patients had borderline PAH, namely, these patients likely had early pulmonary vascular involvement leading to PAH. Therefore, we need to confirm the association of serum CCL20 levels with mPAP values in the large number of SSc patients with definite PAH. Another limitation is that only a cross-sectional analysis was carried out due to the lack of longitudinal data in each SSc patient included in this study. To further make the current findings more convincing, a further observational study with a second population is required in the future.

In summary, this is the first report demonstrating that serum CCL20 levels may be involved in the development of pulmonary vascular involvement leading to PAH and asymptomatic PBC. Our current results further strengthen the canonical idea that chemokines contribute to a variety of SSc-related disease processes and can be potential therapeutic targets of this intractable disease.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by a grant for Research in Intractable Diseases from the Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare of Japan. The funder is not involved in study design, data collection, data analysis, manuscript, preparation and publication decisions.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conception and design: Tetsuya Ikawa, Yoshihide Asano, Shinichi Sato; acquisition of data: Tetsuya Ikawa, Takuya Miyagawa, Yuki Fukui, Shun Minatsuki, Hisataka Maki, Toshiro Inaba, Masaru Hatano, Satoshi Toyama, Jun Omatsu, Kentaro Awaji, Yuta Norimatsu, Yukuke Watanabe, Ayumi Yoshizaki; analysis and interpretation of data: Tetsuya Ikawa, Yoshihide Asano, Shinichi Sato; funding acquisition: Yoshihide Asano, Shinichi Sato; supervision: Yoshihide Asano, Ayumi Yoshizaki, Shinichi Sato. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

#### ORCID

Tetsuya Ikawa b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2753-9001 Kentaro Awaji https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3864-5587 Yoshihide Asano b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5560-9778

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Asano Y. Systemic sclerosis. J Dermatol. 2018;45:128-138.
- 2. Denton CP, Khanna D. Systemic sclerosis. Lancet. 2017;390:1685-1699.
- Allanore Y, Simms R, Distler O, et al. Systemic sclerosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15002.
- Toki S, Motegi S, Yamada K, et al. Demographic and clinical features of autoimmune thyroid disorder in Japanese patients with systemic sclerosis. J Dermatol. 2014;41:1053-1057.
- Zheng B, Vincent C, Fritzler MJ, et al. Prevalence of systemic Sclerosis in primary biliary cholangitis using the new ACR/EULAR classification criteria. J Rheumatol. 2017;44:33-39.
- Distler JH, Feghali-Bostwick C, Soare A, et al. Review: frontiers of antifibrotic therapy in systemic sclerosis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2017;69:257-267.
- Noda S, Asano Y, Nishimura S, et al. Simultaneous downregulation of KLF5 and Fli1 is a key feature underlying systemic sclerosis. *Nat Commun.* 2014;5:5797.
- Stone MJ, Hayward JA, Huang C, et al. Mechanisms of regulation of the chemokine-receptor network. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18:342.
- Schutyser E, Struyf S, Van Damme J. The CC chemokine CCL20 and its receptor CCR6. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2003;14:409-426.
- King J, Abraham D, Stratton R. Chemokines in systemic sclerosis. Immunol Lett. 2018;195:68-75.
- Tao J, Li L, Tan Z, et al. Up-regulation of CC chemokine ligand 20 and its receptor CCR6 in the lesional skin of early systemic sclerosis. Eur J Dermatol. 2011;21:731-736.
- Hasegawa M. Biomarkers in systemic sclerosis: their potential to predict clinical courses. J Dermatol. 2016;43:29-38.
- van Bon L, Affandi AJ, Broen J, et al. Proteome-wide analysis and CXCL4 as a biomarker in systemic sclerosis. N Eng J Med. 2014;370:433-443.
- 14. Hasegawa M, Asano Y, Endo H, et al. Serum chemokine levels as prognostic markers in patients with early systemic sclerosis: a

multicenter, prospective, observational study. *Mod Rheumatol*. 2013;23:1076-1084.

۲

-WILEY

- 15. Ito T, Carson WF, Cavassani KA, et al. CCR6 as a mediator of immunity in the lung and gut. *Exp Cell Res.* 2011;317:613-619.
- Ranasinghe R, Eri R. Modulation of the CCR6-CCL20 axis: a potential therapeutic target in inflammation and cancer. *Medicina* (*Kaunas*). 2018;54:88.
- Comerford I, Bunting M, Fenix K, et al. Prospects & Overviews An immune paradox: How can the same chemokine axis regulate both immune tolerance and activation? CCR6/CCL20: a chemokine axis balancing immunological tolerance and inflammation in autoimmune disease. *BioEssays*. 2010;32:1067-1076.
- 18. Ranasinghe R, Eri R. Pleiotropic immune functions of chemokine receptor 6 in health and disease. *Medicines (Basel)*. 2018;5:69.
- Affò S, Morales-Ibanez O, Rodrigo-Torres D, et al. CCL20 mediates lipopolysaccharide induced liver injury and is a potential driver of inflammation and fibrosis in alcoholic hepatitis. Gut. 2014;63:1782.
- Shi T, Zhang T, Zhang L, et al. The distribution and the fibrotic role of elevated inflammatory Th17 cells in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2015;94:e1888.
- Guo W, Li H, Liu H, et al. DEPDC1 drives hepatocellular carcinoma cell proliferation, invasion and angiogenesis by regulating the CCL20/CCR6 signaling pathway. Oncol Rep. 2019;42:1075-1089.
- 22. Benkheil M, Van Haele M, Roskams T, et al. CCL20, a direct-acting pro-angiogenic chemokine induced by hepatitis C virus (HCV): potential role in HCV-related liver cancer. *Exp Cell Res.* 2018;372:168-177.
- Cc Z, Chen C, Zq XU, et al. CCR6 promotes tumor angiogenesis via the AKT/NF-κB/VEGF pathway in colorectal cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* 2018;1864(2):387-397.
- Almanzar G, Klein M, Schmalzing M, et al. Disease manifestation and inflammatory activity as modulators of Th17/Treg balance and RORC/FoxP3 methylation in systemic sclerosis. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 2016;171:141-154.
- van den Hoogen F, Khanna D, Fransen J, et al. 2013 classification criteria for systemic sclerosis: an American College of Rheumatology/ European League against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2013;65:2737-2747.
- LeRoy EC, Black C, Fleischmajer R, et al. Scleroderma (systemic sclerosis): classification, subsets and pathogenesis. J Rheumatol. 1988;15:202-205.
- Clements PJ, Lachenbruch PA, Seibold JR, et al. Skin thickness score in systemic sclerosis: an assessment of interobserver variability in 3 independent studies. J Rheumatol. 1993;20:1892-1896.
- Prince MI, Chetwynd A, Craig WL, et al. Asymptomatic primary biliary cirrhosis: clinical features, prognosis, and symptom progression in a large population based cohort. *Gut.* 2004;53:865-870.
- Steen V, Medsger TA. Predictors of isolated pulmonary hypertension in patients with systemic sclerosis and limited cutaneous involvement. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:516-522.
- Coghlan JG, Denton CP, Grünig E, et al. Evidence-based detection of pulmonary arterial hypertension in systemic sclerosis: the DETECT study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:1340-1349.
- Koga T, Otomo K, Mizui M, et al. Calcium/Calmodulin-dependent kinase IV facilitates the recruitment of interleukin-17-producing cells to target organs through the CCR6/CCL20 axis in Th17 cell-driven inflammatory diseases. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2016;68:1981-1988.
- 32. Pan Z, Marra AM, Benjamin N, et al. Early treatment with ambrisentan of mildly elevated mean pulmonary arterial pressure associated with systemic sclerosis: a randomized, controlled, double-blind, parallel group study (EDITA study). Arthritis Res Ther. 2019;21:1-15.
- Marsigliante S, Vetrugno C, Muscella A. Paracrine CCL20 loop induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast epithelial cells. *Mol Carcinog.* 2016;55:1175-1186.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases ILEY

- Soto B, Gallastegi-Mozos T, Rodríguez C, et al. Circulating CCL20 as a new biomarker of abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7:17331.
- Bridgewood C, Stacey M, Alase A, et al. IL-36γ has proinflammatory effects on human endothelial cells. *Exp Dermatol.* 2017;26:402-408.
- 36. Asano Y, Sato S. Vasculopathy in scleroderma. *Semin Immunopathol.* 2015;37:489-500.
- 37. Harada K, Shimoda S, Ikeda H, et al. Significance of periductal Langerhans cells and biliary epithelial cell-derived macrophage inflammatory protein-3α in the pathogenesis of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Liver Int.* 2011;31:245-253.
- Norman GL, Bialek A, Encabo S, et al. Is prevalence of PBC underestimated in patients with systemic sclerosis? *Dig Liver Dis*. 2009;41:762-764.
- Caramaschi P, Biasi D, Volpe A, et al. Coexistence of systemic sclerosis with other autoimmune diseases. *Rheumatol Int.* 2007;27:407-410.

 Hamaguchi Y, Sumida T, Kawaguchi Y, et al. Safety and tolerability of bosentan for digital ulcers in Japanese patients with systemic sclerosis: Prospective, multicenter, open-label study. J Dermatol. 2017;44:13-17.

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Ikawa T, Miyagawa T, Fukui Y, et al. Association of serum CCL20 levels with pulmonary vascular involvement and primary biliary cholangitis in patients with systemic sclerosis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:711–718. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14103 DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14106

#### APLAR IMAGE IN MEDICINE

```
Rheumatic Diseases
```



### Ballet foot in a boy

#### Teresa Giani<sup>1</sup> | Maurizio Gattinara<sup>2</sup> | Rolando Cimaz<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medical Biotechnology, University of Siena, Siena, Italy
 <sup>2</sup>ASST G.Pini-CTO, Milano, Italy
 <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, University of Milano, Milano, Italy

**Correspondence**: Rolando Cimaz, ASST G.Pini-CTO, Milano, Italy. Email: rolando.cimaz@unimi.it

KEYWORDS: clinical aspects, rehabilitation

A previously healthy 10-year-old boy presented with a 2-month history of pain and marked non-reducible plantar flexion of the right foot. Symptoms occurred after a mild injury to his right foot and progressively had increased during the last month, persisting all day long, and worsening with movements, limiting daily activities including school attendance. Prolonged bed rest, and treatment with different types of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs was ineffective. A similar, but milder and transient episode had occurred a year earlier. His family history was unremarkable.

On physical examination the patient presented in good general health. His right foot was in a fixed posture, with non-reducible

plantar flexion of ankle and toes (Figure 1A). Mild swelling was palpable on the dorsal area of the foot with preserved skin color. His ankle joint mobility was completely restricted, and the boy was unable to bear weight on the affected side. Extreme sensitivity to light touch was appreciable, and pain assessment by visual analog scale was referred by the child to be 8 out of 10.

- What is the possible diagnosis?
- Which test can confirm the diagnosis?
- What is the first treatment step?

Answers on page 2.



**FIGURE 1** (A) Clinical aspect of right foot, which is kept in forced full plantar flexion. Ankle, midfoot, and toes are contracted, and the flexion is non-reducible for marked opposition by the child. Under general anesthesia the contracture could partially be reversed, but returned to original position upon awakening. (B) Magnetic resonance imaging of the foot showing bone marrow edema of second metatarsal bone [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

<sup>© 2021</sup> The Authors. International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases published by Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd.

#### 1 | "BALLET FOOT" IN A BOY: PART 2

WILEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

#### **1.1** | What is the possible diagnosis?

• Complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS) type I triggered by a minor, accidental injury.

#### 1.2 | Which test can confirm the diagnosis?

• CRPS is a clinical diagnosis, there is no specific single test to confirm it. In this boy, as expected, routine laboratory exams resulted within normal range.

Classic radiography may support the diagnosis with suggestive but non-specific features such as soft tissue swelling, periarticular, and patchy osteopenia; magnetic resonance may add some information as bone marrow edema, muscle atrophy, joint effusion and synovial hypertrophy may be present. In this patient axial short tau inversion recovery magnetic resonance imaging of the right foot showed a bone marrow edema at the right second metatarsal (Figure 1B).

#### **1.3** | What is the first treatment step?

 Treatment should provide an early multidisciplinary management, initially based on physical/occupational, and psychological therapy and on educational strategies.

In our case multiple cycles of physical therapy, massage, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation and mobilization, as well as different pharmacological treatments including gabapentin, amitriptyline, and pamidronate were unsuccessfully tried. Due to the persistence of the pain and the impossibility to return to routine daily activities, we treated him with parenteral ketamine; however, after 5 infusions (1 mg/kg) only a partial benefit was obtained. Only after 3 days of continuous sciatic nerve block, an initial, clear improvement was achieved. Immediately a tight, and well-coordinated multidisciplinary meeting program involving neuropsychiatrist, physical therapist, pediatric rheumatologist, and anesthesiologist was organized. The boy gradually returned to school over a 2-month period.

#### ORCID

Rolando Cimaz D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3260-4226

#### REFERENCES

 Weissmann R, Uziel Y. Pediatric complex regional pain syndrome: a review. Pediatr Rheumatol. 2016;14:29. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12969-016-0090-8

#### Key learning points

- CRPS is part of the larger pediatric chapter defined as amplified musculoskeletal pain syndromes.
- CRPS type I follows days to a month after trauma (often of mild entity), in the absence of nerve injury.
- Distal extremities are the typically involved sites.
- Diagnosis is one of exclusion, it is mostly based on clinical signs such as disproportionate pain intensity and duration, allodynia, autonomic disturbances, and severe disability.<sup>1</sup>
- Magnetic resonance may show skin thickness, subcutaneous edema, muscle atrophy, bone marrow edema and, in chronic cases, bone mineral loss.
- Treatment requires a multidisciplinary, and patientcentered approach.<sup>2,3</sup>
- Second line treatments such as bisphosphonates, opioids, botulinum toxin injections, ketamine, or sympathetic nerve block should be considered in severe, unresponsive cases.<sup>4,5</sup>
- Vescio A, Testa G, Culmone A, et al. Treatment of complex regional pain syndrome in children and adolescents: a structured literature scoping review. *Children (Basel)*. 2020;20(7):245. https://doi. org/10.3390/children7110245
- Tileston KR, Griffin A, Wagner JFM, O'Day MN, Krane EJ. Team approach: complex regional pain syndrome in children and adolescents. JBJS Rev. 2020;8:e0174. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS. RVW.19.00174
- Everett A, Mclean B, Plunkett A, Buckenmaier C. A unique presentation of complex regional pain syndrome type I treated with a continuous sciatic peripheral nerve block and parenteral ketamine infusion: a case report. *Pain Med.* 2009;10(6):1136-1139.
- Zernikow B, Wager J, Brehmer H, Hirschfeld G, Maier C. Invasive treatments for complex regional pain syndrome in children and adolescents. *Anesthesiology*. 2015;122(3):699-707.

How to cite this article: Giani T, Gattinara M, Cimaz R. Ballet foot in a boy. Int J Rheum Dis. 2021;24:719–720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14106</u>

#### NOVEL HYPOTHESIS

#### 🗠 👰 🛛 Wiley

# Musculoskeletal ultrasound as a diagnostic tool for eosinophilic fasciitis and correlation with magnetic resonance imaging findings

Neha G. Narula | Andy Abril | Kenneth T. Calamia | Florentina Berianu 🗈

Division of Rheumatology, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA

Correspondence: Florentina Berianu, Division of Rheumatology, Mayo Clinic, 4500 San Pablo Rd, Jacksonville, FL 32224, USA. Email: Berianu.Florentina@mayo.edu

**Present address** 

Neha G. Narula, Department of Rheumatology, Jacksonville Vet Center, Jacksonville, FL, USA

Keywords: eosinophilic fasciitis, MRI, ultrasound

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Eosinophilic fasciitis (EF) presents with pain and induration of the skin. Currently, clinical diagnosis is based on typical physical findings and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) enhancement of the fascia and confirmed by tissue histology. We suggest that fascia thickness can be measured with use of musculoskeletal ultrasound. We describe a cohort of patients with musculoskeletal ultrasound and corresponding MRIs supporting the diagnosis of EF compared to controls.

#### 2 | METHODS

Our study was determined exempt by the Mayo Clinic Institutional Review Board. Seven patients seen in our rheumatology clinic underwent musculoskeletal ultrasound of upper or lower extremities that exhibited findings of induration suggestive of EF. Ultrasound was performed using a 12 to 18 MHz linear array transducer to visualize muscle and fascia in the area of pain and induration. A measurement of fascial thickness was recorded in all patients. Musculoskeletal ultrasound was also performed in 7 healthy controls. Patients subsequently underwent MRI of the same region, and full-thickness skin-to-muscle biopsy was performed to confirm diagnosis in 6 (1 patient refused biopsy). Initial laboratory work-up with serum eosinophils were recorded. None of the patients had Raynaud disease or showed clinical or laboratory findings of scleroderma.

#### 3 | RESULTS

Four women and 3 men were included, with a mean age of 43.5 years (range 34-58). Absolute eosinophil values ranged from 1051 to 4780/ $\mu$ L. Mean thickness of the fascia was 0.43 cm (range 0.21-0.7 cm) versus 0.14 cm (range 0.11-0.19 cm) in controls (Table 1 and Figure 1). All patients had MRI with contrast, with evidence of thickened and enhanced fascia of the same region (Figure 2). Diagnosis of EF was confirmed with tissue histology in all 6 patients who agreed to biopsy.

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

In 1974, Shulman<sup>1</sup> described an uncommon scleroderma-like disorder with features of indurated skin, peripheral eosinophilia, hypergammaglobulinemia, and elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate as EF. Since then, over 300 cases have been reported in the literature, but no international consensus regarding diagnostic criteria has been established.<sup>2</sup> An average age of onset ranging between

Portions of this manuscript have been published in abstract form: Berianu F, Narula N, Abril A. Musculoskeletal Ultrasound as a Diagnostic Tool for Eosinophilic Fasciitis and Correlation with MRI Findings. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017; 69 (suppl 10).

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Presented at American College of Rheumatology Annual Meeting in San Diego, California, November 3-8, 2017.

NARULA ET AL.

#### **TABLE 1** Patient characteristics

Rheumatic Diseases

Age	Gender	Areas involved	Biopsy positive	Peripheral eosinophil count: absolute values (cells/µL)	mean fascial thickness on MSK US (cm)	MRI supporting findings for EF
68	F	Arms, legs, back	+	1,051	0.21	+
42	F	Legs	+	1,121	0.39	+
29	М	Arms, chest	+	4,780	0.36	+
38	F	Arms, legs	+	2,023	0.40	+
52	М	Legs	+	3,001	0.70	+
30	М	Arms, abdomen	+	1,781	0.41	+
46	F	Arms, legs	N/A	1,985	0.51	+

Abbreviations: EF, eosinophilic fasciitis; F, female; M, male; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; MSK US, musculoskeletal ultrasound; N/A, not available.



**FIGURE 1** Musculoskeletal Ultrasound. (A) Transverse view of normal forearm muscle. White arrow indicates normal muscle; black arrows, normal fascia. (B) Transverse view of forearm muscle with eosinophilic fasciitis. White arrows indicate normal muscle; black arrows, thickened fascia



**FIGURE 2** Magnetic resonance imaging with contrast forearm: enhanced fascia surrounding muscles

40 and 50 years has been noted, with inciting factors such as strenuous physical activity, trauma, medications (eg, statins, phenytoin, ramipril, subcutaneous heparin), and bacterial infection (eg, borreliosis, mycoplasma).<sup>2-5</sup> The hypothesis is that circulating T cell clones and interleukin-5 may cause release of eosinophilia in the fascia, leading to accumulation of cationic granules, which may have fibrogenic properties. In early disease there is edema of the fascia and subcutaneous tissue with a lymphocytic infiltrate containing plasma cells and eosinophils. With time the collagen becomes thickened and sclerotic with extension in subcutaneous fibrous septa.<sup>6,7</sup>

Clinical features range from edema of the skin, mainly in the limbs, to skin induration, also known as *orange peel* or *cobblestone*.<sup>3</sup> Groove sign has been noted in half of the patients, occurring due to venous furrowing along the veins in the infiltrated areas, and is highly suggestive of fasciitis or deep fibrosis.<sup>2</sup> Thickened fascia of up to 15 times the normal proportion with lymphocytic and plasma cell infiltration on full-thickness wedge biopsy, which includes skin and muscle, is the more acceptable method for clinical diagnosis; however, eosinophils may or may not be present on biopsy.<sup>8</sup>

In clinical practice, early diagnosis apart from tissue histology is made with MRI. Baumann et al.<sup>9</sup> showed MRI as an ideal imaging modality for diagnosis and monitoring of the disease.

Kirchgesner et al.<sup>10</sup> recently reviewed imaging modalities in EF. and described MRI as the best modality to identify the site for biopsy, as well as to differentiate EF from other forms of deep and superficial tissue diseases that may produce abnormal intensity in the fascia. MRI with gadolinium of both limbs is most often used for diagnostic purposes. Before injection, MRI typically shows a thickened deep fascia (peripheral deep fasciae and, more rarely, intermuscular fasciae) on T1-weighted sequences, which appears with a relatively higher signal intensity than that of muscle tissue on fat-suppressed or fat-saturated T2-weighted sequences.<sup>7</sup> Following injection of a gadolinium-based contrast agent, thickened fasciae appear with markedly enhanced signal intensity, thereby helping in diagnosis and establishing the biopsy site.<sup>10,11</sup> Baumann et al.<sup>9</sup> also projected MRI as a tool for prognostic purposes, but there is a lack of randomized controlled prospective studies and established guidelines.

Changes in health care have given rise to the need for more costeffective techniques, and advances in ultrasound help meet this goal. It remains a more accessible, noninvasive modality for immediate, point-of-care imaging in rheumatology.<sup>12</sup> Kissin et al.<sup>13</sup> did note that using the high-frequency probe in ultrasound (high-frequency probe: more than 10 MHz has shorter wavelengths and allows a better description of superficial structures including skin, muscle, fascia) showed changes in compressibility of the subcutaneous tissue due to excess collagen deposition. One noted exception was atrophied dermis under 4 mm thickness.<sup>13</sup>

The mainstay of initial treatment in EF is glucocorticosteroids at doses of 0.5-1 mg/kg; however, steroid-sparing agents, like methotrexate, have been promising.<sup>3-5,8</sup> Lebeaux et al.<sup>5</sup> continued corticosteroid therapy for an average of 45 months (*SD* 31 months), and adjunctive immunosuppressive therapy was required in 44% of patients and lasted, on average, 24.7 months (*SD* 23.3 months).

To our knowledge, ours is the first study to compare patients diagnosed with EF to controls. For each of our 7 patients, diagnosis of EF was established with MRI, and the corresponding ultrasound showed a mean thickness of the fascia of 0.43 cm (range 0.21-0.7 cm), supporting the clinical use of ultrasound in patients with suspected EF. Ultrasound also helped us locate the optimal site for muscle biopsy, and 6 of 7 patients who agreed to biopsy had histologic evidence of inflammatory changes with infiltrates of eosino-phils, confirming the diagnosis.

Musculoskeletal ultrasound may be a quick, safe, inexpensive, and reliable diagnostic method for patients with suspected EF. It can also help locate the best site for biopsy. Further randomized controlled studies of larger patient populations and controls are needed to establish the role of musculoskeletal ultrasound in the diagnosis of EF.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NGN contributed to conception and design, experiments; collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, and drafting of the manuscript. AA contributed to conception and design, figures/table, and critical revision of the manuscript. KTC contributed to conception and design and critical revision of the manuscript. FB contributed to conception and design, experiments, collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, figures/table, and drafting and critical revision of the manuscript. All authors approved the final draft.

#### ORCID

Florentina Berianu D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8370-9178

#### REFERENCES

- Shulman LE. Diffuse fasciitis with eosinophilia: a new syndrome? Trans Assoc Am Physicians. 1975;88:70-86.
- Lebeaux D, Sene D. Eosinophilic fasciitis (shulman disease). Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2012;26:449-458.
- 3. Lakhanpal S, Ginsburg WW, Michet CJ, Doyle JA, Moore SB. Eosinophilic fasciitis: clinical spectrum and therapeutic response in 52 cases. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 1988;17:221-231.
- Bischoff L, Derk CT. Eosinophilic fasciitis: demographics, disease pattern and response to treatment: report of 12 cases and review of the literature. Int J Dermatol. 2008;47:29-35.
- Lebeaux D, Frances C, Barete S, et al. Eosinophilic fasciitis (shulman disease): new insights into the therapeutic management from a series of 34 patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2012;51:557-561.
- Jinnin M, Ihn H, Yamane K, Asano Y, Yazawa N, Tamaki K. Serum levels of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 and 2 in patients with eosinophilic fasciitis. Br J Dermatol. 2004;151:407-412.
- Toquet C, Hamidou MA, Renaudin K, et al. In situ immunophenotype of the inflammatory infiltrate in eosinophilic fasciitis. J Rheumatol. 2003;30:1811-1815.
- Naoui A, Bouslama K, Abdallah M, et al. eosinophilic fasciitis (shulman's disease): a case series of 11 patients. *Rev Med Interne*. 2010;31:535-539.
- Baumann F, Bruhlmann P, Andreisek G, Michel BA, Marincek B, Weishaupt D. MRI for diagnosis and monitoring of patients with eosinophilic fasciitis. *Am J Roentgenol.* 2005;184:169-174.
- Kirchgesner T, Dallaudiere B, Omoumi P, et al. Eosinophilic fasciitis: typical abnormalities, variants and differential diagnosis of fasciae abnormalities using mr imaging. *Diagn Interv Imaging*. 2015;96:341-348.
- Desvignes-Engelbert A, Sauliere N, Loeuille D, Blum A, Chary-Valckenaere I. Polymyalgia revealing eosinophilic fasciitis in a young male: contribution of magnetic resonance imaging. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2010;77:367-368.
- 12. Wortsman X. Ultrasound in dermatology: why, how, and when? Semin Ultrasound CT MR. 2013;34:177-195.
- Kissin EY, Garg A, Grayson PC, et al. Ultrasound assessment of subcutaneous compressibility: a potential adjunctive diagnostic tool in eosinophilic fasciitis. J Clin Rheumatol. 2013;19:382-385.

How to cite this article: Narula NG, Abril A, Calamia KT, Berianu F. Musculoskeletal ultrasound as a diagnostic tool for eosinophilic fasciitis and correlation with magnetic resonance imaging findings. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2021;24:721–723. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.14099 DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.14098

#### COCHRANE CORNER

```
Rheumatic Diseases
```

#### 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

## What are the benefits and harms of anti-cytokine targeted therapies for adults with anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodyassociated vasculitis? - A Cochrane Review summary with commentary

#### Ilke Coskun Benlidayi 回

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Cukurova University, Adana, Turkey

**Correspondence**: Ilke Coskun Benlidayi, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Cukurova University, Adana, Turkey. Email: icbenlidayi@hotmail.com



http://rehabilitation.cochrane.org

The aim of this commentary is to discuss the published Cochrane Review "Anti-cytokine targeted therapies for ANCA-associated vasculitis"<sup>a</sup> by Bala et al.,<sup>1</sup> under the direct supervision of the Cochrane Musculoskeletal Group. This Cochrane Corner is produced in agreement with the *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases* and by Cochrane Rehabilitation.

#### 1 | BACKGROUND

The anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitides (AAVs) refer to a group of rare, systemic, small-vessel vasculitis. These conditions are immune-mediated and involve loss of tolerance to myeloperoxidase or proteinase 3. They are characterized by endothelial injury, blood vessel inflammation (capillaries, arterioles and venules, in particular), and tissue/organ damage.<sup>2</sup> AAV includes microscopic polyangiitis, granulomatosis with polyangiitis, and eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis.<sup>3</sup>

This variable disease group can be unpredictable with potential lifethreatening consequences. According to the latest European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR)/European Renal Association-European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) recommendations for the management of AAV, new-onset organ-/life-threatening AAV should be treated with a combination of glucocorticoids and either cyclophosphamide or rituximab. For patients with rapidly progressive renal failure or severe diffuse pulmonary hemorrhage, plasma exchange should be considered. On the other hand, nonorgan threatening AAV can be managed by methotrexate or mycophenolate mofetil in combination with glucocorticoids.<sup>4</sup>

The etiopathogenesis of AAV is multifactorial and influenced by the innate and adaptive immune system responses. Certain cell types and numerous circulating factors such as cytokines are involved in the pathophysiology.<sup>5</sup> Given the pivotal role of cytokines, biological anticytokine therapies (ie, abatacept, mepolizumab and alemtuzumab) have been used for the treatment of refractory AAVs.<sup>1</sup> In this regard, a comprehensive look at the effectiveness and safety of anti-cytokine therapies in AAVs would be of value.

#### 2 | ANTI-CYTOKINE TARGETED THERAPIES FOR ANCA-ASSOCIATED VASCULITIS

(Bala MM, Malecka-Massalska TJ, Koperny M, Zajac JF, Jarczewski JD, Szczeklik W, 2020).

#### 2.1 | What is the aim of this Cochrane Review?

The aim of this Cochrane Review was to evaluate the benefits and harms of anti-cytokine targeted therapies for adults with AAV.

<sup>a</sup>This summary is based on a Cochrane Review previously published in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2020, Issue 9, Art. No.: CD008333, https://doi.org/10.1002/14651 858.CD008333.pub2 (see www.cochranelibrary.com for information). Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to feedback, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the review.

The views expressed in the summary with commentary are those of the Cochrane Corner author and do not represent the Cochrane Library or Wiley.

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

#### 2.2 | What was studied in the Cochrane Review?

The population addressed in this review was adults (18 years or older) with AAV. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and controlled clinical trials were considered for inclusion. The intervention (anticytokine therapy) was compared to placebo, standard therapy or another modality. Major benefit outcomes were mortality, remission, durable remission and disease flare/relapse. Major harms outcomes were total adverse events, serious adverse events and withdrawals due to adverse events. Minor outcomes included treatment response, health-related quality of life, control of asthma/sinonasal disease and disease damage.

## 2.3 | What was the search methodology and search date of the Cochrane Review?

The review authors searched for studies that had been published up to 16 August 2019. Literature search was performed through Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (2019, Issue 7) and MEDLINE (OVID), Embase (OVID). Further, ongoing trial registries were searched on 28 August 2019 through ClinicalTrials.gov, European Trials Register, International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial Number Registry and World Health Organization trials portal. The authors searched the web sites of regulatory agencies on 3 September 2019 in order to assess adverse events. The reference lists of all primary studies and review articles were checked to identify any additional references. Related manufacturers' web sites were searched for trial information.

## 2.4 | What are the main results of the Cochrane Review?

The review included 4 RCTs (a total of 440 patients). Three RCTs compared anti-cytokine therapies (belimumab, mepolizumab and etanercept) with placebo, while 1 RCT compared 2 pharmacological agents (rituximab vs infliximab).

#### 2.4.1 | Comparison of mepolizumab to placebo in adults with relapsing or refractory eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis

Only 1 study with 136 participants reported the following outcomes.

- During 52 weeks follow-up, 1 death was observed in the mepolizumab group, while no deaths in placebo group (Peto odds ratio [OR] 7.39, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.15 to 372.38). The lowcertainty evidence suggests that mepolizumab results in little to no difference in mortality.
- In the mepolizumab group, more patients achieved remission for at least 1 week (risk ratio [RR] 2.77, 95% CI 1.62 to 4.74) and more had ≥24 weeks of accrued remission (28% vs 33%; RR 9.5, 95%)

CI 2.3 to 39.2) compared to the placebo group. The low-certainty evidence suggests mepolizumab results in a large increase of the probability of accruing at least 24 weeks of remission over a 52-week period.

🐵 🕥 – Wiley

- Durable remission rate within the first 24 weeks that was sustained until week 52 was also higher in the mepolizumab group than the placebo group (13 vs 1 participant; RR 13.0, 95% Cl 1.75 to 96.33; low-certainty evidence). The low-certainty evidence suggests that mepolizumab results in a large increase of the probability of durable remission within the first 24 weeks, sustained until week 52.
- Mepolizumab probably results in a reduction in disease relapse. Fewer patients relapsed in the mepolizumab group than in the placebo group (56% vs 82%; RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.86; moderatecertainty evidence).
- Mepolizumab may not increase adverse events. The proportion of patients with any adverse event was similar between groups (97% vs 94%; RR 1.03, 95% Cl 0.96 to 1.11; low-certainty evidence).
- Mepolizumab results in little to no difference in serious adverse events. The percentages of patients with any serious adverse events were 17.7% versus 26.5% in mepolizumab and placebo groups, respectively (RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.35 to 1.28; low-certainty evidence).

## 2.4.2 | Comparison of active drug (etanercept or belimumab) with standard therapy to placebo with standard therapy in adults with granulomatosis with polyangiitis and microscopic polyangiitis

- Active drug (etanercept or belimumab) added to standard therapy does not increase or reduce mortality. Mortality rate was similar between active (etanercept or belimumab) and placebo groups (3.4% vs 1.4%; Peto OR 2.45, 95% CI 0.55 to 10.97; 285 participants, 2 studies; low-certainty evidence).
- Etanercept may have little or no effect on remission. In the etanercept and placebo groups, 80 and 84 participants achieved remission, respectively (RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.89 to 1.07; 180 participants, 1 study; low-certainty evidence).
- Etanercept may have little or no effect on durable remission. The number of patients achieving durable remission (≥6 months) was 62 versus 64 patients in the etanercept and placebo groups, respectively (RR 0.93, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.11; 174 participants, 1 study; low-certainty evidence).
- Moderate-certainty evidence from 180 participants in 1 study showed that etanercept probably does not reduce disease flares. The proportion of patients with no disease flares and the number of any disease flares per 100 person-years were similar between groups (RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.76 to 1.27 and HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.62 to 1.28, respectively).
- Active drug (etanercept or belimumab) may result in little or no difference in severe or serious adverse events. With low-certainty evidence, the frequency of severe and/or serious adverse events

was similar in both groups (RR 1.0, 95% Cl 0.8 to 1.27; 285 participants, 2 studies).

 Active drug (etanercept or belimumab) combined with standard therapy may result in a slightly increased withdrawal rate due to adverse events (11.2% vs 4.2%, RR 2.66, 95% Cl 1.07 to 6.59; lowcertainty evidence).

#### 2.4.3 | Comparison of infliximab versus rituximab added to steroids and cytotoxic agents in adults with refractory granulomatosis with polyangiitis

Only 1 study with 17 participants was studied in this comparison.

- Mortality rate during 12 months (Peto OR 0.88, 95% CI 0.05 to 15.51) and during the additional follow-up was similar between groups. Very low-certainty evidence shows that we are uncertain about the effect of infliximab when compared to rituximab on mortality.
- We are very uncertain about the effect of infliximab when compared with rituximab on remission at 12 months (22% vs 50%, RR 0.44, 95% Cl 0.11 to 1.81; very low-certainty evidence).
- Moderate-certainty evidence from 180 participants in 1 study showed that etanercept probably does not reduce disease flares. The proportion of patients with no disease flares and the number of any disease flares per 100 person-years were similar between groups (RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.76 to 1.27 and HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.62 to 1.28, respectively).
- We are very uncertain about the effect of infliximab when compared with rituximab on durable remission during additional follow-up beyond 12 months (11% vs 50%, RR 0.22, 95% CI 0.03 to 1.60; very low-certainty evidence).
- There is very uncertain evidence regarding any severe adverse events (22.3% in the infliximab group vs 12.5% in the rituximab group; RR 1.78, 95% CI 0.2 to 16.1; very low-certainty evidence).

#### 2.5 | What did the authors conclude?

In patients with relapsing or refractory eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis, there is moderate-certainty evidence that mepolizumab probably decreases disease relapse compared to placebo and with low-certainty evidence mepolizumab may increase disease remission. Low-certainty evidence showed that total and serious adverse events maybe similar in mepolizumab and placebo groups. In patients with granulomatosis with polyangiitis and a small subgroup of microscopic polyangiitis, low-certainty evidence suggests that etanercept added to standard therapy when compared with standard therapy with placebo has little or no effect on sustained remission and probably does not reduce the number of flares. Adding active drug (etanercept or belimumab) to standard therapy may increase the risk of withdrawal due to adverse events, may have little or no impact on serious adverse events, durable remission and major relapse. The effects of infliximab, as compared to rituximab, in the management of patients with refractory granulomatosis with polyangiitis, is uncertain. Given the small number of studies, as well as concerns about the risk of bias and small sample sizes, the authors were not able to draw reliable conclusions on the benefits and harms of anti-cytokine therapy in AAV.

#### 3 | WHAT ARE THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE COCHRANE EVIDENCE FOR PRACTICE IN RHEUMATOLOGY?

The management of rheumatic diseases is a complex issue. Pharmacological therapies and non-pharmacological treatment modalities are used for the management of non-inflammatory and inflammatory/autoimmune rheumatic diseases.<sup>6</sup> Over the last decade, there has been a shift to biological therapies in inflammatory and autoimmune disorders. However, short- and long-term treatment with biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs might be related to some adverse effects.<sup>7</sup> In this regard, the present Cochrane Review provided evidence and guidance in terms of the potential benefits and harms of anti-cytokine therapies in patients with AAV.

Different aspects of anti-cytokine therapies including their effects on mortality, remission, durable remission, disease flares, as well as adverse events and withdrawals due to adverse events were studied. The Cochrane Review showed low- to moderate-certainty evidence on the clinically relevant effect of mepolizumab in adults with relapsing or refractory eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis. The evidence was downgraded due to risk of bias, limited number of studies and relatively small sample sizes. Further research using well-designed and adequately powered studies is required to provide more reliable evidence on the benefits or risks of anticytokine medicines in AVVs.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author thanks Cochrane Rehabilitation and Cochrane Musculoskeletal Group for reviewing the contents of the Cochrane Corner.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The author declares no conflicts of interest.

#### ORCID

Ilke Coskun Benlidayi 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6517-5969

#### REFERENCES

- Bala MM, Malecka-Massalska TJ, Koperny M, Zajac JF, Jarczewski JD, Szczeklik W. Anti-cytokine targeted therapies for ANCA-associated vasculitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;9:CD008333. https:// doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008333.pub2
- Kitching AR, Anders HJ, Basu N, et al. ANCA-associated vasculitis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2020;6(1):71. https://doi.org/10.1038/s4157 2-020-0204-y

- 3. Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, et al. 2012 revised International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference Nomenclature of vasculitides. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2013;65(1):1-11. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.37715
- 4. Yates M, Watts RA, Bajema IM, et al. EULAR/ERA-EDTA recommendations for the management of ANCA-associated vasculitis [published correction appears in Ann Rheum Dis. 2017 Aug;76(8):1480]. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(9):1583-1594. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrh eumdis-2016-209133
- Geetha D, Jefferson JA. ANCA-associated vasculitis: core curriculum 2020. Am J Kidney Dis. 2020;75(1):124-137. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. ajkd.2019.04.031

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases WILE

🐵 📎

- Coskun Benlidayi I. The effectiveness and safety of electrotherapy in the management of fibromyalgia. *Rheumatol Int.* 2020;40(10):1571-1580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-020-04618-0
- Gasparyan AY. Editorial: switching to biological agents in autoimmune and autoinflammatory disorders: current targets and therapy. *Curr Med Chem.* 2015;22(16):1890-1891. https://doi.org/10.2174/09298 67322666150213130018

#### APLAR MATTERS

ional Iou



## Your help is needed in the fight against COVID-19: Please contribute to the COVID-19 Global rheumatology alliance registry

The COVID-19 Global Rheumatology Alliance is a global collaboration of rheumatologists, scientists, patients and organisations all committed to addressing the issues in rheumatology created by the COVID-19 global pandemic. To date the alliance has published important data on the effect of COVID-19 infection on outcomes and the effect of rheumatic medications on COVID-19 outcomes.

We currently have 3520 cases from all over the world but we still need to collect many more cases and we need cases from all around the world including the Asia-Pacific region. We are hoping for more cases from the Asia-Pacific region because this is currently under-represented in the registry.

To contribute we ask that you provide details of the case, rheumatic diagnosis details, treatments, and the outcome of the case. You can join the mailing list for the COVID-19 Global Rheumatology Alliance by signing up on our webpage (top right hand corner)

For more information please visit our website at www.rheum-covid.org, if you have questions or issues and would like to know more information please email rheum.covid@gmail.com.

© 2021 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd